

August 2022

Special Reviews: 355th Triannual Meeting of the Juntendo Medical Society "Farewell Lectures of Retiring Professors" [1]
Fudan Zenshin Kyumeikyukyu · ~Now IIN again~
My 42-year Experience in Radiation Oncology
Original Articles
The Expression of Rab8, Ezrin, Radixin and Moesin in the Ciliary Body of
Cynomolgus MonkeysKazuhiko Tanabe, et al.
Action and Contribution of the Iliopsoas and Rectus Femoris as
Hip Flexor Agonists Examined with Anatomical Analysis Toshimasa Kumazaki, et al.
Degree of Differentiation of Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma and
Micrometastasis to Lymph Nodes Takanobu Asakura, et al.
Clinical Significance of Circulating Tumor Cells in Patients with Esophageal Cancer
Hiromi Kitano, <i>et al.</i>
Semiautomatic Treatment Planning for the Field-in-field Technique in
Whole Brain Irradiation Hiroyuki Watanabe, et al.
Reviews
Sports and Kinetic Visual Acuity Keisuke Sawaki, et al.
Case Reports
Histopathologic Features of Immune-related Adverse Events in the Gastrointestinal Tract:
A Case of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 and Cytomegalovirus Infection
in a Patient with Lung Squamous Cell Carcinoma Receiving Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors
Akane Hashizume, <i>et al.</i>
Case Report and Minireview of the Literature on Blunt Azygos Injury Ken-ichi Muramatsu, <i>et al.</i>
Lessons Learned in Practice with Li-Fraumeni Syndrome:
LFS-Related Breast Cancer Treatment Strategy and Establishment of a Surveillance System
Ritsuko Sasaki, <i>et al.</i>
Perspectives

Clinical Research Support Activities in Core Clinical Research Hospitals Throughout Japan Yuji Nishizaki, *et al.*

Publication List

Publications from Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, 2020 [2/6]

Instructions to Authors



JUNTENDO MEDICAL JOURNAL

順天堂醫事雑誌

Editor-in-Chief:	Isao Nagaoka		
Editorial Board:	Yuko Fujio Kazuo Kaneko Shuichi Machida Toshihiro Mita Yasue Ohta Kazuhisa Takahashi Hidefumi Waki	Masami Goto Yasuhiko Kiyama Akira Matsumoto Sachiko Miyake Naoko Ono Yoshifumi Tamura Robert F Whittier	Toshiaki Iba Seiki Konishi Takashi Miida Takumi Ochiai Shinobu Sakurai Takeshi Tanigawa Tomofumi Yamaguchi
International Editorial Board:	Masanori Aikawa (Harvard Medical School) Michael Andreeff (The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Cente Robert S. Bresalier (The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Cen Yang Ke (Peking University) Joel Moss (National Institute of Health)		
Advisory Board: Machiko Hatsuda Hiroyuki Kobayash Masanori Nagaoka		Eri Hirasawa Ryohei Kuwatsuru	Shunsuke Kato Akira Murakami
Illustration: Akiko Miyamichi			

The History of Juntendo Medical Journal

This Juntendo Medical Journal has been published under the Japanese name Juntendo Igaku (順天堂医学) from 1964 to 2012. However, the origin of Juntendo Medical Journal dates back to the oldest medical journal in Japan, Juntendo Iji Zasshi (順天堂醫事雑誌), which had been published between 1875 and 1877 (total of 8 issues). Between 1885 and 1886, Juntendo issued a limited release of a research journal titled Houkoku [Juntendo Iji Kenkyukai] (報告) for a total of 39 issues.

In 1887, Juntendo Iji Kenkyukai Houkoku (順天堂醫事研究會報告) was published with the government's approval and we used to regard this as the first issue of Juntendo Medical Journal. Since then, Juntendo Medical Journal has undergone a series of name changes: Juntendo Iji Kenkyukai Zasshi (順天堂醫事研究会雑誌), Juntendo Igaku Zasshi (順天堂医学雑誌), and Juntendo Igaku (順天堂医学).

Now in commemoration of the 175th anniversary of Juntendo University, starting with the first volume issued in 2013 (Volume 59 Number 1), we return to *Juntendo Medical Journal*'s original Japanese title in 1875-*Juntendo Iji Zasshi* (順天堂醫事雑誌). We also reconsidered the numbering of the journal and set the first issue in 1875 as the initial publication of *Juntendo Medical Journal*. The Volume-Number counting system and the English name *Juntendo Medical Journal* started in 1955 from the January 10 issue. Although this is not our intension, we will retain the Volume-Number counting system to avoid confusion. However, Volume 59 Number 1 will be the 882nd issue, reflecting the sum of all issues to date: 8 issues of *Juntendo Iji Zasshi* (順天堂醫事雑誌), 39 issues of *Houkoku [Juntendo Iji Kenkyukai*](報告) (47 issues combined), and 834 issues from *Juntendo Iji Kenkyukai Houkoku* (順天堂 醫事研究會報告) in 1887 to the present.

出典:小川秀興(OGAWA Hideoki, M.D., Ph.D.):順天堂醫事雑誌(Juntendo Medical Journal)2013;59:6-10.

本誌は昭和39年(1964年)から平成24年(2012年)末まで『順天堂医学』として刊行されてきた.しかし,その 起源は明治8年(1875年)から10年(1877年)にかけて発刊された日本最古の医学誌『順天堂醫事雑誌』(計8巻)に ある.さらに明治18年(1885年)から19年(1886年)まで,会員限定配本として順天堂醫事研究會の雑誌『報告』 (計39集)が発行されている.

その後『順天堂醫事研究會報告』が明治20年(1887年)に官許を受けて公刊されたので,順天堂ではこれを通刊 1号としてきた.以来,『順天堂醫事研究会雑誌』,『順天堂医学雑誌』,『順天堂医学』と名称を変更して刊行されてきた.

今般,順天堂が創立175周年を迎える平成25年(2013年)の59巻1号を期して、本来の名称である『順天堂醫事雑誌』と復刻し、その起源である明治8年(1875年)第1巻をもって創刊号(通刊第1号)とすることとした。従来の巻号と欧文誌名は、昭和30年(1955年)1月10日発行のものを1巻1号としており、欧文誌名もこれより付け始めたもので不本意であるが、混乱を避けるためにこれらを継承する。ただし、通刊数は明治8年(1875年)から19年(1886年)にかけて刊行された『順天堂醫事雑誌』8巻分と順天堂醫事研究會の雑誌『報告』39集、計47巻分を通巻834号に加え、59巻1号を通刊882号とした。

出典:小川鼎三, 酒井シヅ:順天堂医学 1980;26:414-418. 小川秀興:順天堂醫事雑誌 2013;59:6-10.

Published by The Juntendo Medical Society 2-1-1 Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-8421, Japan TEL 03-5802-1586 E-mail j-igaku@juntendo.ac.jp © The Juntendo Medical Society 2022 Tokyo Japan 20220831 Printed by Koryosha Co. Ltd. 4F, 2-31-25 Yushima, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-0034, Japan TEL 03-3868-3352 E-mail jmj@koryo-co.com

JUNTENDO MEDICAL JOURNAL

Vol. 68 No. 4 (939th issue) August 2022



Contents

Special Reviews: 355th Triannual Meeting of the Juntendo Medical Society
"Farewell Lectures of Retiring Professors" [1]
Fudan Zenshin, Kyumeikyukyu ; ~Now JiN again~
Ny 12 year Experience in Radiation Oncology Reisuke Sasar 552
Original Articles
The Expression of Rab8, Ezrin, Radixin and Moesin in the Ciliary Body of Cynomolgus Monkeys
Action and Contribution of the Ilionsoas and Rectus Femorie as
Hip Flexor Agonists Examined with Anatomical Analysis
Degree of Differentiation of Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma and
Micrometastasis to Lymph Nodes····································
Clinical Significance of Circulating Tumor Cells in Patients with Esophageal Cancer
······ Hiromi Kitano, <i>et al.</i> ······ 369
Semiautomatic Treatment Planning for the Field-in-field Technique in Whole Brain Irradiation
·······Hiroyuki Watanabe, <i>et al.</i> ······ 375
Reviews
Sports and Kinetic Visual Acuity
Case Reports
Histopathologic Features of Immune-related Adverse Events in the Gastrointestinal Tract:
A Case of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 and Cytomegalovirus Infection
in a Patient with Lung Squamous Cell Carcinoma Receiving Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors
······ Akane Hashizume, <i>et al</i> . ······ 393
Case Report and Minireview of the Literature on Blunt Azygos InjuryKen-ichi Muramatsu, <i>et al.</i>
Lessons Learned in Practice with Li-Fraumeni Syndrome:
LFS-Related Breast Cancer Treatment Strategy and Establishment of a Surveillance System
RIISUKO Sasaki, et ul. ······ 400
Perspectives
Clinical Research Support Activities in Core Clinical Research Hospitals Throughout Japan
Yuji Nishizaki, <i>et al.</i> ······ 413
Publication List
Publications from Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, 2020 [2/6]416
Instructions to Authors ····································

The Juntendo Medical Society

From the illustrator: In the middle of July, I went to Amami-Oshima Island for the first time, actually, in 30 years. The emerald green ocean I saw after a long time, white sand beaches, sound of crashing waves, and Pandanus fruits, which exactly reminded me of the world of paintings by Isson Tanaka, Japanese-style painter who had moved to the island. That was a very satisfying trip.

Special Reviews

Juntendo Medical Journal 2022. 68 (4), 324–331



Fudan Zenshin, Kyumeikyukyu; ~Now JIN again~

HIROSHI TANAKA

Department of Emergency and Disaster Medicine, Juntendo University Urayasu Hospital, Chiba, Japan

Summary: I graduated from Osaka University in 1982 and joined the Department of Traumatology, Osaka University Medical School. Patients with severe injuries and illnesses were brought in every day. Staff brushed up their skills on site, taught each other, and engaged in friendly competition for research. We had many frustrating moments when we could not save lives. Since then, the needs of emergency medicine have changed, and the scope of practice of emergency physicians has expanded to include pre-hospital emergency care, primary health care, intensive care, and disaster medicine. I was transferred to Juntendo University Urayasu Hospital in September 2007. Soon after my assignment, Urayasu Hospital was in the spotlight due to the emergency hospitalization of the All-Japan soccer coach and the Chinese frozen dumpling incident. It is said that emergency medicine is a mirror of society. I myself have experienced many disasters and incidents. It has been 15 years since I was assigned to this hospital, and I have 62 colleagues at Urayasu Hospital. They have all acquired various medical specialties, and some are emergency medicine specialists. In 2019, we hosted the 47th Annual Meeting of the Japanese Association for Acute Medicine. The theme of the conference is "Fudan Zenshin, Kyumeikyukyu (constant advancement, emergency medical services)". Emergency medical care is the starting point of "medicine" and is the ultimate source of life preservation for all citizens. We emergency physicians will continue to provide lifesaving medical care to patients without giving up until the very end, to keep the light of life from going out.

Key words: emergency medicine, pre-hospital emergency care, primary health care, intensive care, disaster medicine

Preface

I am pleased to announce that I will be retiring at the end of March 2022. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Chairman Hideoki Ogawa and the many others who have guided and supported me throughout the years.

Before moving to Juntendo University

I graduated from Osaka University in 1982 and joined the Department of Traumatology, Osaka University Medical School because of my admiration for the work "Black Jack" by Osamu Tezuka, my senior in high school and college. At that time, patients with severe trauma, burns, poisoning, sepsis, and other serious illnesses were brought in every day. Staff brushed up their skills on site, taught each other, and engaged in friendly competition for research. We had many frustrating moments when we could not save lives. My mentor, Professor Tsuyoshi Sugimoto, often told me, "general surgeons should be ashamed of intraoperative death, and emergency surgeons should be ashamed when they miss the timing of surgery and let a patient die." Currently, the needs of emergency medicine have changed, and the scope of practice of emergency physicians has expanded to include pre-hospital emergency care, primary

Corresponding author: Hiroshi Tanaka

Department of Emergency and Disaster Medicine, Juntendo University Urayasu Hospital

²⁻¹⁻¹ Tomioka, Urayasu, Chiba 279-0021, Japan

E-mail: htanaka@juntendo-urayasu.jp

³⁵⁵th Triannual Meeting of the Juntendo Medical Society "Farewell Lectures of Retiring Professors" [Held on Mar. 30, 2022]

⁽Received May. 12, 2022) [Accepted May. 16, 2022]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Aug. 1, 2022

Copyright © 2022 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ22-0022-R

emergency care, intensive care, and the field of disaster medicine, medical control in the region.

Frozen poisonous dumpling incident made in China

I was transferred to Juntendo University Urayasu Hospital in September 2007. Soon after my assignment, Urayasu Hospital was in the spotlight due to the emergency hospitalization of the All-Japan soccer coach and the Chinese frozen dumpling incident (1). An outbreak of food poisoning that affected at least ten people in various regions of Japan was traced to exposure to Chinese dumpling contaminated with the organophosphate insecticide Methamidophos. We experienced the most serious case, a five years old girl, who suffered coma. She presented with features of cholinergic overactivity and her serum cholinesterase activity was very low. We started intravenous treatment with pralidoxime iodide, atropine sulfate, and midazolam. Her symptoms improved gradually and she was discharged on day 25 without any sequelae. I and Dr Yuka Sumi got interviewed from a lot of media after her illness recovered (Figure 1). Dr Sumi, a member of us, is now working at the World Health Organization.

Emergency medicine is a mirror of society.

It is said that emergency medicine is a mirror of society. I myself have experienced many disasters and incidents (Table 1). In Osaka, I provided medical care for the Great Hanshin–Awaji Earthquake (2), the hemolytic uremic syndrome by O157 mass food poisoning, the Ikeda Elementary School child murder cases, and the JR Fukuchiyama train derailment



Figure 1 I and Dr Yuka Sumi got interviewed from a lot of media after the patient got well. Dr Sumi who is a member of us, and now she is working at the World Health Organization.

Labie I Recent mass abaster and merdent in Japan (B 000	Table 1	Recent mass	disaster	and	incident	in	Japan	$(2000 \cdot$
--	---------	-------------	----------	-----	----------	----	-------	---------------

VX nerve agent cases (1994)
the Great Hanshin-Awaji Earthquake (1995)
A series of sarin cases (1995)
O157 mass food poisoning (1995)
Wakayama Curry Incident (1998)
The Ikeda Elementary School child murder case (2001)
the JR Fukuchiyama train derailment accident (2005)
The Chinese frozen dumpling incident (2008)
The Akihabara indiscriminate murder case (2008)
The Great East Japan Earthquake (2011)
Mt Ontake eruption (2014)
Kinugawa flood (2015)
Kumamoto earthquake (2016)
Arson attack on an anime station in Kyoto (2019)
COVID-19 pandemic (2020)

accident. A catastrophic earthquake registering 7.2 on the Richter scale hit the southern part of Hyogo Prefecture including the city of Kobe, at 5:46 AM on January 17, 1995. The earthquake, subsequently knows as "Hanshin-Awaji," caused approximately 5,500 deaths and 41,000 injuries. Most of the dead were crushed or suffocated in collapsed dwellings. The number of partially destroyed dwellings reached approximately 100,000, and the number of those completely collapsed reached 93,000. Seven thousand one hundred dwellings burned down. We demonstrated morbidity and mortality of hospitalized patients within 14-days after the earthquake. Of the total 6,107 patients admitted to the 95 surveyed hospitals, 2,718 were injury patients, comprising 372 crush syndrome patients and 2,346 patients with other trauma. A total of 3,389 patients presented with illness. The mortality rates were 13.4% (50/372), 5.5% (128/2,346), and 10.3% (349/3,389) in crush syndrome, other trauma, and illness, respectively (Table 2). All patients admitted to surveyed hospitals are represented by the graph in Figure 2. Approximately 75% of trauma patients were hospitalized during the first 3 days. In contrast, the number of patients hospitalized for illness continued to increase during the entire 15-day period.

 Table 2
 Patient Cllasfications and the Number of Related Deaths

	No. of Patients	No. of Deaths (%)
Crush syndrome	372	50 (13.4)
Other trauma	2346	128 (5.5)
Illness	3389	349 (10.3)
Total	6107	527 (8.6)



Figure 2 Cumulative patient census graph of all patients admitted to surveyed hospitals: green box, injury without crush syndrome; yellow box, crush syndrome; red box, illness.

The first case of the efficacy of steroid treatment for COVID-19.

After my transfer, I also experienced many disasters and incidents, including the Great East Japan Earthquake, and the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic, with which we are still battling. We reported the first case of the efficacy of steroid treatment for COVID-19 (3). A 67-year old man was transported to our hospital due to impaired consciousness and respiratory failure. After admission, tracheal aspirate of the patient was harvested, and it tested positive for severe

acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 nucleic acid. He required veno-venous extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (V-V ECMO) to sustain his oxygenation. However, his respiratory failure did not improve for 20 days. On day 20 of admission, we started to use i.v. steroid therapy. On day 23, lung opacity on the chest X-ray cleared and removed ECMO on day 27. We are successfully tapering steroids without serious adverse events, and he was removed from the ventilator on day 51 (Figure 3).

Our various research areas (from clinical research to basic one)

It has been 15 years since I was assigned to this hospital, and I have 62 colleagues at Urayasu Hospital. They have all acquired various medical specialties, and some are emergency medicine specialists. Eighteen have earned doctoral degrees in medicine and many have studied abroad at Harvard University and the Feinstein Institute in New York.

-Clinical research-

Our research areas are diverse (Table 3). In clinical research, studies on the emergency room included triage by rapid lactate measurement, relationship with dizziness and heart rate variability,



Figure 3 Chest X-ray images in time series of a 67-year old man during hospitalization for severe COVID-19-induced acute respiratory distress syndrome. Chest X-ray on day 1 shows bilateral basal consolidation with periphearal ground-glass opacity. Chest X-ray on day 2 shows bilateral pulmonary infiltrate mainly in hilar region. Chest X-ray on day 20 shows bilateral diffuse pulmonary infiltrates with air bronchogram. Chest X-ray on day 23 shows improved bilateral lung opacity (mainly in the right lobe of lungs). Chest X-ray on day 27 (extracorporeal membrane oxygenation removed).

/m 11 0 /	\sim	•	1	
Table 3 (Jur	various	research	areas
I UDIC C	our	variouo	r cocur cm	u

Clinical research
Studies on ER science
Triage by rapid lactate measurement
Dizziness and heart rate variability
Registry studies in pediatric emergencies
Prognostic comparison of pediatric severe trauma
Epidemiological studies of critical ill pediatric pateient
Intensive care field
Systemic review on hyperosmotic infusion in severe head injury
Prognostic model for patients with cardiopulmonary arrest
Role of complement system in patients with multiple organ failure (KAKENHI Grant number 19H03764)
Disaster and Prehospital research
BCPs for disasters
Studies on securing intensive care staff during a pandemic
Studies on water supply in the earthquake
Effectiveness rapid response car
Establishment of an emergency medical care system in large theme park
Effectiveness of electronic triage during disasters (CREST)
Basic research
Neutrophil phenotype studies in sepsis
Dynamic of aged neutrophils
ICAM-1 positive neutrophils and NETs
Identification of low-density neutrophil
ATP targeting studies
Fluorescence imaging of ATP on the surface of neutrophils and in mitochondria
Neutrophil signaling transduction
Joint research course
Emergency AI Color Image Information Standardization Course

while registry studies in pediatric emergencies included prognostic comparisons of pediatric severe trauma, and epidemiological studies of critically ill pediatric patients. Clinical research in the field of intensive care includes systemic review on hyperosmotic infusion in patients with severe head trauma and the development of a prognostic model for patients with cardiopulmonary arrest (4).

-Disaster medicine and pre-hospital emergency medicine-

Studies in the field of disaster medicine and prehospital emergency medicine involves those on the establishment of business continuing plans (BCPs) for disasters. Other studies include research on the effectiveness of Rapid Response Car (5), the establishment of an emergency medical care system in large theme parks, and research on the effectiveness of electronic triage during disasters, which was adopted by CREST.

-Basic research (neutrophil phenotype and ATP)-

Basic research includes neutrophil phenotype studies during invasion (e.g., during sepsis) and studies targeting ATP. The former includes the dynamics of aged neutrophils, ICAM-1 positive neutrophils and NETs, and identification of lowdensity neutrophil subsets. In the research on neutrophil ATP, we conducted studies on fluorescence imaging of ATP on the surface of neutrophils and in mitochondria, and neutrophil signaling transduction (Figure 4) (6). Stimulation of the formyl peptide receptor was previously found to cause ATP release from PMNs through maxi-anion channels and PANX1 hemichannels. To confirm this finding, the median fluorescence intensity (MFI) of PMAP-1 on the plasma membrane of healthy control (HC) PMNs was quantified by flow cytometry after stimulation with the indicated concentrations of fMLP (Figure 5a). The MFI of PMAP-1 following fMLP stimulation increased in a dose-dependent manner. CD11b expression on the plasma



membrane of PMNs was also measured as a marker of PMN activation. Cell surface CD11b expression in PMNs stimulated with fMLP also increased in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 5b). Mitochondria are often referred to as the powerhouse of the cells, as they generate ATP by oxidative phosphorylation. To our knowledge, changes in mitochondrial ATP levels in PMNs have not been reported. The MFI of MitoAP-1 following fMLP stimulation decreased significantly in a dose-dependent manner (Figure 5c). The MFIs of PMAP-1 and MitoAP-1 in sepsis patients were evaluated by flow cytometry within 24 h after diagnosis of sepsis (days 0-1). Both values were significantly higher than those of the HC group (data not shown). CD11b expression on the plasma membrane was also upregulated in sepsis patients. Activated PMNs in sepsis patients appeared to cause a burst of extracellular ATP release and to increase ATP synthesis by oxidative phosphorylation in the mitochondria. The same experiments were conducted at days 3-4 as the patients' clinical conditions improved, which revealed that the MFIs of PMAP-1 and CD11b expression decreased significantly compared to those at days 0-1, whereas a high MitoAP-1 MFI was maintained. Namely, the temporal changes of



Figure 4 Confocal micrographs of human polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMNs) stained with PMAP-1 and MitoAP-1.

a ATP on the plasma membrane was stained with PMAP-1. The *bright green* fluorescence observed on the plasma membrane of PMNs resulted from PMAP-1 conjugation to ATP (×100 oil objective, NA 1.4). *Scale bar* 10 μ m. **b** ATP in the mitochondria was stained with MitoAP-1 (*red*) and MitoTracker[®] Green FM (*green*), and they colocalized well (×100 oil objective, NA 1.4). Scale *bar* 10 μ m

ATP release and CD11b expression on the plasma membrane were similar, but ATP production showed distinct behavior in the mitochondria.

-Complement system in multiple organ failure-

Recently we are trying to elucidate the of complement system in patients with multiple organ failure by the grant for Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPSI, KAKENHI Grant number 19H03764). Sepsis is a life-threatening emergency that occurs when the human body reacts in an extreme way to an infection, triggering a chain reaction that exacerbates the patient's condition. Almost any type of infection can lead to sepsis, although the most common infections typically start in the lung, urinary tract, skin or gastrointestinal tract. One of the main problems associated with sepsis is the multiple organ failure or dysfunction that it can lead to - it is this which most often leads to complication resulting in death. However, despite much research into this subject, the actual causes for multiple organ failure from sepsis (as well as severe trauma, burns and heat stroke) are not entirely clear. We have turned our attention to trying to ascertain the exact reasons why multiple organ failure occurs in sepsis patients. We have devel-



Figure 5 ATP level and CD11b expression after fMLP stimulation in healthy control subjects.

a Changes in the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of PMAP-1 after stimulation with the indicated fMLP concentrations; MFI values were normalized to those of controls (no fMLP) (n = 8 per group). The data shown are the mean \pm SEM, and groups were compared with one-way ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc test (*p < 0.01).

b Changes in CD11b expression of polymorphonuclear neutrophils after fMLP stimulation; expression levels were normalized to those of controls (no fMLP) (n = 8 per group). The data shown are the mean \pm SEM, and groups were compared with one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc test (*p < 0.01). c Changes in MFI of MitoAP-1 after stimulation with the indicated fMLP concentrations; MFI values were normalized to those of controls (no fMLP) (n = 8 per group). The data shown are the mean \pm SEM, and groups were compared with one-way ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc test (*p < 0.01, **p < 0.05)

oped a hypothesis that one of the causes for multiple organ failure in sepsis patients is complement activation. The complement system is a term denoting a series of more than 20 proteins that circulate in the blood and tissue fluids. Complement causes the killing of bacteria and the recycling of dead cells in the body and is essential to an effective immune response in the human body. Complement activation occurs during a range of alien invasions, such as viral infection, allergy, severe trauma, heat stroke and sepsis. In recent years, it has become clear that excessive complement activation can cause thrombotic microangiopathy (TMA), which is a condition that can lead to organ damage. Knowing this, we set about working to understand the extent to which complement activation is involved in multiple organ failure during biological infection. It is known that when the protein complement component 3 (C3) is activated by the immune system in response to infection, foreign objects or external stimulus, it becomes C3a and C3b, the latter of which binds to the surface of the cell membranes of microorganisms and reacts with factor B and factor D to form C3 converting enzymes. Moreover, when this particular pathway weakens the function of complement regulators in the body, it becomes amplified and becomes C5a and C5b which leads to the development of a variety of pathological conditions. We are therefore working on aspects of this knowledge with a view to determining whether uncontrolled complement activation occurs during biological infection and whether TMA is triggered, eventually leading to multiple organ failure. To achieve their aims, we have investigated the suppression of multiple organ failure in both clinical and basic research by studying the quantitative evaluation of the complement activation, its relationship with TMA, the relationship between complement activation and leukocyte/platelet and the control of complement activity. To perform the experiments, we used tools that are common to immunology, such as ELISA (enzymelinked immunosorbent assay) and FACS (flow cytometry) (7).

-A joint research course (Emergency AI Color Image Information Standardization Course)-

Additionally, a joint research course (Emergency AI Color Image Information Standardization Course) was established with Toppan Printing Co. Ltd since last year. This study pursues the authenticity of color image data in the field of emergency medicine. Our goal is to build a platform for providing medical image information and to apply it clinically to emergency medical care settings using image information standardized by numerical color information.

The 47th Annual Meeting of the Japanese Association for Acute Medicine

In 2019, we hosted the 47th Annual Meeting of the Japanese Association for Acute Medicine (Figure 6). The theme of the conference is "Fudan Zenshin, Kyumeikyukyu; Now JIN again.". We have been continuously moving forward in acute medicine and critical care (Fudan Zenshin, Kyumeikyukyu), with Juntendo spirit JIN (humanity) that is now required again. Emergency medical care is the starting point of "medicine" and is the ultimate source of life preservation for all citizens. We emergency physicians will continue to provide lifesaving medical care to patients without giving up until the very end, to keep the light of life from going out.

Conclusion

Finally, I would like to thank all the medical staff and my family for their support. I would like to conclude my retirement address by wishing Juntendo's continued growth and good health to all those who are a part of Juntendo (Figure 7).



Figure 6 The 47^{th} annual meeting of the Japanese Association for Acute Medicine, held at Octorber 2 to 4, 2019 in Tokyo.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank all of the team members who have worked at the Department of Acute and Critical Care Medicine in Urayasu Hospital over the years, supporting a large number of activities.

Funding

No funding was received.

Author contributions

HT. wrote the manuscript.



Figure 7 Current medical staff in the Department of Emergency and Disaster Medicine, Urayasu Hospital.

Conflicts of interest statement

The author has no conflict of interest to disclose.

Reference

- Sumi Y, Oode Y, Tanaka H: Chinese dumpling scare hits Japan – a case of methamidophos food poisoning. J Toxicol Sci, 2008; 33: 485–486.
- 2) Tanaka H, Oda J, Yoshioka T, *et al*: Morbidity and mortality of hospitalized patients after the 1995 Hanshin-Awaji earthquake. Am J Emerg Med, 1999; 17: 186–191.
- 3) Kumakawa Y, Hirano Y, Tanaka H, et al: Late i.v. steroid treatment for severe COVID-19-induced acute respiratory distress syndrome: a case report. Acute Medicine & Surgery, 2020; 7: e 569.

- 4) Hirano Y, Kondo Y, Tanaka H, *et al*: Early outcome prediction for out-of-hospital cardiac arrest with initial shockable rhythm using machine learning models. Resuscitation, 2021; 158: 49–56.
- 5) Inoue J, Hirano Y, Tanaka H, *et al*: Risk factors for cancellation after dispatch of rapid response cars for prehospital emergency care: a single-center, casecontrol study. Acute Medicine and Surgery, 2021; 26.
- 6) Sueyoshi K, Sumi Y, Tanaka H, *et al*: Fluorescence imaging of ATP in neutrophils from patients with sepsis using organelle-localizable fluorescent chemosensores. Ann Intensive Care, 2016; 6: 64.
- Nakamura Y, Sueyoshi K, Tanaka H, *et al*: Complement activation in patients with heat-related illnesses: soluble CD59 is a novel biomarker indicating severity of heat-related illnesses. Crit Care Exploration, (in press).

Special Reviews

Juntendo Medical Journal 2022. 68 (4), 332–338



My 42-year Experience in Radiation Oncology

KEISUKE SASAI^{1, 2)}

¹⁾Department of Radiation Oncology, Juntendo University, Graduate School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan ²⁾Department of Radiation Therapy, Misugikai Satou Hospital, Osaka, Japan

In the present review, I provide an overview of the development of radiation therapy and short history of the Department of Radiation Oncology, Juntendo University. I also emphasize the importance of radiation therapy as a major treatment modality for cancers.

Radiation therapy is a standard treatment for malignant tumors. It aims to deliver a sufficient radiation dose to a target volume to eradicate tumor cells or relieve symptoms of disease. Therapy can achieve good results in many types of cancers. Although radiation therapy sometimes causes undesirable adverse events, it is generally less invasive than other treatment modalities and does not alter the shape and function of healthy organs. When the author joined this field in 1981, radiation therapy techniques were highly primitive; however, during the past 42 years, treatment has advanced rapidly with the development of computer science, mechanical techniques and instrumentation. Currently, patients can be treated with precise radiation techniques, including intensity-modulated radiation therapy, image-guided radiation therapy, stereotactic irradiation, and brachytherapy. We also introduced a new treatment planning system that uses not only anatomical but also metabolic imaging, which permits correct delineation of the target volume. Therefore, it is crucial to stay up to date with advances and developments in rapidly emerging technologies to maintain high-quality treatment. The Department of Radiation Oncology at Juntendo University (Tokyo, Japan) is still small; however, it is gradually expanding and conducting research in both clinical and basic fields. It is the author's hope that many young investigators will join this field in the future.

Key words: radiation therapy, radiation oncology, image-guided radiation therapy, intensity modulated radiation therapy, biological target volume

Introduction

Radiation therapy is a standard treatment for malignant diseases. It is a treatment modality that aims to deliver a sufficient radiation dose to a target volume to eradicate tumor cells or relieve symptoms of disease.

In the United States, approximately one-half of patients with cancers undergo radiation therapy; however, only one-quarter of such patients are irradiated in Japan¹⁾. There are several reasons for this low frequency of radiation therapy. For example, the number of cancers that are not candidates for radiation therapy, such as gastric malignancy, are higher than those in the United States or in European countries. Additionally, as a result of the destructive atomic bombings of Hiroshima and Nagasaki (Japan), and the Fukushima nuclear catastrophe, many Japanese generally fear radiation and radiotherapy.

In the present review, I provide an overview of the development of radiation therapy and short history of the Department of Radiation Oncology, Juntendo University (Tokyo, Japan). I also empha-

E-mail: ksasai@juntendo.ac.jp

Copyright © 2022 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ22-0025-R

Corresponding author: Keisuke Sasai (ORCID: 0000-0002-9962-6497)

Department of Radiation Oncology, Juntendo University, Graduate School of Medicine

²⁻¹⁻¹ Hongo, Bukyo-ku, Tokyo 113-8421, Japan

³⁵⁵th Triannual Meeting of Juntendo Medical Society "Farewell Lectures of Retiring Professors" [Held on Mar. 30, 2022]

[[]Received Jun. 8, 2022] [Accepted Jun. 16, 2022]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Aug. 15, 2022

size the importance of radiation therapy as a major treatment modality for cancers.

Developments in radiation therapy since 1981

When I joined this field in 1981, radiation therapy techniques were highly primitive. Virtually all institutions in Japan were equipped only with low-energy photon sources, such as cobalt-60 machines or low-energy medical linear accelerators (Linacs). Treatment was usually performed using a simple technique, such as two opposing anterior-posterior and posterior-anterior ports. The field was trimmed using one or two monoblocs fabricated from thick heavy metals. The radiation treatment field was determined using an X-ray simulator, which is a type of X-ray fluoroscopy specifically designed for radiation therapy treatment planning, and it has the same geometric arrangement as the treatment device. The field was determined based on anatomical landmarks, such as bones, which are visualized using X-rays. For example, radiation fields for uterine cervical cancer were determined at the upper end, between the 4th and 5th lumbar vertebrae, the lateral margin at 1.5 cm lateral to the inner margin of the iliac bone, and the lower margin at the level of the caudal end of the obturate foramen. However, some institutions did not have an X-ray simulator; as such, they had to use fluoroscopy dedicated to diagnostic use or simple X-ray photography. Low-energy photons cannot sufficiently penetrate to deep-seated areas of disease because they rapidly lose their energy along their track in the human body. Therefore, an extremely high dose was administered to the skin to treat deep-seated tumors, which sometimes caused severe side effects. The aforementioned factors, therefore, limited cure to only diseases located in superficial regions or easily approachable tumors, such as uterine cervical cancers in the early 1980s. As such, it was generally believed that radiation therapy was not a curative but a palliative method.

However, rapid advances in computer science and mechanical technologies have led to a revolution in the field of radiation oncology. Linacs with ultra-high-energy X-rays, which can easily reach deep-seated lesions, are now commercially available. In the final decade of the 20th century, many new techniques emerged. If sufficient radiation doses could be delivered to the target volume, desirable performance in treatment was achieved. Stereotactic radiosurgery uses three-dimensional images and focuses multidirectional beams on a small target. The treatment was first applied to intracranial lesions, then gradually extended to extracranial diseases (Figure 1) and has yielded a



Figure 1 A male patient with prostate cancer underwent salvage radiation therapy for biochemical recurrence after surgical resection. However, his prostate-specific antigen levels gradually increased after five years. Computed tomography (CT) could not detect any recurrent lesions (A); however, ¹⁸F- fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography combined with CT clearly revealed suspected lymph node disease (B, indicated by white arrows). This lesion was treated using stereotactic radiation therapy using a total dose of 50 Gy in 10 fractions. Dose distributions of the treatments (C). Prostate-specific antigen levels dramatically decreased after treatment.

very high frequency of disease eradication. From Juntendo University, Naoi and colleagues were pioneers in this field in Japan and published high-quality reports^{2,3)}.

Takahashi and colleagues proposed "conformation radiation therapy" in the $1960s^{4,5}$. This is a type of rotational radiation therapy, in which the tumor(s) is irradiated in a 360° direction, and the beams are trimmed to conform to the shape of the target volume during irradiation. However, the technique was not very popular until the 1990s because it was very complicated and there was no way to obtain trans-axial images of the body except by using Takahashi's rotation tomograms. In the 1990s, major instrument manufacturers equipped their Linacs with a multi-leaf collimator (Figure 2), which can easily shape the radiation field to conform to the target. Computed tomography (CT), which was introduced in the early 1970s, has also advanced to provide sufficient image quality for treatment planning. Since then, a new technique, known as "conformal radiation therapy", in which a target is irradiated by conformal beams from several fixed directions, has emerged and is widely used. At the turn of the new millennium, a more sophisticated treatment technique, known as intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT), has been introduced in this field^{6,7)}, with developments in this technology advancing virtually every year. It can be used to treat patients using an acceptable dose distribution (Figure 3).

Another advance in treatment is the introduction of image-guided radiation therapy (IGRT)⁸⁾. IMRT has a steep fall-off of the radiation dose at the edge of the target volume. If the position of the target volume differs in a radiation session from the planning CT, the volume receives a lower dose than the plan prescribes. To overcome this problem, the position of the target is monitored before or during each treatment session using imaging modalities such as CT, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and/or ultrasound. Furthermore, it is possible to detect the movement of the target during irradiation. At Juntendo University Hospital in Hongo, tumor movement was tracked during a treatment session using the SyncTrax system



Figure 2 A medical linear accelerator (Linac) at the Juntendo University Hospital (Tokyo, Japan) (A) and multileaf collimator (B) placed at the aperture of the device, indicated by the white arrow.



Figure 3 Dose distributions in conventional conformal radiation therapy (A) and intensity modulation radiotherapy (B).



Figure 4 (A) The tracking system on a medical linear accelerator (Linac). The white arrows indicate X-ray detecting boards and the asterisk indicates one of four X-ray sources placed under the floor.(B) We usually use two sets of X-ray systems to tract a gold fiducial marker placed near the target volume. While the marker is out of position, the Linac beam is off. If the marker moves into the predefined position on images from both directions, the radiation beam is on.

(Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) (Figure 4), a real tract radiation system⁹⁾. It is combined with stereotactic radiation therapy to mainly treat lung or liver cancers. This technique, however, has drawbacks,

including exposure to X-rays and the visualization of only the fiducial markers inserted near the target volume. A newly emerged MRI-guided treatment technique can detect the movement of the target itself without any harmful effects¹⁰⁾, and may be a future direction of research and therapeutics.

In 2000, Ling et al. proposed a concept known as "biological target volume"¹¹⁾. As mentioned above, multiple modalities can be used to precisely irradiate the target volume. However, defining the target volume, which is usually based on anatomical images, remains a problem. Ling et al. proposed the use of biological and mechanistic data to delineate target volumes. Biological images broadly include metabolic, biochemical, physiological, functional, molecular, genotypic, and phenotypic. Although positron emission tomography (PET) using ¹⁸F- fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) is available for this purpose at Juntendo (Figure 1), other imaging modalities, such as ¹⁸F-misonidazole PET for hypoxic cells, have been tested at other institutions^{12, 13)}. With advances in diagnostic and imaging modalities, functional imaging is anticipated to be introduced in this field in the future.

Lack of qualified personnel in this field is a major issue in Japan. There were only 899 certified radiation oncologists (ROs), 1213.9 full-time equivalent (FTE) ROs, and 295.7 FTE medical physicists, despite 846 institutions treating patients using radiotherapy in 2015¹⁾. Juntendo also contends with this problem, and will be addressed later.

Radiation therapy as a standard treatment for cancer

As shown in Table 1, radiation therapy can achieve

good treatment results. Although it sometimes causes undesirable adverse events, it is generally less invasive than other modalities, and can preserve the shapes and functions of healthy organs. Therefore, it is regarded to be standard treatment for many types of malignant diseases and appears in domestic and international treatment guidelines for cancers. The therapy can be used not only as monotherapy, but can also be combined with other methods, including surgery, chemotherapy, and/or immunotherapy.

Radiation therapy at Juntendo University

When I was appointed to Juntendo University in 2000, the Radiation Oncology Division was a small part of the Department of Radiology. There was only one other RO with the exception of myself, although the individual was young and uncertified. Juntendo University had only two old-type Linacs (one at Juntendo University Hospital and another at Urayasu Hospital, Chiba, Japan).

The term "radiology" does not necessarily refer to radiation oncology (therapy) but refers to diagnostic radiology in the United States and major European countries. Because cancer is a leading cause of death, the Japanese government created the "Basic Plan to Promote Cancer Control Programs" based on the Cancer Control Act. One of the major policies is to promote radiation therapy, with the government encouraging each medical school to establish a radiation oncology department. In 2013, Juntendo University also established the

Disease		Local control (%)	5-year (%)	7-year (%)	10-year (%)
Prostatic cancer	Low risk		100*	100*	100*
	Intermediate risk		95.1*	92.0*	89.2*
	High risk		96.1*	93.2*	85.7*
	Salvage radiation therapy		83.6*	76.7*	
Breast cancer	Conventional fractionation		98.7**		95.9**
	Accelerated fractionation		98.3**		95.3**
Uterine cervical cancer ***	Stage I		100***		
	Stage II		84***		
	Stage III		78***		
	Stage IVA		40***		
SRT for lung cancer		96			

Table 1 Radiation therapy results for representative diseases at Juntendo University Hospital

*Biochemical relapse free rate, **the ipsilateral breast tumor control rate, Yoshida-Ichikawa Y et al. Breast Cancer 2021 Jan; 28(1): 92-98 ***Overall survival, SRT: stereotactic radiation therapy Department of Radiation Oncology, and I was appointed to be the first Chair. Juntendo Hospital is now equipped with three cutting-edge Linacs and a remote after-loading brachytherapy system. These facilities permit the treatment of virtually all cancer types that are suitable candidates for radiation therapy. Table 1 summarizes the results of radiation therapy for major diseases in our department¹⁴⁾. Generally, these values were better than expected. Other affiliated hospitals have also been equipped with new instruments, including Shizuoka Hospital (Shizuoka, Japan), with one; Urayasu Hospital, with two, and Nerima Hospital (Tokyo, Japan), with one (Table 2). Tables 2 and 3 summarize the changes in the radiation therapy facilities in the Juntendo University group and the number of patients treated at Juntendo Hospital, Hongo. Although there are few members in the Department of Radiation Oncology, the number has gradually increased to 11 ROs and 3 physicists.

Research at the Department of Radiation Oncology

Research themes at the Department of Radiation Oncology include both the basic and clinical fields, which is very similar to themes in other departments. Basic research includes both medical physics and radiation biology. Although my majors were clinical and radiation biological research, the lack of personnel was limited to the clinical and medical physics themes at Juntendo. During these years, the department published only a few articles in English; however, this number is now increasing as the number of members in our department has increased. Among these publications, Akamatsu et al. reported a close relationship between the prognosis of patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and the expression of c-erbB-2 in tumor tissue¹⁵⁾. Kunogi et al. predicted the radiosensitivity of tumor cells by simultaneously detecting histone H2AX phosphorylation and apoptosis¹⁶⁾. Recently, we reported that patients who underwent radiation therapy for cranial diseases experienced unusual visual and olfactory sensations^{17, 18)}. Among them, one woman who underwent resection of the olfactory bulb and epithelium reported a pungent smell during the radiation session¹⁹⁾. This phenomenon suggests that the central nervous system can detect X-rays, even in humans.

2000 10 2021		
	2000	2021
Linear accelerator	2 (H:1, U:1)	7 (H: 3, S:1, U:2, N:1)
Remote after loading system	1 (U:1)	1 (H:1)
Radiation Oncologist	2 (H:2)	11 (H:6, S:2, U:1, N:2)
Medical physicist	0	$3 (+2)^*$ (H·2 (+1)* U·1 N(1)*)

 Table 2
 Changes of the radiation therapy facilities in Juntendo University from 2000 to 2021

H: Juntendo Hospital, S: Shizuoka Hospital, U: Urayasu Hospital, N: Nerima Hospital, * numbers in parenthesis mean medical physicists at the faculty of health science

Table 3Changes of numbers of patients who received radiation therapy atJuntendo Hospital, Hongo, from 2000 to 2020

	2000	2020
Patients who received radiation therapy	450	1003
IMRT	0	271
SRT	32	55
brachytherapy	0	47

IMRT: intensity modulated radiation therapy including VMAT (volumetric-modulated arc therapy)

SRT: stereotactic radiation therapy (including stereotactic radiosurgery)

Conclusions

Radiation therapy has evolved from very primitive techniques to a highly sophisticated and precise level during the past 40 years, along with advances and developments in instrumentation and techniques. It is crucial to stay up to date with these developments to maintain high-quality treatment. The department of radiation oncology is currently small but has gradually expanded year by year. It is my hope that many young investigators will join this field in the future.

Acknowledgments

The author thanks all members of the Department of Radiation Oncology, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, for their many activities.

Funding

No funding was received.

Author contributions

KS contributed to the conception, drafting the manuscript, and preparation of figures and tables.

Conflicts of interest statement

The Author declares that there are no conflicts of interest.

References

- Numasaki H, Nakada Y, Okuda Y, Ohba H, Teshima T, Ogawa K: Japanese structure survey of radiation oncology in 2015. J Radiat Res, 2022; 63: 230–246.
- 2) Naoi Y, Cho N, Miyauchi T, Iizuka Y, Maehara T, Katayama H: Usefulness and problems of stereotactic radiosurgery using a linear accelerator. Radiat Med, 1996; 14: 215–219.
- Naoi Y, Maehara T, Cho N, Katayama H: Stereotactic radiosurgery for brain metastases using a linac system: evaluation of initial local response by imaging. Radiat Med, 1999; 17: 311–315.
- 4) Kitabatake T, Takahashi S: Conformation radiotherapy by means of a 6 MeV linear accelerator. Tohoku J Exp Med, 1968; 94: 37–43.
- 5) Takahashi S: Conformation radiotherapy. Rotation techniques as applied to radiography and radiotherapy

of cancer. Acta Radiol Diagn (Stockh). 1965: Suppl 242: 1+.

- Purdy JA: Advances in three-dimensional treatment planning and conformal dose delivery. Semin Oncol, 1997; 24: 655–671.
- 7) Zelefsky MJ, Leibel SA, Kutcher GJ, Fuks Z: Three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy and dose escalation: where do we stand? Semin Radiat Oncol, 1998; 8: 107-114.
- 8) Mackie TR, Kapatoes J, Ruchala K, *et al*: Image guidance for precise conformal radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 2003; 56: 89–105.
- Harada T, Shirato H, Ogura S, *et al*: Real-time tumortracking radiation therapy for lung carcinoma by the aid of insertion of a gold marker using bronchofiberscopy. Cancer, 2002; 95: 1720–1727.
- 10) Sritharan K, Tree A: MR-guided radiotherapy for prostate cancer: state of the art and future perspectives. Br J Radiol, 2022; 95: 20210800.
- 11) Ling CC, Humm J, Larson S, *et al*: Towards multidimensional radiotherapy (MD-CRT): biological imaging and biological conformality. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 2000; 47: 551–560.
- 12) Okamoto S, Shiga T, Yasuda K, *et al*: The reoxygenation of hypoxia and the reduction of glucose metabolism in head and neck cancer by fractionated radiotherapy with intensity-modulated radiation therapy. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging, 2016; 43: 2147–2154.
- 13) Tamaki N, Hirata K: Tumor hypoxia: a new PET imaging biomarker in clinical oncology. Int J Clin Oncol, 2016; 21: 619–625.
- 14) Yoshida-Ichikawa Y, Horimoto Y, Shikama N, et al: Ipsilateral breast tumor control following hypofractionated and conventional fractionated whole-breast irradiation for early breast cancer: a long-term followup. Breast Cancer, 2021; 28: 92-98.
- 15) Akamatsu M, Matsumoto T, Oka K, *et al*: c-erbB-2 oncoprotein expression related to chemoradioresistance in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 2003; 57: 1323–1327.
- 16) Kunogi H, Sakanishi T, Sueyoshi N, Sasai K: Prediction of radiosensitivity using phosphorylation of histone H2AX and apoptosis in human tumor cell lines. Int J Radiat Biol, 2014; 90: 587–593.
- 17) Obinata M, Yamada K, Sasai K: Unusual olfactory perception during radiation sessions for primary brain tumors: a retrospective study. J Radiat Res, 2019; 60: 812-817.
- 18) Hara N, Isobe A, Yamada K, *et al*: Unusual visual and olfactory perceptions during radiotherapy sessions: an investigation of the organs responsible. J Radiat Res, 2021; 62: 718–725.
- 19) Kosugi Y, Hara N, Isobe A, Matsumoto F, Sasai K: Detection of ionising radiation by the CNS: a case report. Lancet Neurol, 2022; 21: 311–312.

Original Articles

Juntendo Medical Journal 2022. 68(4), 339–351



The Expression of Rab8, Ezrin, Radixin and Moesin in the Ciliary Body of Cynomolgus Monkeys

KAZUHIKO TANABE^{1, 2, 3)}, ITARU KIMURA¹⁾, HARU OKAMOTO¹⁾, ZAI-LONG CHI¹⁾, MASAKAZU AKAHORI¹⁾, NOBUHIRO SHIMOZAWA⁴⁾, NOBUYUKI EBIHARA³⁾, AKIRA MURAKAMI²⁾, TAKESHI IWATA¹⁾

¹⁾National Institute of Sensory Organs, National Hospital Organization Tokyo Medical Center, Tokyo, Japan
 ²⁾Department of Ophthalmology, Graduate School of Medicine, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan
 ³⁾Department of Ophthalmology, Juntendo University Urayasu Hospital, Chiba, Japan
 ⁴⁾Tsukuba Primate Research Center, National Institute of Biomedical Innovation, Ibaraki, Japan

Purpose: The purpose of this study was to determine what proteins are present in the ciliary body (CB). To accomplish this, we conducted a proteomic analysis of the CB of cynomolgus monkeys. We also determined the location of the proteins in CB by immunohistology.

Methods: The eyes of euthanized cynomolgus monkeys were enucleated, and the CB, were isolated from the eyes. Proteins were extracted from the CB and determined by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. Separated CB epithelial cells were cultured, and the proteins expressed in the CB were determined by Western blotting. The location of these proteins in the CB was determined by immunohistochemical staining. We also investigated whether adding dexamethasone to the culture medium changed protein expression by the epithelial cells.

Results: Proteomic analysis of the CBs showed that 813 proteins were expressed in the epithelium and stroma. These proteins included the small guanosine triphosphate-binding protein Rab8 and the ezrin/radixin/moesin (ERM) family. Tissue and immunohistological staining confirmed the colocalization of these proteins in non-pigmented CB epithelium. Western blotting of cultured CB epithelial cell lysates showed a tendency that adding dexamethasone changed Rab8 protein expression levels.

Conclusions: Proteomic analysis of CBs identified several proteins involved in the transport and secretion of proteins. These proteins may be involved in the production of aqueous humor and protein secretion by the CB.

Key words: ciliary body, rab8, ezrin, radixin, moesin

Introduction

Glaucoma is a major cause of blindness worldwide: Approximately 60 million people have glaucoma, and approximately 8 million of them are blind in both eyes^{1,2)}. The disease is characterized by a progressive loss of retinal ganglion cells, resulting in constriction of the visual fields^{2,3)}. Elevated intraocular pressure (IOP) enhances the progression of the disease processes, and a reduction of IOP can slow or block the progression of glaucoma. The IOP can also affect aqueous humor dynamics⁴. Other components that influence IOP are the trabecular meshwork and Schlemm's canal, which are involved in the outflow of aqueous humor, and the ciliary body (CB), which is involved

TEL/FAX: +81-3-3411-1026 E-mail: kimuraitaru@gmail.com

Corresponding author: Itaru Kimura

Division on Molecular & Cellular Biology, National Institute of Sensory Organs, National Hospital Organization Tokyo Medical Center 2-5-1 Higashigaoka, Meguro-ku, Tokyo 152-8902 Japan

[[]Received Nov. 29, 2021] [Accepted Mar. 14, 2022]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Jul. 14, 2022

Copyright \odot 2022 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ21-0042-OA

in aqueous humor production.

Besides aqueous humor formation, the CB is involved in accommodation and anterior chamber-associated immune deviation. The CB, especially the non-pigmented ciliary epithelium, is also involved in the synthesis and secretion of various proteins found in the aqueous humor that are believed to be involved in controlling IOP⁴⁻⁶⁾.

Proteins secreted from the CB can affect the trabecular meshwork cells. The glycoproteins in aqueous humor have been shown to be secreted from the CB epithelium⁷⁾, and molecules in the aqueous humor, e.g., collagenases, can affect the trabecular meshwork morphology^{8,9)}. However, a comprehensive description of the proteins present in the aqueous humor has not been published.

Recent advances in proteomics technology have made it possible to perform comprehensive investigations of the proteins in body fluids and tissues. In ophthalmology, proteomics studies have analyzed the proteins in the cells of the trabecular meshwork, aqueous humor, retina, retinal pigment epithelium, and retinal drusen¹⁰⁻¹⁷⁾.

To date, no study has comprehensively determined the proteins expressed in the CB. In addition, the many steps involved in the synthesis and secretion of aqueous humor have not been determined. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to determine the proteins present in the CB. To accomplish this, we conducted a proteomic analysis of the CB of cynomolgus monkeys and thereby focused on the small guanosine triphosphate (GTP)-binding protein Rab8, which has been shown to be involved in vesicle transport and protein localization in small intestinal epithelial cells. Rab8 is also involved in the morphology of the microvilli in small intestinal epithelial¹⁸⁾ and is associated with optineurin^{19, 20)}, a glaucoma gene.

Materials and methods

Preparation of cynomolgus monkey eyes

All experimental procedures were approved by the Animal Welfare and Animal Care Committee of the Tsukuba Primate Research Center (TRPC) and the Experimental Animal Committee of the National Tokyo Medical Center. The facilities for housing the monkeys are accredited by the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care International (AAALAC International). Monkeys are routinely examined for physical and ophthalmic conditions by veterinarians and ophthalmologists, and all experiments on monkeys are conducted in accordance with The Association for Research in Vision and Ophthalmology Statement for the Use of Animals in Ophthalmic and Vision Research.

Eyes were obtained in a collaborative study to make effective use of all the monkey tissues for different research programs. Eyes were enucleated immediately after the monkeys were euthanized, and the CBs were isolated from the eyes within 4 hours after death.

Protein extraction from CBs

The tissues from the CBs of a healthy male monkey were homogenized and sonified in lysis buffer (50 mM Tris-HCL, 2 mM EDTA, 0.5% Triton-X, 2% SDS). After centrifugation for 10 minutes at 10 000 rpm (9,300g), the supernatant was collected. The protein concentration in the supernatant was determined with the RC DC protein assay kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Twenty micrograms of the protein sample were combined with an equal volume of $2 \times$ Laemmli buffer and heated for 5 minutes at 100 °C. Then, all samples were stored at -20 °C until use.

Gel digestion and liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry analyses

Twenty micrograms of protein sample was separated on 12.5% acrylamide SDS-PAGE gel. The gel was stained with Colloidal Coomassie Blue (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and cut into 15 equal pieces of approximately 1 mm³. The pieces were washed twice with 50mM ammonium bicarbonate/50% acetonitrile, and after destaining, the gel pieces were rinsed with distilled water and incubated with acetonitrile for 20 minutes. The supernatant was discarded, and the gel pieces were completely dried before incubation with 10mM DTT in 100mM ammonium bicarbonate for 45 minutes at 56 °C. The supernatant was discarded, and the pieces were incubated in the dark with 55mM iodoacetamide in 100mM ammonium bicarbonate for 30 minutes at room temperature. Then, the supernatant was discarded, and the gels were washed three times. Finally, the gel pieces were completely dried before tryptic digestion in sequencing grade trypsin solution (12.5 $\mu g/\mu L$; Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc, Rockford, IL, USA) in 50mM ammonium bicarbonate. The digestion was performed at 37 °C overnight, and then the extraction step was performed once with 25mM ammonium bicarbonate, twice with 5% formic acid, and then once with distilled water. The extracted peptides were pooled and dried. After re-suspending in 40 μ L of aqueous 0.01% trifluoroacetic acid/2% acetonitrile, the samples were analyzed by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LCQ Deca XP plus, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc).

Proteomic analysis of monkey CB

Database searches were performed with the assistance of Bio Works 3.3.1, a protein search program. The UniProt-SwissProt database was initially used by querying the entire theoretical peptide masses provided in the public domain by the Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics. The number of registrations in the UniProt-SwissProt database is about 17 000 for humans and about 14 000 for mice. The data analyses of the monkey CB were aimed at cynomolgus monkeys, humans, orangutans, chimpanzees, rhesus macaques, and lowland gorillas.

Immunohistochemistry of the CB

Enucleated eyes from normal cynomolgus monkeys were fixed in 10% neutralized and buffered formaldehyde solution at 4 °C overnight and then dehydrated. The eyes were embedded in paraffin and serially sectioned at 4 μ m thickness. After deparaffinization and rehydration, the specimens were prepared for antigen retrieval by warming in hot water in Target Retrieval Solution (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) for 30 minutes at 100 °C. The sections were then blocked with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) containing 10% BSA for one hour and then incubated overnight with primary antibodies (Abs) that were the same as those used for the Western blotting. The slides were washed in PBS and, for nuclear staining, were incubated with Alexa 488 or Alexa 568 (1:500 dilution; Invitrogen) and 4',6'diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) for one hour at room temperature. The stained tissues were examined with a confocal fluorescence laser microscope (Radiance 2000, Bio-Rad Laboratories). Control slides were prepared by a similar process, but the primary Abs were omitted.

Primary culture of ciliary epithelial cells from cynomolgus monkey

The ciliary epithelial cells isolated from cynomolgus monkey eyes were suspended in DMEM (GIBCO, Carlsbad, CA, USA) containing penicillin-streptomycin (100 U/mL final concentration; Invitrogen) and 10% FBS. Cells were grown to confluence at 37 °C in 5% CO₂. Then, cells were cultured with 100 nM of the glucocorticoid dexamethasone (DEX), 500 nM of timolol malate, or 1 μ M of acetazolamide (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA) for five days.

Protein expression of lysate from blotting of CB

Cultured monkey ciliary epithelial cells were lysed in TNE buffer containing 50mM Tris, 137mM NaCL, 1mM EDTA, 1% TritonX-100, and protease inhibitors (Complete EDTA-free; Roche, Basel, Switzerland). After homogenization and centrifugation for 15 minutes at 14 000 rpm, the supernatant was collected. The protein concentration was determined with the RC-DC protein assay kit (Bio-Rad) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Ten micrograms of proteins from the monkey ciliary epithelium cells lysates were diluted in an equal volume of 2×Laemmli buffer and heated for 5 minutes at 100 °C. Samples were separated by 7.5% SDS-PAGE and transferred electrophoretically to polyvinylidene difluoride membrane. Membranes were blocked in PBS containing 0.05% tween20 (PBS-T) and 5% non-fat dry milk for one hour and probed overnight at 4 °C with one of the following primary Abs: rabbit anti-Rab8 Ab (Sigma-Aldrich), goat anti-Ezrin Ab (Sigma-Aldrich), goat anti-Radixin Ab (Sigma-Aldrich), goat anti-Moesin Ab (Sigma), and mouse anti-Actin Ab (Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA). The specific signals were detected with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)conjugated donkey Ab to goat IgG or rabbit IgG as secondary Abs. The signals were made visible by chemiluminescence reactions and examined with a ChemiDoc XRS plus (Bio-Rad).

Results

Proteomic analysis of monkey CB

The proteomic analysis of proteins extracted from the stroma and epithelium of the monkey CB

identified a total of 813 proteins. Detailed information on these proteins is shown as supplemental data. These proteins were classified by a biological process registered in the Gene Ontology database that uses pathway tool software (MetaCore, Gene GO, Infocom; Figure 1). The proteins identified in the CB are involved in protein transport, localization, and secretion (Table 1).

Immunohistochemical analyses

The results of proteomic analysis of monkey CB included the Rab8 protein (No.170), which is a small GTP-binding protein that is related to the glaucoma gene optineurin, and is known to be involved in protein localization and transportation in the small intestine and can affect the morphology of microvilli¹⁸. The ezrin (No.70)/radixin (No.160)/ moesin (No.108), ERM family, which are core proteins in the microvilli that also act as linker

•	15 30 45 60	7.5	og(pValue)
2			1. catabolic process
55			2. cellular catabolic process
4		.	3. small molecule metabolic process
ъ. ¹			 macromolecular complex subunit organization
		-	5. cellular macromolecular complex subunit organization
2		-	
<u> </u>		-	6. cellular component organization
5		-	/. cellular component organization or biogenesis
10			9 cellular component biogenesis
		-	10. cellular component assembly at cellular level
••		_	100 oorrarar oomponent abbombry at oorrarar rever
12			11. purine ribonucleoside triphosphate metabolic process
13			12. cellular component organization at cellular level
			13. purine nucleoside triphosphate metabolic process
14			
15		-	14. ribonucleoside triphosphate metabolic process
16			15. metabolic process
17			10. Certural component organization of biogenesis at certural rever
18		-	17. nucleoside triphosphate metabolic process
10			18. purine ribonucleotide metabolic process
20		-	19. cellular metabolic process
21		-	20. ribonucleotide metabolic process
22		-	
23			21. generation of precursor metabolites and energy
-		-	22. macromolecular complex assembly
24			23. cellular macromolecular complex assembly
25			24. nucleoside phosphale metabolic process
		-	26. purine nucleotide metabolic process
27		-	
28		-	27. nucleobase-containing small molecule metabolic process
20		-	28. organella organization
30			29. purine ribonucleoside triphosphate catabolic process
31			30. ribonucleoside triphosphate catabolic process
32			31. Oxidation-reduction process 32. purine nucleoside triphosphate catabolic process
33			52. parine nacicosiae criphosphace cacaboric process
34		_	33. nucleosome assembly
35			34. heterocycle metabolic process
36			35. purine ribonucleotide catabolic process
37		-	36. nucleoside triphosuphate catabolic process
38			37. ribonucleotide catabolic process
30		-	38. purine-containing compound metabolic process
40		-	30 chromatin accombly
41			40. purine nucleotide catabolic process
42			41. purine-containing compound catabolic process
43			42. protein-DNA complex assembly
44			43. nucleosome organization
45			44. nucleotide catabolic process
46			45. nucleobase-containing compound catabolic process
47			46. Heterocycle catabolic process
40			47. Calbular nitrogen compound catabolic process
49			40. Certutar microgen compound catabolic process
50		-	49. protein-DNA complex subunit organization
	Processes	L	50. Chromatin assembly or disassembly

Figure 1 Classification according to the Gene Ontology database

The pathway tool software (MetaCore,Gene GO,Infocom) was used to classify all of the identified proteins by the biological process registered in the Gene Ontology database.

Upper bar, proteins identified mainly in the ciliary epithelium; lower bar, proteins identified mainly in the ciliary stroma

No Protein name	Database	MW	Sequence	No.
No. Frotein name	accession No.	(Da)	coverage(%)	of peptide
1 10 kDa heat shock protein, mitochondrial	P61604	10924.9	25.50	3
2 14 kDa phosphohistidine phosphatase	Q9NRX4	13823.7	16.80	1
3 14-3-3 protein beta/alpha	P31946	28064.8	10.20	5
4 40S ribosomal protein S10	P46783	18885.9	5.50	2
5 60 kDa heat shock protein, mitochondrial	P10809	61016.5	17.60	10
6 60S acidic ribosomal protein P0	P05388	34251.8	3.50	2
7 78 kDa glucose-regulated protein	P11021	72288.5	13.80	7
8 Acetylcholinesterase	P22303	67753.4	2.10	1
9 Aconitate hydratase, mitochondrial	Q99798	85372.0	19.90	31
10 Actin, alpha cardiac muscle 1	P68032	41991.9	46.40	181
11 Acyl-protein thioesterase 1	O75608	24653.5	6.10	1
12 ADAM 21	Q9UKJ8	80766.1	1.10	1
13 Adenomatous polyposis coli protein	P25054	311453.1	0.50	1
14 Adenosylhomocysteinase	P23526	47685.3	3.50	1
15 ADP/ATP translocase 1	P12235	33043.2	17.80	28
16 Aldose 1-epimerase	Q96C23	37742.1	4.10	1
17 Alpha-2-macroglobulin	P01023	163174.3	7.60	16
18 Alpha-actinin-1	P12814	102992.7	20.50	30
19 Alpha-adducin	P35611	80904.8	2.40	1
20 Alpha-crystallin A chain	P02489	19896.9	31.20	5
21 Alpha-enolase	P06733	47139.4	24.40	34
22 Alpha-internexin	Q16352	55357.5	2.40	8
23 Annexin Al	P04083	38690.0	20.20	6
24 Apolipoprotein O	Q9BUR5	22270.5	23.20	3
25 Arachidonate 5-lipoxygenase	P09917	77933.4	2.10	2
26 Aspartate aminotransferase, cytoplasmic	P17174	46218.6	11.10	4
27 ATP synthase subunit alpha, mitochondrial	P25705	59713.7	21.00	32
28 Beta-actin-like protein 2	Q562R1	41976.0	12.00	92
29 Beta-crystallin A3	P05813	25133.8	7.00	1
30 Beta-enolase	P13929	46957.4	11.10	11
31 Calcium-binding mitochondrial carrier protein Aralar1	O75746	74709.0	4.90	4
32 Calnexin	P27824	67526.0	9.10	3
33 Calponin-1	P51911	33149.6	10.40	4
34 Calreticulin	P27797	48111.9	4.30	2
35 Carbonic anhydrase 2	P00918	29227.9	3.50	1
36 Caskin-2	Q8WXE0	126633.8	0.00	1
37 Catenin alpha-1	P35221	100008.6	2.00	1
38 Cationic amino acid transporter 3	Q8WY07	67125.6	1.90	2
39 CD59 glycoprotein	P13987	14167.8	8.60	4
40 CD9 antigen	P21926	25399.0	5.30	2
41 Centromere protein C 1	Q03188	106860.4	1.30	1
42 Citrate synthase, mitochondrial	075390	516796	7 70	4

 Table 1
 Principal proteins of cynomolgus monkey ciliary body

43 Clathrin heavy chain 1	Q00610	191491.7	6.30	12
44 Coatomer subunit alpha	P53621	138243.8	1.00	1
45 Cofilin-1	P23528	18490.7	28.30	9
46 Complement C3	P01024	187029.3	1.00	1
47 Contactin-2	Q02246	113322.6	1.40	1
48 Creatine kinase B-type	P12277	42617.4	32.50	21
49 Cystatin-B	P04080	11132.6	12.20	1
50 Cytochrome c	P99999	11741.1	33.30	13
51 Cytoplasmic aconitate hydratase	P21399	98336.7	1.60	1
52 Cytoskeleton-associated protein 5	Q14008	225364.6	0.80	1
53 Dachshund homolog 1	Q9UI36	78513.4	2.00	1
54 D-dopachrome decarboxylase	P30046	12703.7	9.30	2
55 Decorin	P07585	39721.9	4.20	1
56 Density-regulated protein	O43583	22078.1	6.60	1
57 Desmin	P17661	53503.2	39.40	65
58 Destrin	P60981	18493.5	28.50	10
59 Diacylglycerol kinase epsilon	P52429	63885.0	0.00	1
60 Dihydropteridine reductase	P09417	25773.0	12.30	2
61 Dihydropyrimidinase-related protein 1	Q14194	62144.8	2.80	1
62 DmX-like protein 2	Q8TDJ6	339541.7	0.50	1
63 DNA mismatch repair protein Msh2	P43246	104676.8	0.00	1
64 DNA polymerase kappa	Q9UBT6	98745.8	1.70	1
65 Dynamin-2	P50570	98003.3	1.60	2
66 Dynein heavy chain 5, axonemal	Q8TE73	528683.8	0.30	1
67 Dysferlin	O75923	237142.3	0.00	1
68 Dystrophin	P11532	426426.0	0.40	2
69 Electron transfer flavoprotein subunit alpha, mitochondrial	P13804	35057.6	8.70	2
70 Elongation factor 1-alpha 1	P68104	50109.2	7.10	6
71 Endoplasmin	P14625	92411.2	2.40	2
72 Endothelin-converting enzyme-like 1	O95672	87735.7	3.40	2
73 Eyes absent homolog 3	Q99504	62519.0	3.10	1
74 Ezrin	P15311	69369.8	3.20	2
75 Ferritin heavy chain	P02794	21212.3	13.10	6
76 Fibrillin-1	P35555	312097.0	0.50	1
77 Filamin-A	P21333	280561.4	2.80	11
78 Fructose-bisphosphate aldolase A	P04075	39395.3	9.30	5
79 Fumarate hydratase, mitochondrial	P07954	54602.2	7.30	2
80 Fumarylacetoacetate hydrolase domain-containing protein 2A	Q96GK7	34574.1	16.60	5
81 Galectin-1	P09382	14706.2	32.60	5
82 Gamma-enolase	P09104	47239.1	7.60	5
83 Gelsolin	P06396	85644.3	14.10	16
84 Glucose-6-phosphate isomerase	P06744	63107.3	11.50	5
85 Glutamate receptor 2	P42262	98758.3	1.80	3
86 Glutathione S-transferase kappa 1	Q9Y2Q3	25480.3	10.60	3
87 Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	P04406	36030.4	40.00	63

88 Haptoglobin	P00738	45176.6	13.30	7
89 Heat shock 70 kDa protein 1	P08107	70009.2	9.00	9
90 Hemoglobin subunit alpha	P69905	15247.9	23.90	10
91 Hexokinase-1	P19367	102420.2	3.20	3
92 Histone H4	P62805	11360.4	53.40	22
93 Ig alpha-1 chain C region	P01876	37630.7	15.60	4
94 Inactive phospholipase C-like protein 2	Q9UPR0	125785.3	1.00	6
95 Interphotoreceptor retinoid-binding protein	P10745	135277.8	1.10	1
96 Kallikrein-12	Q9UKR0	26716.2	6.50	1
97 Kappa-actin	Q9BYX7	41988.9	4.30	64
98 Kelch-like protein 8	Q9P2G9	68757.9	1.60	1
99 Kinesin-like protein KIF23	Q02241	109989.7	0.70	1
100 Lactoylglutathione lyase	Q04760	20764.3	4.30	1
101 Lamin-A/C	P02545	74094.8	21.80	30
102 Laminin subunit alpha-4	Q16363	202399.2	0.90	2
103 L-lactate dehydrogenase A chain	P00338	36665.4	3.60	2
104 Lutheran blood group glycoprotein	P50895	67362.7	4.80	8
105 Macrophage migration inhibitory factor	P14174	12468.2	7.80	2
106 Malate dehydrogenase, cytoplasmic	P40925	36403.0	23.10	18
107 Microsomal glutathione S-transferase 3	O14880	16505.6	17.80	3
108 Moesin	P26038	67777.9	5.50	2
109 Mu-crystallin homolog	Q14894	33754.4	7.30	2
110 Myelin basic protein	P02686	33097.3	11.20	7
111 Myosin-1	P12882	222975.5	0.50	3
112 Myotrophin	P58546	12886.6	30.50	2
113 Nesprin-1	Q8NF91	1010433.0	0.10	1
114 Nestin	P48681	177331.0	1.10	1
115 Neuroblastoma-amplified gene protein	A2RRP1	268412.5	0.00	1
116 Neurofilament heavy polypeptide	P12036	112412.0	0.90	8
117 Neurolysin, mitochondrial	Q9BYT8	80599.8	0.00	2
118 Neutral alpha-glucosidase AB	Q14697	106806.8	2.40	1
119 Nucleolar protein 14	P78316	97607.5	1.50	1
120 Nucleoside diphosphate kinase 3	Q13232	19002.9	10.10	2
121 Ovochymase-1	Q7RTY7	124985.6	1.10	1
122 P2X purinoceptor 1	P51575	44951.2	3.80	1
123 Palmitoyl-protein thioesterase 1	P50897	34171.3	7.80	1
124 Peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase A	P62937	18000.9	64.20	29
125 Periaxin	Q9BXM0	154906.0	4.90	2
126 Peripherin	P41219	53618.5	6.60	16
127 Peroxiredoxin-1	Q06830	22096.3	24.60	6
128 Phosphate carrier protein, mitochondrial	Q00325	40068.8	9.90	19
129 Phosphatidylethanolamine-binding protein 1	P30086	21043.7	27.30	11
130 Phosphoglucomutase-1	P36871	61410.6	5.70	3
131 Phosphoglycerate mutase 1	P18669	28785.9	31.50	12
132 Plasma membrane calcium-transporting ATPase 3	Q16720	134112.2	1.50	1

133 Plasminogen	P00747	90510.2	2.10	1
134 Plectin-1	Q15149	531407.9	0.30	1
135 Potassium channel subfamily K member 3	O14649	43490.0	0.00	1
136 Pre-B-cell leukemia transcription factor-interacting protein 1	Q96AQ6	80594.2	4.20	3
137 Pregnancy zone protein	P20742	163728.1	1.50	4
138 Prenylcysteine oxidase 1	Q9UHG3	56603.8	3.20	1
139 Proactivator polypeptide	P07602	58073.9	2.10	1
140 Probable phosphoglycerate mutase 4	Q8N0Y7	28758.8	11.80	7
141 Profilin-2	P35080	15036.3	10.00	2
142 Prohibitin-2	Q99623	33275.9	14.00	4
143 Prolargin	P51888	43782.2	2.90	1
144 Prolyl endopeptidase	P48147	80712.1	1.80	1
145 Prostaglandin E synthase 3	Q15185	18685.4	6.30	1
146 Proteasome subunit beta type-3	P49720	22933.5	7.80	1
147 Protein AF-10	P55197	108958.5	1.10	1
148 Protein disulfide-isomerase	P07237	57080.8	3.10	3
149 Protein DJ-1	Q99497	19878.5	7.90	3
150 Protocadherin-15	Q96QU1	215932.5	0.80	1
151 Putative annexin A2-like protein	A6NMY6	38634.8	11.20	14
152 Putative elongation factor 1-alpha-like 3	Q5VTE0	50153.2	4.80	6
153 Putative GTP-binding protein RAY-like	Q9BW83	20467.3	4.30	1
154 Putative heat shock 70 kDa protein 7	P48741	40219.6	3.50	2
155 Putative histone H2B type 2-C	Q6DN03	21458.2	5.20	7
156 Putative nucleoside diphosphate kinase	O60361	15519.0	33.60	6
157 Putative RNA methyltransferase NOL1	P46087	89247.2	1.40	1
158 Putative tubulin beta-4q chain	Q99867	48403.5	5.80	8
159 Pyruvate kinase isozymes M1/M2	P14618	57900.2	35.20	32
160 Radixin	P35241	68521.5	5.80	3
161 Ras suppressor protein 1	Q15404	31520.7	6.10	1
162 Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1	P63000	21436.3	5.20	1
163 Ras-related protein Rab-10	P61026	22526.6	6.00	1
164 Ras-related protein Rab-11A	P62491	24378.4	14.40	4
165 Ras-related protein Rab-1A	P62820	22663.4	16.10	2
166 Ras-related protein Rab-2A	P61019	23530.8	6.60	1
167 Ras-related protein Rab-3A	P20336	24968.1	7.30	1
168 Ras-related protein Rab-5C	P51148	23467.8	6.50	1
169 Ras-related protein Rab-7a	P51149	23474.9	6.80	1
170 Ras-related protein Rab-8A	P61006	23653.2	6.80	1
171 Ras-related protein Rap-1A	P62834	20973.7	13.60	3
172 Ras-related protein Rap-1b	P61224	20811.6	13.60	3
173 Retinal dehydrogenase 1	P00352	54827.0	3.00	1
174 Rho GDP-dissociation inhibitor 1	P52565	23192.7	7.40	6
175 RNA-binding protein 44	Q6ZP01	117910.9	1.30	2
176 Secernin-1	Q12765	46352.6	3.10	1
177 Selenium-binding protein 1	Q13228	52357.7	16.10	4

178 Septin-2	Q15019	41461.3	8.00	2
179 Serotransferrin	P02787	76999.7	17.80	12
180 Serum albumin	P02768	69321.6	22.50	74
181 Sideroflexin-3	Q9BWM7	35480.5	4.70	1
182 Signal peptide peptidase-like 2C	Q8IUH8	74404.0	2.20	2
183 Sodium/potassium-transporting ATPase subunit alpha-1	P05023	112824.1	8.70	15
184 Solute carrier family 2, facilitated glucose transporter member 1	P11166	54048.7	2.00	3
185 Sorcin	P30626	21662.4	5.60	1
186 Spectrin alpha chain, brain	Q13813	284362.5	7.00	18
187 Stomatin-like protein 2	Q9UJZ1	38510.2	4.20	2
188 Stress-70 protein, mitochondrial	P38646	73634.8	16.60	10
189 Superoxide dismutase [Mn], mitochondrial	P04179	24706.6	16.20	3
190 Talin-1	Q9Y490	269596.3	1.60	5
191 Tektin-4	Q8WW24	50617.3	0.00	1
192 Thioredoxin-dependent peroxide reductase, mitochondrial	P30048	27675.2	12.10	4
193 Titin	Q8WZ42	3812906.0	0.00	1
194 Transgelin	Q01995	22596.4	16.40	6
195 Transketolase	P29401	67834.9	6.40	8
196 Translationally-controlled tumor protein	P13693	19582.6	15.10	2
197 Trichoplein keratin filament-binding protein	Q9BT92	61034.3	2.40	2
198 Trifunctional enzyme subunit alpha, mitochondrial	P40939	82947.0	8.50	8
199 Triosephosphate isomerase	P60174	26652.7	57.00	26
200 Tropomyosin alpha-1 chain	P09493	32688.7	27.50	22
201 Tubulin alpha-1A chain	Q71U36	50103.7	16.20	25
202 Tyrosine aminotransferase	P17735	50366.5	3.10	1
203 Ubiquitin	P62988	8559.6	32.90	8
204 Vacuolar proton pump subunit E 1	P36543	26128.8	6.20	1
205 Vesicle-associated membrane protein 2	P63027	12640.7	20.70	6
206 Vimentin	P08670	53619.2	52.10	134
207 Vinculin	P18206	123721.9	3.50	4
208 Voltage-dependent anion-selective channel protein 1	P21796	30753.6	23.00	6
209 Wolframin	O76024	100241.2	1.50	1
210 Zinc finger protein 577	Q9BSK1	54122.0	3.30	1

proteins between actin filaments and the cell membranes. Rab8 and moesin have also been reported to interact in the photoreceptor cells²¹⁾. It is reasonable to assume that Rab8 and ERM family interact also in CB, and are involved in protein secretion. Double immunostaining with anti-Rab8 Ab and anti-ERM family Abs showed expression of Rab8, ezrin, radixin, and moesin in the CB epithelium and especially in the non-pigmented epithelium. A co-expression of Rab8 and the ERM family proteins was also detected in the ciliary epithelium (Figure 2A, 2B, 2C) and primary cultured ciliary epithelial cells (Figure 2D).

Drug effects on ciliary epithelium cells in vitro

The secondary glaucoma caused by glucocorticoids is both clinically and morphologically similar to primary open angle glaucoma. When trabecular meshwork cells are exposed to DEX, the extracellular matrix increases and the trabecular meshwork thickens, and resulting in IOP elevation. It is known that glucocorticoids affect IOP. However,



Figure 2 Immunohistochemistry of normal cynomolgus monkey ciliary body, and immunofluorescence staining of cultured monkey ciliary body cells

Paraffin sections of cynomolgus monkey ciliary body (CB) were labeled with antibodies specific to Rab8 (A-C), ezrin (A), radixin (B), and moesin (C). Monkey CB cells were stained with Rab8 and ezrin (D). Co-expression of Rab8 and the ezrin/radixin/moesin (ERM) family can be seen at the ciliary non-pigmented epithelium cells (arrow).

the relationship between CB function and glucocorticoids remains unclear. We investigated whether Rab8 interacts the mechanism of IOP elevation by glucocorticoids stimulation. Light microscopy did not show any morphological changes in the morphology and protein expression of cultured cynomolgus monkey non-pigmented ciliary epithelial cells with different concentrations of DEX (data not shown). Western blotting of epithelial cell lysates showed a tendency for the addition of DEX to decrease the expression of Rab8 protein and this effect seemed dose-dependent, though this is not significant (Figure 3A). The experiments repeated twice and the results were similar. In addition, when cells were cultured in the same way and timolol maleate or acetazolamide was added, no changes were observed in the expression of Rab8(– Figure 3B, 3C).

Discussion

Proteomic analyses of the CB of cynomolgus monkeys detected many proteins, some of which are involved in protein transport and secretion. In the CB, the difference of protein characteristics was found between ciliary epithelium and stroma. Structure proteins were major component in stroma,



Figure 3 Effect of dexamethasone on the expression of Rab8 in monkey ciliary epithelial cells

A: Western blot analysis with an antibody against Rab8 showed a tendency of decrease in the expression of Rab8 in monkey ciliary epithelial cells after exposure to dexamethasone (Dex) for 5 days. Western blot analysis with an antibody against actin was the control. The relative amount of Rab8/ actin was quantified.

B: Western blot analysis of ciliary epithelial cells after exposure to timolol maleate for five days. No change was seen in the expression of Rab8 proteins.

C: Western blot analysis of ciliary epithelial cells after exposure to acetazolamide for five days. No change was seen in the expression of Rab8 proteins.

and catalytic and metabolic proteins were more expressed in epithelium than stroma. Diffusion, ultrafiltration, and active secretion are physiological processes that participate in the production of aqueous humor, especially active secretion⁴). Blood flows through the CB, and aqueous humor is produced from the blood plasma by the non-pigmented ciliary epithelium. The proteins in the aqueous humor differ both quantitatively and qualitatively from those in the plasma^{4, 22, 23}, indicating that the CB must be involved in the secretion of proteins into the aqueous humor. In comparison of CB with aqueous humor, Chowdhury et al reported that 355 proteins were identified from human aqueous humor by narrow liquid chromatography electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry, and most of the proteins had catalytic, enzymatic, and structural properties²³⁾. Catalytic and metabolic proteins are almost 30% each of top 50 distribution by function by Gene Ontology in CB, and approximately 20% each in aqueous humor. Structure proteins take up around 35% in CB, whereas 9.9% in aqueous humor²³⁾, though simple comparison is not possible according to different way of classification.

Myocilin, a glaucoma gene, is found in the aqueous humor, and the trabecular meshwork cells are known to secrete exosomes into the aqueous humor²⁴⁾. The CB appears to secrete proteins into the aqueous humor in the same way.

Rab8, one of the proteins identified by our proteomic analysis, is a small GTP-binding protein that is related to optineurin, a glaucoma gene¹⁸⁻²⁰⁾. It is known to be involved in protein localization and transportation in the small intestine and can affect the morphology of microvilli¹⁸⁾. Although no reports have described the role that Rab8 plays in the CB, it is quite reasonable to assume that it is involved in protein secretion.

Our proteomic analysis also identified the ERM family proteins, which are core proteins of the microvilli and are found directly beneath the cell membranes. They act as linker proteins and connect actin filaments to the cell membranes^{25, 26)}. Rab8 and moesin have been reported to interact to regulate the transport of rhodopsin in photore-ceptor cells²¹⁾. Both proteins appear to be related to protein transport and to be active in the CB.

We double immunostained for Rab8, ezrin, radixin, and moesin in cynomolgus monkey CB tissues and also in cultured non-pigmented ciliary epithelial cells. Confocal microscopy showed a co-expression of Rab8 and the ERM family in the non-pigmented epithelium of the CB, suggesting that these proteins are involved in the function of the non-pigmented epithelium of the CB.

The secondary glaucoma caused by glucocorticoids is both clinically and morphologically similar to primary open angle glaucoma. Thus, glucocorticoids have been used in both *in vivo* and *in vitro* glaucoma research²⁷⁻³¹⁾. When trabecular meshwork cells are exposed to DEX, the extracellular matrix increases and the trabecular meshwork thickens, resulting in an elevation of IOP³¹⁾. It is also widely known that glucocorticoids affect IOP. However, the relationship between CB function and glucocorticoids remains unclear.

We cultured non-pigmented ciliary epithelial cells and found a tendency for adding DEX to reduce the level of Rab8 expression in these cells. Although drugs such as beta-blockers and acetazolamide can alter the production of aqueous humor, we did not observe any changes in the level of Rab8 expression when timolol maleate or acetazolamide was added to cultured CB epithelial cells. We suggest that these proteins influence the function and morphology of the trabecular meshwork. They may also affect the aqueous humor outflow route and thus the IOP. Determining these functions would be relevant for understanding the mechanism of IOP control and glaucoma pathogenesis.

Although Rab8 might be involved in functions in the CB besides the secretion of aqueous humor, the finding that Rab8 expression in the CB was affected by DEX stimulation indicates that Rab8 may have some effect on IOP dynamics. To obtain more information on this relationship, analyses of the CB epithelial cell secretome and secreted exosomes and experiments involving co-culture models with trabecular meshwork cells are required.

In conclusion, Rab8 probably plays some role in the secretion of aqueous humor in the CB of cynomolgus monkeys and co-exists with ERM family molecules. Its expression is dependent on stimulation by glucocorticoids. Further studies will be needed to investigate the exact role of Rab8 in the CB.

Acknowledgments

Not applicable.

Funding

No funding was received.

Author contributions

KT and IK collected and analyzed the experimental date, drafted the manuscript. HO, AC, MA and NS supported the experiment, NE, AM and TI conceived and participated in the study design and critically reviewed the manuscript.

Conflicts of interest statement

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

References

- 1) Quigley HA, Broman AT: The number of people with glaucoma worldwide in 2010 and 2020. Br J Ophthalmol, 2006; 90: 262–267.
- 2) Quigley HA: Glaucoma. Lancet, 2011; 377: 1367-1377.
- Kwon YH, Fingert JH, Kuehn MH, Alward WL: Primary open-angle glaucoma. N Engl J Med, 2009; 360: 1113-1124.
- Goel M, Picciani RG, Lee RK, Bhattacharya SK: Aqueous humor dynamics: a review. Open Ophthalmol J, 2010; 4: 52–59.
- 5) Coca–Prados M, Escribano J: New perspectives in aqueous humor secretion and in glaucoma: the ciliary body as a multifunctional neuroendocrine gland. Prog Retin Eye Res, 2007; 26: 239–262.
- 6) Delamere NA: Ciliary Body and Ciliary Epithelium. Adv Organ Biol, 2005; 10: 127-148.
- Haddad A, Laicine EM, de Almeida JC: Origin and renewal of the intrinsic glycoproteins of the aqueous humor. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol, 1991; 229: 371-379.
- 8) Vadillo-Ortega F, González-Avila G, Chevez P, Abraham CR, Montaño M, Selman-Lama M: A latent collagenase in human aqueous humor. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 1989; 30: 332-335.
- 9) Fautsch MP, Howell KG, Vrabel AM, Charlesworth MC, Muddiman DC, Johnson DH: Primary trabecular meshwork cells incubated in human aqueous humor differ from cells incubated in serum supplements. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2005; 46: 2848–2856.
- 10) Kim T, Kim SJ, Kim K, *et al*: Profiling of vitreous proteomes from proliferative diabetic retinopathy and nondiabetic patients. Proteomics, 2007; 7: 4203-4215.
- 11) García-Ramírez M, Canals F, Hernández C, *et al*: Proteomic analysis of human vitreous fluid by fluorescence-based difference gel electrophoresis (DIGE): a new strategy for identifying potential candidates in the pathogenesis of proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Diabetologia, 2007; 50: 1294–1303.
- 12) Crabb JW, Miyagi M, Gu X, *et al*: Drusen proteome analysis: an approach to the etiology of age-related macular degeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2002; 99: 14682-14687.
- 13) Edward DP, Bouhenni R: Anterior segment alterations and comparative aqueous humor proteomics in the buphthalmic rabbit (an American Ophthalmological Society thesis). Trans Am Ophthalmol Soc, 2011; 109: 66-114.
- 14) Wang X, Nookala S, Narayanan C, *et al*: Proteomic analysis of the retina: removal of RPE alters outer segment assembly and retinal protein expression. Glia, 2009; 57: 380–392.
- 15) Okamoto H, Umeda S, Nozawa T, *et al*: Comparative proteomic analyses of macular and peripheral retina of cynomolgus monkeys (Macaca fascicularis). Exp Anim, 2010; 59: 171–182.
- 16) Yu M, Sun J, Peng W, *et al*: Protein expression in human trabecular meshwork: downregulation of RhoGDI by

dexamethasone in vitro. Mol Vis, 2010; 16: 213-223.

- 17) Shibuya M, Okamoto H, Nozawa T, *et al*: Proteomic and transcriptomic analyses of retinal pigment epithelial cells exposed to REF-1/TFPI-2. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2007; 48: 516-521.
- 18) Sato T, Mushiake S, Kato Y, *et al*: The Rab8 GTPase regulates apical protein localization in intestinal cells. Nature, 2007; 448: 366–369.
- 19) Chibalina MV, Roberts RC, Arden SD, Kendrick-Jones J, Buss F: Rab8-optineurin-myosin VI: analysis of interactions and functions in the secretory pathway. Methods Enzymol, 2008; 438: 11-24.
- 20) Chi ZL, Akahori M, Obazawa M, *et al*: Overexpression of optineurin E50K disrupts Rab8 interaction and leads to a progressive retinal degeneration in mice. Hum Mol Genet, 2010; 19: 2606–2615.
- 21) Deretic D, Traverso V, Parkins N, Jackson F, Rodriguez de Turco EB, Ransom N: Phosphoinositides, ezrin/moesin, and rac1 regulate fusion of rhodopsin transport carriers in retinal photoreceptors. Mol Biol Cell, 2004; 15: 359–370.
- 22) To CH, Kong CW, Chan CY, Shahidullah M, Do CW: The mechanism of aqueous humour formation. Clin Exp Optom, 2002; 85: 335–349.
- 23) Chowdhury UR, Madden BJ, Charlesworth MC, Fautsch MP: Proteome analysis of human aqueous humor. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2010; 51: 4921–4931.
- 24) Stamer WD, Hoffman EA, Luther JM, Hachey DL, Schey KL: Protein profile of exosomes from trabecular meshwork cells. J Proteomics, 2011; 74: 796–804.

- 25) Arpin M, Chirivino D, Naba A, Zwaenepoel I: Emerging role for ERM proteins in cell adhesion and migration. Cell Adh Migr, 2011; 5: 199–206.
- 26) Yonemura S, Tsukita S, Tsukita S: Direct involvement of ezrin/radixin/moesin (ERM)-binding membrane proteins in the organization of microvilli in collaboration with activated ERM proteins. J Cell Biol, 1999; 145: 1497–1509.
- 27) Wilson K, McCartney MD, Miggans ST, Clark AF: Dexamethasone induced ultrastructural changes in cultured human trabecular meshwork cells. Curr Eye Res, 1993; 12: 783-793.
- 28) Wordinger RJ, Clark AF: Effects of glucocorticoids on the trabecular meshwork: towards a better understanding of glaucoma. Prog Retin Eye Res, 1999; 18: 629–667.
- 29) Rozsa FW, Reed DM, Scott KM, *et al*: Gene expression profile of human trabecular meshwork cells in response to long-term dexamethasone exposure. Mol Vis, 2006; 12: 125–141.
- 30) Clark AF, Steely HT, Dickerson JE, Jr., *et al*: Glucocorticoid induction of the glaucoma gene MYOC in human and monkey trabecular meshwork cells and tissues. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2001; 42: 1769–1780.
- 31) Lo WR, Rowlette LL, Caballero M, Yang P, Hernandez MR, Borrás T: Tissue differential microarray analysis of dexamethasone induction reveals potential mechanisms of steroid glaucoma. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2003; 44: 473–485.

Original Articles

Juntendo Medical Journal 2022. 68 (4), 352–362



Action and Contribution of the Iliopsoas and Rectus Femoris as Hip Flexor Agonists Examined with Anatomical Analysis

TOSHIMASA KUMAZAKI¹⁾, TOMIHISA TAKAHASHI²⁾, TAKASHI NAKANO³⁾, TATSUO SAKAI^{4, 5)}

¹⁾Department of Health and Sports Management, Osaka University of Health and Sport Sciences, Osaka, Japan ²⁾Department of Anatomy, Nihon University School of Dentistry, Tokyo, Japan

³⁾Department of Anatomy, School of Medicine, Aichi Medical University, Aichi, Japan

⁴⁾Department of Physical Therapy, Faculty of Health Science, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan

⁵⁾Department of Anatomy and Life Structure, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan

Objectives: To evaluate the difference in action between the iliopsoas and rectus femoris muscles in hip flexion by estimating the relative contribution to the maximal hip flexion torque and relative rotation speed.

Materials: We examined 22 lower limbs of 10 male and 12 female formaldehyde-fixed adult Japanese cadavers.

Methods: Using morphometric data from cadaver dissections, we calculated the moment arm length and physiological cross-sectional area for each muscle. We considered moment arm length and physiological cross-sectional area as indices of the maximal torque and compared them among the muscles at various hip joint angles. To evaluate the relative rotation speed, we calculated the increase of the hip joint angle for a 1% reduction of the muscle fiber length in each muscle.

Results: The rectus femoris contributed approximately 2/3 to the flexion torque in mild flexion up to 60° , whereas the iliopsoas contribution increased sharply beyond 60° . The relative iliopsoas rotation speed was 2.5- to 3-times higher than that of the rectus femoris in mild flexion up to 60° under the specific condition that each muscle had the same muscle contraction speed. **Conclusions**: We found that the iliopsoas served as a rapid flexor, while the rectus femoris was a powerful flexor.

Key words: hip joint, iliopsoas, rectus femoris, physiological cross-sectional area, torque

Introduction

Among the activities of daily living, standing up, as well as walking, constitute the most critical and fundamental exercises^{1–2)}. In these exercises, flexion and extension of the hip and knee joints are essential and critical motor elements³⁾. The extension of

the hip and knee joints plays an important role during chair-based standing and sitting. Various studies have analyzed the biomechanics of these extension activities using force plates^{1,4)}, motion analysis^{2,4,5)}, and electromyography (EMG)^{1,2,4,6)}. The walking and running exercises involve flexion of the hip and knee joints. Based on their observa-

2-1-1 Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-8421, Japan

Corresponding author: Toshimasa Kumazaki

Department of Health and Sports Management, Osaka University of Health and Sport Sciences

^{1-1,} Asashirodai, Kumatori-cho, Sennan-Gun, Osaka 590-0496, Japan

TEL: +81-72-479-3201 E-mail: tkumaza@ouhs.ac.jp

Corresponding author: Tatsuo Sakai

Department of Physical Therapy, Faculty of Health Science, Juntendo University

²⁻¹⁻¹ Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-8421, Japan

TEL: +81-3-5802-0421 E-mail: tatsuo@juntendo.ac.jp

Department of Anatomy and Life Structure, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine

TEL: +81-3-5802-1022/1023

[[]Received Feb. 25, 2022] [Accepted May. 6, 2022]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Jun. 20, 2022

Copyright © 2022 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ22-0009-OA

tions of larger hip flexor muscles in top sprinter athletes, Ema et al⁷). reported that hip flexion could play an important role in track and field sprinting. Biomechanical analysis results of these flexion activities have been reported in studies employing EMG of the iliopsoas and rectus femoris⁸) or combining EMG and hip flexion torque measurement⁹).

Joint movements are exerted in general by multiple muscles. During knee extension, the four muscles of the quadriceps femoris play the role of the main agonist. During hip extension, the gluteus maximus and three muscles of the hamstrings play the role of main agonists, and the adductor maximus acts as a synergist. During hip flexion, the iliopsoas and rectus femoris are the main agonists, and the sartorius and adductor longus act as synergists. Dynamometers measure the total torque produced by multiple agonists and synergists. However, it cannot discriminate the muscle strength of individual muscles. The EMG estimates the change of activities in individual muscles during joint movements. However, it cannot predict the relative muscle strength among the agonists and synergists. The EMG activities of the superficially located rectus femoris have been reported in many studies7, 10-17), and those of the deeply located iliopsoas have also been reported in some studies^{8, 18-23)}.

The morphometric parameters of the skeletal muscles, such as the muscle fiber length $\left(FL\right)$ and physiological cross-sectional area (PCSA), are well known to affect the muscle function, including the contraction speed, maximum muscle strength, and the effective contractible range^{24, 25)}. Indeed, the agonists and synergists of the hip and knee joints reportedly have different architectural parameters and functional characteristics²⁶⁾, suggesting that the multiple flexors and extensors of the hip and knee joints have varying contributions to the torque and speed during joint movement. However, the contribution of the individual muscles was not hitherto revealed by the previous studies employing dynamometers, EMG, and other physiological methods.

The iliopsoas (psoas major and iliacus), rectus femoris, sartorius, and adductor longus are known as the hip flexor muscles. The iliopsoas and rectus femoris are considered agonist muscles among the hip flexor muscles as they have greater PCSA values²⁶⁾. In comparison, the sartorius and adductor longus have much smaller PCSA values, and their force vector is deviated from the sagittal plane, so they are thought to have only minor contributions compared with the iliopsoas and rectus femoris. In the present study, we determined the relative contribution of the iliopsoas and rectus femoris to the maximal hip flexion torque based on morphological methods by estimating PCSA and moment arm length (MAL) values in the sagittal plane. Additionally, based on the morphometric data of the skeletal anatomical specimens, we estimated the flexion speed of individual muscles by calculating the degree of flexion produced by 1% of shortening of the hip flexor muscles. The data provided by the present methods were not relevant to estimate the actual torque and speed of the joint movements but revealed the maximal and relative contributions of the individual muscles on a theoretical basis.

Materials and Methods

Materials

We used 22 lower limbs of 10 male and 12 female formaldehyde-fixed adult Japanese cadavers with no apparent degeneration in the hip and knee joints that were used in the dissection course at the Nihon University School of Dentistry during the 2014 and 2016 academic years. For morphometry and estimation of the PCSA of the iliopsoas and rectus femoris, 12 specimens from 6 male and 6 female cadavers (age at death, 78.6 ± 10.6 years) were used, and for measurement of the MAL, 10 specimens from 4 male and 6 female cadavers (age at death, 79.6 ± 6.8 years) were used. The body donors gave written informed consent for the donation of their tissues for research and teaching purposes. The study was carried out following all relevant guidelines and regulations and was approved by the ethical committee of the Nihon University School of Dentistry (EP14D009, EP16D017).

Procedures/protocol

Morphometry and calculation of PCSA in isolated muscle specimens

In the 12 lower limbs, the iliopsoas and rectus femoris were dissected out to prepare the isolated muscle specimens as stated previously^{27, 28)}.

In the isolated muscle specimens, the mass (M), FL, and pennation angle (θ) were measured. The

pennation angles were measured with a protractor at the distal myotendinous junction as the angular deviation between the muscle fibers and tendon²⁸⁾. The FL and pennation angles were measured and averaged in three places (superficial, intermediate, and deep portions) on the iliopsoas and in three places (on the left, right, and distal sides of the origin tendon) on the rectus femoris.

Based on these data, the PCSA was calculated using the following formula, with the density of mammalian muscles represented by ρ (ρ =1.056 g/ cm³)²⁹:

PCSA (cm²) = M (g) × cos θ/ρ (g/cm³) × FL (cm)³⁰⁻³²⁾.

Measurement of muscle MAL in skeletal specimens

The 10 lower limbs were dissected, and the locations of the origin and insertion of the iliopsoas (the psoas major and iliacus) and rectus femoris were marked on the skeleton. Then, the muscles were removed to prepare the skeleton specimens. The diameter of the femoral head was measured after opening the hip joint and removing the iliofemoral and pubofemoral ligaments covering the head. Three-dimensional reference values were obtained with two reflective markers for the origin and insertion of the muscle on the skeleton, and four reflective markers on the surface of the femoral head for the joint center of the hip joint.

A) Measurement of three-dimensional reference values in the hip extension position.

The MAL in the hip extension position was calculated from the three-dimensional reference values of the reflective markers attached to the skeleton that were measured with four infrared cameras and an optical motion capture system (NaturalPoint, Inc., Corvallis, OR, USA). The origin of the psoas major was marked on the T12 for the superficial head and on the costal process of L1 for the deep head, and the insertion was marked on the lesser trochanter of the femur³³⁾. The origin and insertion of the iliacus were marked on top of the iliac crest and the lesser trochanter, respectively. The origin and insertion of the rectus femoris were marked on the ridge of the anterior inferior iliac spine and the tibial tuberosity, respectively. The center of the hip joint was determined from the four markers attached to the femoral head surface, and the offset distance in the direction of the ball center representing the radius was determined by direct measurement.

B) Estimation of MAL under different hip joint angles in the sagittal plane.

The MAL of the muscles was calculated from the three-dimensional reference values of the reflection markers projected on the sagittal plane as the distance between the center of the hip joint and the vector of the muscle force by Skycom software (Optitrack Japan, Tokyo, Japan). The iliopsoas did not take a straight course between the origin and the insertion in the hip extension positions in various degrees up to 60°, but a curved course around the femoral head, so that the MAL was represented by the radius of the femoral head.

The psoas major (PM) had two heads whose origins were represented by the T12 vertebral body for the superficial head (PM-I) and by the L1 transverse process for the deep head (PM-II). The iliacus (IL) had a broad origin region on the iliac fossa, and the origins were represented by four points on the iliac crest including the anterior superior iliac spine (IL-I), the midpoint between the former and the apex of the iliac crest (IL-II), the apex of the iliac crest (IL-III), and the posterior superior iliac spine (IL-IV). The MAL was represented by the radius of the femoral head for IL-I in joint angles up to 10°, IL-II up to 30°, PM-I up to 50°, and IL-III, IL-IV, and PM-II up to 60°, and by the length of the vertical line from the hip joint center to the vector from the origins to the insertion (lesser trochanter of the femur) in larger joint angles. We employed the mean value of the MAL of PM-I and PM-II for the PM, and of IL-I to IL-IV for the IL.

For the rectus femoris, the MAL was represented by the length of the vertical line from the hip joint center to the vector from the origin (inferior anterior iliac spine) to the insertion (tibial tuberosity) in all of the angle regions (Figure 1).

Estimation of the relative contribution to the maximal hip flexion torque

To estimate the relative contribution of the individual flexors to the maximal hip flexion torque, we calculated an indicator of maximal hip flexion



Figure 1 Measurement of moment arm length (MAL) of the three muscles under different hip joint angles. For the rectus femoris, the MAL was represented by the length of the vertical line from the hip joint center (black dot) to the vector from the origin (red dot) to the insertion (blue dot) in all angle regions. For the psoas major (PM), PM had two heads, and the origins were represented by the T12 vertebral body for the superficial head (PM-I) and by the L1 transverse process for the deep head (PM-II). The MAL was represented by the radius of the femoral head for PM-I up to 50° and for PM-II up to 60°, and by the length of the vertical line from the hip joint center to the vector from the origins (red dot) to the insertion in larger joint angles. The iliacus (IL) had a broad origin region on the iliac fossa, which were represented by 4 points (green dot, yellow dot, red dot, and light blue dot) on the iliac crest including the anterior superior iliac spine (IL-I), the midpoint between the former and the apex of the iliac crest (IL-II), the apex of the iliac crest (IL-III), and the posterior superior iliac spine (IL-IV). The MAL was represented by the radius of the femoral head for IL-I in joint angles up to 10°, for IL-II up to 30°, for IL-III and IL-IV up to 60°, and by the length of the vertical line from the hip joint center to the vector from the origins to the origins to the insertion in larger joint angles.

torque produced by the PM, IL, and rectus femoris as the product of the PCSA and the MAL. The indicators were calculated for individual muscles, and the relative contribution was calculated as the ratios of indicators to the total hip flexion torque for the three muscles at various hip joint angles from extension to flexion $(0^{\circ}-90^{\circ})$.

Estimation of the relative rotation speed by contraction of the flexors

As an indicator of rotation speed by contraction of the PM, IL, and rectus femoris, the change of flexion angle (Δa) due to the 1% shortening of the muscle fiber (Δ FL) was calculated from the muscle FL, pennation angle, and MAL (R) by the following equations under the specific condition that each muscle has the same muscle contraction speed: $\Delta FL = FL \times 0.01$, and $\Delta a = \arctan (\Delta FL \times \cos \theta / R)$ (equation 1).

The equations were derived from the following geometrical reasoning. The shortening of the muscle length (Δ ML) and the Δ FL were correlated with the following equation:

$$\Delta ML = \Delta FL \times \cos \theta$$

The Δ ML was thought to flex the joint by the angle change Δa with the equation:

$$\Delta ML = R \times tan \Delta a$$

The two equations gave an equation from which equation (1) was derived:

$$\tan \Delta a = \Delta FL \times \cos \theta / R$$

Data analyses

The morphometric and calculated values including PCSA were analyzed by one-way analysis of variance and multiple comparison tests (Tukey's honest significant difference test, Bonferroni). All values are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Statistical analyses were conducted using the IBM SPSS version 23 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA), and the significance level for all tests was set at P<0.05.

Results

Anatomy of the iliopsoas and rectus femoris

The PM, with two heads arising from two different origins, originated as the superficial head from the intervertebral discs between T12 and L4 and the adjacent rims of the vertebral bodies, and as the underlying head from the costal process of L1–L5 and the twelfth rib, and converged to form the insertion tendon ending on the lesser trochanter of the femur. The IL, originating from the iliac fossa and the anterior inferior iliac spine, terminated mainly via the insertion tendon and partly directly without the tendon on the lesser trochanter. The psoas minor, originating from the vertebral body of

T12 and L1 and inserting onto the iliac fascia at the iliopubic ramus, contributed little to the flexion of the hip joint. The rectus femoris originated at the anterior inferior iliac spine and the upper part of the acetabulum and inserted onto the tibial tuber-osity through the patella.

The PCSA of the iliopsoas (PM, IL) and the rectus femoris was estimated from the morphometric data obtained from the isolated muscle specimens (Figure 2). The muscle FL of the iliopsoas (PM: 13.76 cm, IL: 11.10 cm) was longer than that of the rectus femoris (8.04 cm) (P<0.01). The PCSA of the rectus femoris (10.88 cm²) was larger than that of the PM (5.45 cm²) (P<0.05). The PCSA of the iliopsoas was comparable with that of the rectus femoris (Table 1).

MAL under different hip joint angles in the sagittal plane

In the hip extension position (0°) , the MAL of the rectus femoris $(35.0 \pm 4.0 \text{ mm})$ was larger than that of PM and IL $(22.9 \pm 1.9 \text{ mm})$. When the hip joint was flexed, the MAL of the rectus femoris increased gradually in mild flexions to achieve a maximal value at 40° (50.4 mm) and decreased



Figure 2 Photographs of isolated muscle specimens of the iliopsoas and rectus femoris in the left-side and superficial views. PMi, psoas minor; PMa, psoas major; IL, iliacus; RF, rectus femoris
			*	
	Muscle mass(g)	$ heta\left(^{\circ} ight)$	FL (cm)	PCSA (cm ²)
Psoas major	81.4±47.4	6.3±2.1	13.76±1.19**	5.45±2.85*
Iliacus	84.1±47.1	7.9 ± 2.6	11.10±1.74**	6.91 ± 2.98
Rectus femoris	90.4±52.8	6.5 ± 2.0	8.04±1.23**	$10.88 \pm 6.00^*$

Table 1 Parameters of the mechanical architecture of the iliopsoas and rectus femoris

 $\theta,$ pennation angle; FL, muscle fiber length; PCSA, physiological cross-sectional area **P<0.01, *P<0.05

gradually in deep flexions up to 90°. The MAL of PM-I was slightly larger than that of PM-II between 60° and 90° and exhibited a similar pattern of change during hip flexions. The MAL of IL-I and IL-II remained mostly constant up to 10° and 30°, and thereafter in deep flexions, increased steeply up to 90°, exceeding that of the rectus femoris at the flexion between 40° and 60°. The MAL of IL-III and IL-IV remained constant up to 50° and 60°, and increased steeply up to 90°, exceeding that of the rectus femoris at the flexion between 40° and 60°. The MAL of IL-III and IL-IV remained constant up to 50° and 60°, and increased steeply up to 90°, exceeding that of the rectus femoris at the flexion between 70° and 80° (Figure 3-A).

The MAL of the PM remained unchanged in moderate flexions up to 50° and thereafter increased steeply in deep flexions, exceeding that of the rectus

femoris at the flexion between 60° and 70° . Conversely, the MAL of the IL increased gradually in deep flexions, exceeding that of the rectus femoris at the flexion between 60° and 70° (Figure 3–B).

Relative contribution of individual hip flexors to the maximal hip flexion torque

The relative contribution of the rectus femoris in the hip extension position at 0° (57.3%) exceeded that of the iliopsoas and increased gradually in flexions to an almost maximal value at $20^{\circ}-40^{\circ}$ (60.4%– 62.3%); thereafter, it decreased drastically in deep flexions up to 90°, falling behind that of the iliopsoas at a flexion of approximately $60^{\circ}-70^{\circ}$. The relative contribution of the IL in the hip extension position



Figure 3 Moment arm length (MAL) under different hip joint angles on the sagittal plane. A. MAL of the iliopsoas (PM-I·II, IL- I –IV) and rectus femoris estimated in different hip joint angles.

The MAL of the rectus femoris increased gradually in mild flexions to reach a maximal value at 40° and decreased gradually in deep flexions up to 90°. The MAL of PM-I was slightly larger than that of PM-II between 60° and 90° and exhibited a similar pattern of change during hip flexions. The MAL of IL-I and IL-II almost remained constant up to 10° and 30°, and thereafter in deep flexions, increased steeply up to 90°, exceeding that of the rectus femoris at the flexion between 40° and 60°. The MAL of IL-III and IL-III and IL-IV remained constant up to 50° and 60°, increased steeply up to 90°, exceeding that of the rectus femoris at the flexion between 70° and 80°.

B. MAL of the iliopsoas and rectus femoris estimated in different hip joint angles.

The MAL of the rectus femoris was much larger than that of the iliopsoas in the hip extension position (0°) . It increased gradually in mild flexion up to 40° and then decreased gradually. The MAL of the psoas major and iliacus remained unchanged in moderate flexions up to 10° and 60°, and thereafter increased in deep flexions up to 90°, exceeding that of the rectus femoris at the flexion between 60° and 70°.



Figure 4 The relative contribution of the iliopsoas and rectus femoris to the maximal hip flexion torque. The relative contribution of the rectus femoris to the maximal hip flexion torque was greater than that of the iliopsoas in mild flexion up to 60°, and its relative contribution decreased steeply in deep flexion. Moreover, the relative contribution of the iliopsoas to the torque increased sharply in the deepest flexions at 80° and 90°.

at 0° remained unchanged in moderate flexions up to 40° and thereafter increased gradually in deep flexions up to 90°, exceeding that of the rectus femoris at the flexion between 80° and 90°. The relative contribution of the PM decreased gradually in flexions up to 50° and thereafter increased in deep flexions up to 90° to become the same level as the rectus femoris in the hip extension position at 90° (Figure 4).

Relative rotation speed by contraction of the flexors

In the hip extension position (0°) , the relative rotation speeds of the PM and IL were 2.6- and 2.1-times swifter than that of the rectus femoris, respectively. The relative rotation speed of the PM remained constant in mild hip joint flexions up to 50°, and thereafter in deep flexions, decreased steeply up to 90°. The relative rotation speed of the IL remained constant in hip joint flexions up to 10° and decreased gradually in flexions up to 90°. Conversely, the relative rotation speed of the rectus femoris decreased slightly in mild flexions up to 40° and became approximately 90% compared with that at 0°; thereafter, it increased slightly up to 90° to become the same level as that at 0° (Figure 5).





The change of flexion angle (Δa) of the psoas major remained constant in mild hip joint flexions up to 50° and decreased steeply up to 90°. Δa of the iliacus remained constant in hip joint flexions up to 10° and decreased gradually in flexions up to 90°. That of the rectus femoris decreased slightly in mild flexions up to 40° and thereafter increased slightly up to 90° to be at the same level as 0°.

Discussion

In this study, we evaluated the different action of the iliopsoas and the rectus femoris on the hip flexion by estimating their relative contribution to the maximal hip flexion torque and relative rotation speed, and found that the iliopsoas served as a rapid flexor, whereas the rectus femoris was a powerful flexor.

The joint torque or force is produced by several agonist muscles and determined by various factors including neural activities³⁴⁾, muscle fiber types³⁵⁾, and contraction speed³⁶⁾. For improving performance in athletic sports, it is important to understand the contribution of individual agonist muscles in producing torque in the hip joint. However, to the best of our knowledge, this has not been investigated properly to date. Hip joint flexion is exerted mainly by the iliopsoas and rectus femoris, and other accompanying muscles including the sartorius and adductor longus. The importance of the iliopsoas and rectus femoris as hip joint flexors is indicated by their larger PCSA (9.9 + 7.7 + 13.5 =31.1 cm²) than that of the sartorius and adductor longus $(1.9 + 6.5 = 8.4 \text{ cm}^2)^{26}$. The sartorius and adductor longus have much smaller PCSA values, and their force vectors deviate from the sagittal plane. Actually, Inai et al³⁷⁾. considered the iliopsoas

and rectus femoris as the hip flexors in a computer simulation study investigating the dynamics of hip flexors during sit-to-stand movements. A study on iliopsoas function reported that the iliopsoas was activated during increased hip flexion when the subjects moved from the standing position (0°; a fully extended position of the hip and knee joints) to one-leg flexion of the hip joint $(90^\circ)^{18}$. Furthermore, the contribution ratio of the four hip flexors (the iliopsoas, rectus femoris, tensor fasciae latae, and sartorius) to the flexion torque changes depending on the posture during the measurement of activities in these muscles⁹⁾. However, the contribution ratios of the muscles to the flexion torque were not clarified in these studies. The relative contribution of the individual flexors to the joint torque could not be experimentally obtained either by measurement of joint torque or by EMG of the relevant muscles. The relative contribution of the individual flexors to the maximal joint torque could be estimated on a theoretical basis by calculating the indicator of maximal joint torque as the product of the PCSA and the MAL for the individual muscles. It is well known that the joint torque exerted by a muscle is the product of muscle tension and the MAL and that the PCSA is an index of the maximal exertion tension of the muscle³⁸⁾. To date, the PCSA and MAL have been measured separately in different studies. In this study, we measured both of them with cadaveric dissection for the first time, thus providing novel findings. The PCSA was calculated from morphometric parameters, such as the muscle volume, FL, and pennation angle, which could be accurately measured in the isolated muscle specimens^{26, 30-32)}.

The PCSA of a given muscle varied between the present and previous studies, especially because of the large individual variation in the muscle mass. In the present study, we calculated the ratio of the PCSA among the three muscles and its coefficient of variation (CV; standard deviation divided by the average) and found that the CV for the ratio of PCSA was quite small in contrast to the large CV for the PCSA, supporting the reliability of the estimation of the relative contribution of each muscle to the maximal flexion torque (Table 2).

The MAL of the iliopsoas and rectus femoris and its change under different hip joint angles have been calculated³⁹⁾ using a method based on an interactive musculoskeletal modeling software and the lower limb model of Delp et al⁴⁰. Their results based on model simulation were in good agreement with the results found for the skeletal specimens in the present study. The small and stable value for the iliopsoas in mild flexions up to 60° could be explained by the bend of the insertion tendon on the femoral head, and the steep increase in deep flexions could be the result of its distance from the head. The MAL of the rectus femoris was maximal at a hip flexion of 40° , where the two vectors from the origin (anterior inferior iliac spine) to the center of the hip joint and the insertion (upper edge of the patella) crossed vertically.

The present study revealed the main agonists of hip joint flexion as two functionally important parameters for the first time: the relative contribution to the maximal flexion torque and the relative rotation speed by muscle contraction. From these parameters, different functional properties of the iliopsoas and rectus femoris became apparent.

We also showed that the rectus femoris was a more powerful flexor than the iliopsoas in mild hip flexions up to 60° and a less powerful flexor in deep hip flexions, which is in agreement with the larger activities of the iliopsoas in deep hip flexions¹⁸. Regarding the relative contribution of the iliopsoas

Table 2 The PCSA of the psoas major, iliopsoas, and rectus femoris, and its ratio to the total amount

	PCSA		Ratio of PCSA		
	Average ± standard deviations (cm ²)	CV	Average ± standard deviations(%)	CV	
Psoas major	5.45±2.85	0.52	23.58 ± 4.45	0.19	
Iliacus	6.91 ± 2.98	0.43	30.74 ± 5.88	0.19	
Rectus femoris	10.88 ± 6.00	0.55	45.68±8.10	0.18	

PCSA, physiological cross-sectional area; CV, standard deviation divided by average.

The PCSA exhibited a significant individual variation, which is represented by the large value of the CV. However, the ratio of the PCSA was almost stable among individuals, which is indicated by the small value of the CV.

and rectus femoris to the maximal flexion torque, the rectus femoris plays a more important role in the shallow flexion of the hip joint during walking among the activities of daily living.

Conversely, it was also shown that the relative rotation speed by muscle contraction for the PM and IL was 3.6 and 1.9 times larger than that of the rectus femoris in mild hip flexions up to 50°, respectively. Regarding estimation of the rotation speed by contraction of the flexors, it was clarified that the relative rotation speed of flexion differs between the iliopsoas and rectus femoris muscles under the specific condition that each muscle has the same muscle contraction speed. It would be reasonable to argue that the iliopsoas is particularly important for sprinters, contributing significantly to leg swing speed. In addition, weak hip flection muscles pose a risk for falling, and the main cause of injury in people with weak hip flexion muscles is stumbling or falling while climbing stairs. Strengthening the iliopsoas makes it possible to lift the leg instantly, thereby preventing falls when climbing stairs or stepping over obstacles.

This study has some limitations. We did not measure the sarcomere length in each muscle; therefore, the FL for calculating the PCSA was not normalized by the ratio of the optimal and measured sarcomere length. Further refinements of the PCSA by normalizing the FL would be beneficial for achieving a more precise estimation of the relative contribution to the maximal torque and the relative rotation speed. In addition, muscle fibers include slow-twitch fibers (Type I), which have a slow contraction rate and are less likely to fatigue, and fast-twitch fibers (Type II), which have a high contraction rate and are prone to fatigue. In human muscle, slow- and fast-twitch fibers are present in different ratios. Lieber²⁴⁾ indicated that the differences in muscle fiber types have little effect on exercise performance, although there are differences in the maximum contraction rates of Type I and Type II fibers. In the present study, the effect of different muscle fiber types on relative rotation speed was not considered. Further improvements that also consider the histological factors of the muscle fibers would be beneficial for achieving a more precise estimation of the relative contribution of each fiber type to the relative rotation speed.

In conclusion, the present study clarified the

functional characteristics of the iliopsoas and rectus femoris based on the morphometric data from skeletal anatomical specimens and applied the results to the simple movement of hip flexion on a theoretical basis to provide a better understanding of the functional contribution of muscles experimentally to the actual movements of the hip joint. The results of the present study would provide useful information for the functional training of athletes and rehabilitation programs in the clinic. Future developments of this research technique would clarify the functional contribution of the individual muscles in complex joint movements.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Research Prof. Emiko Senba (Department of Physical Therapy, Osaka Yukioka College of Health Science, Osaka, Japan) for cooperating in the anatomical research and Shimpei Sato (Acuity Inc., Tokyo, Japan) for their technical assistance in the measurement of three-dimensional reference values of a singular point and calculation of the muscle moment arm length.

Funding

The authors received no financial support for the research.

Author contributions

All authors have made substantial contributions to the manuscript. The details are as follows:

TK: Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Investigation, Data curation, Visualization, Project administration, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing

TT: Resources, Writing – review & editing, Supervision

TN: Resources, Writing - review & editing, Supervision

TS: Conceptualization, Methodology, Data curation, Visualization, Writing – review & editing, Supervision

All authors approved the final version of the manuscript to be submitted.

Conflicts of interest statement

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

References

- Burnett DR, Campbell-Kyureghyan NH, Cerrito PB, Quesada PM: Symmetry of ground reaction forces and muscle activity in asymptomatic subjects during walking, sit-to-stand, and stand-to-sit tasks. J Electromyogr Kinesiol, 2011; 21: 610–615.
- 2) Dehail P, Bestaven E, Muller F, *et al*: Kinematic and electromyographic analysis of rising from a chair during a "Sit-to-Walk" task in elderly subjects: role of strength. Clin Biomech, 2007; 22: 1096-1103.
- Neptune RR, Sasaki K, Kautz SA: The effect of walking speed on muscle function and mechanical energetics. Gait Posture, 2008; 28: 135–143.
- 4) Gross MM, Stevenson PJ, Charette SL, Pyka G, Marcus R: Effect of muscle strength and movement speed on the biomechanics of rising from a chair in healthy elderly and young women. Gait Posture, 1998; 8: 175–185.
- 5) Walaszek MC, Ransom AL, Capehart S, Pohl MB, Shapiro R, Bollinger LM: External loading alters trunk kinematics and lower extremity muscle activity in a distribution-specific manner during sitting and rising from a chair. J Electromyogr Kinesiol, 2017; 34: 102–108.
- 6) Roldán-Jiménez C, Bennett P, Cuesta-Vargas AI: Muscular activity and fatigue in lower-limb and trunk muscles during different sit-to-stand tests. PLoS One, 2015; 10: e0141675.
- 7) Ema R, Sakaguchi M, Kawakami Y: Thigh and psoas major muscularity and its relation to running mechanics in sprinters. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 2018; 50: 2085–2091.
- Hu H, Meijer OG, van Dieën JH, *et al*: Is the psoas a hip flexor in the active straight leg raise? Eur Spine J, 2011; 20: 759–765.
- 9) Jiroumaru T, Kurihara T, Isaka T: Measurement of muscle length-related electromyography activity of the hip flexor muscles to determine individual muscle contributions to the hip flexion torque. Springerplus, 2014; 3: 624.
- Akima H, Saito A: Activation of quadriceps femoris including vastus intermedius during fatiguing dynamic knee extensions. Eur J Appl Physiol, 2013; 113: 2829– 2840.
- 11) Akima H, Tomita A, Ando R: Effect of knee joint angle on the neuromuscular activation of the quadriceps femoris during repetitive fatiguing contractions. J Electromyogr Kinesiol, 2019; 49: 102356.
- 12) Ema R, Sakaguchi M, Akagi R, Kawakami Y: Unique activation of the quadriceps femoris during singleand multi-joint exercises. Eur J Appl Physiol, 2016; 116: 1031-1041.
- 13) Hug F, Vogel C, Tucker K, *et al*: Individuals have unique muscle activation signatures as revealed during gait and pedaling. J Appl Physiol, 2019; 127: 1165–1174.
- 14) Maffiuletti NA, Lepers R: Quadriceps femoris torque and EMG activity in seated versus supine position. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 2003; 35: 1511–1516.
- 15) Pincivero DM, Salfetnikov Y, Campy RM, Coelho AJ: Angle- and gender-specific quadriceps femoris muscle recruitment and knee extensor torque. J Biomech, 2004; 37: 1689–1697.
- 16) Salzman A, Torburn L, Perry J: Contribution of rectus femoris and vasti to knee extension. An electromyo-

graphic study. Clin Orthop Relat Res, 1993; 290: 236-243.

- 17) Sayer TA, Hinman RS, Paterson KL, *et al*: Runningrelated muscle activation patterns and tibial acceleration across puberty. J Electromyogr Kinesiol, 2020; 50: 102381.
- 18) Andersson E, Oddsson L, Grundström H, Thorstensson A: The role of the psoas and iliacus muscles for stability and movement of the lumbar spine, pelvis and hip. Scand J Med Sci Sports, 1995; 5: 10–16.
- 19) Dörge HC, Andersen TB, Sørensen H, et al: EMG activity of the iliopsoas muscle and leg kinetics during the soccer place kick. Scand J Med Sci Sports, 1999; 9: 195–200.
- 20) Juker D, McGill S, Kropf P, Steffen T: Quantitative intramuscular myoelectric activity of lumbar portions of psoas and the abdominal wall during a wide variety of tasks. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 1998; 30: 301–310.
- 21) Keagy RD, Brumlik J, Bergan JL: Direct electromyography of the psoas major muscle in man. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 1966; 48: 1377–1382.
- 22) Nachemson A: Electromyographic studies on the vertebral portion of the psoas muscle; with special reference to its stabilizing function of the lumbar spine. Acta Orthop Scand, 1966; 37: 177–190.
- 23) Park RJ, Tsao H, Claus A, Cresswell AG, Hodges PW: Recruitment of discrete regions of the psoas major and quadratus lumborum muscles is changed in specific sitting postures in individuals with recurrent low back pain. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther, 2013; 43: 833-840.
- 24) Lieber RL: Skeletal Muscle Structure, Function, and Plasticity: The physiological basis of rehabilitation. 3rd ed. Netherlands: Wolters Kluwer, 2010.
- 25) Neumann DA: Kinesiology of the musculoskeletal system. 3rd ed. Netherlands: Elsevier, 2016.
- 26) Ward SR, Eng CM, Smallwood LH, Lieber RL: Are current measurements of lower extremity muscle architecture accurate? Clin Orthop Relat Res, 2009; 467: 1074–1082.
- 27) Kumazaki T, Ehara Y, Sakai T: Anatomy and physiology of hamstring injury. Int J Sports Med, 2012; 33: 950–954.
- 28) Kumazaki T, Sakai T: High risk of muscle strain in the rectus femoris muscle: anatomical and physiological analysis. Juntendo Medical Journal, 2016; 62: 392–398.
- 29) Ward SR, Lieber RL: Density and hydration of fresh and fixed human skeletal muscle. J Biomech, 2005; 38: 2317-2320
- 30) Powell PL, Roy RR, Kanim P, Bello MA, Edgerton VR: Predictability of skeletal muscle tension from architectural determinations in guinea pig hindlimbs. J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol, 1984; 57: 1715– 1721.
- 31) Sacks RD, Roy RR: Architecture of the hind limb muscles of cats: functional significance. J Morphol, 1982; 173: 185–195.
- 32) Wickiewicz TL, Roy RR, Powell PL, Edgerton VR: Muscle architecture of the human lower limb. Clin Orthop Relat Res, 1983; 179: 275–283.
- 33) Bogduk N, Pearcy M, Hadfield G: Anatomy and biomechanics of psoas major. Clin Biomech, 1992; 7: 109–119.
- 34) Del Vecchio A, Negro F, Falla D, Bazzucchi I, Farina D, Felici F: Higher muscle fibre conduction velocity and early rate of torque development in chronically strength trained individuals. J Appl Physiol (1985), 2018. [Online ahead of print] https://doi.org/10.1152/

japplphysiol.00025.2018.

- 35) Tillin NA, Pain MTG, Folland JP: Contraction speed and type influences rapid utilisation of available muscle force: neural and contractile mechanisms. J Exp Biol, 2018; 221: jeb193367.
- 36) Miller MS, Bedrin NG, Ades PA, Palmer BM, Toth MJ: Molecular determinants of force production in human skeletal muscle fibers: effects of myosin isoform expression and cross-sectional area. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 2015; 308: C473-C484.
- 37) Inai T, Takabayashi T, Edama M, Kubo M: Effect of hip joint angle at seat-off on hip joint contact force during sit-to-stand movement: a computer simulation

study. Biomed Eng Online, 2018; 17: 177.

- 38) Oatis CA: Kinesiology: The Mechanics and Pathomechanics of Human Movement. 3rd ed. Netherlands: Elsevier, 2016: 1355–1356.
- 39) Lambrecht JM, Audu ML, Triolo RJ, Kirsch RF. Musculoskeletal model of trunk and hips for development of seated-posture-control neuroprosthesis. J Rehabil Res Dev, 2009; 46: 515-528.
- 40) Delp SL, Loan JP, Hoy MG, Zajac FE, Topp EL, Rosen JM: An interactive graphics-based model of the lower extremity to study orthopaedic surgical procedures. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng, 1990; 37: 757-767.

Original Articles

Juntendo Medical Journal 2022. 68(4), 363-368



Degree of Differentiation of Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma and Micrometastasis to Lymph Nodes

TAKANOBU ASAKURA¹⁾, TAKASHI HASHIMOTO¹⁾, TAKAO ANDO¹⁾, Natsumi TOMITA¹⁾, Toshiharu MATSUMOTO²⁾, Atsushi ARAKAWA²⁾, Masahiko TSURUMARU¹⁾, Yoshiaki KAJIYAMA¹⁾

¹⁾Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, Juntendo University Medical School, Tokyo, Japan
 ²⁾Department of Physiology, Juntendo University Medical School, Tokyo, Japan

Objectives: The goal of the study was to examine the relationships among micrometastasis, pathological degree of differentiation and survival in patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (SCC).

Design: A single-center retrospective study of patients diagnosed with thoracic esophageal SCC.

Methods: Immunostaining using CK13 was carried out for all lymph nodes resected by radical esophagectomy with three-field lymphadenectomy. The relationships among micrometastasis to lymph nodes, degree of differentiation and survival were investigated.

Results: The 25 patients included 14 (56.0%) well-differentiated and 11 (44.0%) moderately differentiated cases. In multivariate analysis, well-differentiated cases were not related to micrometastasis (odds ratio (OR): 1.5, confidence interval (CI): 0.2–12, p=0.7). In multivariate analysis of survival, cases in pStage III or higher were likely to have shorter survival (hazard ratio (HR): 2.8, CI: 0.7–12, p=0.16), and those with micrometastasis also tended to have shorter survival (HR: 2.7, CI: 0.8–9, p=0.11)); however, well-differentiated cases were not significantly related to survival (HR: 1.5, CI: 0.4–5.5, p=0.5).

Conclusion: Micrometastasis to lymph nodes may be a prognostic factor even in advanced esophageal cancer. The degree of differentiation was not related to micrometastasis or survival.

Key words: outcomes, differentiation, esophageal squamous cell carcinoma, micrometastasis, lymph nodes

Introduction

Esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) has a poor prognosis, with recurrence in lymph nodes and distal metastasis found frequently within a few years after surgical resection¹⁾. Some of these findings may be caused by micrometastases that cannot be detected by hematoxylin-eosin (HE) staining²⁾; that is, pathological, rather than clinical, metastasis. Many studies have examined micrometastases in esophageal cancer, particularly to lymph nodes, but these studies have mostly been limited to earlier stage cancer³⁻⁶⁾. Thus, micrometastasis to lymph nodes in advanced esophageal cancer is poorly understood.

The relationship between outcomes of esophageal cancer and pathological degree of differentiation has been widely investigated. In general, well-differentiated carcinoma has a better prognosis and poorly differentiated cases have a poor prognosis⁷. However, the relationship between micrometastasis to lymph nodes and the histo-

3-1-3 Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-8431, Japan

Corresponding author: Takanobu Asakura

Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, Juntendo University Medical School

TEL: +81-3-3813-3111 E-mail: citron_asakura@yahoo.co.jp

[[]Received Nov. 17, 2021] [Accepted May. 13, 2022]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Aug. 1, 2022

Copyright © 2022 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ21-0041-OA

pathological degree of differentiation is unknown. One study showed more micrometastases in well differentiated esophageal carcinoma⁵⁾, but another found opposite results⁸⁾, and currently, no conclusion has been reached. Therefore, we examined this relationship and that of micrometastasis to lymph nodes with prognosis in patients with esophageal SCC, including cases of advanced cancer.

Methods

This study was approved by the clinical research committee of Juntendo University Hospital (E21-0056-H01). Informed consent was not required because of the retrospective study design. Twenty-five patients with esophageal cancer underwent esophagectomy in our department at Juntendo University Medical School from January to December 2000. The inclusion criteria were [1] SCC, [2] no preoperative chemotherapy, [3] threefield lymphadenectomy, [4] completion of follow-up, and [5] complete R0 resection. The exclusion criteria were >10 metastases to lymph nodes detected by conventional HE stain.

Surgery

All patients underwent esophagectomy with three-field lymphadenectomy by right thoracotomy and laparotomy, as reported previously9). All patients also underwent lymphadenectomy along the bilateral recurrent laryngeal nerves and around the supraclavicular area. The gastric tube was pulled up through the retrosternal route and a hand-sewn esophagogastrostomy was created in the neck.

Postoperative adjuvant therapy

Patients who were pathologically confirmed to have ≥ 3 lymph node metastases received two courses of postoperative adjuvant therapy with docetaxel, cisplatin and 5-fluorouracil¹⁰.

Immunostaining

For histopathological examination of resected lymph nodes, samples were subjected to formalin fixation and paraffin embedding. Five neighboring tissue sections $(3 \ \mu m)$ were prepared from each slice and 3 central sections were used for staining. After deparaffinizing each section, antigen retrieval was carried out by autoclave treatment (1.2 atm,

10 min). Immunostaining was performed using anti-cytokeratin13 Ks 13.1 mouse monoclonal antibody (CK13, American Research Products) diluted 20 times with antibody diluent (1% BSA/PBS) using automated staining equipment (Ventana NX System, Ventana). After immunostaining, background staining was performed with Mayer's hematoxylin for microscopic examination. Of the cells within the lymph node capsules, nucleated cells with evenly cytokeratin-stained cytoplasm were defined as metastasis-positive.

Clinicopathologic parameters

Data for clinicopathologic parameters, including tumor stage by TNM staging (ver. 8)¹¹⁾, were obtained retrospectively from a hospital database. TNM staging reflects the result of HE stain. The degree of differentiation was evaluated using most parts of the tumor.

Statistical analysis

Comparisons of two groups were performed by chi-square test. Survival curves were estimated with the Kaplan-Meier method and significant differences in survival rate were analyzed by log-rank test. Multivariate analysis was performed using logistic regression analysis for categorical data and Cox regression analysis for survival. Significance was defined as P<0.05 in all analyses. Due to the small number of cases, a result with P<0.2 was considered not to be significant, but to show a tendency. All calculations were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics ver. 23.0.

Results

The characteristics of the 25 patients in the study are shown in Table 1. The most common disease was middle thoracic esophageal cancer, pT3, pN1, pStage III. There were 14 (56%) well-differentiated, 11 (44%) moderately differentiated, and no poorly differentiated cases. Intramural metastasis was found in resected specimens in 4 patients.

Conventional lymph node metastases

A total of 2,915 lymph nodes were collected from the 25 patients. The median number of lymph nodes per patient was 116. In histopathologic examination using HE stain, metastases were detected

Variable		Number of patients	Micrometastasis- positive	Micrometastasis- negative	Р
Sex	Male/Female	23/2	8/2	15/0	0.15
Site	Ut/Mt, Lt	3/22	1/9	2/13	0.654
Age	<60 / ≥60	12/13	6/4	6/9	0.284
Depth	pT1/pT2-pT3	11/14	2/8	9/6	0.048
Lymph node metastasis	pN0-N1/pN2-N3	14/11	2/8	12/3	0.003
Advanced stage	pStage0-II/pStageIII-IV	11/14	2/8	9/6	0.048
Differentiation	well/mod	14/11	8/2	6/9	0.048
Lymphovascular invasion	ly0-2/ly3	20/5	5/5	15/0	0.002
Venous invasion	v0-1/v2	15/10	3/7	12/3	0.012
Intramural metastasis	IM0/IM1	21/4	6/4	15/0	0.008

Table 1Patient background

Ut: upper thoracic esophagus, Mt: middle thoracic esophagus, Lt: lower thoracic esophagus, T: tumor, N: lymph node, well: well-differentiated squamous cell carcinoma, mod: moderately differentiated squamous cell carcinoma, ly: lymphovascular invasion, v: venous invasion, IM: intramural metastasis

Table 2 Histopathologic factors and degree of differentiation				
	Well differentiated	Moderately differentiated	р	
T1/T2-3	2/12	9/2	0.001	
N1/N2-3	3/11	7/4	0.032	
Micrometastasis(+)/micrometastasis(-)	8/6	2/9	0.048	
pIM0/pIM1	10/4	11/0	0.053	
ly0-2/ly3	10/4	10/1	0.085	
v0-1/v2	5/9	10/1	0.005	

T: tumor, N: lymph node, IM: intramural metastasis, ly: lymphovascular invasion, v: venous invasion

in 70 lymph nodes in 17 patients.

Micrometastasis to lymph nodes

In immunostaining with CK13, one micrometastasis was detected in one patient without evidence of lymph node metastasis on HE stain, and 16 micrometastases were detected in 9 patients who were determined to be metastasis-positive by HE stain. Therefore, 10 patients were evaluated as lymph node micrometastasis-positive. The main tumors stained positive for CK13 in all 25 cases. All lymph nodes that were found to be metastasized by HE stain also stained positive with CK13.

Relationships between micrometastasis and pathological factors

The micrometastasis-positive group included many cases with high pT and pN, advanced pStage, lymphatic and vascular invasion, and well-differentiated carcinoma (Table 1). A comparison based on differentiated types showed that well-differentiated cases were likely to have more advanced tumors (Table 2). To investigate the factors related to micrometastasis, logistic regression analysis was performed with pStage and degree of differentiation as independent variables and micrometastasis as the dependent variable. This analysis showed a tendency for cases in pStage III or higher to be more likely to be micrometastasis-positive (odds ratio (OR): 6.6, confidence interval (CI): 0.8-54, p=0.08). The OR for well-differentiated tumors was 1.5 (CI: 0.2-12), but the p value of 0.71 indicated that the relationship between degree of differentiation and micrometastasis was not significant (Table 3).

Long-term survival

Patients with micrometastasis to lymph nodes had shorter survival compared to those without micrometastases (p=0.002; Figure 1). There was

		Odds ratio	Confident intervals	р
Degree of differentiation	Well vs. moderate	1.5	0.2 - 11.5	0.71
Stage	III, IV vs. I, II	6.6	0.8 - 55	0.079

 Table 3 Logistic regression analysis of relationships between micrometastasis and pathological factors (degree of differentiation and Stage)

also a significant difference in survival based on the degree of differentiation (p=0.031; Figure 2). However, when pStage, micrometastasis, and degree of differentiation were input as independent variables in a Cox proportional hazard model, all three factors were not significant (pStage III or higher, hazard ratio (HR): 2.8, CI: 0.7–12, p=0.16; micrometastasis, HR: 2.7, CI: 0.8–9, p=0.11; well-differentiated, HR: 1.5, CI: 0.4–5.5, p=0.5). Based on the p-values, pStage III or higher and micrometastasis showed a tendency to be related to survival, but degree of differentiation did not do so (Table 4).

Discussion

The first finding in this study is that micrometastasis to lymph nodes is not related to the degree of differentiation in esophageal SCC. There are contradictory findings for the relationship of micrometastasis with the degree of differentiation in esophageal cancer. In our study, micrometastasis was associated with the degree of differentiation in univariate analysis and well-differentiated cancers were likely to have micrometastasis. However, this was not shown in multivariate analysis. We speculate that the results in univariate analysis may be due to bias since patients with well-differentiated tumors tended to have higher stage disease in this cohort.

Secondly, micrometastasis to lymph nodes was found to be a likely prognostic factor, even for locally advanced esophageal cancer. This might be a new finding because most previous studies have examined patients with early disease³⁻⁶⁾, but this finding is also consistent with previous results for various carcinomas, including esophageal carcinoma. On the other hand, the degree of differentiation was not a prognostic factor in multivariate



Figure 1 Survival curves for patients with and without micrometastasis. There was a significant difference in survival rate between those with and without micrometastasis (p=0.002).



Figure 2 Survival curves based on extent of differentiation. There was a significant difference in survival rate between differentiation grades (p=0.031).

Table 4 Multivariate Cox regression analysis for degree of differentiation, Stage and micrometastasis

		Hazard ratio	Confidence intervals	р
Degree of differentiation	Well vs. Moderate	1.5	0.4 - 5.5	0.51
Stage	III, IV vs. I, II	2.8	0.7 - 12	0.16
Micrometastasis	Positive vs. Negative	2.7	0.8 - 9.1	0.11

analysis, which is inconsistent with previous studies showing that well-differentiated esophageal cancer is associated with good survival⁷⁾. This may be attributable to a difference of definitions between Japan and Western countries, since the degree of differentiation is based on the dominant type in Japan, but on the poorest type in Western countries. For example, when the well-differentiated region is dominant and the moderately differentiated part is small in esophageal cancer, the Japanese pathological diagnosis is well-differentiated, but the Western diagnosis would be moderately differentiated. Furthermore, our small cohort did not include any poorly differentiated cases, and this may also have affected the results.

There are several methods for diagnosis of micrometastases: immunostaining of lymph nodes, as performed in this study; lymph node detection by reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR); and immunostaining or RT-PCR using peripheral blood. One problem with use of resected lymph nodes is that the results are available only after surgery. Adjuvant therapy after esophageal cancer resection is not the standard in Japan, and there is no effective evidence-based adjuvant treatment, even if a poor prognosis is predicted. Recently, however, it has been shown that administration of nivolumab after esophagectomy following preoperative chemoradiotherapy leads to an improved prognosis in patients without pathological complete response (pCR)¹²⁾, and this treatment has been covered by health insurance in Japan from 2021. Micrometastasis-positive patients might be eligible for adjuvant therapy even if their carcinoma is pN0 or pN1.

This study has some limitations. First, it was not

prospective and the number of patients was small. Second, in our small cohort, there were no cases of poorly differentiated esophageal cancer, and the analysis might have been affected by this biased population.

In conclusion, the results of this study suggest that micrometastasis to lymph nodes may be a prognostic factor, even in advanced esophageal cancer. The degree of differentiation was not related to micrometastasis or survival. Further studies are needed with more patients and addition of patients with poorly differentiated SCC to examine the underlying mechanisms.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Takao Ando for prior examination of the relationships among micrometastasis, pathological differentiation grade and outcomes in patients with esophageal SCC and was a major contributor in writing this manuscript.

Funding

The authors received no financial support for the study.

Author contributions

TAsakura performed data analysis and wrote the first draft of the manuscript.

HT corrected and approved the manuscript.

TM, AA contributed to material on pathology.

TAndo provided advice on micrometastasis and contributed to writing the manuscript.

NT, MT, YK made significant changes in revision of the manuscript.

All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of interest statement

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

References

- 1) Natsugoe S, Mueller J, Stein HJ, *et al*: Micrometastasis and tumor cell microinvolvement of lymph nodes from esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer, 1998; 83: 858–866.
- Glickman JN, Torres C, Wong HH, *et al*: The prognostic significance of lymph node micrometastasis in patients with esophageal carcinoma. Cancer, 1999; 85: 769–778.
- 3) Komukai S, Nishimaki T, Watanabe H, *et al*: Significance of immunohistochemically demonstrated micrometastases to lymph nodes in esophageal cancer with histologically negative nodes. Surgery, 2000; 127: 40–47.
- Matsumoto M, Natsugoe S, Nakashima S, *et al*: Clinical significance of lymph node micrometastasis of pN0 esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Lett, 2000; 153: 189–197.
- 5) Nakamura T, Ide H, Eguchi R, *et al*: Clinical implications of lymph node micrometastasis inpatients with histologically node-negative (pN0) esophageal carcinoma. J Surg Oncol, 2002; 79: 224–229.
- 6) Izbichi JR, Hosch SB, Pichlmeier U, *et al*: Prognostic value of immunohistochemically identifiable tumor cells in lymph nodes of patients with completely resected esophageal cancer. N Engl J Med, 1997; 337: 1188-1194.
- 7) Hou X, Gu YK, Liu XW, *et al*: The impact of tumor cell differentiation on survival of patients with resectable esophageal squamous cell carcinomas. Ann Surg Oncol, 2015; 22: 1008–1014.
- 8) Chen SB, Liu DT, Huang SJ, *et al*: Prognostic value of occult lymph node metastasis in patients with completely resected esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Sci Rep, 2020; 10: 22007.
- 9) Ando T, Tsurumaru M, Kajiyama M, *et al*: Clinical importance of detecting micrometastasis of esophageal cancer in lymph nodes by staining with anti-cytoker-atin antibody. Juntendo Med J, 2009, 55, 128-135.
- 10) Hashiguchi T, Nasu M, Hashimoto T, *et al*: Docetaxel, cisplatin and 5-fluorouracil adjuvant chemotherapy following three-field lymph node dissection for stage II/III N1, 2 esophageal cancer. Mol Clin Oncol, 2014; 2: 719-724.
- 11) Brierley JD, Gospodarowicz MK, Wittekind C, eds. TNM Classification of Malignant Tumours. 8th ed. NJ: Wiley-Blackwell; 2016.
- 12) Kelly RJ, Ajani JA, Kuzdzal J, *et al*: Adjuvant nivolumab in resected esophageal or gastroesophageal junction cancer. N Engl J Med, 2021; 384: 1191–1203.

Original Articles

Juntendo Medical Journal 2022. 68(4), 369-374



Clinical Significance of Circulating Tumor Cells in Patients with Esophageal Cancer

HIROMI KITANO, MOTOMI NASU, TAKASHI HASHIMOTO,

MASAHIKO TSURUMARU, YOSHIAKI KAJIYAMA

Department of Esophageal and Gastroenterological Surgery, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan

Objective: In recent years, circulating tumor cells (CTCs) have attracted attention for prediction of metastasis in breast, prostate, and colon cancers. This study aimed to investigate whether detection of CTCs could be prognostic factor in esophageal cancer. *Methods*: This study involved 38 patients treated at Juntendo University from May 2010 to April 2013 who provided consent. CTCs were measured using CellSearch[®] system in preoperative peripheral blood. Clinicopathological parameters and prognostic factors were retrieved from our medical records.

Results: CTCs were detected in 6 of 38 patients (15.8%). Among patients' characteristics and clinicopathological features, CTC-positive group had higher serum SCC levels and tended to have more advanced cStages than the CTC-negative group. The CTC-negative group showed better survival curves than CTCs positive-group in both overall survival (OS) and disease-free survival (DFS) although the differences were not statistically significant. CTCs positivity has a possibility to be prognostic marker according to multivariable analysis of OS and DFS.

Conclusion: Although this study has some limitations, our results suggest that CTCs in preoperative peripheral blood has potential to be a prognostic marker for esophageal cancer.

Key words: esophageal cancer, hematogenous metastasis, circulating tumor cells, cellsearch®

Introduction

Among various cancers, approximately 25,920 new esophageal cancer cases are reported in Japanese national surveillance of 2018¹⁾, and this number is steadily increasing²⁾. Lymph node metastasis is the most common metastasis in resectable esophageal cancer; however, recurrence occurs in various sites. Of these, distant recurrences occur frequently and define prognosis after radical surgery with extensive lymph node dissection.

We sometimes encounter patients whose tumor marker levels in peripheral blood had increased before recurrence, or metastasis was detected by diagnostic imaging such as computed tomography, ultrasonography, magnetic resonance imaging, and positron emission tomography. Thus, more sensitive modalities are expected in clinical practice to detect the so-called "micrometastasis." One of these micrometastases are circulating tumor cells (CTCs). In this decade, immunohistochemical methods and polymerase chain reaction methods have been used to verify the presence of CTCs in peripheral blood in advanced cancers; however, there is no established detection method³⁾.

Recent studies have shown CTCs in peripheral blood of metastatic patients might be suggest poor prognosis⁴⁻⁶⁾, and if CTC detection becomes possible in clinical practice, it will be useful for assessing a prognosticator and predicting early therapeutic effects. Although the clinical significance of CTC detection technology had not been established,

2-1-1, Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo, Japan 113-8421

Corresponding author: Motomi Nasu

Department of Esophageal and Gastroenterological Surgery, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine

TEL: +81-3-3813-3111 FAX: +81-3-5802-1951 E-mail: mnasu@juntendo.ac.jp

[[]Received Dec. 3, 2021] [Accepted May. 23, 2022]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Aug. 1, 2022

Copyright © 2022 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ21-0049-OA

CellSearch[®] system (MENARINI, Itary) has good reproducibility and can detect even a single CTC in a 7.5-ml peripheral blood sample⁷⁾. In breast, colorectal, and prostate cancers, CTC counts before treatment and after the initial therapy correlate strongly with progression-free survival and overall survival (OS), moreover, therapeutic effects and prognosis can be predicted by measuring the CTCs count⁴⁻⁹⁾. As a result, the CellSearch[®] system has been approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to test for CTCs in breast, prostate, and colorectal cancers. This study aimed to investigate whether detection of CTCs with the CellSearch[®] system could similarly be useful to predict prognosis in esophageal cancer.

Methods

Patients

This study involved 38 esophageal cancer patients treated at the Juntendo University Hospital Department of Esophageal and Gastroenterological Surgery from May 2010 to April 2013. All patients had been pathologically diagnosed with esophageal cancer before treatment. The exclusion criteria are as follows: (1) multiple primaries (multicentric esophageal cancer are included); (2) non primary cases; (3) history of any cancer within 5years.

Written informed consents were obtained from all enrolled patients before this study. This study was approved by the Ethical Committee of Juntendo University Hospital (No.12–80).

Clinicopathological data were retrospectively retrieved from our database and electronic medical records. Tumor stage was assessed according to the International Union Against Cancer (UICC) TNM classification 7th edition for esophageal cancer¹⁰⁾ from findings of gastrointestinal endoscopy, upper gastrointestinal series, computed tomography, and endoscopic ultrasound.

Measurement of Circulating Tumor Cells

A CellSearch[®] system epithelial cell kit was used to detect rare CTCs in whole blood by immunomagnetic separation. The kit contains a magnetic bead-based capture reagent and an immunofluorescent staining reagent, and the magnetic beads contain nanoparticles with magnetic cores surrounded by a polymer layer coated with an epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EPCAM) antibody to enrich CTCs. After enrichment and concentration using immunomagnetic separation, staining reagents are added to detect CTCs. Anti-CK-PE is specific for the intracellular protein cytokeratin (specific to epithelial cells), a nucleic acid stain (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole [DAPI]) stains the cell nuclei, and anti-CD45 and APC react specifically with leukocytes.

The reagent and sample mixture are placed in a cartridge that sits in a MagNest[®] holder that generates a magnetic field using the CellTracks Auto-Prep system (MENARINI, Itary). Magnetically labeled epithelial cells move to the surface of the cartridge due to the strong magnetic field generated by the MagNest[®], the fluorescent images are captured by the Cell Tracks[®] Analyzer II, and candidates stained with both CK-PE and DAPI inside the cartridge are displayed. Images are presented in a gallery format for the final cell classification. The images are classified as tumor cells based on morphology and phenotype (EPCAM+, CK+, DAPI+, and CD45-).

A 20-ml blood sample was collected before all treatment, and 10 ml was distributed among two Cell Save storage tubes. Subsequently, 7.5 ml of the 10 ml blood sample was transferred to a conical test tube, 6.5 ml of diluent was added, and the conical test tube was capped and mixed by inverting five times. The sample was centrifuged at 800 rpm for 10 min with the centrifuge brake released. The sample was placed in the CellTracks AutoPrep device of the CellSearch[®] system for processing within 1 hour.

The CellTracks[®] AutoPrep system specifically isolates and extracts epithelial cells from the many cells in the blood using magnetic particles that consist of antibodies for EPCAM bound to iron nanoparticles. The isolated epithelial cells are bound by a fluorescently labeled cytokeratin monoclonal antibody, and the nuclei are stained with DAPI fluorescent DNA stain. Similarly, leukocytes are bound by fluorescently labeled CD45 antibodies to distinguish them from CTCs. The CTC reaction solution is transferred into a cartridge that sits in a device with a fixed magnet called the MagNest and then placed in the CellTracks Analyzer II[®] of the CSS to analyze the test results. The magnetic force generated by the magnet in the MagNest moves the CTCs captured by the ferrofluid to the top of the cartridge. The data of the fluorescent colors that appear on the upper surface of the cartridge are processed into fluorescence images for analysis and assessment. We defined CTC positive when CTC count is at least one in 7.5 ml of blood sample.

We measured serum tumor makers (cytokeratin fragment [CYFRA], squamous cell carcinoma antigen [SCC], carbohydrate antigen 19–9 [CA19– 9], and carcinoembryonic antigen [CEA]) of same samples. Blood samples for CTCs and tumor makers were collected from first visit of our department to beginning of any treatment.

Statistical Analyses

All statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS advanced statistics ver.25. The chi-

square test was applied for the differences of patients' characteristics and CTCs status between the CTCs-positive and the CTCs-negative groups. Serum CYFRA, CA19-9, SCC and CEA levels are divided into two groups of over and within normal range. Differences were considered significant at p-value <0.05. Values are expressed as median (range).

OS and disease-free survival (DFS) rates were calculated using the Kaplan-Meier method, and univariate analyses were performed by the Log-rank test. The DFS was defined as duration (days) from the date of surgery (or the first treatment day of chemotherapy or chemoradiotherapy patients) to the first relapse of cancer or death from any cause. Cox hazards regression analysis

Number of cases	38 cases	
Age	66 (47-84) years old	
Sex	Male	33 (86.8%)
	Female	5 (13.2%)
Treatment	Surgery	35
	Esophagectomy with three(two) -fields lymph node dissection	28 (73.7%)
	Laryngectomy with cervical esophagecto-my	1 (2.6%)
	Endoscopic treatment	6 (15.8%)
	Chemotherapy alone/ Chemoradiotherapy	3 (7.8%)
Primary tumor location	Се	4 (10.5%)
	Ut	7 (18.4%)
	Mt	14 (36.8%)
	Lt	13 (34.2%)
Predominant Histological type	Well-differentiated SqCC	10 (26.3%)
	Moderately differentiated SqCC	21 (55.3%)
	Poorly differentiated SqCC	2 (5.3%)
	Others (adenocarcinoma, Basaloid carcinoma)	5 (13.2%)
cT classification*	cT1	15 (39.5%)
	cT2	4 (0.5%)
	cT3	15 (39.5%)
	cT4	4 (10.5%)
Clinical stage *	Ι	15 (39.5%)
	Ш	5 (13.2%)
	III	14 (36.8%)
	IV	4 (10.5%)

Table 1 Patients' characteristics

 * UICC TNM Classification of Malignant Tumors, $7^{\rm th}$ ed

Ce: Cervical esophagus, Ut: Upper thoracic esophagus, Mt: Middle thoracic esophagus, Lt: Lower thoracic esophagus SqCC: Squamous cell carcinoma

was performed to evaluate the effect of CTCs positivity and other parameters to OS and DFS. In Cox hazards regression analysis, cTMN stages are divided into the cStageI +II and III+IV groups.

Results

The demographics of the patients in the entire cohort are shown in Table 1. Surgical treatments were performed in 29 patients (76.3%), but cohort also included patients undergoing endoscopic treatment, chemotherapy and chemoradiotherapy. Eight of 29 patients who underwent esophagectomy received neoadjuvant therapy.

Among these 38 patients, CTCs were detected in only 6 (15.7%) patients, the CTC counts were 1/ 7.5ml of blood sample in 4 patients, 2 in one patient, and 190 in one patient. Therefore, we divided the patients into the CTC-positive and CTC-negative groups. (Table 2). CTC-positive group had higher serum SCC level than the CTC-negative group (p= 0.014), and also CTCs-positive group tended to have more advanced cStage than CTCs-negative group (p=0.055). There were no significant differences between these two groups in other clinicopathological factors.

Regarding survivals, the CTCs-negative group showed better survival curves than CTCs positive-

group in both OS and DFS, however the differences were not statistically significant (Figure 1 and 2). In multivariate analysis, we chosen CTCs status, cStage, serum SCC level and CEA level as independent variables based on p-value of less than 0.2. Cox hazards regression model showed that CTCs status was likely to be a prognostic factor, but not statistically significant (OS: Hazard Ratio (HR) =0.358, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.122-1.502, p =0.062, DFS: HR=0.358, 95% (CI) 0.152-2.323, p =0.455), as shown in Table 3A and 3B.

Discussion

In this study, we investigated the relationships between CTCs and survivals. We could show that patients without CTCs had better survival than those of CTCs positive, however the difference was not statistically significant. In multivariate analysis regarding OS and DFS, we were able to demonstrate that CTCs positivity has a possibility to be prognostic marker. We speculated that these discrepancies might be from small sample size and the heterogeneity of patients' background. Actually, our enrolled patients included those with early disease that can be treated by endoscopy and those with distant metastasis. We assume that the differences in survivals between CTCs positive and

Clinicopathological factors	Variables	CTC-negative	CTC-positive	p-Value
Sex	Male / Female	28/4	5/1	0.788
Age		66.0	67.0	0.110
Main treatment	Operation/ ESD/ CRT/ other	26/4/2/0	2/2/1/1	0.630
Primary tumor location	Ce/ Ut/ Mt/ Lt	3 /6/ 11/ 12	1/1/3/1	0.727
Predominant Histological type	Well/ Mod/ Poor/ other	9/ 18/ 2/ 3	1/ 4 /0/ 1	0.732
cT classification*	T1/ T2/ T3/ T4	13/4/13/2	2/0/2/2	0.257
cN classification*	N0/ N1/ N2/ N3	13/7/10/2	2/0/2/2	0.171
cStage*	I/ II/ III/ IV	12/4/14/2	2/0/1/3	0.055
CYFRA	high/ normal range	3/ 28**	2/4	0.325
CA19-9	high/ normal range	2/ 30	1/5	0.385
SCC	high/ normal range	3/ 28**	3/3	0.014
CEA	high/ normal range	10/ 20**	0/6	0.096

 Table 2
 Comparison of CTC-positive and CTC-negative cases

ESD: Endoscopic submucosal resection, CRT: Chemoradiotherapy

Ce: Cervical esophagus, Ut: Upper thoracic esophagus, Mt: Middle thoracic esophagus, Lt: Lower thoracic esophagus

Well: Well differentiated Squamous cell carcinoma, Mod: Moderately differentiated Squamous cell carcinoma, poor: poorly differentiated Squamous cell carcinoma

CYFRA: cytokeratin fragment, CA19–9: carbohydrate antigen 19–9, SCC: squamous cell carcinoma antigen, CEA: and carcinoembryonic antigen * UICC TNM Classification of Malignant Tumors, 7th ed

**not measured in some cases



Figure 1 $\,$ Overall survival (OS) in the CTC-negative and –positive groups



Figure 2 Disease-free survival (DFS) in the CTC-negative and -positive groups

A) Overall survival		-			
Clinicopathological factors	Variables	p-Value	Exp(b)	95% CI Lower	95% CI Upper
CTCs	Positive/ negative	0.062	0.358	0.122	1.502
cStage*	I+II/ III+IV	0.006	2.237	1.259	3.973
CEA	(continuous)	0.519	1.016	0.968	1.067
SCC	(continuous)	0.647	1.006	1.259	3.973
B) Disease-free survi	val				
Clinicopathological factors	Variables	p-Value	Exp(b)	95% CI Lower	95% CI Upper
CTCs	Positive/ negative	0.455	0.594	0.152	2.323
cStage*	I+II/ III+IV	0.021	11.725	1.458	94.266
CEA	(continuous)	0.325	1.026	0.975	1.079
SCC	(continuous)	0.802	1.003	0.978	1.029

 Table 3
 Long-term outcome and CTCs

SCC: squamous cell carcinoma antigen, CEA: carcinoembryonic antigen

* UICC TNM Classification of Malignant Tumors, 7th ed

CTCs negative groups would be clear if patients' backgrounds were limited to some extent.

In addition, we investigated the relationships between the detection of CTCs using the Cell-Search[®] system and clinicopathological factor for patients with esophageal cancer. Although the Cell-Search[®] system is approved by the FDA for some adenocarcinomas (breast, colorectal, and prostate cancers)⁴⁻⁹, little has been reported on SqCC. The CTCs detection rate in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma is so low that few studies have been conducted in this area¹¹⁻¹³. Actually, the CTCs positivity rate in the present study of esophageal cancer was low, 15.7%. This could be due to the distribution of the patients' characteristics with relatively early-stage cancers. Among this cohort, 39.5% had a depth of T1, 39.4% had no lymph node metastasis, and 31.5% had cStage I cancer.

According to our results, CTCs status was significantly related to the serum SCC level. SCC is widely found in epithelial cells and known as tumor maker of squamous cell carcinoma, not only esophagus but also lung, head and neck and others, known to associated with metastasis and poor prognosis¹⁴⁻¹⁶⁾. In addition, in some previous studies, SCC mRNA in lymph nodes or peripheral blood were used as a marker of micrometastasis of squamous cell carcinoma. Thus, CTCs counts, as micrometastasis, might be related with SCC level.

This study has some limitations. First, only a small number of patients were enrolled this study. Second, this study utilized a retrospective design. Recently, the sensitivity of CTCs detection reported to improve in other cancers^{17, 18)}, therefore, we would consider large sample sizes to the analysis in future.

In conclusion, our results suggest that CTCs in preoperative peripheral blood has possibility to prognostic marker of esophageal cancer. Further studies are needed to confirm this finding.

Acknowledgments

Not applicable.

Funding

The author(s) received no financial support for the research.

Author contributions

HK corrected blood samples, interpreted the patient data, and was a major contributor in writing the manuscript. MT and YK recruited patients. The article was revised by MN and the final manuscript has been approved by all authors.

Conflicts of interest statement

The authors declare that they are no conflicts of interest.

References

- National Cancer Center Japan: Statistical information of cancer in Japan. https://ganjoho.jp/reg_stat/statistics/stat/cancer/4_esophagus.html (Last Accessed June. 11, 2022)
- Watanabe M, Toh Y, Ishihara R, *et al*: Comprehensive registry of esophageal cancer in Japan, 2014. Esophagus, 2022; 19: 1–26.
- 3) Hashimoto T, Kajiyama Y, Tsutsumi-Ishii Y, Nagaoka I, Tsurumaru M: Circulating micrometastases of esophageal cancer detected by carcinoembryonic antigen mRNA reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction: clinical implications. Dis Esophagus, 2008; 21: 690– 696.
- 4) Nakamura S, Yagata H, Ohno S, *et al*: Multi-center study evaluating circulating tumor cells as a surrogate

for response to treatment and overall survival in metastatic breast cancer. Breast Cancer, 2010; 17: 199–204.

- 5) Tol J, Koopman M, Miller MC, *et al*: Circulating tumour cells early predict progression-free and overall survival in advanced colorectal cancer patients treated with chemotherapy and targeted agents. Ann Oncol, 2010; 21: 1006–1012.
- 6) Cohen SJ, Punt CJA, Iannotti N, *et al*: Prognostic significance of circulating tumor cells in patients with meta-static colorectal cancer. Ann Oncol, 2009; 20: 1223–1229.
- 7) Miller MC, Doyle GV, Terstappen LW: Significance of circulating tumor cells detected by the CellSearch[®] system in patients with metastatic breast colorectal and prostate cancer. J Oncol, 2010; 2010: 617421.
- 8) Okegawa T, Nutahara K, Higashihara E: Association of circulating tumor cells with tumor-related methylated DNA in patients with hormone-refractory prostate cancer. Int J Urol, 2010; 17: 466–475.
- 9) Coumans FAW, Ligthart ST, Terstappen LWMM: Interpretation of changes in circulating tumor cell counts. Transl Oncol, 2012; 5: 486-491.
- 10) Sobin LH, Gospodarowicz MK, Wittekind C (eds.): International Union Against Cancer TMN Classification of Malignant Tumours 7th edition. 2009
- 11) Matsusaka S, Chin K, Ogura M, *et al*: Circulating tumor cells as a surrogate marker for determining response to chemotherapy in patients with advanced gastric cancer. Cancer Sci, 2010; 101: 1067–1071.
- 12) Lurje G, Schiesser M, Claudius A, Schneider PM: Circulating tumor cells in gastrointestinal malignancies: current techniques and clinical implications. J Oncol, 2010; 2010: 392652.
- 13) Tarumi S, Gotoh M, Kasai Y, *et al*: Innovative method using circulating tumor cells for prediction of the effects of induction therapy on locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer. J Cardiothorac Surg, 2013; 8.
- 14) Makita H, Murakami M, Sawatani T, *et al*: Clinical significance of measurement of tumor markers for esophageal squamous cell carcinoma—a retrospective analysis in recurrent cases. Jpn J Gastroenterol Surg, 2004; 37: 1805–1812.
- 15) Mei X, Zhu X, Zuo L, *et al*: Predictive significance of CYFRA21-1, squamous cell carcinoma antigen and carcinoembryonic antigen for lymph node metastasis in patients with esophageal squamous cancer. Int J Biol Markers, 2019; 34: 200-204.
- 16) Turato C, Scarpa M, Kotsafti A, *et al*: Squamous cell carcinoma antigen 1 is associated to poor prognosis in esophageal cancer through immune surveillance impairment and reduced chemosensitivity. Cancer Science, 2019; 110: 1552–1563.
- 17) Togo S, Katagiri N, Namba Y, *et al*: Sensitive detection of viable circulating tumor cells using a novel conditionally telomerase-selective replicating adenovirus in non-small cell lung cancer patients. Oncotarget, 2017; 8: 34884–34895.
- 18) Qian H, Zhang Y, Xu J, *et al.* (2021): Progress and application of circulating tumor cells in non-small cell lung cancer. Mol Ther Oncolytics, 2010; 22: 72–84.

Original Articles

Juntendo Medical Journal 2022. 68(4), 375-386



Semiautomatic Treatment Planning for the Field-in-field Technique in Whole Brain Irradiation

HIROYUKI WATANABE^{1, 2)}, SATORU SUGIMOTO³⁾, TORU KAWABATA¹⁾, HIRONORI NAGATA⁴⁾, CHIE KUROKAWA^{3, 5)}, KEISUKE USUI^{3, 5)}, TATSUYA INOUE³⁾, JUN TAKATSU³⁾, KYOICHI KATO²⁾, KEISUKE SASAI¹⁾

¹⁾Department of Radiation Oncology, Graduate School of Medicine, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan

²⁾Graduate School of Health Sciences, Showa University, Kanagawa, Japan

³⁾Department of Radiation Oncology, Faculty of Medicine, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan

⁴⁾Department of Radiation Oncology, Shonan Kamakura General Hospital, Kanagawa, Japan

⁵⁾Department of Radiological Technology, Faculty of Health Science, Juntendo University

Objectives: In radiation therapy, the field-in-field (FIF) technique is used to prevent the administration of unnecessarily high doses to reduce toxicity. Recently, the FIF technique has been used for whole brain irradiation (WBI). Using the FIF technique, the volume that receives a higher than prescribed dose (hotspot) can be largely reduced; however, the treatment planning requires time. Therefore, to reduce the burden on the treatment planners, we propose a semiautomatic treatment planning method for the FIF technique.

Methods: In the semiautomatic FIF technique, hotspot regions in a treatment plan without the FIF technique are identified three-dimensionally, and beams with blocks that cover the hotspot regions using a multileaf collimator (sub-beams) are automatically created. The sub-beams are added to the original plan, and weights are assigned based on the maximum dose of the original plan to decrease the doses in the hotspot regions. This method was applied to 22 patients previously treated with WBI, wherein treatment plans were originally created without the FIF technique.

Results: In the semiautomatic FIF plans, the hotspots almost disappeared. The dose to 95% of the volume and the volume receiving at least 95% of the prescribed dose in the planning target volume decreased by only $0.3\% \pm 0.2\%$ and $0.0\% \pm 0.1\%$, respectively, on average compared with those in the original plan. The average semiautomatic FIF processing time was 28 ± 4 s. **Conclusions**: The proposed method reduced the hotspot regions with a slight change in the target coverage.

Key words: automation, radiotherapy treatment planning, whole brain irradiation

Introduction

Whole brain irradiation (WBI) is one of the main treatments for patients with brain metastases and is also performed for prophylactic cranial irradiation as an adjuvant therapy for patients with small cell lung cancers^{1–3)}. WBI is usually performed using opposed lateral fields. Treatment with opposed

lateral fields generates a hotspot in the frontal lobe, where the dose is considerably higher than the prescribed dose^{2,4)}. Recently, the uniformity of the target dose has been improved by introducing advanced techniques, such as intensity-modulated radiation therapy. The International Commission on Radiation Units and Measurements (ICRU) recommends that the dose in the planning target

2–1–1 Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo, 113–8421, Japan

Corresponding author: Hiroyuki Watanabe

Department of Radiation Oncology, Graduate School of Medicine, Juntendo University

TEL: +81-3-6426-3055 FAX: +81-3-3784-8404 E-mail: watanabehi@cmed.showa-u.ac.jp

[[]Received Jan. 14, 2022] [Accepted Jun. 1, 2022]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Aug. 2, 2022

Copyright © 2022 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ22-0003-OA

volume (PTV) should be 95%–107% of the prescribed dose⁵⁾. In this situation, a method to reduce hotspots should be used, even in WBI, to reduce the risk of cognitive impairment as much as possible.

The field-in-field (FIF) technique has been used to reduce unnecessarily high doses^{6,7)}. To apply the FIF technique to WBI, several beams are added to the opposed lateral fields as sub-beams. In the sub-beams, the hotspot regions are blocked to reduce the dose in these regions⁷⁻⁹⁾. In this technique, additional time is required to create the subbeams manually. If treatment planning using the FIF technique is automated, the burden of treatment planners is greatly reduced without compromising the quality of the treatment plans^{10, 11)}.

Several studies have been conducted on automatic planning for conventional techniques, including the FIF technique¹¹⁻¹⁴⁾. Kim et al. retrieved Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine (DICOM) data from a treatment planning system (TPS) and created FIF plans for breast-conserving therapy¹²⁾. Yu et al. developed an automatic multileaf collimator shaping technique for WBI using deep learning¹⁴⁾. They adopted a simple two-opposing-lateral-field technique, and therefore, obtained the relatively high average max dose of approximately 110%.

In this study, we propose a semiautomatic treatment planning method for the FIF technique for WBI using an application programming interface provided by a TPS manufacturer without outputting DICOM data outside the TPS.

Materials and Methods

Overview of the proposed method

In the FIF technique for WBI, we developed an automatic technique for creating sub-beams, and adjusting beam weights to make hotspot regions disappear. Because we only automated the sub-beams creation and weight adjusting for the FIF technique, we describe our method as semiautomatic. In an automatic planning, whole planning process from the creation of main beams will be automated. The hotspot regions were defined as regions receiving dose above a predefined threshold $D_{\rm th}$. Figure 1 shows an outline of the proposed method. The input of the method (an original treat-



Figure 1 Flowchart of the semiautomatic field-in-field (FIF) technique

 $D_{\rm th}$ is the dose threshold for the hotspot regions and fixed at 105% of the prescribed dose at the isocenter in this study. $D_{95\%}$ is the dose covering 95% of the PTV. $D_{\rm max}$ is the maximum dose in the original plan. $D_{\rm ith}$ is the intermediate threshold defined as $D_{\rm ith} = (D_{\rm max} + D_{\rm th})/2$.

ment plan) was a conventional treatment plan using two-opposing-lateral fields for WBI, which was created in a TPS (Eclipse version 11.0; Varian Medical Systems, USA). The method consists of two steps: in Step 1, an algorithm for creating sub-beams and adjusting beam weights is applied to the original treatment plan and an FIF plan with two sub-beams is created with a predefined threshold $D_{\rm th}$ for hotspot regions; and in Step 2, the dose index of the PTV in the FIF plan is evaluated to determine whether further adjustment is required. When the reduction in the $D_{95\%}$ which represents the dose covering 95% of the PTV in Step 1 exceeds 1%.. FIF treatment planning with four sub-beams is performed to alleviate the reduction of the $D_{95\%}$.

Steps 1 and 2 were implemented in a research version of the TPS (Eclipse, version 13.7; Varian Medical Systems, USA) using the Eclipse Scripting Application Programming Interface (ESAPI) and automatically performed.

The programming language used in the ESAPI was C# (Microsoft Corporation, USA). The research version of Eclipse (13.7) was used because Eclipse version 11.0 did not allow a change of a treatment plan using ESAPI. We retrospectively applied the automatic FIF script to the treatment plans of patients treated using the two-opposing-later-al-field technique.

Automatic FIF technique

FIF plan in Step 1

In the original treatment plan, hotspot regions that received a dose above $D_{\rm th}$ were identified in the three-dimensional (3D) dose distribution calculated in the TPS. The two beams in the original plan (main beams) were duplicated as sub-beams, which initially had the same multileaf collimator (MLC) positions as the main beams and no beam weights. In the FIF technique, the fields of sub-beams are shaped to block the hotspot region using the MLC. Figure 2 shows the beam's eye views (BEVs) of (a) one of the main beams and (b) the corresponding sub-beam. The positions of the MLC in the sub-beams were determined to block the hotspot region without a margin in the BEV. Because the hotspot region tends to be located in the frontal and occipital lobes at the edge of the irradiation field, the isocenter was not blocked in the sub-beams in almost all cases.

To identify the hotspot region, the 3D dose distribution of the original plan was extracted using the ESAPI. In the ESAPI, the 3D dose distribution was defined in the DICOM coordinate system (DCS) fixed in a patient. The hotspot region defined in the DCS was projected onto the BEV using the following three steps: (1) the coordinate transformation of translation from the DCS (x, y, z) to the coordinate system (X, Y, Z), where the isocenter was at the origin (isocenter coordinate system,



Figure 2 Beam's eye views with the multileaf collimator shapes of (a) the main beam and (b) sub-beam in the field-in-field plan. The projection of the hotspot region in the original plan is indicated by Hotspot in (b).

ICS), was performed.

$$\begin{pmatrix} X \\ Y \\ Z \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -x_{iso} \\ -y_{iso} \\ -z_{iso} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \\ z \end{pmatrix},$$

where $(x_{iso}, y_{iso}, z_{iso})$ are the coordinates of the isocenter in the DCS. (2) The coordinate transformation from the ICS to a coordinate system (X', Y', Z') fixed at the gantry with the isocenter as the origin (beam coordinate system [BCS]) was performed.

$$\begin{pmatrix} X' \\ Y' \\ Z' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta_c & 0 & \sin\theta_c \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -\sin\theta_c & 0 & \cos\theta_c \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta_g & \sin\theta_g & 0 \\ -\sin\theta_g & \cos\theta_g & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} X \\ Y \\ Z \end{pmatrix},$$

where θ_c and θ_g are the collimator and gantry angles, respectively. The senses of rotation of the collimator and gantry followed the IEC61217 scale convention, and the directions of the X', Y', and Z' axes are presented in Figure 3. (3) A point in the BCS was projected onto the BEV plane at the

isocenter
$$(Y' = 0$$
 in the BCS) as follows:

$$\begin{pmatrix} X_{BEV} \\ 0 \\ Z_{BEV} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\text{SAD}}{(Y' + \text{SAD})} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \frac{\text{SAD}}{(Y' + \text{SAD})} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} X' \\ Y' \\ Z' \end{pmatrix},$$

where SAD is the source-to-isocenter distance of 100 cm. With the projection, point B' was moved to point B_{BEV} , as shown in Figure 3. By projecting all hotspots in the 3D dose distribution, the projection of the hotspot region on the BEV was obtained as a binary image (Figure 4).

The MLC leaves in the sub-beams were moved to cover the hotspot region in the BEV as in Figure 4. An MLC leave which is on the side of a hotspot was used to block the hotspot if the hotspot did not cross the vertical center line of a field. If a hotspot region crossed the vertical center line of a field, the horizontal distances from the center of the field to the outer edges of the hotspot were measured, as



Figure 3 Definition of the beam coordinate system (BCS) and beam's eye view (BEV) plane, which are fixed to the collimator and rotate with the collimator and gantry. When both the collimator and gantry angles are 0°, the X' axis is in the cross-plane direction, Y' axis is in the vertical direction, Z' axis is in the in-plane direction, rotation of the collimator is around the Y' axis (θ_c), and rotation of the gantry is around the Z' axis (θ_g). Point A is the isocenter. By projecting onto the BEV plane, the point B' (X', Y', Z') is moved to B_{BEV} (X_{BEV} , 0, Z_{BEV}).



vertical center line

Figure 4 Schematic beam's eye view of a sub-beam. The gray regions indicate projected hotspots

The dotted line is the vertical center line of the field of the sub-beam. Rectangles indicate multileaf collimator leaves, which completely cover the hotspots. d_1 (d_2) is the horizontal distance from the vertical center line to the outer edges of the hotspot on the left (right) side.

 d_1 and d_2 in Figure 4. The side of an MLC leave which had a longer horizontal distance (d_1 in Figure 4) than the other side was selected to block the hotspot. The MLC leaves were moved as far as completely covering the hotspot.

The weights of the main beams were reduced to decrease the dose in the hotspot regions as follows:

$$w_{\text{main}}^{i,\text{FIF}} = f w_{\text{main}}^{i},$$

$$f = \frac{D_{\text{th}}}{D_{\text{max}}},$$
 (1)

where D_{max} is the maximum dose in the original plan, D_{th} is the dose threshold for the hotspot regions, *i* is the index for the main beams (*i* =1, 2), and w_{main}^{i} and $w_{\text{main}}^{i,\text{FIF}}$ are the weights in the original and FIF plans for the main beams, respectively. The weights of the sub-beams ($w_{\text{sub}}^{i,\text{FIF}}$, *i* =1, 2) were assigned as follows:

$$w_{\text{sub}}^{i,\text{FIF}} = \left(1 - f\right) w_{\text{main}}^{i}.$$
 (2)

Approximately, with the new weights, w_{main}^i and $w_{\text{sub}}^{i,\text{FIF}}$, the doses in the unblocked regions do not change and those in the blocked regions reduced by *f*.

With the new MLC shapes for the sub-beams and new weights for the main beams and sub-beams, the 3D dose distribution for the FIF plan with the two sub-beams (FIF) was calculated in the TPS and dose indices were evaluated. In this study, $D_{\rm th}$ was fixed at 105% of the prescribed dose at the isocenter.

FIF plan in Step 2

After Step 1, when the dose coverage of the target is greatly reduced, there is a possibility that the reduction in the dose coverage can be alleviated by increasing the number of sub-beams. This is because an increase in the number of sub-beams provides higher degrees of freedom for dose modification. In this study, when the reduction in $D_{95\%}$ of the PTV was >1% in Step 1, FIF treatment planning with four sub-beams was performed. The criterion of 1% reduction was arbitrarily adopted as an example. It can be changed to a different criterion easily.

In this step, the sub-beams were added sequentially. First, two sub-beams were added to the original plan, as in Step 1. The high-hotspot regions that received a dose greater than the intermediate threshold $D_{\rm ith} = (D_{\rm max} + D_{\rm th})/2$ were identified in the dose distribution in the original plan, as shown in Figure 5a. The same procedures as in Step 1 were performed by replacing $D_{\rm th}$ with $D_{\rm ith}$. After the procedures, the FIF plan with the two sub-beams was obtained. Second, two sub-beams were newly added. The low-hotspot regions that received a higher dose than $D_{\rm th}$ were identified in the FIF plan with the two sub-beams. The MLC apertures of the two extra sub-beams were shaped to block the low-hotspot regions in the BEV, as shown in Figure 5b.

The weights for the main beams and the first two sub-beams were assigned, as shown in Eqs. (1) and (2), where $D_{\rm th}$ is replaced by $D_{\rm ith}$. The weights for the main beams $w_{\rm main}^{i,\rm FIF2nd}$ and extra sub-beams $w_{\rm sub}^{i,\rm FIF2nd}$ in the four sub-beams FIF plan were assigned as follows:

$$\begin{split} \boldsymbol{w}_{\mathrm{main}}^{i,\mathrm{FIF2nd}} &= \boldsymbol{f}_{\mathrm{2nd}} \, \boldsymbol{w}_{\mathrm{main}}^{i,\mathrm{FIF}}, \\ \boldsymbol{w}_{\mathrm{sub}}^{i,\mathrm{FIF2nd}} &= \left(1 - \boldsymbol{f}_{\mathrm{2nd}}\right) \boldsymbol{w}_{\mathrm{main}}^{i,\mathrm{FIF}}, \\ \boldsymbol{f}_{\mathrm{2nd}} &= \frac{D_{th}}{D_{\mathrm{ith}}^{\mathrm{max}}}, \end{split}$$

where *i* is the index for the main beams (i = 1, 2), and w_{ith}^{max} is the maximum dose in the FIF plan with the two sub-beams. The 3D dose distribution was calculated for the FIF plan with four sub-beams (FIF-4SF), and the dose indices were evaluated.



Figure 5 Beam's eye views (BEVs) with the multileaf collimator shapes of the sub-beams in the four-subbeam field-in-field plan. (a) The BEV of one of the first sub-beams. The high-hotspot region of 106.4 % of the prescribed dose in the original plan is represented by Hotspot 1. (b) The BEV of one of the second sub-beams. The low-hotspot region of 105 % of the prescribed dose after the first step is indicated as Hotspot 2.

Application of the automated FIF algorithm *Patients*

We used the planning data of 22 patients with brain metastases from lung, breast, and rectal cancers treated with WBI from January 2016 to December 2017 at Showa University Yokohama Northern Hospital. The study protocol was approved by the institutional review board (##17HO92) of our hospital, and the need for informed consent was waived. This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and Japanese ethical guidelines for epidemiologic research.

The clinical treatment plans were used as the original plan for the automated FIF algorithm. All plans used two laterally opposing fields with 10 MV of X-ray energy and prescribed a total dose of 30 Gy (2 Gy per fraction) or 31.2 Gy (1.2 Gy per fraction delivered twice daily) at the isocenter. The dose calculation algorithm used for all plans was an analytical anisotropic algorithm¹⁵⁾ in the TPS (Eclipse, version 13.7.14; Varian Medical Systems, USA). The PTV included the cerebral parenchyma, with a margin of 2 or 3 mm. The original plans were created for a linac (TrueBeam STx; Varian Medical Systems, USA) with the MLC containing 14 pairs of leaves with a 2.5-mm width and 32 pairs of leaves with a 5-mm width. The dose grid size was $2.5 \times 2.5 \times 2.5$ mm³ in the TPS.

Creation of a manual FIF plan for comparison with automatic FIF

We also manually created FIF plans from the original plans by a board-certified physicist . Two sub-beams were created by copying the two main beams. Hotspot regions in the original plan were blocked using MLC leaves in both sides of the sub-beams. The hotspot regions were visually identified in the BEV. The same threshold for hotspot was taken as in the automatic FIF case. The same weights were given to the sub-beams to remove the hotspot. The procedures of making subfields and adjusting beam weights are almost the same as for the automatic FIF case.

Dose index evaluation

 $V_{105\%}$, $V_{95\%}$, $D_{95\%}$, D_{max} , and the homogeneity index (HI) of the PTV in the semiautomatic FIF plans were compared with those in the original and manual FIF plans. $V_{105\%}$ was used as an index to indicate whether the hotspot decreased using the FIF technique. $V_{95\%}$ and $D_{95\%}$ were used as indicators of dose coverage. D_{max} was used as an indicator of excess dose. The dose and volume were expressed as the relative dose to the prescribed dose and relative volume to the PTV, respectively. D_V was the dose to a specified fractional volume V in the PTV. V_D was the volume that received at least the dose D in the PTV. The HI is defined as

follows:

$$\mathrm{HI} = \frac{D_{2\%} - D_{98\%}}{D_{50\%}},$$

by normalizing the difference between $D_{2\%}$ and $D_{98\%}$ with $D_{50\%}^{16)}$.

 $V_{95\%}$, $D_{95\%}$, and $D_{\rm max}$ of the semiautomatic FIF and original plans and those of the semiautomatic FIF and manual FIF plans were statistically compared. Since these data did not follow a normal distribution, the Wilcoxon signed-rank test was performed using the JMP software (version 12.2.0; SAS Institute Inc., USA). A *P*-value of <0.05 was accepted as significant.

Measurement of the processing time for creating the sub-beams and adjusting the weights

The manual FIF creation time was measured with a stopwatch from the start of FIF creation to the end of the dose calculation. The elapsed time between the opening of the original plan in the TPS and the final dose calculation was measured in the automatic FIF script. The processing time included the time for creating sub-beams, adjusting the beam weights, and dose calculation.

Results

Comparison of dose indices and processing time

A total of 21 cases resulted in FIF and one case in FIF-4SF. Figure 6a-e shows the box plots of $V_{105\%}$, $V_{95\%}$, $D_{95\%}$, D_{\max} , and HI in the original, manual FIF, and semiautomatic FIF plans. The creation



Figure 6 The box plots for (a) $V_{105\%}$, (b) $V_{95\%}$, (c) $D_{95\%}$, (d) D_{max} , and (e) HI in the original, manual field-in-field (FIF), and semiautomatic FIF plans. The box plot for the processing time in the manual FIF and semiautomatic FIF plans is also presented in (f). p indicates P-values for the Wilcoxon signed-rank test.

times for the FIF plans are presented in Figure 6f. In manual FIF and semiautomatic FIF plans, $V_{105\%}$ decreased by almost 100% compared with the original plans, as shown in Figure 6a. This indicates that the hotspot region above $D_{\rm th}$ almost disappeared when using the semiautomatic FIF technique. $V_{95\%}$ values on average (± one standard deviation) for the original, manual FIF, and semiautomatic FIF plans were $99.4 \pm 0.3\%$, $99.3 \pm 0.3\%$, and $99.4 \pm 0.3\%$, respectively (Figure 6b). Similarly, $D_{95\%}$ values on average for the original, manual FIF, and semiautomatic FIF plans were $99.6 \pm 0.5\%$, 99.2 \pm 0.6%, and 99.4 \pm 0.5%, respectively (Figure 6c). $D_{\rm max}$ values on average for the original, manual FIF, and semiautomatic FIF plans were 107.3 \pm 1.1%, $105.0 \pm 0.1\%$, and $105.1 \pm 0.1\%$, respectively (Figure 6d). The HIs values on average for the original, manual FIF, and semiautomatic FIF plans were $8.2 \pm 0.8\%$, $6.6 \pm 0.8\%$, and $6.6 \pm 0.7\%$, respectively (Figure 6e).

The paired Wilcoxon signed-rank test indicated

that there were significant differences in $V_{105\%}$, $V_{95\%}$, $D_{95\%}$, and $D_{\rm max}$ in the original and manual FIF plans compared with those in the semiautomatic FIF plans. There was also significant difference in HI in the original plans compared with that in the semiautomatic FIF plans.

The semiautomatic FIF planning times, which were defined as the processing times by the automatic FIF script to generate the sub-beams and dose calculations, were 25-29 s for FIF (Step 1) and 41 s for FIF-4SF (Step 2). The average time including FIF and FIF-4SF was 28 ± 4 s. The processing time for the semiautomatic FIF plan technique significantly decreased by 207 ± 84 s compared with that for the manual FIF plans (Figure 6f).

Comparison of dose distribution

Figure 7 shows a typical example of the dose distributions in the (a) original, (b) manual FIF, and (c) semiautomatic FIF plans for the case in



Figure 7 Dose distributions of the original, manual field-in-field (FIF), and semiautomatic FIF plans for case no. 22. (a) Field shape and dose distributions of the original plan. The upper, middle, and lower panels show the field shape, 3D dose distribution in the beam's eye view, and 2D dose distribution in a slice, respectively. The slice position is shown in the middle panel with a white dotted line. (b) Same as (a) but for the manual FIF plan. (c) Same as (a) but for the FIF plan in Step 1 (FIF). In the 2D dose distributions, the yellow lines are the 100% isodose lines, and the pink lines are the 105% isodose lines. The doses are relative to the prescribed dose.

Step 1. As shown by the dose distributions in the axial plane in Figure 7a and 6c, the 100% isodose line did not change in Step 1 even after the hotspot region exceeding 105% of the prescription dose disappeared using the semiautomatic FIF technique. The dose distributions for the manual and FIF plans were almost the same, as indicated in

Figure 7b and c. The dose volume histograms (DVHs) of the PTV of the original, manual FIF, and FIF plans are shown in Figure 8a. D_{max} remarkably decreased in the manual FIF and FIF plans, while there was almost no change in $D_{95\%}$.

One case was categorized into Step 2 in this study. Figure 9 shows the dose distributions in the



Figure 8 Dose volume histograms (DVHs) of planning target volume (PTV) in the original, manual field-infield (FIF), and semiautomatic FIF plans. (a) DVHs of PTV in the original (dashed line), manual FIF (dotted line), and two-sub-beam FIF plans in Step 1 (solid line). (b) DVHs of the PTV in the original (dashed line), manual FIF (dotted line), FIF (solid line), and four-sub-beam FIF plans in Step 2 (FIF-4SF, dashed-dotted line).



Figure 9 Dose distributions of the original, manual field-in-field (FIF), and semiautomatic FIF plans with the different numbers of sub-beams (FIF and FIF-4SF). (a) Field shape and dose distributions of the original plan. The upper, middle, and lower panels show the field shape, 3D dose distribution in the beam's eye view, and 2D dose distribution in a slice, respectively. The slice position is indicated in the middle panel with a white dashed line. (b) Same as (a) but it is for the manual FIF plan. (c) Same as (a) but it is for the two-sub-beam FIF plan in the Step 1 (FIF). (d) Same as (a) but it is for the four-sub-beam FIF plan in the Step 2 (FIF-4SF). In the 2D dose distributions, the yellow lines are the 100% isodose lines, and the pink lines are the 105% isodose lines. The doses are relative to the prescribed dose.

(a) original, (b) manual FIF, (c) FIF, and (d) FIF-4SF plans for this case. The FIF plan was rejected because the reduction in $D_{95\%}$ was >1% (1.6%), and Step 2 was performed. Figure 9d shows the dose distribution in the FIF-4SF plan. In the dose distributions of the manual FIF and FIF plans (Figure 9b and c), a low-dose region appeared in the field edge of the sub-beam. As shown in the axial image in Figure 9c, the 100% dose region in the FIF plan was smaller than that in the original plan. In the dose distribution in FIF-4SF (Figure 9d), the dose reduction around the field edge of the sub-beam was small compared with the dose distribution in the FIF plan.

Comparing the DVHs of the manual FIF, FIF, and FIF-4SF plans in Figure 8b, the maximum dose region that corresponds to the tail part of the DVHs is nearly similar in the three FIF plans. By increasing the number of sub-beams from two to four in the FIF-4SF plan, $D_{95\%}$ became close to the corresponding values in the original plan. The reduction of $D_{95\%}$ from the original plan was 1.6% in the FIF plan, and 0.7% in the FIF-4SF plan.

Discussion

In this study, sub-beam creation and weight adjustment in FIF treatment planning were automated. These are the time-consuming parts in the FIF treatment planning and require ≥ 6 min if performed manually, as shown in Figure 6. The automatic script can be started with one click and requires <2 min, and reduces the burden on the treatment planner. Comparing the semiautomatic FIF and manual FIF plans, there was no significant difference in the HI; there were significant differences in $V_{95\%}$ and $D_{95\%}$. However, the differences of $V_{95\%}$ and $D_{95\%}$ were small. Thus, we found that the semiautomatic planning script could create the FIF plans almost equivalent to the manual FIF plans.

If a TPS has a scriptable interface, the proposed method can be easily introduced into the TPS. In this study, we adopted the change in $D_{95\%}$ as the criterion for selecting the FIF technique. The criterion can be easily modified by adjusting the parameters in the automatic FIF planning script, depending on the treatment site and protocol of each institution. The threshold value for the hotspot regions and number of sub-beams can also be changed. For example, if $D_{\rm th}$ is lowered, both $D_{\rm max}$ and $D_{95\%}$ will decrease. If the reduction of $D_{95\%}$ is acceptable, lowered $D_{\rm th}$ can be used. In this study, $D_{\rm th}$ was taken as 105% of the prescribed dose to make the maximum dose less than 107% of the prescribed dose considering the ICRU recommendation. $D_{\rm th}$ can be changed by considering a balance between $D_{\rm max}$ and $D_{95\%}$. In this study, the beam energies of the sub-beams were the same as those of the main beams (10 MV). The use of different energies for the sub-beams can be easily implemented and may improve the dose distribution.

Semiautomatic FIF planning was performed for the WBI cases, which were previously treated with the two-lateral-opposing-field technique. In the treatment plans with two-lateral-opposing technique, hotspot regions appeared in the frontal and occipital lobes, which are laterally thin parts of the brain^{2, 4)}. Although there were significant differences in $V_{95\%}$ and $D_{95\%}$ between the original and semiautomatic FIF treatment plans, the average decreases in $V_{95\%}$ and $D_{95\%}$ were 0.1% and 0.4%, respectively. The effect of the reductions in $V_{95\%}$ and $D_{95\%}$ is expected to cause minimal deterioration of the quality of the semiautomatic FIF plans.

In this study, we adopted a 2–Step schema to select FIF technique. In the two–step FIF scheme, the number of sub–beams was increased from two to four to improve dose coverage of PTV, when the reduction in $D_{95\%}$ was >1%. One case resulted in the FIF-4SF plan. The reduction of $D_{95\%}$ compared with those in the original plan were 1.6% in the FIF plan. In the FIF-4SF plan, the reduction became 0.7% by increasing sub–beams. This indicates that the two–step FIF scheme can individualize the complexity of a treatment plan (beam number) depending on a patient.

The monitor unit (MU) for sub-beams becomes small by increasing the number of sub-beams. In the FIF plans, the weight of the main beam and sub-beam on the average was 0.979 ± 0.010 and 0.021 ± 0.010 , respectively. In the manual FIF plans, the weight of the main beam and sub-beam on the average was 0.975 ± 0.011 and 0.036 ± 0.046 . In the FIF-4SF plan, the weights of the main beams, first sub-beams, and second sub-beams were 0.973, 0.013, and 0.014, respectively. Small MU may cause dose uncertainty. To avoid the dose uncertainty due to small MU, the algorithm to limit the minimum MU is easily implemented in the automatic FIF script.

The average processing times were 27 s and 41 s for the FIF and FIF-4SF plans, respectively.

A longer time was required to create the FIF-4SF plan than the FIF plan. The average time of the 3 D dose calculation for the FIF plans was 19 s and the calculation time of the 3D dose calculation for the FIF-4SF plan was 28 s. The difference in the processing time was mainly explained by the time for the 3D dose calculation.

We used WBI cases to demonstrate the feasibility of the proposed method. Because the proposed method only requires a conventional plan without sub-beams as the input, it can be easily applied to other treatment sites, such as the whole breast¹²⁾ and esophagus.

Kim et al. reported on FIF planning automation for whole-breast irradiation¹²⁾. They used the ESAPI in their automatic technique. In their method, information of the original plan was exported to an executable program outside the TPS in the DICOM and DICOM-RT formats. In their method, the MLC shapes and beam weights for the sub-beams were calculated and automatically imported into the TPS. Using their method, FIF plans with the same quality as those manually created were obtained. We used almost the same approach as that of Kim et al., but our procedures can be performed within the TPS. Furthermore, we implemented several steps to personalize the treatment plan to the patient.

Yu et al. implemented an automated MLC shaping technique for WBI using deep learning. They could produce dose distribution almost equivalent to manually produced treatment plans. They used the two-opposing-lateral-field technique and obtained relatively high maximum dose of approximately 110%. By combining their technique with ours, a fully automated treatment plan for WBI can be realized.

By automating the sub-beam shape and adjusting the weight, these processes can be standardized¹⁷⁾. The manual shaping of sub-beams and adjustment of beam weights depend on the skill and preference of the treatment planners. The automation of FIF planning can reduce the variability originated from the skill and preference of the treatment planners and the possibility of human error. However, because the transition from manual to automated planning can potentially lead to systematic errors that are difficult to detect¹⁸⁾, the final verification must be performed by humans.

A limitation of the present study is all manual FIF plans were created by one physicist. The processing time and the quality of the FIF plans probably depend on the experience of treatment planners. In this study, the similar plans were obtained for the manual and automatic FIF planning. One reason of this similarity is probably that a single person made the manual FIF plans. The manual plans would diverge from the automatic FIF plans if multiple persons created the manual plans. However, the indication that the automatic FIF creation reduces the burden of the treatment planners is still valid because the sub-beam creation and weight adjustment are automatically performed.

We developed a semiautomatic FIF planning method and implemented it in a TPS. By applying it to WBI, we confirmed that the semiautomatic FIF technique could reduce hotspot regions with a slight change in the PTV coverage compared with the original plan. When combined with a selection of an FIF scheme individualized to each patient, its performance was equal to or better than the manual FIF plan.

Acknowledgments

Not applicable.

Funding

This study was funded by JSPS KAKENHI (grant number JP15K08702).

Author contributions

HW, SS, TK, HN, TI, CK, KU, JT and KS participated in the study design and data interpretation. Satoru Sugimoto performed manual treatment planning. KK participated in treatment planning data collection. HW wrote the draft manuscript. SS, TI, JT and KS reviewed and revised the draft and final manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of interest statement

There are no conflicts of interest in relation to this study.

References

1) Smith T, Batko-Yovino S: The current status of pallia-

tive care and radiotherapy. In: Lutz S, Chow E, Hoskin P, eds. Radiation Oncology in Palliative Cancer Care. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, 2013: 81–94.

- 2) Watson G, Marshall MG, Dezam WA, Bourland JD, Shaw EG: Central nervous system tumors. In: Levitt SH, Khan FM, Potish RA, Perez CA, eds. Technological Basis of Radiation Therapy: Clinical Applications. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins, 1999: 223–241.
- Chao JH, Phillips R, Nickson JJ: Roentgen-ray therapy of cerebral metastases. Cancer, 1954; 7: 682–689.
- Budiyono T, Budi WS, Hidayanto E: Treatment planning systems for external whole brain radiation therapy: with and without MLC (multi leaf collimator) optimization. J Phys Conf Ser, 2016; 694: 1–6.
- Allisy A, Kellerer A, Caswell R, *et al*: ICRU Report 50. J ICRU, 1993, os26.
- 6) Sawada M, Kuneda E, Akiba T, *et al*: Dosimetric study of whole brain irradiation with high-energy photon beams for dose reduction to the scalp. Br J Radiol, 2020; 93: 20200159.
- 7) Prabhakar RV, Julka PK, Rath GK: Can field-in-field technique replace wedge filter in radiotherapy treatment planning: a comparative analysis in various treatment sites. Australas Phys Eng Sci Med, 2008; 31: 317–324.
- 8) Furuya T, Sugimoto S, Kurokawa C, Ozawa S, Karasawa K, Sasai K: The dosimetric impact of respiratory breast movement and daily setup error on tangential whole breast irradiation using conventional wedge, field-in-field and irregular surface compensator techniques. J Radiat Res, 2013; 54: 157–165.
- 9) Borghero YO, Salehpour M, McNeese MD, et al: Multileaf field-in-field forward-planned intensity-modulated dose compensation for whole-breast irradiation is associated with reduced contralateral breast dose: a

phantom model comparison. Radiother Oncol, 2007; 82: 324–328.

- 10) Chen GP, Ahunbay E, Li XA: Automated computer optimization for 3D treatment planning of breast irradiation. Med Phys, 2008; 35: 2253–2258.
- 11) Kisling K, Zhang L, Simonds H, *et al*: Fully automatic treatment planning for external-beam radiation therapy of locally advanced cervical cancer: a tool for lowresource clinics. J Glob Oncol, 2019; 5: 1–9.
- 12) Kim H, Kwak J, Jung J, *et al*: Automated field-In-field (FIF) plan framework combining scripting application programming interface and user-executed program for breast forward IMRT. Technol Cancer Res Treat, 2018; 17: 1533033818810391.
- 13) Sheng Y, Li T, Yoo S, *et al*: Automatic planning of whole breast radiation therapy using machine learning models. Front Oncol, 2019; 9: 750.
- 14) Yu J, Goh Y, Song KJ, *et al*: Feasibility of automated planning for whole brain radiation therapy using deep learning. J Appl Clin Med Phys, 2021; 22: 184–190.
- 15) Fogliata A, Nicolini G, Vanetti E, Clivio A, Cozzi L: Dosimetric validation of the anisotropic analytical algorithm for photon dose calculation: fundamental characterization in water. Phys Med Biol, 2006; 51: 1421–1438.
- Grégoire V, Mackie T, De Neve W, *et al*: ICRU Report 83. J ICRU, 2010; 10: 1–106.
- 17) Wang H, Xing L: Application programming in C# environment with recorded user software interactions and its application in autopilot of VMAT/IMRT treatment planning. Accid Anal Prev, 2016; 17: 189–203.
- 18) Le AH, Stojadinovic S, Timmerman R, *et al*: Real-time whole brain radiation therapy: a single-institution experience. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 2018; 100: 1280–1288.

Reviews

Juntendo Medical Journal 2022. 68(4), 387-392



Sports and Kinetic Visual Acuity

KEISUKE SAWAKI¹⁾, YOSHIMITSU KOHMURA¹⁾, KAZUHIRO AOKI¹⁾, MITSURU NAKAMURA¹⁾, SHIGEKI MURAKAMI^{1, 2)}, YOSHIO SUZUKI¹⁾

¹⁾Faculty of Health and Sports Science, Juntendo University, Chiba, Japan ²⁾Murakami Eye Clinic, Kumamoto, Japan

Kinetic vision acuity (KVA) is an index developed in Japan that refers to the capacity to recognize a moving object that moves back and forth against the observer. This review outlines the history of KVA and studies on KVA conducted at the Faculty of Health and Sports Science of Juntendo University, i.e. characteristics of KVA in athletes, factors associated with KVA, sports and age-dependent decline of KVA, and effects of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and astaxanthin on KVA. KVA was defined in the early 1960s, and the measurement device was invented in 1968. Studies at the Faculty of Health and Sports Science began in the 1990s. In track-and-field athletics and skeleton, a winter downhill event, higher-ranked athletes had higher KVA than lower-ranked athletes. Although KVA cannot be predicted from static visual acuity or reaction time, a significant correlation was found between KVA and the peak latency of visual-evoked potentials. KVA could not be improved by training and did not change between age of 8 and 17 years. In contrast, habitual practice in kendo may inhibit the agedependent decline in KVA. DHA may also improve KVA in subjects with low KVA; however, astaxanthin did not improve KVA.

Key words: kinetic vision acuity, dynamic visual acuity, athletics

Introduction

The ability to recognize a moving object differs from that to recognize a stationary object. Kinetic vision acuity (KVA) is an index developed in Japan to measure the ability to recognize moving objects that move back and forth against the observer. Since the 1990s, studies on the relationship between KVA and sports have been conducted at Juntendo University Faculty of Health and Sports Science. However, the overall results remain obscure because they were published in various journals mostly in Japanese. Therefore, this review outlines the history of KVA developed in Japan and studies conducted at the Faculty of Health and Sports Science of Juntendo University, i.e. characteristics of KVA in athletes, factors associated with KVA, sports and age-dependent decline of KVA, and effects of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and astaxanthin on KVA.

Brief history of KVA

The representative capacity to recognize moving objects includes dynamic visual acuity (DVA) and KVA. DVA is the ability to recognize objects moving in all directions, including left, right, up, and down when the object, the observer, or both, are moving, at an equal distance from the observer. In 1949, Ludvigh showed that stationary objects are more clearly visible than moving ones¹⁾. Moreover, in 1953, he reported that the DVA decreased as the angular velocity of the test object moving in

Faculty of Health and Sports Science, Juntendo University

1-1, Hirakagakuendai, Inzai, Chiba 270-1695, Japan

Corresponding author: Keisuke Sawaki

TEL: +81-476-98-1001 FAX: +81-476-98-1011 E-mail: ksawaki@juntendo.ac.jp

⁽Received Apr. 28, 2022) [Accepted Jun. 13, 2022]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Aug. 2, 2022

Copyright © 2022 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ22-0019-R

the horizontal plane increased from 10 to 170 deg/ sec. There was also a significant difference in DVA in subjects with almost the same static visual acuity (SVA)²⁾. A recent review summarizes the characteristics of DVA in comparison with SVA³⁾. In Japan, Kowa (Nagoya, Japan) launched the first DVA-measuring device HI-10 in 1998. The device had been mainly used under the guidance of the Japan Sports Vision Association although it is no longer manufactured and sold.

Hagino et al. of Nagoya University began vigorous research on the ability to recognize moving objects in the 1950s⁴⁾. Suzumura defined KVA as the ability to recognize an object moving back and forth in the distance against the observer^{4,5)}. Suzumura invented a device to measure KVA in 1968⁶⁾. The device, AS-4A, was launched by Kowa (Nagoya, Japan) in 1966 and has been mainly used in Japan as a tool for driving education for automobile drivers. Currently, the AS-4F*a* (Figure 1), the successor to the AS-4A (Kowa, Nagoya, Japan), is available, which identifies KVA as the ability to recognize the Landolt ring approaching the observer from 50 m from the front at 30 km/h (Figure 2).

To recognize a moving object accurately, it is necessary to quickly catch the object near the central fossa, adjust it, and bring it into focus. Moving objects are usually more difficult to see clearly than stationary ones; therefore, KVA does not exceed SVA. Suzumura has clarified that (1) KVA decreases as the speed of the target increases, (2) individual variability in KVA is large, (3)



Figure 1 Kinetic visual acuity tester AS-4F*a* (Kowa, Nagoya, Japan)

decline in KVA cannot be perceived, and (4) decline in KVA is unrelated to SVA⁷⁾.

DVA is widely used in Europe and the United States, whereas KVA is mainly used in Japan. In PubMed, search results for "dynamic visual acuity" included 349 papers, 266 of which were published in 2001 or later. Meanwhile, search results for "kinetic visual acuity" included 31 papers, only 5 of which were published in 2001 or later (searched on February 2, 2022). The large difference in the number of papers can be attributed to KVA being developed in Japan and many previously published studies being in Japanese.

KVA of athletes

In 1974, Sanderson et al. reported a significant



Figure 2 Schema to measure kinetic visual acuity. A Landolt ring is approaching from front at a constant speed. The observer discerns the direction of the break as early (far) as possible. This ability is measured as kinetic visual acuity.

correlation between DVA and ball-catching performance and an absence of significant correlation between DVA and SVA⁸⁾. In healthy young adults, those who engage in sports activities were found to have better DVA than those who do not⁹⁾.

In Japan, the relationship between KVA and the batting ability of baseball players was reported at the annual meeting of the Japanese Society of Physical Education in 1971¹⁰⁾. However, there were no reports on the relationship of KVA with sports for the next 20 years. In 1992, Ishigaki et al. reported that in top-level Japanese basketball, volleyball, soccer, and baseball players, athletes with a higher competitive ability also had higher KVA¹¹. In 1995, people who played tennis continuously for more than 7 years were reported to have better KVA than those with no sports history¹²⁾. In addition, at the 1996 annual meeting Japan Society of Physical Education, Health and Sport Sciences, a professional baseball team case study reported that KVA was higher in regular players than in second-unit players when they joined the team $^{13)}$.

Studies on KVA at Juntendo University's School of Sports and Health Science began in 1996 with the DHA study by Sawaki & Yoshigi et al. described in "Effects of DHA and astaxanthin on KVA" below. Sakuma et al. investigated the SVA and KVA of male college track-and-field athletes and found that both SVA and KVA were higher in athletes engaged in steeplechase, jump, and mixed events than in short-, middle-, and long-distance runners and throwers and that SVA and KVA are higher in athletes with higher competitive ability¹⁴⁾. Aoki et al. investigated elite male pole vaulters and long jumpers and reported that there was no difference in KVA between pole vaulters and long jumpers and that the top competitive pole vaulters had higher SVA and KVA than the bottom pole vaulters¹⁵⁾. In addition. Inoue et al. compared the skeleton athletes competing in international sledding competitions and lower group competing in the Japanese National Championships to find that KVA was significantly higher in the upper group than in the lower group, whereas no difference was seen in SVA¹⁶⁾.

Factors associated with KVA

Sado et al. examined the SVA and KVA of freshmen of the Faculty of Health and Sports Health Science whose SVA was 1.0 or higher¹⁷⁾. The number

of subjects was 92 (78 men and 14 women aged between 18 and 20 years). SVA was greater than 1.0, whereas KVA ranged from 0.12 to 1.30. KVA could not be estimated from SVA although there was a weak but significant positive correlation between SVA and KVA (r = 0.486 in the right eye, r = 0.490 in the left eye, and r = 0.384 in both eyes)¹⁷.

Kohmura et al. determined the association between KVA and reaction time. The reaction time, often used in sports science, reflects the ability to identify and respond quickly to visual cues. However, the correlation between KVA and reaction time was not apparent^{18, 19)}. Yoshigi et al. also analyzed the relationship between KVA and each component of visual-evoked potential and found a significant correlation between KVA and the peak latency of visual-evoked potentials; the better the KVA, the shorter the peak latency²⁰⁾.

Studies have been reported on the effects of training on KVA in baseball players. Kohmura et al. conducted an 8-week training experiment wherein college baseball players were trained to look at the ball at the batter's box or to use commercially available software for visual function training. KVA was not improved by either training although some effects on visual function were observed²¹⁾. A subsequent study with junior high school students also revealed that training did not improve KVA²²⁾.

Kohmura et al. studied 867 men and women aged 8–17 years and reported that DVA developed gradually with age, but KVA did not change from age 8 to 17 years²³⁾. Therefore, KVA is expected to reach almost the same level as adults by the age of 8 years²³⁾.

As described above, KVA has a large individual variation, may not be improved by training, and matures up to 8 years old, KVA could be available for finding talent in the junior period in sports.

Sports and age-related decline of KVA

Nakamura et al. compared young and elderly kendo players (n = 30) with age-matched nonathletes (n = 30) and found that KVA significantly decreased with age, whereas contrast sensitivity, eye movement, and instantaneous visual acuity were not affected by age or exercise habits²⁴⁾. At the same time, kendo players had a higher KVA than nonathletes (p < 0.01) when comparing ten young subjects each²⁴⁾. Age-related decline in KVA has also been observed in young and middleaged soccer players (n = 44) and in nonathletes of the same age group (n = 45)²⁵⁾. Recently, Kudo et al. reported kendo players (n = 41; 35.4 ± 15.7 years, range 19–65 years) had significantly higher KVA (p < 0.01) than nonexercisers (n = 65; 38.1 ± 17.1 years, range 19–71 years)²⁶⁾.

Therefore, KVA declines with age, and training habits to gaze at moving objects, such as kendo, may suppress the age-related decline. However, the effect of sports remains unclear.

Effects of DHA and astaxanthin on KVA

DHA is an n-3 fatty acid found in the retina and the brain's gray matter²⁷⁾. In 1993, artificial milk containing fish oil was reported to improve visual acuity in preterm infants up to the fourth month of life²⁸⁾. This research led to the study of the effect of DHA on KVA.

In 1997, Sawaki et al. reported a randomized, double-blind study to examine the effects of DHA (1,500 mg/d) for 35 consecutive days in 44 male collegiate athletes and baseball players with an SVA of 1.0 or higher²⁹⁾. DHA intake significantly increased KVA from 0.87 \pm 0.24 to 0.97 \pm 0.21 (p < 0.01) but did not change SVA. The improvement was greater in participants with low KVA before intervention. No change was observed in the control group (equal amounts of soybean oil)²⁹⁾.

To confirm the results of Sawaki et al.²⁹⁾, Ishigaki et al. conducted a double-blind study of DHA (1,500 mg/d) for 30 consecutive days in 20 university long-distance runners and 12 fencing players³⁰⁾. The mean SVA significantly increased from 1.21 to 1.32 in the DHA group (p < 0.05), whereas there was no significant change in the placebo (safflower oil) group. The mean KVA improved from 0.65 to 0.69 in the DHA group, but not significant³⁰⁾.

Subsequently, another study was conducted with 55 college athletes as participants: 8 tennis players, 18 volleyball players, 15 track-and-field athletes, and 14 baseball players (47 men and 8 women)³¹⁾. A total of 28 participants did not take orthoptics, whereas 25 and 2 of them used contact lenses and glasses, respectively. DHA (1,500 mg/d) was given for 35 consecutive days, and their visual acuity was measured before and after the intervention. There were no significant differences in SVA and KVA between the groups (25 and 26 in the DHA and

control groups, respectively). Low-contrast visual acuity improved in the DHA group but not in the control group (p < 0.05). When preintervention KVA was stratified by LogMAR = 0.3 (decimal acuity 0.5), subjects with lower preintervention KVA improved in the DHA group (n = 10) but not in the control group (n = 13; between-group comparison, p < 0.05). Therefore, DHA may improve KVA in subjects with low KVA³¹⁾.

Sawaki et al. also determined the effect of astaxanthin. A total of 18 male collegiate handball players ingested astaxanthin (6 mg/d, n = 9) or placebo (n = 9) for 4 weeks. No significant improvement was observed on SVA, KVA, or KVA/SVA³²⁾.

Summary

This review aimed to outline the history of KVA followed by the studies on KVA conducted at Juntendo University Faculty of Health and Sports Science. Suzumura defined KVA as the ability to recognize an object moving back and forth in the distance against the observer, and invented a device to measure KVA. Studies on KVA has been conducted at Juntendo University Faculty of Health and Sports Science since 1990s. Athletes who require great attention to moving objects have a higher KVA. Further, athletes at higher levels of competition have higher KVA. The relationship of KVA to simple reaction time is unclear. In contrast, some studies suggest a correlation between KVA and peak latency of visual-evoked potentials. However, the mechanism to determine KVA requires more investigations. Alternatively, KVA represents a potential tool for discovering junior sports talent as it cannot be improved by training after 8 years old. Moreover, KVA declines with age although habitual exercise that requires a clear, quick vision of a moving object may suppress the age-related decline of KVA. In addition, DHA may improve KVA in subjects with low KVA. As described above, KVA is a unique visual acuity distinct from SVA. However, further studies are necessary to determine the practical application of KVA.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the editorial board of Juntendo Medical Journal for encouraging us to prepare this review. The authors would also like to thank Kowa (Nagoya, Japan) for providing information on the history and current status of measuring instruments in Japan and the picture of AS-4F*a*. In addition, the authors appreciate Enago (www.enago.jp) for the manuscript review and editing support.

Funding

The authors received no financial support for the research.

Author contributions

K.S. conceptualized this review. Y.K., K.A., and Y.S. searched and screened literatures to review.

Y.K., K.A., M.N., S.M., and Y.S. summarized the literatures. Y.K. and Y.S. wrote the draft manuscript. K.S., Y.K., and Y.S. reviewed and edit the manuscript. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of interest statement

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

References

- Ludvigh EJ: Visual acuity while one is viewing a moving object. Arch Ophthalmol (Chicago, Ill 1929), 1949; 42: 14–22.
- Ludvigh E, Miller JW: A Study of Dynamic Visual Acuity.; 1953. https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/AD00 15173. Accessed March 9, 2022.
- Quevedo L, Antonio Aznar-Casanova J, Da Silva JA: Dynamic visual acuity. Trends Psychol, 2018; 26: 1283– 1297.
- Hagino R, Suzumura A, Nomura A: Influence of some retinal stimuli on accommodation Analysis of the mechanism of visual fatigue. Nagoya J Med Sci, 1954; 17: 353–374.
- Suzumura A: Studies on kinetic visual acuity. Fatigue and kinetic visual acuity. Nihon Ganka Kiyo, 1961; 12: 820–825.
- Suzumura A: Studies on the kinetic visual acuity. Annu Rep Res Inst Environ Med Nagoya Univ, 1962; 10: 7–31.
- Suzumura A: Variation of visual perception of spatial objects and development of perceptual aptitude. J Japanese Ophthalmol Soc. 1971; 75: 1974–2006.
- Sanderson FH, Whiting HTA: Dynamic visual acuity and performance in a catching task. J Mot Behav, 1974; 6: 87–94.
- 9) Koide Y, Ueki Y, Asai Y, *et al*: Differences in postural stability and dynamic visual acuity among healthy young adults in relation to sports activity: a cross sectional study. J Phys Ther Sci, 2019; 31: 53–56.
- 10) Ohkita F, Kagami M, Takamiya Y: A study on baseball batting (1): Relationship between meet and kinetic visual acuity. Res J Phys Educ, 1971; 15: 215.
- 11) Ishigaki H, Masimo I, Endo F: The relation between visual functions of sports player of top level in Japan

and the athletic ability. Bull Aichi Inst Technol A, 1992; 27: 43-47.

- 12) Edagawa H, Endou F: A study of kinetic visual acuity in athletes. J eye (Atarashii Ganka), 1995; 12: 141-143.
- 13) Ishigaki H, Ishibashi H, Anan T, Mashita I: Relationship between sports vision ability at the time of joining a certain professional baseball team and subsequent athletic performance. Japanese J Phys Fit Sport Med, 1996; 45:885.
- 14) Sakuma K, Aoki K, Yoshigi H, Kaneko K, Katahira M, Sawaki K: The study of the dynamic vision on the track and field athletes. Res Q Athl, 1997; 30: 31–35.
- 15) Aoki K, Yoshigi H, Sakuma K, Sawaki K: A study on the dynamic vision of jumpers in track and field. Res Q Athl, 1998; 35: 25–30.
- 16) Inoue M, Arai T, Suzuki S, Sekioka Y: A study on the dynamic vision of skeleton sliders. Sendai Daigaku Daigakuin Sport Kagaku Kenkyuka Ronbunshu, 2004; 5: 55-61.
- 17) Sado K, Kanai J, Yoshigi H, Nakajima N, Sawaki K: Kinetic visual acuity in college students attending the school of sports health science. J Japanese Soc Clin Sport Med, 2001; 9: 407–412.
- 18) Kohmura Y, Yoshigi H, Sakuraba K, Honda K, Aoki K: Kinetic visual acuity and reaction time in male college students. Hum Perform Meas, 2007; 4: 25–30.
- 19) Kohmura Y, Yoshigi H: Present conditions and problems on measurement and evaluation of sports vision. Japan J Test Eval Phys Educ Sport, 2004; 4: 37-43.
- 20) Yoshigi H, Kohmura Y, Tanaka M, Mizota A: The relationship between vertical kinetic visual acuity and visual evoked potential. Juntendo Med J, 2007; 53: 615–621.
- Kohmura Y, Yoshigi H: Training effects of visual function on college baseball players. Hum Perform Meas, 2004; 1: 15–23.
- 22) Kohmura Y, Aoki K, Yoshigi H, Sakuraba K, Nakamaru S: Effects of visual training by tracking of a ball on dynamic visual acuity and batting performances in junior highschool baseball players. J Train Sci Exerc Sport, 2007; 19: 361–367.
- 23) Kohmura Y, Yoshigi H, Aoki K, Totsuka R: A study on the growth and development of kinetic visual acuity. Juntendo Med J, 2008; 54: 536.
- 24) Nakamura M, Tanaka M, Kudou D: Effects of aging and regular exercise on the visual functions. Juntendo Med J, 2005; 51: 153–159.
- 25) Nakamura M, Yoshimura M, Aoba Y, Nakano M, Shimazaki Y: The role of soccer in slowing the decline of visual function caused by aging: a study of young and middle-aged subjects. Hum Perform Meas, 2014; 11: 1-7.
- 26) Kudo D, Hiratsuka Y, Nakamura M, Uchida Y, Ono S, Murakami A: Optimal methods for estimating sports vision in kendo athletes. Sci Rep, 2021; 11: 315.
- 27) Comitini F, Peila C, Fanos V, Coscia A: The docosahexanoic acid: From the maternal-fetal dyad to early life toward metabolomics. Front Pediatr, 2020; 8: 538.
- 28) Carlson SE, Werkman SH, Rhodes PG, Tolley EA: Visual-acuity development in healthy preterm infants: effect of marine-oil supplementation. Am J Clin Nutr, 1993; 58: 35-42.
- 29) Sawaki K, Yoshigi H, Nakajima N, Sado K, Kanai J, Yazawa K: The effects on intake of docosahexaenic acid (DHA) on the dynamic vision of athletes. KISO

TO RINSHO Clin Rep, 1997; 31: 2667-2673.

- 30) Ishigaki H, Mashimo I, Morishige U, Shudo N: The effect of one month intake of DHA on visual functions of the athlete. Bull Aichi Inst Technol Part B, 2006; 41: 185–188.
- 31) Kohmura Y, Murakami S, Koshikawa K, et al: Effect of

DHA on visual performance of university athletes. J Japanese Soc Clin Sport Med, 2015; 23: 519–527.

32) Sawaki K, Yoshigi H, Aoki K, *et al*: Sports performance benefits from taking natural astaxanthin characterized by visual acuity and muscle fatigue. J Clin Ther Med, 2002; 18: 1085–1100.
Case Reports

Juntendo Medical Journal 2022. 68(4), 393-397



Histopathologic Features of Immune-related Adverse Events in the Gastrointestinal Tract: A Case of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 and Cytomegalovirus Infection in a Patient with Lung Squamous Cell Carcinoma Receiving Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

AKANE HASHIZUME¹⁾, HIROSHI IZUMI¹⁾, SHIGEKI TOMITA¹⁾,

TARO OSADA²⁾, SHINICHI SASAKI³⁾, TAKASHI YAO⁴⁾

¹⁾Department of Pathology, Juntendo University Urayasu Hospital, Chiba, Japan
 ²⁾Department of Gastroenterology, Juntendo University Urayasu Hospital, Chiba, Japan
 ³⁾Department of Internal Medicine and Respiratory, Juntendo University Urayasu Hospital, Chiba, Japan
 ⁴⁾Department of Human Pathology, Juntendo University Faculty of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan

In this article, we report the case of a patient with unresectable stage III squamous cell lung carcinoma who developed immune-related adverse events in the gastrointestinal tract following the administration of immune checkpoint inhibitors. The patient developed severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 pneumonia and cytomegalovirus gastritis during immunosuppressive therapy for an immune-related adverse event. Cytomegalovirus infection was managed with the administration of ganciclovir.

Key words: immunotherapy, adverse events, colitis, gastritis, cytomegalovirus

Introduction

Immune checkpoint inhibitors are commonly used for the treatment of advanced-stage malignancies. Despite their chance to achieve long-term efficacy, they may induce immune-related adverse events (irAEs). The main irAEs include endocrinopathies, hepatitis, interstitial pneumonia, skin lesions, mucosal inflammation, diarrhea, and colitis. Although most irAEs with severe toxicity are managed with immunosuppressive therapies, occasionally, they can induce infectious disease (e.g., cytomegalovirus infection). This report presents the case of a patient with lung squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) who developed gastrointestinal irAEs, as well as subsequent severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) and cyto-megalovirus infection.

Case report

A man in his seventies was referred to our hospital following the detection of a nodule in the right lung during a routine health examination. Transbronchial biopsy revealed the presence of SCC. (Figure 1A). The examination for epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutation, anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) translocation, and ROS1 proto-oncogene receptor tyrosine kinase (ROS1) mutations yielded negative results. The tumor proportion score of programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 (PD-L1) was 95% (Figure 1B). The patient was finally diagnosed with stage IIIA lung SCC, and

Corresponding author: Akane Hashizume

Department of Pathology, Juntendo University Urayasu Hospital

²⁻¹⁻¹ Tomioka, Urayasu, Chiba 279-0021, Japan

TEL: +81-47-353-3111 E-mail: akane@juntendo-urayasu.jp

This paper was presented at the 91st Meeting of the Japanese Society of Pathology Kanto.

[[]Received Feb. 2, 2022] [Accepted Apr. 4, 2022]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Jul. 14, 2022

Copyright © 2022 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ22-0004-CR

received concurrent radiation chemotherapy (i.e., carboplatin + paclitaxel + radiation with 60 Gy in 30 fractions). This treatment was followed by maintenance therapy with durvalumab at 2-week intervals. Six months after completion of first-line chemoradiotherapy, he received additional chemo-



Figure 1 Transbronchial biopsy of squamous cell carcinoma A) Hematoxylin and eosin staining $(\times 20)$.

- B) Immunohistochemical staining of PD-L1 (× 20).
- PD-L1, programmed cell death 1 ligand 1



Figure 2 Computed tomography, endoscopy, and histopathological findings of the colon A) Abdominal computed tomography shows bowel wall thickening.

- B) Mucosal erythema.
- C) Rectal mucosa with abundant inflammatory cells and atrophic crypt abscess (\times 20).
- D) Prominent crypt epithelial apoptosis $(\times 40)$.

therapy (i.e., nanoparticle albumin-bound paclitaxel + carboplatin + pembrolizumab) for lymph node recurrence. He reported severe diarrhea 10 days after the administration. Computed tomography imaging revealed bowel wall thickening (Figure 2A). He was diagnosed with grade 3 (Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events Version 5.0: CTCAE) immune-related colitis and treated with high-dose prednisolone (beginning with 2mg/kg/day and tapering to lower dosage gradually) and infliximab (5mg/kg). Following a limited improvement in abdominal symptoms, he underwent lower endoscopy examination. Colonoscopic findings showed inflammation of the entire colon with a reddish, oedematous mucosa (Figure 2B). Histologically, mixed inflammatory infiltrates with crypt abscesses were observed (Figure 2C). Moreover, increased apoptosis of crypt epithelial cells was observed (Figure 2D). Oral prednisolone (10 mg/day as a maintenance dose) was administered for the treatment of immune checkpoint inhibitor-





induced colitis.

The patient was infected with SARS-CoV-2 during radiation therapy for lymph node metastasis at eight-months after colitis onset. For the treatment of SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia, the patient received 20 mg/day prednisolone and remdesivir. Following recovery from SARS-CoV-2, the dose of prednisolone was tapered to 10 mg/day. He complained of abdominal pain after meals, and underwent endoscopy examination that revealed multiple gastric ulcers (Figure 3A). Histologically, a heavy inflammatory cell infiltrate throughout the mucosa was observed (Figure 3B). The presence of intraepithelial CD8-positive lymphocytes (Figure 3C) suggested an irAE. Atypical mesenchymal cells with an intranuclear inclusion body were found (Figure 4A). Immunohistochemical analysis for cytomegalovirus infection was positive (Figure 4B) and blood examination revealed C7-HRP positivity; hence, we the patient was diagnosed with cytomegalovirus infection. The administration of ganciclovir was effec-



Figure 3 Endoscopy and histopathological findings of the stomach

A) Multiple ulcers.

B) Gastritis with erosion $(\times 40)$.

C) CD8 immunohistological staining highlights the lymphocytes $(\times 40)$.



Figure 4 Atypical mesenchymal cells in gastric mucosa

A) Intranuclear inclusion body within the circle (\times 60).

B) Immunohistochemical staining with anti-cytomegalovirus antibody (× 40).

tive against cytomegalovirus gastritis.

Written informed consent was obtained from the patient.

Discussion

Immune checkpoint inhibitors are monoclonal antibodies that block inhibitors of T-cell activation and may cause autoimmune manifestations. The incidence of colitis in patients treated with anti-programmed cell death 1/PD-L1 (anti-PD-1/PD-L1) therapy is <5%¹⁾. Any grade irAEs have been reported to occur 32.9% of lung cancer patients treated with pembrolizumab²⁾. In this case, time on pembrolizmab prior to diarrhea was 10days; shorter than median time from PD-1 inhibitor initiation to irAE onset was 3months³⁾. The cause might be the first-line durvalumab. The endoscopic findings of intestinal irAE resemble those of ulcerative colitis⁴). Inflammatory changes in the entire colon, as noted in the present case, can be observed in patients with inflammatory bowel disease or infectious disease. The morphological changes associated with intestinal irAE are classified into four categories, namely active colitis with apoptosis, lymphocytic colitis, acute self-limiting colitis, and collagenous colitis^{5,6)}. The histopathologic differential diagnoses of intestinal irAE include inflammatory bowel disease, infectious disease, and other therapeutic effects^{4,5)}. Intraepithelial CD8-positive lymphocytosis is a key component in the pathogenesis of irAEs7).

The development of an irAE in immunosuppressed patients is associated with cytomegalovirus infec-

tion. Although there are some theories⁸⁻¹⁰⁾, the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection in patients receiving immune checkpoint inhibitors is currently unclear. A study demonstrated that the use of corticosteroids and/or anti-TNF drugs was a major risk factor for the development of infection among patients with melanoma who received immune checkpoint inhibitors¹¹⁾. In this case, it appears that the immunosuppressive agents contributed to SARS-CoV-2 and cytomegalovirus infection. Rectal biopsy using immunohistochemistry, performed at the time of discontinuation of prednisolone or infliximab, was negative for cytomegalovirus. Cytomegalovirus infection should be considered in cases in which a patient with an irAE develops resistance to immunosuppressive therapy. Eroded or cytomegalovirus-infected mucosa sometimes revealed atypical mesenchymal cells which should be distinct from malignancy. The distinction between gastrointestinal irAE and infection is important, because the treatment modalities for these conditions differ considerably. Sufficient clinical information is warranted for accurate pathological diagnosis.

As shown in this report, gastric irAE and cytomegalovirus infection can occur simultaneously during the treatment of colonic irAE. Hence, we should take notice of complication of irAEs and virus infection.

Acknowledgments

Not applicable.

Funding

The authors received no financial support for the research.

Author contributions

AH, HI, ST, and TY performed the histological evaluation; TO, SS performed data analysis and interpretation; AH, ST wrote the manuscript; and all authors approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of interest statement

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

References

- Johnson DB, Chandra S, Sosman JA: Immune Checkpoint Inhibitor Toxicity in 2018. JAMA, 2018; 320: 1702–1703.
- 2) Cortellini A, Friedlaender A, Banna GL, *et al*: Immunerelated Adverse Events of Pembrolizumab in a Large Real-world Cohort of Patients With NSCLC With a PD-L1 Expression ≥ 50% and Their Relationship With Clinical Outcomes. Clin Lung Cancer, 2020; 21: 498-508.
- 3) Gonzalez RS, Salaria SN, Bohannon CD, Huber AR, Feely MM, Shi C. PD-1 inhibitor gastroenterocolitis: case series and appraisal of 'immunomodulatory

gastroenterocolitis'. Histopathology, 2017; 70: 558-567.

- Yamauchi R, Araki T, Mitsuyama K, *et al*: The characteristics of nivolumab-induced colitis: an evaluation of three cases and a literature review. BMC Gastroenterology, 2018; 18: 135.
- 5) Chen JH, Pezhouh MK, Lauwers GY, Masia R: Histopathologic Features of Colitis Due to Immunotherapy With Anti-PD-1 Antibodies. Am J Surg Pathol, 2017; 41: 643-654.
- 6) Zhang ML, Neyaz A, Patil D, Chen J, Dougan M, Deshpande V: Immune-Related Adverse Events in the Gastrointestinal Tract: Diagnostic Utility of Upper Gastrointestinal Biopsies. Histopathology, 2020; 76: 233-243.
- Bavi P, Butler M, Serra S, Chetty R: Immune modulator-induced changes in the gastrointestinal tract. Histopathology, 2017; 71: 494-496.
- 8) Robilotti EV, Babady NE, Mead PA, *et al*: Determinants of COVID-19 disease severity in patients with cancer. Nat Med, 2020; 26: 1218-1223.
- 9) Garassino MC, Whisenant JG, Huang LC, *et al*: COVID-19 in patients with thoracic malignancies (TERA-VOLT): first results of an international, registry-based, cohort study. Lancet Oncol, 2020; 21: 914–922.
- Luo J, Rizvi H, Preeshagul IR, et al: COVID-19 in patients with lung cancer. Ann Oncol, 2020; 31: 1386– 1396.
- 11) Castillo MD, Romero FA, Argüello E, Kyi C, Postow MA, Redelman-Sidi G: The Spectrum of Serious Infections Among Patients Receiving Immune Checkpoint Blockade for the Treatment of Melanoma. Clin Infect Dis, 2016; 63: 1490–1493.

Case reports

Juntendo Medical Journal 2022. 68 (4), 398-404



Case Report and Minireview of the Literature on Blunt Azygos Injury

KEN-ICHI MURAMATSU¹), KEI JITSUIKI¹), SHUNKI HIRAYAMA²), YOUICHI YANAGAWA¹

Department of Acute Critical Care Medicine, Shizuoka Hospital, Juntendo University, Shizuoka, Japan
 Department of Thoracic Surgery, Shizuoka Hospital, Juntendo University, Shizuoka, Japan

Azygos vein injury seems to be an uncommon cause of hemothorax and hemomediastinum; however, this injury is potentially fatal. We report a fatal case of blunt azygos injury and a PubMed search was undertaken to identify English articles from 1989 to 2022 using the key words "azygos", "injury" and "blunt". We found 28 articles about blunt azygos injury and 39 patients including the present case (average 41.2 years [range: 18–81 years]; male, n=20; female, n=19). The other variables were as follows: right hemothorax (n=32); unstable circulation on arrival (n=32); and survival (n=19; unknown, n=2). These cases were divided into two groups based on the outcome: the survival group and the fatal group. There were no significant differences with regard to the year of the report, age, sex, rate of right rib fracture, rate of preoperative computed tomography (CT) examination, rate of associated injury, and rate of operation. The rate of shock on arrival in the survival group was significantly lower than that in the fatal group. The rate of azygos arch injury in the survival group was significantly greater than that in the fatal group. The rate of azygos vein injury as a possible cause of right hemothorax when a patient with blunt chest trauma presents persistent hypotension.

Key words: trauma, shock, azygos injury, outcome

Introduction

The azygos vein is located on the right side of the vertebral column and penetrates from the retroperitoneum through the diaphragm to join the superior vena cava at the T4 level¹⁾. Fracturedislocation of the mid-thoracic spine or ribs, as a result of blunt thoracic trauma, can tear the azygos vein¹⁾. The vein can also be torn, in the absence of skeletal injuries, by horizontal acceleration/deceleration forces¹⁾. Most reports of blunt trauma to the azygos vein in the relevant literature are related to motor vehicle collisions¹⁾. Patients frequently present with shock-like symptoms and expanding hemothorax, necessitating prompt surgical repair¹⁻²⁸⁾. Azygos vein injury seems to be an uncommon cause of hemothorax and hemomediastinum; however, this injury is potentially fatal. We herein report a fatal case of blunt azygos injury and a review of the relevant literature. The protocol of this retrospective study was approved by Juntendo Shizuoka Hospital review board (approval number: 298). We obtained oral informed consent from the bereaved.

Case presentation

A 63-year-old man fell from a 2nd floor veranda while leaning over a banister trying to catch a ladder. When emergency medical technicians checked him, he was in shock state with consciousness disturbance; thus, he was transported to our emergency room (ER) by ambulance within 20 minutes. He had a medical history of diabetes mellitus and colon cancer. On arrival, his vital signs

Corresponding author: Youichi Yanagawa

Department of Acute Critical Care Medicine, Shizuoka Hospital, Juntendo University

¹¹²⁹ Nagaoka, Izunokuni City, Shizuoka 410-2295, Japan

TEL: +81-55-948-3111 E-mail: yyanaga@juntendo.ac.jp

[[]Received Mar. 1, 2022] [Accepted Apr. 14, 2022]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Jul. 14, 2022

Copyright © 2022 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ22-0010-CR

were as follows: Glasgow Coma Scale, E4V3M6; blood pressure, 75/- mmHg; heart rate, 140 beats per minute; respiratory rate, 30 breaths per minute and percutaneous saturation, 98% under 10 L per minute of oxygen. A physical examination revealed a head contusion and weakness of the right respiratory sound. The chest roentgenography showed decreased radiolucency in the right lung field (Figure 1), suggesting right hemothorax. Focus assessment of sonography for trauma also showed fluid collection, which was limited to the right thoracic cavity. Initially, he underwent immediate massive transfusion without cross-matching and tracheal intubation following right thoracostomy, which drained over 1 L of hemorrhaging. As his blood pressure did not respond to massive transfusion, right thoracotomy was tentatively performed by young emergency physicians in order to pack gauze and achieve hemostasis around the pulmonary hilus, where blood was emerging without a hilar clamp, while the patient was in the supine position. However, his unstable circulation deteriorated. After closing the thoracotomy, he was moved to the computed tomography (CT) room and CT revealed hemorrhaging from the inferior azygos vein near a thoracic vertebral fracture (Figure 2) and right subdural hematoma. He experienced cardiac arrest after returning to the ER. A thoracic surgeon standing by at home attended the ER and explored the right thoracic cavity by opening the thoracotomy. The surgeon recognized an azygos arch injury and achieved hemostasis by gauze packing. The surgeon also performed manual



Figure 1 Chest X-ray on arrival The X-ray suggested right hemothorax.





Bleeding from the azygos arch was controlled (upper arrow) but hemorrhaging from the inferior azygos vein near the thoracic vertebral fracture remained (lower arrow).

compression at the hemorrhaging site of the inferior azygos vein, and transfusion was continued. However, a return of spontaneous circulation was not obtained due to hemorrhaging associated with the trauma itself and the operative incision site due to the patient's bleeding tendency.

Review and analysis of the relevant literature

A PubMed search was undertaken to identify English articles from 1989 to 2022 using the key words "azygos", "injury" and "blunt". We found 28 articles about blunt azygos injury¹⁻²⁸⁾. We summarized these cases, including the present case, in Table 1. We also added the report by Wall et al. into Table 1 as a supplement, which described the treatment of the largest series of penetrating azygos injury cases in the relevant literature²⁹⁾. There were 39 cases of the blunt azygos injury (average age, 41.2 years [range: 18-81 years]; male, n=20; female, n=19). The mechanisms of injury were as follows: traffic accident (n=29); fall (n=4), falling object (n=1), assault (n=1), sports (n=1), chest compression for cardiac arrest (n=1), and unknown (n=2). The other variables were as follows: right hemothorax (n=32; unknown, n=1); unstable circulation on arrival (n=32; unknown, n=1; right rib fracture, (n=20; unknown, n=5); preoperative CT examination (n=12), associated injury (n=30; unknown, n=1); surgical operation (n=36; unknown, n=2); and survival (n=19;unknown, n=2). While, a delayed appearance of

m 11 1	0	<i>c</i>		c	1 1		•	•
Table I	Summary	ot	case	ot	blunt	azvgos	in	mrv
	o anna j	<u> </u>	cabe	· • •	Sicure	ab j 800		Jori

No	Name	Refe- rence	year	age	sex	mechanism	right hemo- thorax	shock	rib fracture	site	СТ	associated injury	Ope- ration	Sur- vival
1	Li	1	2022	81	female	traffic accident	yes	yes	yes	arch	no	diaphragma, liver, omentum, pelvis	yes	yes
2	Li	1	2022	38	male	traffic accident	yes	yes	yes	arch	no	Th3, L4, pelvis	yes	yes
3	DeMaio	2	2021	28	female	traffic accident	yes	no	yes	arch	yes	Th4,5, sternum	yes	yes
4	Laohathai	3	2019	33	female	traffic accident	yes	no	no	arch	no	radius	yes	yes
5	Papadomanolakis	4	2016	28	female	traffic accident	yes	yes	no	?	no	liver, femur	yes	no
6	Papadomanolakis	4	2016	50	male	traffic accident	yes	yes	yes	?	no	Th, liver, pelvis	yes	no
7	Papadomanolakis	4	2016	28	male	traffic accident	yes	yes	yes	?	no	femur	yes	no
8	Papadomanolakis	4	2016	35	male	traffic accident	yes	yes	yes	?	no	liver	yes	no
9	Papadomanolakis	4	2016	41	male	fall	yes	yes	yes	?	no	liver, spleen	yes	no
10	Papadomanolakis	4	2016	20	male	traffic accident	yes	yes	yes	?	no	liver, kidney, femur	yes	no
11	Papadomanolakis	4	2016	65	female	traffic accident	yes	yes	yes	?	no	pelvis	yes	no
12	Yang	5	2014	52	female	chest compression	yes	yes	yes	?	yes	none	yes	no
13	Mohajeri	6	2014	45	male	sport	no	no	no	arch	yes	none	no	yes
14	Haq	7	2014	52	male	traffic accident	?	?	?	arch	yes	?	?	?
15	Cao	8	2012	60	male	falling object	yes	yes	yes	arch	yes	lumbar, lower extremity	yes	yes
16	Juraszyński	9	2010	70	female	blunt	no	no	no	SVC junction	yes	none	yes	yes
17	Endara	10	2010	21	male	traffic accident	yes	yes	?	SVC junction	no	spleen	yes	no
18	Drac	11	2007	22	male	traffic accident	yes	yes	yes	?	yes	head, spleen	yes	no
19	Kamiyoshihara	12	2007	71	female	traffic accident	yes	?	yes	arch	yes	kidney, leg	yes	yes
20	Nguyen	13	2006	21	male	traffic accident	yes	yes	?	Th4	no	femur, descending aorta	yes	yes
21	Bowles	14	2000	21	male	traffic accident	yes	yes	?	arch	yes	none	yes	yes
22	Sharma	15	1999	75	female	traffic accident	yes	yes	yes	arch	no	liver, head, pelvis	yes	yes
23	Sugimoto	16	1998	44	male	traffic accident	no	yes	no	arch	no	abdomen	yes	no
24	Cagini	17	1998	18	female	traffic accident	yes	yes	no	arch	no	omentum	yes	yes
25	No author	18	1996	51	female	blunt	yes	no	no	hemidiaphragm	yes	none	?	?
26	Butler	19	1995	23	male	traffic accident	yes	yes	yes	arch	no	head, Th3,4, spleen, tibia	yes	yes
27	Jain	20	1994	51	female	assault	yes	yes	no	Above diaphragm	no	none	yes	no
28	Inoue	21	1993	41	female	traffic accident	yes	yes	no	SVC junction	no	none	yes	yes
29	Walsh	22	1992	41	male	fall	yes	yes	no	SVC junction	no	none	yes	no
30	Thurman	23	1992	19	male	traffic accident	yes	yes	?	arch	no	head, ankle	yes	yes
31	Shkrum	24	1991	23	male	fall	no	yes	no	Th5	yes	Th, head	yes	no
32	Shkrum	24	1991	39	female	traffic accident	no	yes	no	Th4	no	Th, head, liver, spinal cord	yes	no
33	Shkrum	24	1991	48	female	traffic accident	yes	yes	yes	Th4	no	Th, liver, spleen	yes	no
34	Shkrum	24	1991	24	female	traffic accident	no	yes	no	Th4-5	no	pelvis	yes	no
35	Baldwin	25	1984	28	female	traffic accident	yes	yes	yes	SVC junction	no	abdomen, lower extremities	yes	yes
36	Sherani	26	1986	25	male	traffic accident	yes	yes	no	Th4-5	no	head, abdomen, lower extremities	yes	yes
37	Coates	27	1987	63	female	traffic accident	yes	yes	yes	SVC junction	no	head, abdomen, lower extremities	yes	yes
38	Snyder	28	1989	52	female	traffic accident	yes	yes	yes	Inferior SVC junction	no	spine	yes	yes
39	Present case		2021	63	male	fall	yes	yes	yes	arch, Th12	yes	head	yes	no
	Wall	29	2006	?	?	gun shot 19, stab 3	?	?	?	?	?	Multiple	yes	mortality 36%

 $\ensuremath{\mathrm{CT}}$: computed tomography, Th: thracic spine, L: lumbar spine, SVC: superior vena cava

right hemothorax after blunt chest trauma due to traumatic azygous vein injury, likely from rupture of a pseudoaneurysm, was observed. Thus, the diagnosis of azygous vein injury without initial hemothorax can be hampered in extremely rare case¹⁶⁾. These cases were divided into two groups: the survival group (n=19), which included cases in which the outcome was survival; and the fatal group (n=18), which included cases who died. The characteristics of the cases were compared between the two groups, including the year of the report, age, sex, rate of shock on arrival, rate of right rib fracture, rate of azygos arch injury, rate of preoperative CT, rate of associated injury, and rate of operation. The chi-squared test, median test or non-paired Student's t-test were used for the statistical analyses. P values of <0.05 were considered to indicate statistical significance. The results of the analysis are shown in Table 2. There were no statistically significant differences with regard to the year of the report, age, sex, rate of right rib fracture, rate of preoperative CT examination, rate of associated injury and rate of operation. The rate of shock on arrival in the survival group was significantly lower than that in the fatal group, and the rate of azygos arch injury in the survival group was significantly greater than that in the fatal group.

Discussion

This review of cases of blunt azygos injury is the first report to suggest that shock on arrival and the location of azygos vein injury may have an influence on final outcome of the patient.

Shock on arrival in patients with blunt trauma

suggests massive bleeding from injured sites and/ or spinal cord injury, and previous reports have also demonstrated that shock on arrival is a poor prognostic factor^{30, 31)}. Accordingly, ER physicians must consider azygos vein injury as a possible cause of right hemothorax in patients with blunt chest trauma who show persistent hypotension. The reason for the favorable outcome of azygos arch injury in comparison to other sites might be that it is easier to visually recognize the injured site. Usually, trauma patients are managed in supine position in the ER and tentative thoracotomy is also performed in the same position because subsequent tentative laparotomy might be required to explore abdominal injuries³²⁾. The azygos arch was easily visually recognized in the supine position, however, other sites might be hidden by the pulmonary hilus, lung or diaphragm³³⁾. In the present hemostasis at the site of the azygos arch injury was obtained by direct gauze packing; however, the packing at the inferior injury site of the azygos vein was insufficient.

This review of cases of blunt azygos injury failed to show that recent medical development has resulted in favorable outcomes. Recent surgeons are familiar with using preoperative radiological studies to perform a planned operation precisely, safely and less invasively. In contrast, experienced trauma surgeons can perform urgent surgical operations without radiological studies, with manual intraoperative exploration to identify the site of bleeding and apply hemostasis³⁴⁾. Advanced Trauma Life Support[®] (ATLS[®]) does not recommend that trauma patients with unstable circulation be moved

Table 2 Compariso	on between the su	rvival and latal group	s
	Survival n = 19	Fatal n = 18	p value
Year of the report	2000	2012	0.24
Age	42.7 ± 21.3	38.6 + 14.3	0.77
Sex (male/female)	8/11	11/7	0.24
Shock (%)	14 (73)	18 (100)	0.01
Right rib fracture (%)	10/n=16 (62)	10/n=17 (58)	0.82
Arch (%)	12 (63)	1/n=9 (11)	0.006
CT (%)	6 (46)	4 (22)	0.52
Associate injury (%)	15 (78)	15 (83)	0.73
Operation (%)	18 (94)	18 (100)	0.24

Table 2 Comparison between the survival and fatal groups	
--	--

CT; computed tomography

to a CT room or for CT examination to be used to identify sites of bleeding³⁵⁾. However, it is important for hemostasis to be immediately achieved at hemorrhaging sites in patients with unstable circulation. The number of patients with severe trauma has been decreasing year by year, and the number of experienced trauma surgeons in Japan has declined³⁶⁾. The fact that the diagnostic studies included as part of the initial ATLS[®] trauma survey are not well equipped to diagnose such a fatal vascular injury³⁷⁾. In addition, recent studies showed the efficacy of evaluation using whole CT during resuscitation in the hybrid ER, for even trauma patients with unstable circulation, in order to detect sites of hemorrhaging and facilitate the immediate performance procedures to obtain hemostasis³⁸⁻⁴¹⁾. Accordingly, to increase the survival rate of patients with fatal vascular injuries, such as blunt azygos injury, the early recognition of the site of hemorrhaging using CT and the immediate execution of surgical hemostasis in an appropriate position for modern surgeons (less experienced in the management of severe trauma) may be required, even when initial fluid resuscitation fails and unstable circulation remains.

Regarding what measures should be taken by young physicians in a standard hospital without a hybrid ER to obtain a survival outcome in patients with fatal azygos injury and unstable circulation until veteran surgeons arrive. Aside from the ATLS® protocol, a 1:1:1 ratio of packed red blood cells, fresh plasma, and platelets with minimal crystalloids is the preferred resuscitative strategy to avoid diluted coagulopathy by crystalloid fluid resuscitation⁴²⁾. Recently, in patients experiencing hemorrhagic shock, whole-blood transfusion was reported to be associated with both an improved survival and decreased overall blood utilization⁴³⁾. If a patient does not obtain stable circulation even after massive transfusion, they should be intubated to secure the airway³⁵⁾. After definitively securing the airway, a CT examination should be considered, although the proper timing of CT remains controversial⁴⁴⁾. A chest drain is usually inserted to drain the hemothorax and evaluate the volume in order to decide the timing of radical operation. Tentative drain clamping may be effective for achieving hemostasis at the bleeding source or reducing the total hemorrhaging volume by the hematoma tamponade effect, based on our personal experience and evidence from total knee arthroplasty⁴⁵⁾. However, it should be noted that drain clamping may result in hemorrhagic death or fatal tension hemothorax. Intensive hypotensive resuscitation is recommended, as it is safe and has a lower mortality rate than normotensive resuscitation in hemorrhagic shock patients. There is also less blood loss, hemodilution, ischemia, and hypoxia in tissues with such an approach⁴⁶⁾. If young physicians aggressively attempt damage control intervention using right thoracotomy but fail to identify the bleeding source, hilar clamping or twisting may be attempted to detect the bleeding source^{47, 48)}. If the bleeding cannot be stopped with these procedures, the bleeding source likely lies outside of the pulmonary artery and venous system. In addition, in cases with an unknown bleeding source, a large amount of gauze should be packed blindly in order to achieve hemostasis⁴⁹⁾. Alternatively, clam-shell thoracotomy may be useful for identifying the bleeding source, even in the supine position⁵⁰.

Conclusion

We presented a fatal case of blunt azygos injury and the results of an analysis of the relevant literature. ER physicians must consider azygos vein injury as a possible cause of right hemothorax in patients with blunt chest trauma if the individual shows persistent hypotension. In addition, the early recognition of the site of hemorrhaging using CT may be required, even if the patient's circulation remains unstable after initial fluid resuscitation.

Acknowledgments

Not applicable.

Funding

This work was supported in part by a Grantin-Aid for Special Research in Subsidies for ordinary expenses of private schools from The Promotion and Mutual Aid Corporation for Private Schools of Japan.

Author contributions

KM was a major contributor in writing the manuscript. KJ, SH and YY were editing the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of interest statement

We do not have conflict of interest to declare.

References

- 1) DeMaio K, Kaushik S, Vadlamudi V: Endovascular treatment of traumatic azygous vein injuries: a case report. CVIR Endovascular, 2021; 4: 48.
- 2) Li C, Martin K, Reada D: Azygos vein lacerations, a rare injury from high-impact chest trauma: Two cases and a review of the literature. Int J Surg Case Rep, 2022; 91: 106778.
- Laohathai S: An isolated azygos vein rupture from blunt chest trauma. Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann, 2019; 27: 757–759.
- 4) Papadomanolakis A, Theodoridou E, Vogiatzis N, Pentheroudaki A, Daskalaki D, Lolis ED: Injury to Azygos Venous System: A Co-Existing Injury in High-Impact Lethal Trauma. World J Surg, 2016; 40: 1355-61.
- 5) Yang E, Jeong W, Lee J, Kim S: Life-threatening hemothorax due to azygos vein rupture after chest compression during cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Am J Emerg Med, 2014; 32: 1437.e1-2.
- 6) Mohajeri G, Hekmatnia A, Ahrar H, Hekmatnia F, Basiratnia R: Azygos vein aneurysm as a posterior mediastinal mass discovered after minor chest trauma. Iran J Radiol, 2014; 11: e7467.
- Haq AA, Restrepo CS, Lamus D, Ocazionez-Trujillo D, Vargas D: Thoracic venous injuries: an imaging and management overview. EmergRadiol, 2016; 23: 291–301.
- Cao JG, Dai NF, Chen CZ: Ruptured azygos vein caused by blunt trauma on left chest. Chin Med J (Engl), 2012; 125: 3355–6.
- 9) Juraszyński Z, Zieliński D, Burakowska B: Trivial chest injury leading to azygos vein pseudoaneurysm. Am J Med, 2010; 123: e9-e10.
- 10) Endara SA, Davalos GA, Nuñez MF, Manzano JE: Azygous vein laceration secondary to blunt thoracoabdominal trauma. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg, 2010; 11: 342-4.
- 11) Drac P, Manak P, Klein J, Kral V: Azygos vein injury in blunt chest trauma. Biomed Pap Med Fac Univ Palacky Olomouc Czech Repub, 2007; 151: 347-8.
- 12) Kamiyoshihara M, Ibe T, Kakegawa S: Blunt traumatic injury of the azygous vein diagnosed by computed tomography. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg, 2007; 31: 307.
- 13) Nguyen LL, Gates JD: Simultaneous azygous vein and aortic injury from blunt trauma: Case report and review of the literature. J Trauma, 2006; 61: 444–6.
- 14) Bowles BJ, Teruya T, Belzberg H, Rivkind AI: Blunt traumatic azygous vein injury diagnosed by computed tomography: case report and review of the literature. J Trauma, 2000; 49: 776–9.
- 15) Sharma OP, Rawitscher RE: Blunt vena azygos trauma: report of a case and review of world literature. J Trauma, 1999; 46: 192-5.
- 16) Sugimoto K, Asari Y, Hirata M, Imai H, Ohwada T: The diagnostic problem associated with blunt traumatic azygous vein injury: delayed appearance of right haemothorax after blunt chest trauma. Injury, 1998; 29: 380–2.
- 17) Cagini L, Boaron M, Corneli G, et al: Rupture of the

azygos vein in blunt chest trauma. J Cardiovasc Surg (Torino), 1998; 39: 249-50.

- 18) [No authors listed]. Image interpretation session: 1995. Case 3. Posttraumatic pseudoaneurysm of the azygos vein in a patient with azygos continuation of the IVC. Radiographics, 1996; 16: 220–2.
- Butler DA, Schneider RF, Jadali M: Traumatic injury to the azygous vein: case report. J Trauma, 1995; 39: 761-2.
- 20) Jain A, Blebea JS: Post-traumatic pseudoaneurysm of the azygous vein in a patient with azygous continuation. J Comput Assist Tomogr, 1994; 18: 647-8.
- 21) Inoue H, Iwasaki M, Shirota S, Ogawa J, Shohtsu A: Total avulsion of the azygos vein and longitudinal laceration of the mediastinal pleura due to blunt chest trauma: a case report. J Cardiovasc Surg (Torino), 1993; 34: 67-8.
- 22) Walsh A, Snyder HS: Azygos vein laceration following a vertical deceleration injury. J Emerg Med, 1992; 10: 35-7.
- 23) Thurman RT, Roettger R: Intrapleural rupture of the azygos vein. Ann Thorac Surg, 1992; 53: 697–9.
- 24) Shkrum MJ, Green RN, Shum DT: Azygos vein laceration due to blunt trauma. J Forensic Sci, 1991; 36: 410-21.
- 25) Baldwin JC, Oyer PE, Guthaner DF, Stinson EB: Combined azygous vein and subclavian artery injury in blunt chest trauma. J Trauma, 1984; 24: 170-1.
- 26) Sherani TM, Fitzpatrick GJ, Phelan DM, O'Brien D, Tarief HA, Neligan MC: Ruptured azygos vein due to blunt chest trauma. Br J Surg, 1986; 73: 885.
- 27) Coates GR, Hall DP: Rupture of the azygos vein: an unusual cause of hemothorax due to blunt trauma. J Tenn Med Assoc, 1987; 80: 155-6.
- 28) Snyder CL, Eyer SD: Blunt chest trauma with transection of the azygos vein: case report. J Trauma, 1989; 29: 889–90.
- 29) Wall MJ Jr, Mattox KL, Debakey ME: Injuries to the azygous venous system. J Trauma, 2006; 60: 357–62.
- 30) Tran A, Yates J, Lau A, Lampron J, Matar M: Permissive hypotension versus conventional resuscitation strategies in adult trauma patients with hemorrhagic shock: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Trauma Acute Care Surg, 2018; 84: 802-808.
- 31) Gupta A, Kumar S, Sagar S, *et al*: Damage control surgery: 6 years of experience at a level I trauma center. Ulus Travma Acil Cerrahi Derg, 2017; 23: 322-327.
- 32) Tiel Groenestege-Kreb D, van Maarseveen O, Leenen L: Trauma team. Br J Anaesth, 2014; 113: 258–65.
- 33) Li H, Lin J, Zhang H, *et al*: A propensity score matching study of the short-term efficacy of azygos archsparing McKeown minimally invasive esophagectomy. J Gastrointest Oncol, 2021; 12: 28–37.
- 34) Morrison JJ, Mellor A, Midwinter M, Mahoney PF, Clasper JC: Is pre-hospital thoracotomy necessary in the military environment? Injury, 2011; 42: 469-73.
- 35) Galvagno SM Jr, Nahmias JT, Young DA: Advanced Trauma Life Support Update 2019: Management and Applications for Adults and Special Populations. Anesthesiol Clin, 2019; 37: 13–32.
- 36) Motomura T, Mashiko K, Matsumoto H, *et al*: Preventable trauma deaths after traffic accidents in Chiba Prefecture, Japan, 2011: problems and solutions. J

Nippon Med Sch, 2014; 81: 320-7.

- 37) Dub L, Thomas SZ, Fusco N, Plamoottil CI, Ganti L: A Rapid Diagnosis and Treatment of a Traumatic Aortic Transection: A Case of Survival to the ICU. Cureus, 2021; 13: e12726.
- 38) Kinoshita T, Yamakawa K, Matsuda H, et al: The Survival Benefit of a Novel Trauma Workflow that Includes Immediate Whole-body Computed Tomography, Surgery, and Interventional Radiology, All in One Trauma Resuscitation Room: A Retrospective Historical Control Study. Ann Surg, 2019; 269: 370-376.
- 39) Founding members of the Japanese Association for Hybrid Emergency Room System (JA-HERS): The hybrid emergency room system: a novel trauma evaluation and care system created in Japan. Acute Med Surg, 2019; 6: 247–251.
- 40) Kinoshita T, Moriwaki K, Hanaki N, *et al*: Cost-effectiveness of a hybrid emergency room system for severe trauma: a health technology assessment from the perspective of the third-party payer in Japan. World J Emerg Surg, 2021; 16: 2.
- 41) Umemura Y, Watanabe A, Kinoshita T, Morita N, Yamakawa K, Fujimi S: Hybrid emergency room shows maximum effect on trauma resuscitation when used in patients with higher severity. J Trauma Acute Care Surg, 2021; 90: 232–239.
- 42) Black JA, Pierce VS, Juneja K, Holcomb JB: Complications of Hemorrhagic Shock and Massive Transfusion-a Comparison Before and After the Damage Control Resuscitation Era. Shock, 2021; 56: 42–51.
- 43) Brill JB, Tang B, Hatton G, et al: Impact of Incorporating Whole Blood into Hemorrhagic Shock Resuscita-

tion: Analysis of 1,377 Consecutive Trauma Patients Receiving Emergency-Release Uncrossmatched Blood Products. J Am Coll Surg, 2022; 234: 408–418.

- 44) Murao S, Yamakawa K, Kabata D, *et al*: Effect of Earlier Door-to-CT and Door-to-Bleeding Control in Severe Blunt Trauma: A Retrospective Cohort Study. J Clin Med, 2021; 10: 1522.
- 45) Hishimura R, Onodera T, Ohkoshi Y, Okada K, Matsuoka M, Matsubara S, Iwasaki K, Kondo E, Iwasaki N: The effect of local injection of tranexamic acid into periarticular tissue versus drain clamping in total knee arthroplasty: a randomized controlled trial. BMC Musculoskelet Disord, 2022; 23: 111.
- 46) Woodward L, Alsabri M: Permissive Hypotension vs. Conventional Resuscitation in Patients With Trauma or Hemorrhagic Shock: A Review. Cureus, 2021; 13: e16487.
- 47) Garcia A, Martinez J, Rodriguez J, *et al*: Damagecontrol techniques in the management of severe lung trauma. J Trauma Acute Care Surg, 2015; 78: 45–50.
- 48) Wilson A, Wall MJ Jr, Maxson R, Mattox K: The pulmonary hilum twist as a thoracic damage control procedure. Am J Surg, 2003; 186: 49–52.
- 49) Moriwaki Y, Toyoda H, Harunari N, Iwashita M, Kosuge T, Arata S, Suzuki N: Gauze packing as damage control for uncontrollable haemorrhage in severe thoracic trauma. Ann R Coll Surg Engl, 2013; 95: 20–5.
- 50) Katiyar A, Kumar A, Kumar N, Kataria R, Sarkar B: A successful off-pump cardiac repair following blunt cardiac rupture A case report. Trauma Case Rep, 2020; 29: 100344.

Case Reports

Juntendo Medical Journal 2022. 68(4), 405-412



Lessons Learned in Practice with Li-Fraumeni Syndrome:

LFS-Related Breast Cancer Treatment Strategy and Establishment of a Surveillance System

RITSUKO SASAKI¹, YOSHIYA HORIMOTO^{1, 2}, HARUMI SAEKI², SHOJI SATO³, KATSUHIRO SANO³,

NAOTO SHIKAMA³⁾, MAYUMI UENO⁴⁾, MITSUE SAITO¹⁾, MASAMI ARAI^{1, 5)}

Department of Breast Oncology, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan
 Department of Human Pathology, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan
 Department of Radiology, Juntendo University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan

4) Ogurihara Clinic, Masamakai Medical Corporation, Tokyo, Japan

5) Department of Clinical Genetics, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan

We herein present the case of a 33-year-old woman with no family history of metachronous bilateral breast cancer and osteosarcoma, diagnosed with Li-Fraumeni syndrome (LFS), which is a rare autosomal dominant hereditary cancer syndrome associated with a germline *TP53* variant. She was diagnosed with left distal femoral osteosarcoma at the age of 16, and metachronous bilateral breast cancer at the ages of 29 and 33. When the third cancer was diagnosed, a hereditary tumor syndrome was suspected and the patient was referred to our genetic outpatient clinic. There was no family history of the 'core' cancers for LFS, but since the patient met Chompret's criteria, germline *TP53* genetic testing was performed with the patient's will. A pathogenic variant, *TP53*:c.216dupC (p.Val73ArgfsX76) was found in exon 4 of the gene. This case is didactic because radiotherapy was performed on the first breast cancer before the diagnosis of LFS was made; radiation should be avoided if there are other options in LFS because of the inability to repair DNA damage. As a lesson learned, oncologists reaffirmed the importance of being aware of hereditary tumors from the keywords "multiple," "young," "familial," and "rare," and consulting the genetic department. In addition, surveillance using whole-body magnetic resonance imaging is recommended in LFS. However, this system is not yet provided nationwide, but we have newly settled it in our hospital.

Key words: Li-Fraumeni syndrome, hereditary cancer syndrome, treatment management, surveillance, whole-body MRI

Introduction

Li-Fraumeni syndrome (LFS) is a rare autosomal dominant hereditary cancer syndrome associated with germline TP53 pathogenic or likely pathogenic variants¹⁾. The tumor suppressor gene, TP53, is located on chromosome 17, and the protein product of TP53 is localized in a cell nucleus and binds directly to DNA. It has been called the "guardian of the genome" and plays important roles in controlling the cell cycle and apoptosis²⁾. The frequency of germline TP53 variants in the general population has been reported to be about 1.6% in pediatric cancer patients^{3,4)} and about 0.2% in adult cancer patients⁵⁾. The penetrance of germline TP53 variants is 75% in males and almost 100% in females⁶⁾. Regarding age of cancer onset, an analysis of 415 individuals with TP53 pathogenic variant in 214 French families with LFS showed that the cancer penetrance for young people aged 0, 5, and 18 years were 4%, 22%, and 41%, respectively⁶⁾. Furthermore, an analysis by the US National Cancer

2-1-1 Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-8421, Japan

Corresponding author: Masami Arai

Department of Clinical Genetics, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine

TEL: +81-3-3813-3111 E-mail: ms-arai@juntendo.ac.jp

[[]Received Mar. 24, 2022] [Accepted May. 31, 2022]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Aug. 2, 2022

Copyright © 2022 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ22-0012-CR

Institute of 286 *TP53* pathogenic variants in 107 families with LFS showed that the 50% cumulative cancer onset age was 46 years for male and 31 years for female⁷. It has been reported that 12.2 % of cases are de novo LFS; therefore, cases without a family history are scattered⁸. LFS has a wide tumor spectrum, including the so-called 'core' LFS cancers: soft-tissue sarcomas, osteosarcomas, adrenocortical carcinomas, central nervous system tumors, and very-early onset female breast cancer⁹. Juvenile onset of cancer and multiple onsets and types of cancers in one patient are characteristics of LFS. Clinical guidelines for the management of LFS have been published in various countries, including Japan¹⁰.

According to a report on the analysis of hereditary breast cancer-related genes in Japanese breast cancer patients, the percentage of patients with germline TP53 variants is 3.9%, which is small compared to 72.5% for germline BRCA1/2 variants¹¹⁾. Therefore, LFS is rarely encountered in breast cancer treatment, and it is not easy to make a diagnosis. However, in the treatment of breast cancer, radiation therapy (RTx) is often used concomitantly, and the relative contraindication in this disease should be taken into consideration when making treatment decisions¹²⁾. This report describes a case of LFS that was suspected by its history and clinical course, despite no LFS-related family history of hereditary tumors, which led to LFS genetic testing.

Case report

A 33-year-old woman was diagnosed with distal left femoral osteosarcoma at the age of 16 due to pain in the left knee. She received perioperative chemotherapy and local excision and has had no signs of recurrence until now. At the age of 29, a left breast mass was detected by ultrasound screening and diagnosed as breast cancer. She underwent breast-conserving surgery and sentinel node biopsy, and was diagnosed with pT1bN0M0, Stage I, invasive micropapillary carcinoma (5×4 mm; estrogen receptor [ER] 60%, progesterone receptor [PgR] 90%, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 [HER2] 3+, Ki67 70%; surgical margin positive at the lateral margin for in situ component). She received weekly paclitaxel+trastuzumab, LH-RH agonist, tamoxifen and RTx as postoperative therapy. Four years after the surgery for left breast cancer, at the age of 33, calcification of her right breast was detected on mammography. A stereotactic core biopsy was performed and diagnosed as breast cancer, cTisN0M0 Stage 0 (ductal carcinoma in situ [DCIS]). When she was diagnosed with metachronous contralateral breast cancer, a hereditary tumor was suspected and she was referred from her family clinic to our genetic department. Her family history included a maternal grandfather with colorectal cancer at the age of 78 and a paternal uncle with lower leg suspected skin cancer at 50 years (Figure 1). This patient had no obvious LFS-related family history. However, since the patient met Chompret's criteria (2015, Table 1) with multiple cancers and early-onset breast cancer in the 'core' tumors, we performed germline TP53 genetic testing (FALCO Ltd., Kyoto, Japan), with her consent (written informed consent was obtained from the patient.). The genetic test results revealed a pathogenic variant, TP53:c.216dupC (p.Val73ArgfsX76) was found in exon 4 of the gene, and a diagnosis of LFS.

The patient was referred to the department of breast surgery through the genetic department for further treatment. At the same time as the right mastectomy, the patient preferred to have a left residual mastectomy because of the positive DCIS margins at the previous surgery and for risk reduction. She underwent bilateral mastectomy and breast reconstruction. The postoperative pathology results were as follows. The right breast cancer was DCIS solid > cribriform type, $3 \times 2 \times 12$ mm, NG2, pTisN0M0, Stage 0 (ER-, PgR-, HER2 3+, Ki67 40%). The left breast was assessed in every 1 cm-slice for the entire section, due to the residual mastectomy being for risk reduction. Close to the previous surgical scar, DCIS was found (tumor size: 12×6×20 mm, comedo type, NG2, pTisNxMx), which was considered to be a residual lesion due to its similar histology. Additionally, p53 immunohistochemical staining (monoclonal, anti-mouse, clone PAb1801) was negative (Figure 2). Sporadic breast cancer cases in the control group that were in situ breast cancer and of similar subtype also tested negative.

Currently, she is receiving endocrine therapy for left breast cancer and will be followed up in our department for 5 years after surgery, including



Figure 1 Family history Dx, age at diagnosis; d, age at death; y, years old.

Table 1	2015	vorcion	of Chor	mprot's	critoria	for	Ii-F	roumoni	oundromo	diamonia
I able I	2015	version	of Choi	nprets	criteria	101	LI-L	raumem	synarome	ulagnosis

Familial presentation	Proband with TP53 core cancer before 46 years and at least one first- or second-degree relative with a core tumor before 56 years.
Multiple primitive tumors	Proband with multiple tumors, including two TP53 core tumors, the first of which occurred before 46 years, <u>irrespective of family history</u> .
Rare tumors	Patient with adrenocortical carcinoma, choroid plexus carcinoma or rhabdomyosarcoma of embryonal anaplastic subtype, irrespective of family history.
Very early-onset breast cancer	Breast cancer before 31 years, irrespective of family history.

blood tests and chest wall ultrasound. In contrast, LFS requires lifetime cancer surveillance. Since the surveillance for osteosarcoma has been performed by semi-annual chest and local X-rays, we decided to introduce a surveillance program according to the Toronto protocol¹³⁾, which avoids radiation exposure and follow-up drop outs. Through this case, we have just settled a system of annual whole-body magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) examinations in cooperation with the radiology department (Figure 3). In addition, we decided to

conduct colonoscopy and abdominal ultrasound every one to two years in cooperation with her family clinic (Figure 4).

This case is speculated be *de novo* onset of LFS because there is no LFS-related family history and due to the high penetrance of the syndrome; the parents have no history of abnormal findings on annual examinations to date. The younger brother underwent carrier diagnosis and no variants were detected. Hereafter, the patient is also considering carrier diagnosis for her 5-year-old daughter, taking



Figure 2 Pathological features of the surgical specimens a) and c) right breast cancer; b) and d) left breast cancer. a-b) hematoxylin and eosin staining ×100; b-d) p53 staining x100.

into account the advantages and disadvantages.

Discussion

Characteristics of LFS-related breast cancer

Breast cancer is the most common LFS-related tumor, accounting for 27% to 31% of all reported LFS tumors⁶⁾. LFS-related breast cancer is characterized by a median age as young as 33 years, and almost all cases occur before menopause. Among younger breast cancer patients under 30 years, germline TP53 variants were detected in about 4%-8% of cases (without germline BRCA1/2 pathogenic variants). There are few reports on clinicopathological characteristics; one report compared 30 LFS breast cancers with 79 sporadic cases and showed a significantly higher rate of HER2 positivity in the LFS group (67% vs. 25%, respectively; p<0.001)¹⁴⁾. In addition, 65% of LFS breast cancers were bilateral. Our case had similar pathological characteristics and clinical course.

Radiation exposure in LFS

LFS-related breast cancer treatment strategies, such as radiation, surgery and drug therapy, are listed in Table 2 according to consensus recommendations¹²⁾. The TP53 gene is the most important tumor suppressor gene in preventing cancer development. It plays an important role in cell cycle regulation and apoptosis by providing cells with the ability to respond to and repair DNA damage after cellular stress and by triggering multiple downstream repair pathways. Therefore, radiation exposure, which increases the risk of developing a second cancer, should be avoided if there are other options in LFS because DNA damage cannot be repaired. In the present case, LFS was not suspected at the time of the initial breast cancer, and treatment and surveillance with RTx and X-rays were performed. It is not easy for a non-geneticist to suspect a hereditary tumor, other than hereditary breast-ovarian cancer syndrome (HBOC). However, it may be necessary to suspect the possibility of a background hereditary tumor related to breast



Figure 3 Representative image of whole-body magnetic resonance imaging surveillance

cancer, as it may affect treatment choices.

Meanwhile, there are cases where the benefits to the patient exceed the harms in cancer treatment. The decision of whether or not to prescribe RTx in LFS patients with cancer relies on a delicate multidisciplinary assessment of the risk of a second cancer (based on age and pathogenic variants, or whether heterozygous or in a state) and the oncological prognosis¹⁵⁾.

Surgical treatment in LFS

Total mastectomy should be the surgical treatment of choice for LFS. As for risk-reducing strategies, in HBOC, contralateral risk-reducing mastectomy (CRRM) is covered by insurance. However, CRRM is not recommended for breast cancer patients who have a mutation in a moderate-penetrance breast cancer gene, and therefore an application to an ethics committee is required. As a rare disease, it is difficult to establish evidence regarding LFS, but we believe that it is necessary to provide medical care based on individual requests. In this case, the patient had a positive DCIS margin, which made it appropriate to perform a residual mastectomy¹⁶⁾. The local recurrence rate is twice as high when the margin of DCIS is positive as when it is negative, and half of the patients with DCIS recurrence will have invasive cancer, so complete resection is recommended.

Our case underwent reconstruction, and in recent years there have been increased warnings about breast-implant-associated anaplastic large



After completion of post-operative breast cancer screening

Figure 4 Conceptualization of a long-term Li-Fraumeni syndrome surveillance system to be conducted in collaboration among departments. US, ultrasound; CS, colonoscopy; GS, gastroscopy

1 abic 2	consensus recommendations for the management of Er Traument syndrome
	RT of the intact breast is contraindicated.
Radiation therapy	Postmastectomy RT should only be considered in patients with a significant risk of locoregional regional recurrence.
	[Strength of recommendation: Moderate, Quality of evidence: Low (case-series only)]
Surgical therapy	A mastectomy is the recommended therapeutic option.
Systemic drug therap	Avoid cytotoxic anticancer drugs that induce DNA damage if possible. PARP inhibitors: insufficient evidence for moderately penetrant genes including TP53.
Diagnostic Imaging	Avoid radiation exposure (e.g.: ultrasound, MRI).

 Table 2
 Consensus recommendations for the management of Li-Fraumeni syndrome¹²⁾

MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; RT, radiation therapy.

cell lymphoma (BIA–ALCL), which is a rare form of T–cell lymphoma that occurs in some people who have had breast implants. BIA–ALCL in LFS has been accumulating and also requires attention¹⁷⁾. In this case, reconstruction was performed using a smooth type of implant, but there is a report recommending removal in cases of LFS using implants with textured surfaces. BIA–AL-CL–derived cell line studies have shown evidence of dysregulation of p53 signaling pathways in response to DNA damage¹⁸⁾. Therefore, it is possible that BIA–ALCL develops due to inadequate tumor–suppressor activity in LFS.

Characteristics of the variant in this case

In LFS, missense variants account for about 70% of cases, and the variant in this case is a frameshift variant that has been reported in three cases, two of them developed osteosarcoma, breast cancer and no evidence of onset in childhood (Table 3)^{19,20)}. Genotype-phenotype correlation has been reported for the *TP53* gene, and variable phenotypes, expressivity, and penetrance of cancer are frequent²¹⁾. Recently, variants leading to loss of function of p53 have been reported to have a more severe phenotype than patients with partial loss²²⁾. The loss-of-function form has an early onset of primary cancer, often developing sarcoma or breast cancer by the

age of 35 and meeting the classical LFS and Chompret's criteria. The pathological variant in this case has also been reported to show normal p53 protein loss of function. In this case, the frameshift mutation has altered the structure of the p53 protein itself, so it is not detected by immunostaining.

The possibility of a paternal origin has not been completely ruled out, since the LFS has a 75% male penetrance and the paternal uncle is also suspected of having skin cancer. However, since the probability suggests that our case could be a single case, it is necessary to consider the possibility of germline mosaicism, which occurs at a frequency of 2.4% in addition to *de novo*⁸⁾.

Establishing a continuous surveillance system

A lifetime risk of developing cancer, and regular systemic screening is considered important in LFS. Currently, surveillance based on the Toronto protocol has been introduced worldwide for TP53 carriers (Table 4)¹³. Meanwhile since there are some differences in surveillance subjects and the timing of the start of surveillance subject depending on the region, it is better to refer to the guideline by Kumamoto et al. in Japan¹⁰. It is not clear whether the current surveillance studies contribute to improved survival rates due to the short observation period and the low incidence of the disease.

Table 3 Comparison between previous reports and this case with c.216dupC in TP53 (p.Val73Arg fsX76)

	Togucihda et al 1992	Zerdoumi Y et al 2017	Our case 2021
			16yF Osteosarcoma
Medical History	15yF Osteosarcoma	Pt22, 27yF Breast cancer Pt21_28vM Unaffected	29y Lt-breast cancer
		r (21, 20, 11 Onallected	33y Rt-breast cancer
Family history	Mother: 25y Breast cancer	Not listed	Not specific

F, female; M, male; Lt, left; Rt, right; y, years old; Pt, patient.

	Table 4 Toronto protocol, agreed surveinance recommendations for 1155 carriers
ACC	Abdominal US, every 3-4 month: birth-40 y, Biochemistry (17 OH-progesterone, total testosterone, DHEAS, androstenedione) should only be performed where there is an unsatisfactory USS.
Breast cancer	Annual dedicated MRI from age 20-70 years
	(woman only) Consider risk-reducing mastectomy from age 20 years
Brain tumor	Annual dedicated brain MRI from birth (first MRI with contrast)
Sarcoma	Annual WB-MRI from birth, Abdominal US 3-4 monthly: from 18 y
Colon	Colonoscopy every 2 y: from age 25 or 10 y before earliest onset of colorectal carcinoma in family
0	Recommend Helicobacter pylori testing and eradication if required
Gastric	Endoscopy not indicated due to lack of evidence
Skin	Annual dermatology review from 18 years (general practitioner or dermatology), Japanese is not common. General advice on use of high protection factor sunscreen and covering up in sun.
Other	Recommend detailed discussion of red flag symptoms in both children and adults and provide information on relevant resources. Discuss importance of making positive lifestyle choices (e.g.: not smoking, eating a healthy diet, limiting alcohol consumption, sun protection, keeping physically active and providing appropriate resources).

 Table 4
 Toronto protocol: agreed surveillance recommendations for TP53 carriers¹³

ACC, adrenocortical carcinoma; DHEAS, dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; US, ultrasound; WB, wholebody; y years.

However, in a meta-analysis of whole-body MRI surveillance, most of the cancers detected were localized and curative treatment was achieved²³⁾. Therefore, there is a high possibility of reducing complications and improving quality of life by reducing the intensity of treatment. In addition, some studies have reported that routine examinations can contribute to a reduction in anxiety²⁴⁾.

Due to the rarity of the disease, the annual surveillance system recommended for LFS is not currently in place nationwide. Although some other facilities perform brain, thoracic, abdominal, and pelvic (including lower limb) imaging four times a year, surveillance that requires frequent visits lacks continuity. Therefore, we proposed a surveillance system that includes whole-body and brain MRI²⁵⁾, with collaborations between the genetics department, radiology department, breast oncology department and the family clinic.

Conclusion

With the spread of cancer genomic medicine, the diagnosis rate of hereditary tumor syndromes is expected to increase in the future. For these diseases, extra consideration should be given when deciding on a cancer treatment plan and a lifetime surveillance system is necessary. At our hospital, which has a genetic outpatient clinic, we have established a surveillance system including wholebody MRI for LFS, which hopefully will be taken up by other hospitals in Japan.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Dr. Masashi Ueno (the Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, Toranomon Hospital), her family doctor, for his understanding of the patient's follow-up. We sincerely appreciate Clear Science Pty Ltd. for language editing.

Funding

The author recived no financial support for the research.

Author contributions

RS carried out the acquisition of data and wrote the manuscript. YH and HS conducted pathological assessments. KS and SS conducted whole-body MRI test and assessments. NS and MA reviewed and revised the manuscript. MU, MS, and MA were responsible for the care of the patient. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of interest statement

None declared.

References

- Sidransky D, Tokino T, Helzlsouer K: Inherited p53 gene mutations in breast cancer. Cancer Res, 1992; 52: 2984– 2986.
- Levine A: p53, the cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. Cell, 1997; 88: 323–331.
- 3) Zhang J, Walsh MF, Wu G, *et al*: Germline Mutations in Predisposition Genes in Pediatric Cancer. N Engl J Med, 2015; 373: 2336–2346.

- Gröbner SN, Worst BC, Weischenfeldt J, *et al*: The landscape of genomic alterations across childhood cancers. Nature, 2018; 555: 321–327.
- 5) Yamaguchi-Kabata Y, Yasuda J, Tanabe O, *et al*: Evaluation of reported pathogenic variants and their frequencies in a Japanese population based on a whole-genome reference panel of 2049 individuals. J Hum Genet, 2018; 63: 213-230.
- 6) Bougeard G, Renaux-Petel M, Flaman JM, *et al*: Revisiting Li-Fraumeni Syndrome From TP53 Mutation Carriers. J Clin Oncol, 2015; 33: 2345–2352.
- 7) Mai PL, Best AF, Peters JA, *et al*: Risks of first and subsequent cancers among TP53 mutation carriers in the National Cancer Institute Li-Fraumeni syndrome cohort. Cancer, 2016; 122: 3673–3681.
- Renaux-Petel M, Charbonnier F, Théry JC, *et al*: Contribution of de novo and mosaic TP53 mutations to Li-Fraumeni syndrome. J Med Genet, 2018; 55: 173-180.
- Gonzalez K, Noltner K, Buzin C: Beyond Li Fraumeni syndrome: clinical characteristics of families with p53 germline mutations. J Clin Oncol, 2009; 27: 1250–1256.
- Kumamoto T, Yamazaki F, Nakano Y, *et al*: Medical guidelines for Li-Fraumeni syndrome 2019, version 1.1. Int J Clin Oncol, 2021; 26: 2161–2178.
- Momozawa Y, Iwasaki Y, Parsons MT, *et al*: Germline pathogenic variants of 11 breast cancer genes in 7,051 Japanese patients and 11,241 controls. Nat Commun, 2018; 9: 4083.
- 12) Trombetta MG, Dragun A, Mayr NA, Pierce LJ: ASTRO Radiation Therapy Summary of the ASCO-ASTRO-SSO Guideline on Management of Hereditary Breast Cancer. Pract Radiat Oncol, 2020; 10: 235-242.
- 13) Daly MB, Pal T, Berry MP, et al: Genetic/Familial High-Risk Assessment: Breast, Ovarian, and Pancreatic, Version 2.2021, NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. J Natl Compr Canc Netw, 2021; 19:77–102.
- 14) Melhem-Bertrandt A, Bojadzieva J, Ready KJ, *et al*: Early onset HER2-positive breast cancer is associated with germline TP53 mutations. Cancer, 2012; 118: 908– 913.
- 15) Thariat J, Chevalier F, Orbach D, *et al*: Avoidance or adaptation of radiotherapy in patients with cancer with Li-Fraumeni and heritable TP53-related cancer

syndromes. Lancet Oncol, 2021; 22: e562-e574.

- 16) Marinovich ML, Azizi L, Macaskill P, *et al*: The Association of Surgical Margins and Local Recurrence in Women with Ductal Carcinoma In Situ Treated with Breast-Conserving Therapy: A Meta-Analysis. Ann Surg Oncol, 2016; 23: 3811–3821.
- 17) Adlard J, Burton C, Turton P: Increasing Evidence for the Association of Breast Implant-Associated Anaplastic Large Cell Lymphoma and Li Fraumeni Syndrome. Case Rep Genet, 2019; 2019: 5647940.
- 18) Wang H, Xie C, Li S, *et al*: Dysregulation, But Not Mutation Of p53 Signaling Pathway In Breast Implant– Associated Anaplastic Large Cell Lymphoma Cell Lines. Blood, 2013; 122: 4879–4879.
- 19) Toguchida J, Yamaguchi T, Dayton SH, *et al*: Prevalence and spectrum of germline mutations of the p53 gene among patients with sarcoma. N Engl J Med, 1992; 326: 1301–1308.
- 20) Zerdoumi Y, Lanos R, Raad S, *et al*: Germline TP53 mutations result into a constitutive defect of p53 DNA binding and transcriptional response to DNA damage. Hum Mol Genet, 2017; 26: 2812.
- 21) de Andrade KC, Khincha PP, Hatton JN, *et al*: Cancer incidence, patterns, and genotype-phenotype associations in individuals with pathogenic or likely pathogenic germline TP53 variants: an observational cohort study. Lancet Oncol, 2021; 22: 1787–1798.
- 22) Rana HQ, Clifford J, Hoang L, *et al*: Genotype-phenotype associations among panel-based TP53+ subjects. Genet Med, 2019; 21: 2478–2484.
- 23) Ballinger ML, Best A, Mai PL, *et al*: Baseline Surveillance in Li-Fraumeni Syndrome Using Whole-Body Magnetic Resonance Imaging: A Meta-analysis. JAMA Oncol, 2017; 3: 1634-1639.
- 24) McBride KA, Ballinger ML, Schlub TE, *et al*: Psychosocial morbidity in TP53 mutation carriers: is wholebody cancer screening beneficial? Fam Cancer, 2017; 16: 423-432.
- 25) Grasparil AD, 2nd, Gottumukkala RV, Greer MC, Gee MS: Whole-Body MRI Surveillance of Cancer Predisposition Syndromes: Current Best Practice Guidelines for Use, Performance, and Interpretation. AJR Am J Roentgenol, 2020; 215: 1002–1011.

Perspectives

Juntendo Medical Journal 2022. 68(4), 413-415



Clinical Research Support Activities in Core Clinical Research Hospitals Throughout Japan

YUJI NISHIZAKI^{1, 2)}, RIEKO UEDA²⁾, SHUKO NOJIRI²⁾, SHOJI SANADA³⁾

¹⁾ Division of Medical Education, Juntendo University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan
 ²⁾ Medical Technology Innovation Center, Juntendo University, Tokyo, Japan
 ³⁾ Clinical and Translational Research Center, Kobe University Hospital, Kobe, Japan

We evaluated the current status of supporting activities in core clinical research hospitals across Japan using the Japan Registry of Clinical Trials (jRCT) data given the lack of previous research objectively investigated supporting activities for clinical trials in core clinical research hospitals throughout Japan. Briefly, our findings showed that despite the officially supposed cooperation scheme, core clinical research hospitals have not been the primarily selected contractor for clinical trials and are responsible for ensuring the quality of such trials, there is a need to determine why the officially supposed cooperative scheme between core and non-core hospitals are still not established in Japan in order to increase the development and quality of Japanese clinical research with maximum efficiency moving forward.

Key words: clinical research support, core clinical research hospital, the Japan Registry of Clinical Trials (jRCT)

Core clinical research hospital

In Japan, the Medical Care Act has established core clinical research hospitals that are designated to play a leading role in physician-led clinical trials. Moreover, they are responsible for the development of clinical research aimed at uncovering novel innovative pharmaceuticals and medical instruments in Japan according to international standards. These hospitals are also mandated to support clinical research developed in other medical institutions¹⁻²⁾. The Clinical Research Act, which came into effect on April 1, 2018 in Japan³⁾, seeks to prevent research misconduct and ensure the reliability of the clinical studies for not only the research subjects but also the general public. As stipulated by the mentioned legislation, the implementation plans and research outlines of clinical trials are required to be registered with the Japan Registry of Clinical Trials (jRCT) database prepared by the Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare⁴⁾. The clinical trial implementation system includes information on the principal investigator, co-investigators, program manager, study manager, data managers, monitors, biostatisticians, and auditors⁵⁾.

Clinical research support activities in core clinical research hospitals

To the best of our knowledge, no previous research has objectively investigated supporting activities for clinical trials in core clinical research hospitals throughout Japan. Therefore, we sought to evaluate the current status of supporting activities in core clinical research hospitals across Japan using jRCT data. Data for a total of 860 hospitals registered in the jRCT from April 1, 2018 to May 31, 2019, including non-core clinical research hospitals, were reviewed, excluding unknown data. We inves-

Corresponding author: Yuji Nishizaki

Division of Medical Education, Juntendo University School of Medicine

²⁻¹⁻¹ Hongo Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-8421, Japan.

TEL: +81-3-3813-3111 FAX: +81-3-5689-0627 E-mail: ynishiza@juntendo.ac.jp

[[]Received Mar. 8, 2022] [Accepted Apr. 13, 2022]

J-STAGE Advance published date: Jul. 14, 2022

Copyright © 2022 The Juntendo Medical Society. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original source is properly credited. doi: 10.14789/jmj.JMJ22-0011-P

tigated the type of institutions from which non-clinical research core hospitals would request clinical research support in conducting clinical trials.

The results of our survey are summarized in Figure 1. The rate of contact requests by non-core clinical research hospitals to core clinical hospitals for each clinical research supporter is as follows: program manager (1.3%, 11/860), study manager (1.3%, 11/860), data managers (1.2%, 11/903), monitors (0.8%, 7/913), biostatisticians (6.0%, 52/860), and auditors (0.7%, 6/865). It has become clear that core clinical research hospitals have not been primarily selected as a contractor for all clinical research supporters, despite the officially supposed cooperation scheme. Aside from auditors, non-clinical research core hospitals requested support from the clinical research support department of their own institutions.

Conclusions

The core clinical research hospital has primarily been designated to lead clinical trials in Japan. It is important for core clinical research hospitals to conduct secure and high-quality clinical research by themselves while also supporting clinical research conducted by neighboring non-core hospitals. We believe that by channeling clinical research conducted throughout Japan through core clinical research hospitals, the quality of clinical research in Japan will improve considerably. Additionally, patients who wish to participate in clinical trials will be guided by the existence of landmarks, namely core clinical research hospitals nationwide. Furthermore, core research hospitals with several on-going high-quality clinical research studies might effectively train and develop numerous young physicians and researchers who want to enrich their experience on clinical research in the near future. As such, there is a need to determine why the officially supposed cooperative scheme between core and non-core hospitals are still not established in Japan in order to increase the development and quality of Japanese clinical research with maximum efficiency moving forward.

We speculate that one of the major causes of the lack of an established cooperation between core and non-core clinical research hospitals is a mismatch between needs and feeds. The core clinical research hospitals have built a system to provide segmented research support, including program managers, study managers, data managers, monitors, biostatisticians, auditors, and clinical research coordinators. However, we infer that researchers from non-core clinical research hospitals would need multifunctional comprehensive support rather than segmented support.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Enago (www. enago.jp) for the English language review.



Figure 1 The rate of contact requests by non-core clinical research hospitals and information of outsourcers for clinical research supporters.

Funding

This study was supported by a grant from the Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (AMED) under Grant Number 19lk1903002 h0002.

Author contributions

YN and RU have designed this study as a whole and written this manuscript. SN has contributed to statistical analyses. YN, RU, and SS have contributed to data collection. All authors have contributed, provide advice on the interpretation of the results, and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of interest statement

There are no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. About publication of business report of core clinical research hospitals [Internet] [cited 7 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.mhlw.go.jp/stf/seisakunitsuite/bunya/ 0000165585.html. (in Japanese).
- Ueda R, Nishizaki Y, Homma Y, *et al*: Importance of quality assessment in clinical research in Japan. Front Pharmacol, 2019; 10: 1228.
- 3) Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. About publication of the Clinical Research Act [Internet] [cited 7 Aug 2021]. Available from: https://www.mhlw.go.jp/ stf/seisakunitsuite/bunya/0000163417.html. (in Japanese).
- 4) Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. About publication of jRCT (Japan Registry of Clinical Trials) [Internet] [cited 7 Aug 2021]. Available from: https:// jrct.niph.go.jp (in Japanese).
- Ueda K, Uemura N, Matsuyama K, *et al*: Performance index for types of clinical research support service providers for academic research organizations in Japan: a cross-sectional survey. Clin Transl Sci, 2021; 14: 745–55.

Juntendo Medical Journal 2022. 68 (4), 416-436

Publications from Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine, 2020 [2/6]

Cardiovascular Biology and Medicine

(Original Articles)

- Hasegawa Y, Watanabe H, Ikami Y, Otsuki S, Iijima K, Yagihara N, Izumi D, Minamino T: J point elevation in high precordial leads associated with risk of ventricular fibrillation. Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol, 2020; e12820.
- 2) Kubota N, Ozaki K, Hoyano M, Nishida K, Takano T, Okubo T, Kimura S, Yanagawa T, Kashimura T, Minamino T: Long-Term Prognosis of Patients Who Underwent Percutaneous Transvenous Mitral Commissurotomy for Mitral Stenosis. Int Heart J, 2020; 61: 1183-1187.
- Kubota N, Ozaki K, Hakamata T, Ikami Y, Hoyano M, Minamino T: Angioscopic findings of organized thrombosis of iliac vein in patient with chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension. Cardiovasc Interv Ther, 2020 (in press).
- Kubota N, Ozaki K, Hoyano M, Minamino T: Angioscopic Findings of Deep Vein Thrombosis Treated by Balloon Angioplasty With Catheter-Directed Thrombolysis. Circ J, 2020; 84: 2.
- 5) Fujiki S, Iijima K, Okabe M, Niwano S, Tsujita K, Naito S, Ando K, Kusano K, Kato R, Nitta J, Miura T, Mitsuhashi T, Kario K, Kondo Y, Ieda M, Hagiwara N, Murohara T, Takahashi K, Tomita H, Takeishi Y, Anzai T, Shimizu W, Watanabe M, Morino Y, Kato T, Tada H, Nakagawa Y, Yano M, Maemura K, Kimura T, Yoshida H, Ota K, Tanaka T, Kitamura N, Node K, Aizawa Y, Shimizu I, Izumi D, Ozaki K, Minamino T: EMPA-ICD investigators. Placebo-Controlled, Double-Blind Study of Empagliflozin (EMPA) and Implantable Cardioverter-Defibrillator (EMPA-ICD) in

Patients with Type 2 Diabetes (T2DM): Rationale and Design. Diabetes Ther, 2020; 11: 2739-2755.

- 6) Shirakawa K, Endo J, Kataoka M, Katsumata Y, Anzai A, Moriyama H, Kitakata H, Hiraide T, Ko S, Goto S, Ichihara G, Fukuda K, Minamino T, Sano M: MerTK Expression and ERK Activation Are Essential for the Functional Maturation of Osteopontin-Producing Reparative Macrophages After Myocardial Infarction. J Am Heart Assoc, 2020; 9: e017071.
- 7) Kim HK, Ko TH, Song IS, Jeong YJ, Heo HJ, Jeong SH, Kim M, Park NM, Seo DY, Kha PT, Kim SW, Lee SR, Cho SW, Won JC, Youm JB, Ko KS, Rhee BD, Kim N, Cho KI, Shimizu I, Minamino T, Ha NC, Park YS, Nilius B, Han J: BH4 activates CaMKK2 and rescues the cardiomyopathic phenotype in rodent models of diabetes. Life Sci Alliance, 2020; 3: e201900619.
- 8) Sakai R, Ozaki K, Yamaguchi Y, Kubota N, Takano T, Okubo T, Kimura S, Hoyano M, Yanagawa T, Kashimura T, Minamino T: Pulmonary Artery Sarcoma Diagnosed Using an Endovascular Catheter Forceps Biopsy. Intern Med, 2020; 59: 2149–2153.
- 9) Tahara N, Dobashi H, Fukuda K, Funauchi M, Hatano M, Ikeda S, Joho S, Kihara Y, Kondo T, Matsushita M, Minamino T, Nakanishi N, Okano Y, Ozaki Y, Saji T, Sakai S, Tanabe N, Watanabe H, Yamada H, Yoshioka K, Hatta M, Sasayama S: Long-term treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension with macitentan in Japanese patients. Curr Med Res Opin, 2020; 36: 921–928.
- 10) Takano T, Ozaki K, Hoyano M, Yanagawa T, Kashimura T, Minamino T: Angioscopic findings during balloon pulmonary angioplasty in chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension Cardiovasc Interv Ther, 2020; 35: 421–422.

An asterisk (*) denotes doctoral works by Japanese students. A dagger (\dagger) denotes doctoral works by non-Japanese students.

This is a reprint of content originally published in Juntendo University HP.

- Shimizu I, Minamino T: Cellular Senescence in Arterial Diseases. J Lipid Atheroscler. 2020; 9: 79–91.
- 12) Otsuki S, Izumi D, Hasegawa Y, Yagihara N, Iijima K, Minamino T: Suppression of cardiac memory-related severe form of torsades de pointes by landiolol in a patient with congenital long QT syndrome type 2. Heart Rhythm Case Rep, 2020; 6: 407–410.
- 13) Kubota H, Endo H, Ishii H, Tsuchiya H, Inaba Y, Terakawa K, Takahashi Y, Noma M, Takemoto K, Taniai S, Sakata K, Soejima K, Shimoyamada H, Kamma H, Kawakami H, Kaneko Y, Hirono S, Izumi D, Ozaki K, Minamino T, Yoshino H, Sudo K: Adult ALCAPA: from histological picture to clinical features. J Cardiothorac Surg, 2020; 15: 14.
- 14) Endo H, Dohi T, Miyauchi K, Takahashi D, Funamizu T, Shitara J, Wada H, Doi S, Kato Y, Okai I, Iwata H, Okazaki S, Isoda K, Daida H: Clinical impact of complex percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with coronary artery disease. Cardiovasc Interv Ther, 2020; 35: 234–241.
- 15) Fukase T, Dohi T, Kato Y, Chikata Y, Takahashi N, Endo H, Doi S, Nishiyama H, Okai I, Iwata H, Okazaki S, Isoda K, Miyauchi K, Daida H, Minamino T: Long-term clinical outcomes and cause of death after endovascular treatment for femoropopliteal artery lesions. J Cardiol, 2020; 5087: 30367–1.
- 16) Kato E, Fujimoto S, Kumamaru KK, Kawaguchi YO, Dohi T, Aoshima C, Kamo Y, Takamura K, Kato Y, Hiki M, Okai I, Okazaki S, Aoki S, Daida H: Adjustment of CT-fractional flow reserve based on fluid-structure interaction underestimation to minimize 1year cardiac events. Heart Vessels, 2020; 35: 162-169.
- 17) Kawashima H, Kyono H, Nakashima M, Okai I, Jujo K, Dohi T, Otsuki H, Tanaka K, Nagura F, Okazaki S, Hagiwara N, Daida H, Kozuma K: Prognostic Impact of Scoring Balloon Angioplasty After Rotational Atherectomy in Heavily Calcified Lesions Using Second-Generation Drug-Eluting Stents: A Multicenter Registry-Based Study. Cardiovasc Revasc Med, 2020; 21: 322–329.
- * 18) Aoshima C, Fujimoto S, Kawaguchi YO, Dohi

T, Kamo Y, Takamura K, Hiki M, Kato Y, Okai I, Okazaki S, Kumamaru KK, Aoki S, Daida H: Plaque characteristics on coronary CT angiography associated with the positive findings of fractional flow reserve and instantaneous wave-free ratio. Heart Vessels, 2020.

- 19) Takahashi N, Dohi T, Funamizu T, Endo H, Wada H, Doi S, Kato Y, Ogita M, Okai I, Iwata H, Okazaki S, Isoda K, Miyauchi K, Shimada K: Prognostic impact of lipoprotein (a) on long-term clinical outcomes in diabetic patients on statin treatment after percutaneous coronary intervention. J Cardiol, 2020; 76: 25-29.
- 20) Takano AM, Iwata H, Miyosawa K, Kimura A, Mukaida H, Osawa S, Kubota K, Doi S, Funamizu T, Takasu K, Okai I, Tamura H, Isoda K, Okazaki S, Suwa S, Miyauchi K, Sumiyoshi M, Amano A, Daida H: Reduced Number of Platelets During Intra-Aortic Balloon Pumping Counterpulsation Predicts Higher Cardiovascular Mortality After Device Removal in Association with Systemic Inflammation. Int Heart J, 2020; 61: 89–95.
- 21) Wada H, Dohi T, Miyauchi K, Nishio R, Takeuchi M, Takahashi N, Endo H, Ogita M, Iwata H, Kasai T, Okazaki S, Isoda K, Suwa S, Daida H: Neutrophil to Lymphocyte Ratio and Long-Term Cardiovascular Outcomes in Coronary Artery Disease Patients with Low High-Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein Level. Int Heart J, 2020; 61: 447-453.
- * 22) Chikata Y, Iwata H, Doi S, Funamizu T, Okazaki S, Dohi S, Higuchi R, Saji M, Takamisawa I, Tamura H, Amano A, Daida H, Minamino T: Simultaneous Estimation of Gender Male and Atrial Fibrillation as Risk Factors for Adverse Outcomes Following Transcatheter Aortic Valve Implantation. J Clin Med, 2020; 9: 3963.
 - 23) Takahashi N, Dohi T, Endo H, Funamizu T, Wada H, Doi S, Kato Y, Ogita M, Okai I, Iwata H, Okazaki S, Isoda K, Miyauchi K, Shimada K: Residual Inflammation Indicated by High-Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein Predicts Worse Long-Term Clinical Outcomes in Japanese Patients after Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. J Clin Med, 2020; 9: 1033.
 - 24) Nishitani-Yokoyama M, Miyauchi K, Shimada K, Yokoyama T, Ouchi S, Aikawa T, Kunimoto

M, Yamada M, Honzawa A, Okazaki S, Tsujita H, Koba S, Daida H: Preliminary Pilot Study of Combined Effects of Physical Activity and Achievement of LDL-Cholesterol Target on Coronary Plaque Volume Changes in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome. J Clin Med, 2020; 9: 1578.

- 25) Suwa S, Ogita M, Takahashi N, Wada H, Dohi T, Kasai T, Okazaki S, Shimada K, Miyauchi K, Bujo H, Daida H: Impact of LR11 as Residual Risk on Long-Term Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Coronary Artery Disease Treated with Statins after First Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. Int Heart J, 2020; 61: 470– 475.
- 26) Funamizu T, Iwata H, Nishida Y, Miyosawa K, Doi S, Chikata Y, Shitara J, Endo H, Wada H, Naito R, Ogita M, Dohi T, Kasai T, Okazaki S, Isoda K, Miyauchi K, Daida H: Increased risk of cardiovascular mortality by strict glycemic control (pre-procedural HbA1c < 6.5%) in Japanese medically-treated diabetic patients following percutaneous coronary intervention: a 10-year follow-up study. Cardiovasc Diabetol, 2020; 19: 21.</p>
- 27) Takeuchi M, Ogita M, Wada H, Takahashi D, Nozaki Y, Nishio R, Yasuda K, Takahashi N, Sonoda T, Yatsu S, Shitara J, Tsuboi S, Dohi T, Suwa S, Miyauchi K, Daida H: Comparison of long-term mortality between patients living alone vs. patients living with others with acute coronary syndrome treated with percutaneous coronary intervention: reply. Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes. 2020; 6: 340.
- 28) Takeuchi M, Ogita M, Wada H, Takahashi D, Nozaki Y, Nishio R, Yasuda K, Takahashi N, Sonoda T, Yatsu S, Shitara J, Tsuboi S, Dohi T, Suwa S, Miyauchi K, Daida H: Comparison of long-term mortality between living alone patients vs. living together patients with acute coronary syndrome treated with percutaneous coronary intervention. Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes, 2020; 6: 332–337.
- 29) Miyosawa K, Iwata H, Minami-Takano A, Hayashi H, Tabuchi H, Sekita G, Kadoguchi T, Ishii K, Nozaki Y, Funamizu T, Chikata Y, Matsushita S, Amano A, Sumiyoshi M, Nakazato Y, Daida H, Minamino T: Enhanced monocyte migratory activity in the patho-

genesis of structural remodeling in atrial fibrillation. PLoS One, 2020; 15: e0240540.

- 30) Hiki M, Iwata H, Takasu K, Nojiri S, Ishikawa G, Chikata Y, C Mattson P, Kasai T, Miyazaki T, Inoue K, Fujiwara Y, Sumiyoshi M, Kinugawa K, Daida H: Elevated Heart Rate in Combination with Elevated Blood Pressure Predicts Lower Cardiovascular Mortality in Acute Decompensated Heart Failure. Int Heart J, 2020; 61: 308–315.
- 31) Konishi H, Miyauchi K, Onishi A, Suzuki S, Fuchimoto D, Shitara J, Endo H, Wada H, Doi S, Naito R, Ogita M, Dohi T, Kasai T, Daida H: Effect of pemafibrate (K-877), a novel selective peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor *a* modular (SPPARM*a*), in atherosclerosis model using low density lipoprotein receptor knock-out swine with balloon injury. PLoS One, 2020; 15: e0241195.
- 32) Tanaka S, Kamiya K, Saito H, Saito K, Ogasahara Y, Maekawa E, Konishi M, Kitai T, Iwata K, Jujo K, Wada H, Kasai T, Hamazaki N, Nozaki K, Nagamatsu H, Ozawa T, Izawa K, Yamamoto S, Aizawa N, Wakaume K, Oka K, Momomura SI, Kagiyama N, Matsue Y: Prevalence and prognostic value of the coexistence of anemia and frailty in older patients with heart failure: insights from FRAG-ILE-HF cohort study. ESC Heart Fail, 2020; 8: 625-633.
- 33) Shiraishi Y, Kohsaka S, Abe T, Nagai T, Goda A, Nishihata Y, Nagatomo Y, Saji M, Toyosaki Y, Takei M, Kitai T, Kohno T Fukuda K, Matsue Y, Anzai T, Yoshikawa T: Derivation and Validation of Clinical Prediction Models for Rapid Risk Stratification for Time-Sensitive Management for Acute Heart Failure. J Clin Med, 2020; 11: 3394.
- 34) Matsue Y, Kinugasa Y, Kitai T, Ohishi S, Yamamoto K, Tsutsui H: Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on acute respiratory care of hypoxemic patients with acute heart failure in Japan: a cross-sectional study. Circ Rep, 2020; 2: 499–506.
- 35) Saito H, Yamashita M, Endo Y, Mizukami A, Yoshioka K, Hashimoto T, Koseki S, Shimode Y, Kitai T, Maekawa E, Kasai T, Kamiya K, Matsue Y: Cognitive impairment measured by Mini-Cog provides additive prognostic

information in elderly patients with heart failure. J Cardiol, 2020; 76: 350–356.

- 36) Yoshioka K, Matsue Y, Okumura T, Kida K, Oishi S, Akiyama E, Suzuki S, Yamamoto M, Mizukami A, Kuroda S, Kagiyama N, Yamaguchi T, Sasano T, Matsumura A, Kitai T: Impact of brain natriuretic peptide reduction on the worsening renal function in patients with acute heart failure. PLoS One, 2020; 15: e0235493.
- 37) Matsue Y, Kamiya K, Saito H, Saito K, Ogasahara Y, Maekawa E, Konishi M, Kitai T, Iwata K, Jujo K, Wada H, Kasai T, Nagamatsu H, Ozawa T, Izawa K, Yamamoto S, Aizawa N, Yonezawa R, Oka K, Momomura SI, Kagiyama N: Prevalence and prognostic impact of the coexistence of multiple frailty domains in elderly patients with heart failure: The FRAGILE-HF cohort study. Eur J Heart Fail, 2020; 22: 2112–2119.
- 38) Matsue Y, Kagiyama N, Yamaguchi T, Kuroda S, Okumura T, Kida K, Mizuno A, Oishi S, Inuzuka Y, Akiyama E, Matsukawa R, Kato K, Suzuki S, Naruke T, Yoshioka K, Miyoshi T, Baba Y, Yamamoto M, Mizutani K, Yoshida K, Kitai T: Clinical and Prognostic Values of ALBI Score in Patients With Acute Heart Failure. Heart Lung Circ, 2020; 29: 1328–1337.
- 39) Motiejūnaitė J, Akiyama E, Cohen-Solal A, Maggioni AP, Mueller C, Choi DJ, Kavoliuniene A, Celutkiene J, Parenica J, Lassus J, Kajimoto K, Sato N, Miró Ò, Peacock WF, Matsue Y, Voors AA, Lam CSP, Ezekowitz JA, Ahmed A, Fonarrow GC, Gayat E, Regitz-Zagrosek V, Mebazaa A: The association of long-term outcome and biological sex in patients with acute heart failure from different geographic regions. Eur Heart J, 2020; 41: 1357-1364.
- 40) Kitai T, Xanthopoulos A, Tang WHW, Kaji S, Furukawa Y, Oishi S, Akiyama E, Suzuki S, Yamamoto M, Kida K, Okumura T, Skoularigis J, Triposkiadis F, Matsue Y: Validation of the Larissa Heart Failure Risk Score for risk stratification in acute heart failure. Int J Cardiol, 2020; 307: 119–124.
- 41) Matsue Y. Are Obese Patients With Heart Failure Very Different From Non-Obese Patients? J Card Fail, 2020; 26: 118-119.

- 42) Kato T, Kasai T, Sato A, Ishiwata S, Yatsu S, Matsumoto H, Shitara J, Murata A, Shimizu M, Suda S, Hiki M, Naito R, Daida H: Effects of 3-Month astaxanthin supplementation on cardiac function in heart failure patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction-a pilot study. Nutrients, 2020; 12: E1896.
- 43) Docherty KF, Jhund PS, Bengtsson O, DeMets DL, Inzucchi SE, Køber L, Kosiborod MN, Langkilde AM, Martinez FA, Sabatine MS, Sjöstrand M, Solomon SD, McMurray JJV; DAPA-HF Investigators and Committees: Effect of Dapagliflozin in DAPA-HF According to Background Glucose-Lowering Therapy. Diabetes Care, 2020; 43: 2878-2881.
- 44) Ishiwata S, Yatsu S, Kasai T, Sato A, Matsumoto H, Shitara J, Shimizu M, Murata A, Kato T, Suda S, Doi S, Hiki M, Matsue Y, Naito R, Iwata H, Takagi A, Daida H: Prognostic effect of a novel simply calculated nutritional index in acute decompensated heart failure. Nutrients, 2020; 12: E3311.
- 45) Nemoto M, Nakashima K, Noma S, Matsue Y, Yoshida K, Matsui H, Shiraishi A, Ishifuji T, Morimoto K, Ariyoshi K, Aoshima M: Prognostic value of chest computed tomography in community-acquired pneumonia patients. ERJ Open Res, 2020; in-press.
- 46) Konishi M, Kagiyama N, Kamiya K, Saito H, Saito K, Ogasahara Y, Maekawa E, Misumi T, Kitai T, Iwata K, Jujo K, Wada H, Kasai T, Nagamatsu H, Ozawa T, Izawa K, Yamamoto S, Aizawa N, Makino A, Oka K, Momomura SI, Matsue Y: Impact of sarcopenia on prognosis in patients with heart failure with reduced and preserved ejection fraction. Eur J Prev Cardiol, 2020; in-press.
- 47) Ito M, Matsue Y, Minamino T: Worsening renal function during intensive blood pressure control: another example of not prognostically relevant creatinine rise? Eur J Heart Fail, 2020; in-press.
- 48) Kimura Y, Kasai T, Tomita Y, Kasagi S, Takaya H, Kato M, Kawana F, Narui K: Relationship between metabolic syndrome and hypercapnia among obese patients with sleep apnea. World J Respirol, 2020; 10: 1–10.
- 49) Murase K, Tanizawa K, Minami T, Matsumoto T, Tachikawa R, Takahashi N, Tsuda

T, Ohi M, Akahoshi T, Tomita Y, Narui K, Nakamura H, Ohdaira T, Yoshimine H, Tsuboi T, Yamashiro Y, Ando S, Kasai T, Kita H, Tatsumi K, Burioka N, Tomii K, Kondo Y, Takeyama H, Handa T, Hamada S, Oga T, Nakayama T, Sakamaki T, Morita S, Kuroda T, Hirai T, Chin K: Telemedicine for obstructive sleep apnea patients undergoing longterm CPAP treatment. Ann Am Thorac Soc, 2020; 17: 329–337.

- 50) Kawasaki Y, Kasai T, Koikawa N, Hanazato N, Suda S, Murata A, Ozaki R, Nagai S, Matsumura Y, Kaneko H, Kubo M, Osawa A, Nojiri S, Ogasawara E, Sakuraba K, Daida H, Kitade M, Itakura A: Sex differences in factors associated with poor subjective sleep quality in athletes. J Sports Med Phys Fitness, 2020; 60: 141–150.
- 51) Kimura Y, Kasai T, Tomita Y, Kasagi S, Takaya H, Kato M, Kawana F, Narui K: Relationship between metabolic syndrome and hypercapnia among obese patients with sleep apnea. World J Respirol, 2020; 10: 1–10.
- 52) Murase K, Tanizawa K, Minami T, Matsumoto T, Tachikawa R, Takahashi N, Tsuda T, Ohi M, Akahoshi T, Tomita Y, Narui K, Nakamura H, Ohdaira T, Yoshimine H, Tsuboi T, Yamashiro Y, Ando S, Kasai T, Kita H, Tatsumi K, Burioka N, Tomii K, Kondo Y, Takeyama H, Handa T, Hamada S, Oga T, Nakayama T, Sakamaki T, Morita S, Kuroda T, Hirai T, Chin K: Telemedicine for obstructive sleep apnea patients undergoing long-term CPAP treatment. Ann Am Thorac Soc, 2020; 17: 329–337.
- 53) Kawasaki Y, Kasai T, Koikawa N, Hanazato N, Suda S, Murata A, Ozaki R, Nagai S, Matsumura Y, Kaneko H, Kubo M, Osawa A, Nojiri S, Ogasawara E, Sakuraba K, Daida H, Kitade M, Itakura A: Sex differences in factors associated with poor subjective sleep quality in athletes. J Sports Med Phys Fitness, 2020; 60: 141–150.
- 54) Yamada Y, Kasagi S, Tamura H, Kawana F, Tomita Y, Narui K, Kasai T: Clinical Utility of a Type 4 Portable Device for In-home Screening of Sleep Disordered Breathing. Ann Palliat Med, 2020; 9: 2895–2902.
- 55) Kasai T: Who will desire upper airway stim-

ulation as a treatment of obstructive sleep apnea in the Japanese patient population? Sleep Biol Rhythms, 2020; 18: 281–282.

- 56) Tomita Y, Kasai T: Relationship between cardio-ankle vascular index and obstructive sleep apnea. Rev Cardiovasc Med, 2020; 21: 353-363.
- 57) Ishiwata S, Tomita Y, Ishiwata S, Narui K, Daida H, Kasai T: Association between Obstructive Sleep Apnea and SYNTAX Score. J Clin Med, 2020; 9: E3314.
- 58) Kasai T, Taranto Montemurro L, Yumino D, Wang H, Floras JS, Newton GE, Mak S, Ruttanaumpawan P, Parker JD, Bradley TD: Inverse Relationship of Subjective Daytime Sleepiness to Mortality in Heart Failure Patients with Sleep Apnea. ESC Heart Fail, 2020; 7: 2448–2454.
- 59) Koikawa N, Takami Y, Kasawaki Y, Kawana F, Shiroshita N, Ogasawara E, Kasai T: Changes in the objective measures of sleep between the initial nights of menses and the nights during the mid-follicular phase of the menstrual cycle in collegiate female athletes. J Clin Sleep Med, 2020; 16: 1745–1751.
- 60) Kasai T, Takata Y, Yoshihisa A, Takeishi Y, Chin K, Ando S, Kawana F, Momomura S: Comparison of the apnea-hypopnea index determined by the peripheral arterial tonometry based device with apnea-hypopnea index determined by polysomnography: results from a multicenter study. Circ Rep, 2020; 2020; 2: 674-681.
- 61) Neeland IJ, Eliasson B, Kasai T, Marx N, Zinman B, Inzucchi SE, Wanner C, Zwiener I, Wojeck BS, Yaggi HK, Johansen OE; EMPA-REG OUTCOME Investigators: The impact of empagliflozin on obstructive sleep apnea, cardiovascular, and renal Outcomes: An Exploratory Analysis of the EMPA-REG OUTCOME Trial. Diabetes Care, 2020. [Online ahead of print.]
- 62) Uchida T, Nishimura A, Kasai T, Kikuno S, Nagasawa K, Okubo M, Narui K, Mori Y: Relationship between obstructive sleep apnoea during rapid eye movement sleep and metabolic syndrome parameters in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Sleep Breath, 2020. [Online ahead of print]

- 63) Nishimura A, Kasai T, Matsumura K, Kikuno S, Nagasawa K, Okubo M, Narui K, Mori Y: Sleep disordered breathing during rapid eye movement sleep and diabetic kidney disease in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Clin Sleep Med, 2020. [Online ahead of print]
- 64) Sato A, Kato T, Kasai T, Ishiwatal S, Yatsu S, Matsumoto H, Shitara J, Murata A, Shimizu M, Suda S, Matsue Y, Naito R, Hiki M, Daida H: Relationship between inflammatory biomarkers and sleep-disordered breathing in patients with heart failure. Sleep Biol Rhythms, 2020. [Online ahead of print]
- 65) Sata N, Inoshita A, Suda S, Shiota S, Shiroshita N, Kawana F, Suzuki Y, Matsumoto F, Ikeda K, Kasai T: Clinical, polysomnographic, and cephalometric features of obstructive sleep apnea with AHI over 100. Sleep Breath, 2020. [Online ahead of print]
- 66) Ishiwata S, Kato T, Kasai T, Sato A, Yatsu S, Matsumoto H, Shitara J, Murata A, Shimizu M, Suda S, Matsue Y, Naito R, HIki M, Daida H: Changes in self-reported physical activity and health-related quality of life following 3-month astaxanthin supplementation in patients with heart failure: results from a pilot study. Ann Palliat Med, 2020; apm-20-1378.
- 67) Kumamaru KK, Fujimoto S, Otsuka Y, Kawasaki T, Kawaguchi Y, Kato E, Takamura K, Aoshima C, Kamo Y, Kogure Y, Inage H, Daida H, Aoki S: Diagnostic accuracy of 3D deep-learning-based fully automated estimation of patient-level minimum fractional flow reserve from coronary computed tomography angiography. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc imaging, 2020; 21: 437-445.
- 68) Kato E, Fujimoto S, Kumamaru KK, Kawaguchi YO, Dohi T, Aoshima C, Kamo Y, Takamura K, Kato Y, Hiki M, Okai I, Okazaki S, Aoki S, Daida H: Adjustment of CT-fractional flow reserve based on fluid-structure interaction underestimation to minimize 1year cardiac events. Heart Vessels, 2020; 35: 162-169.
- 69) Kawasaki T, Kido M, Kido T, Sueta D, Fujimoto S, Kumamaru KK, Uetani T, Tanabe Y, Ueda T, Sakabe D, Oda S, Yamashiro T, Tsujita K, Kato S, Yuki H, Utsunomiya D: Evaluation of

Significant Coronary Artery Disease Based on CT Fractional Flow Reserve and Plaque Characteristics Using Random Forest Analysis in Machine Learning. Acad Radiol, 2020; 27: 1700–1708.

- 70) Arakawa H, Tomizawa N, Chou S, Matsuoka S, Yamamoto K, Inoh S, Nojo T, Kumamaru KK, Fujimoto S, Nakamura S: Low Iodine Dose is Related with Overestimation of Extracellular Volume Derived from Cardiac CT. Cardiovasc Imaging Asia, 2020; 4: 38-44.
- * 71) Kamo Y, Fujimoto S, Aoshima C, Kawaguchi YO, Nozaki Y, Kudo A, Takahashi D, Takamura K, Hiki M, Tomizawa N, Kumamaru KK, Aoki S, Daida H: A Study on The Prevalence, Distribution and Related Factors of Heart Valve Calcification Using coronary CT Angiography. Int J Cardiol Heart Vasc, 2020; 29: 100571.
 - 72) Podgorsak A, Sommer K, Reddy A, Iyer V, Wilson M, Rybicki F, Mitsouras D, Sharma U, Fujimoto S, Kumamaru KK, Angel E, Ionita C: Initial evaluation of a convolutional neural network used for non-invasive assessment of coronary artery disease severity from coronary computed tomography angiography data. Medical Physics, 2020; 47: 3996–4004.
 - 73) Tomizawa N, Chou S, Fujino Y, Matsuoka S, Yamamoto K, Inoh S, Nojo T, Kumamaru KK, Fujimoto S, Nakamura S: Impact of Abnormal Remote Stress Myocardial Blood Flow by Dynamic CT Perfusion on Clinical Outcomes. Sci Rep, 2020; 10: 10244.
 - 74) Yamamoto H, Kihara Y, Fujimoto S, Daida H, Kobuke K, Iwanaga Y, Miyazaki S, Kawasaki T, Fujii T, Kuribayashi S: Predictive value of the coronary artery calcium score and advanced plaque characteristics: Post hoc analysis of the PREDICT registry. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr, 2020 in press.
 - 75) Sommer KN, Shepard LM, Mitsouras D, Iyer V, Angel E, Wilson MF, Rybicki FJ, Kumamaru KK, Sharma UC, Reddy A, Fujimoto S, Ionita CN: Patient-specific 3D-printed coronary models based on coronary computed tomography angiography volumes to investigate flow conditions in coronary artery disease. Biomed. Phys. Eng. Express, 2020 in press.
 - 76) Doi S, Kasai T, Yatsu S, Miyazaki S, Fujimoto

S, Okazaki S, Dohi S, Kuwaki K, Amano A and Daida H: Changes in polysomnographic findings following transcatheter aortic valve implantation in a patient with aortic stenosis. J Cardiol Cases, 2020; 21: 75–78.

- 77) Kiriyama H, Daimon M, Nakanishi K, Kaneko H, Nakao T, Morimoto-Ichikawa R, Miyazaki S, Morita H, Daida H and Komuro I: Comparison Between Healthcare-Associated and Community-Acquired Infective Endocarditis at Tertiary Care Hospitals in Japan. Circulation journal : official journal of the Japanese Circulation Society, 2020; 84: 670–676.
- 78) Onishi T, Fukuda Y, Miyazaki S, Yamada H, Tanaka H, Sakamoto J, Daimon M, Izumi C, Nonaka A, Nakatani S and Akaishi M: Practical guidance for echocardiography for cancer therapeutics-related cardiac dysfunction. Journal of echocardiography, 2020.
- 79) Kaya E, Miyazaki S, Yamamoto T, Amano A, Daida H, Minamino T: Progression of Tricuspid Regurgitation Early After Isolated Mitral Valve Repair. Juntendo Medical Journal. 2020; 66: 512–518.
- 80) Sai E, Shimada K, Aikawa T, Aoshima C, Takamura K, Hiki M, Yokoyama T, Miyazaki T, Fujmoto S, Konishi H, Hirano KI, Daida H, Minamino T: Triglyceride Deposit Cardiomyovasculopathy with Massive Myocardial Triglyceride which was Proven Using Protonmagnetic Resonance Spectroscopy. T. Intern Med, 2020; 6126–20.
- 81) Kunimoto M, Shimada K, Yokoyama M, Matsubara T, Aikawa T, Ouchi S, Shimizu M, Fukao K, Miyazaki T, Kadoguchi T, Fujiwara K, Abulimiti A, Honzawa A, Yamada M, Shimada A, Yamamoto T, Asai T, Amano A, Smit AJ, Daida H: Association between the tissue accumulation of advanced glycation end products and exercise capacity in cardiac rehabilitation patients. BMC Cardiovasc Disord, 2020; 20: 195.
- 82) Kadoguchi T, Shimada K, Miyazaki T, Kitamura K, Kunimoto M, Aikawa T, Sugita Y, Ouchi S, Shiozawa T, Yokoyama-Nishitani M, Fukao K, Miyosawa K, Isoda K, Daida H: Promotion of oxidative stress is associated with mitochondrial dysfunction and muscle atrophy in aging mice. Geriatr Gerontol Int,

2020; 20: 78-84.

- 83) Kaga H, Tamura Y, Takeno K, Kakehi S, Someya Y, Funayama T, Furukawa Y, Suzuki R, Sugimoto D, Kadowaki S, Nishitani-Yokoyama M, Shimada K, Daida H, Aoki S, Giacca A, Sato H, Kawamori R, Watada H: Shape of the glucose response curve during an oral glucose tolerance test is associated with insulin clearance and muscle insulin sensitivity in healthy non-obese men. J Diabetes Investig, 2020; 11: 874-877.
- 84) Sato M, Tamura Y, Someya Y, Takeno K, Kaga H, Kadowaki S, Sugimoto D, Kakehi S, Funayama T, Furukawa Y, Suzuki R, Nakagata T, Nishitani-Yokoyama M, Shimada K, Daida H, Aoki S, Sato H, Kawamori R, Watada H: Characteristics associated with elevated 1-h plasma glucose levels during a 75-g oral glucose tolerance test in non-obese Japanese men. J Diabetes Investig, 2020; 11: 1520-1523.
- 85) Yamasaki N, Tamura Y, Takeno K, Kakehi S, Someya Y, Funayama T, Furukawa Y, Kaga H, Suzuki R, Sugimoto D, Kadowaki S, Sato M, Nakagata T, Nishitani-Yokoyama M, Shimada K, Daida H, Aoki S, Sato H, Kawamori R, Watada H: Both higher fitness level and higher current physical activity level may be required for intramyocellular lipid accumulation in non-athlete men. Sci Rep, 2020; 10: 4102.
- * 86) Fujiwara K, Shimada K, Nishitani-Yokoyama M, Kunimoto M, Matsubara T, Matsumori R, Abulimiti A, Aikawa T, Ouchi S, Shimizu M, Fukao K, Miyazaki T, Honzawa A, Yamada M, Saito M, Morisawa T, Takahashi T, Daida H, Minamino T: Arterial stiffness index and exercise tolerance in patients undergoing cardiac rehabilitation: comparison between patients with preserved and reduced ejection fraction. Int Heart J, 2020 in press.
 - 87) Nishitani-Yokoyama M, Daida H, Shimada K, Ushijima A, Kida K, Kono Y, Sakata Y, Nagayama M, Furukawa Y, Fukuma N, Saku K, Miura S, Ohya Y, Goto Y, Makita S for the Japanese Association of Cardiac Rehabilitation (JACR) Registration Committee: Effects of Phase II Comprehensive Cardiac Rehabilitation on Risk Factor Modification and Exercise Capacity in Patients With Acute Coronary Syndrome –Results From the JACR

Registry - Circ Rep, 2020; 2: 715-721.

- 88) Takahashi T, Morisawa T, Saitoh M, Yokoyama M, Shimada K, Fujiwara T, Daida H: Current status and future development of acute and cardiac physiotherapies in Japan. Phys Ther Res, 2020; 23: 1–7.
- 89) Shimada K, Nishitani-Yokoyama M, Takahashi T, Daida H: Physical activity and longterm prognosis in patients with stable coronary artery disease: how often, how intense, and how long? Eur J Prev Cardiol, 2020; 27: 422-425.
- 90) Endo H, Dohi T, Miyauchi K, Takahashi D, Funamizu T, Shitara J, Wada H, Doi S, Kato Y, Okai I, Iwata H, Okazaki S, Isoda K, Daida H: Clinical impact of complex percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with coronary artery disease. Cardiovasc Interv Ther, 2020; 35: 234-241.
- 91) Nishizaki Y, Shimada K, Tani S, Ogawa T, Ando J, Takahashi M, Yamamoto M, Shinozaki T, Miyazaki T, Miyauchi K, Nagao K, Hirayama A, Yoshimura M, Komuro I, Nagai R, Daida H: Association between the ratio of serum n-3 to n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids and acute coronary syndrome in non-obese patients with coronary risk factor: a multicenter cross-sectional study. BMC Cardiovasc Disord, 2020; 20: 160.
- 92) Wada H, Dohi T, Miyauchi K, Nishio R, Takeuchi M, Takahashi N, Endo H, Ogita M, Iwata H, Kasai T, Okazaki S, Isoda K, Suwa S, Daida H: Neutrophil to Lymphocyte Ratio and Long-Term Cardiovascular Outcomes in Coronary Artery Disease Patients with Low High-Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein Level. Int Heart J, 2020; 61: 447–453.
- 93) Fukase T, Dohi T, Kato Y, Chikata Y, Takahashi N, Endo H, Doi S, Nishiyama H, Okai I, Iwata H, Okazaki S, Isoda K, Miyauchi K, Daida H, Minamino T: Long-term clinical outcomes and cause of death after endovascular treatment for femoropopliteal artery lesions. J Cardiol, 2020: S0914-5087: 30367-1.
- 94) Kato Y, Dohi T, Chikata Y, Fukase T, Takeuchi M, Takahashi N, Endo H, Nishiyama H, Doi S, Okai I, Iwata H, Isoda K, Okazaki S, Miyauchi K, Daida H, Minamino T: Predictors of discordance between fractional flow reserve and

resting full-cycle ratio in patients with coronary artery disease: Evidence from clinical practice. J Cardiol, 2020: S0914–5087: 30352–X.

- 95) Hirose S, Miyazaki S, Yatsu S, Sato A, Ishiwata S, Matsumoto H, Shitara J, Murata A, Kato T, Suda S, Matsue Y, Hiki M, Takagi A, Daida H, Kasai T: Impact of the Geriatric Nutritional Risk Index on In-Hospital Mortality and Length of Hospitalization in Patients with Acute Decompensated Heart Failure with Preserved or Reduced Ejection Fraction. J Clin Med, 2020; 9: 1169.
- 96) Honzawa A, Nishitani-Yokoyama M, Shimada K, Kunimoto M, Yamada M, Matsubara T, Matsumori R, Fujiwara K, Abulimiti A, Aikawa T, Ouchi S, Shimizu M, Sugita Y, Shimada A, Yamamoto T, Amano A, Asai T, Saito M, Morisawa T, Takahashi T, Fujiwara T, Daida H, Minamino T: Relationship Between Kihon Checklist Score and Anxiety Levels in Elderly Patients Undergoing Early Phase II Cardiac Rehabilitation. Cardiol Res, 2020; 11: 405-411.
- 97) Tan WCJ, Inoue K, AbdelWareth L, Giannitsis E, Kasim S, Shiozaki M, Aw TC, Cheng F, Dung HT, Li YH, Lim SH, Lukito AA, Than M, Chu FY, Devasia T, Lee CC, Phrommintikul A, Youn JC, Chew DP: The Asia-Pacific Society of Cardiology (APSC) Expert Committee Consensus Recommendations for Assessment of Suspected Acute Coronary Syndrome Using High-Sensitivity Cardiac Troponin T in the Emergency Department. Circ J, 2020; 84: 136–143.
- 98) Lee CC, Huang SS, Yeo YH, Hou YT, Park JY, Inoue K, Hsu WT: High-sensitivitycardiac troponin for accelerated diagnosis of acute myocardial infarction: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Emerg Med, 2020; 38: 1402–1407.
- 99) Fukuzaki H, Fukuda K, Sato A, Shiozaki M, Kubota N, Tamura H, Inoue K, Fujiwara Y, Sumiyoshi M: Primary cardiac diffuse large B-cell lymphoma promptly and safely diagnosed with pericardial effusion cytology: A case report. Intern Med Advance Publication 2020.
- 100) Ishii K, Sumiyoshi M, Hayashi H, Nakazato Y: A case of paroxysmal atrioventricular block

with atrial pacemaker shift during ventricular arrest. J Arrhythmia, 2020; 36: 950–1.

- 101) Nunoi Y, Hagiwara-Nagasawa M, Kambayashi R, Goto A, Chiba K, Wada T, Izumi-Nakaseko H, Matsumoto A, Watanabe Y, Sugiyama A: Characterization of microminipig as a laboratory animal for pharmacological study by analyzing bepridil-induced cardiovascular responses. J Pharmacol Sci, 2020; 143: 56–59.
- 102) Matsushita K, Harada K, Miyazaki T, Miyamoto T, Kohsaka S, Iida K, Yamamoto Y, Nagatomo Y, Yoshino H, Yamamoto T, Nagao K, Takayama M: Reply to: Heart Failure With Preserved Ejection Fraction in Older Adults. J Am Geriatr Soc, 2020; 68: 665–666.
- 103) Werner GS, Yaginuma K: Editorial: The Ostial Chronic Total Occlusion - A Special Animal. Cardiovasc Revasc Med, 2020; 21: 666–667.
- 104) Shahi HA, Kadoguchi T, Shimada K, Fukao K, Matsushita S, Aikawa T, Ouchi S, Shiozawa T, Takahashi S, Sato-Okabayashi Y, Akita K, Isoda K, Miyazaki T, Daida H: Voluntary exercise and cardiac remodeling in a myocardial infarction model. Open Med (Wars). 2020; 15: 545–555.
- 105) Werner GS, Yaginuma K, Koch M, Tischer K, Silber M, Werner J, Keuser T, Moehlis H: Modulated radiation protocol achieves marked reduction of radiation exposure for chronic total coronary occlusion intervention. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv, 2020. Online ahead of print.
- 106) Shiozaki M, Inoue K, Suwa S, Lee CC, Chiang SJ, Sato A, Shimizu M, Fukuda K, Hiki M, Kubota N, Tamura H, Fujiwara Y, Ouchi S, Miyazaki T, Hirano Y, Tanaka H, Sugita M, Nakazato Y, Sumiyoshi M, Daida H: Implementing the European Society of Cardiology 0-h/1-h algorithm in patients presenting very early after chest pain. Int J Cardiol, 2020; 320: 1-6.
- 107) Takei M, Harada K, Shiraishi Y, Matsuda J, Iwasaki Y, Yamamoto Y, Matsushita K, Miyazaki T, Miyamoto T, Iida K, Tanimoto S, Nagatomo Y, Hosoda T, Kohsaka S, Yamamoto T, Nagao K, Takayama M: Delay in seeking treatment before emergent heart failure readmission and its association with clinical phenotype. J Intensive Care, 2020; 8: 65.

- 108) Shiraishi Y, Kohsaka S, Katsuki T, Harada K, Miyazaki T, Miyamoto T, Matsushita K, Iida K, Takei M, Yamamoto Y, Shindo A, Kitano D, Nagatomo Y, Jimba T, Yamamoto T, Nagao K, Takayama M; for Tokyo CCU Network Scientific Committee: Benefit and harm of intravenous vasodilators across the clinical profile spectrum in acute cardiogenic pulmonary oedema patients. Eur Heart J Acute Cardiovasc Care, 2020; 9: 448–458.
- 109) Shimizu M, Miyazaki T, Takagi A, Sugita Y, Ouchi S, Aikawa T, Shiozawa T, Hiki M, Takahashi S, Hiki M, Shimada K, Daida H: Low coenzyme Q10 levels in patients with acute cardiovascular disease are associated with long-term mortality. Heart Vessels, 2020. Online ahead of print.
- 110) Shimada K, Morinaga H, Kiyanagi T, Miyazaki T, Nishitani-Yokoyama M, Okai I, Tamura H, Konishi H, Kurata T, Miyauchi K, Daida H: Safety and Efficacy of Simultaneous Inoculations of Pneumococcal and Influenza Vaccines in Patients with Coronary Artery Disease. J Atheroscler Thromb, 2020. Online ahead of print.
- 111) Hagiwara-Nagasawa M, Kambayashi R, Goto A, Nunoi Y, Izumi-Nakaseko H, Chiba K, Wada T, Takei Y, Matsumoto A, Sugiyama A: Analysis of electropharmacological and proarrhythmic effects of donepezil using the halothane-anesthetized intact dogs and the conscious chronic atrioventricular block ones. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol, 2020. Online ahead of print.
- 112) Suwa S, Ogita M, Ebina H, Nakao K, Ozaki Y, Kimura K, Ako J, Noguchi T, Yasuda S, Fujimoto K, Nakama Y, Morita T, Shimizu W, Saito Y, Hirohata A, Morita Y, Inoue T, Okamura A, Mano T, Hirata K, Tanabe K, Shibata Y, Owa M, Tsujita K, Funayama H, Kokubu N, Kozuma K, Uemura S, Toubaru T, Saku K, Oshima S, Nishimura K, Miyamoto Y, Ogawa H, Ishihara M: J-MINUET investigators. Admission during off-hours does not affect long-term clinical outcomes of Japanese patients with acute myocardial infarction: J-MINUET substudy. Int Heart J, 2020; 61: 215-222.
- 113) Wada H, Ogita M, Suwa S, Nakao K, Ozaki Y,

Kimura K, Ako J, Noguchi T, Yasuda S, Fujimoto K, Nakama Y, Morita T, Shimizu W, Saito Y, Hirohata A, Morita Y, Inoue T, Okamura A, Mano T, Hirata K, Tanabe K, Shibata Y, Owa M, Tsujita K, Funayama H, Kokubu N, Kozuma K, Uemura S, Toubaru T, Saku K, Oshima S, Nishimura K, Miyamoto Y, Ogawa H, Ishihara M: J-MINUET investigators. Guideline adherence and long-term clinical outcomes in patients with acute myocardial infarction: a Japanese Registry of Acute Myocardial Infarction Diagnosed by Universal Definition (J-MINUET) substudy. Eur Heart J Acute Cardiovasc Care, 2020: 2048872620902024.

- 114) Wada H, Dohi T, Miyauchi K, Takahashi N, Nishio R, Takeuchi M, Takahashi N, Endo H, Ogita M, Iwata H, Kasai T, Okazaki S, Isoda K, Suwa S, Daida H: Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio and long-term cardiovascular outcomes in coronary artery disease patients with low high-sensitivity C-reactive protein level. Int Heart J, 2020; 61: 447-453.
- 115) Takahashi N, Ogita M, Suwa S, Nakao K, Ozaki Y, Kimura K, Ako J, Noguchi T, Yasuda S, Fujimoto K, Nakama Y, Morita T, Shimizu W, Saito Y, Hirohata A, Morita Y, Inoue T, Okamura A, Mano T, Hirata K, Tanabe K, Shibata Y, Owa M, Tsujita K, Funayama H, Kokubu N, Kozuma K, Uemura S, Toubaru T, Saku K, Oshima S, Nishimura K, Miyamoto Y, Ogawa H, Ishihara M: J-MINUET investigators. Prognositc impact of B-type natriuretic peptide on long-term clincal outcomes in patients with non-ST-segment elevation acute myocardial infarction without creatinine kinase elevation: a Japanese Registry of Acute Myocardial Infarction Diagnosed by Universal Definition (J-MINUET) substudy. Int Heart J. 2020; 61: 888-895.
- 116) Watanabe H, Domei T, Morimoto T, Natsuaki M, Shiomi H, Toyota T, Ohya M, Suwa S, Takagi K, Nanasato M, Hata Y, Yagi M, Suematsu N, Yokomatsu T, Takamisawa I, Doi M, Noda T, Okayama H, Seino Y, Tada T, Sakamoto H, Hibi K, Abe M, Kawai K, Nakao K, Ando K, Tanabe K, Ikari Y, Hanaoka KI, Morino Y, Kozuma K, Kadota K, Furukawa Y, Nakagawa Y, Kimura T*: STOPDAPT-2 investigators. Details on the effect of very

short dual antiplatelet therapy after drugeluting stent implantation in patients with high bleeding risk: insight from the STOP-DAPT-2 trial. Cardiovasc Interv Ther, 2020. (Online ahead of print).

- 117) Sato S, Sakamoto K, Kaikita K, Tsujita K, Nakao K, Ozaki Y, Kimura K, Ako J, Noguchi T, Yasuda S, Suwa S, Fujimoto K, Nakama Y, Morita T, Shimizu W, Saito Y, Hirohata A, Morita Y, Inoue T, Okamura A, Mano T, Hirata K, Tanabe K, Shibata Y, Owa M, Funayama H, Kokubu N, Kozuma K, Uemura S, Toubaru T, Saku K, Oshima S, Nishimura K, Miyamoto Y. Ogawa H. Ishihara M: J-MINUET investigators. Long-term prognosis of patients with myocardial infarction Type1 and Type2 with and without involvement of coronary spasm: a Japanese Registry of Acute Myocardial Infarction Diagnosed by Universal Definition (J-MINUET) substudy. J Clin Med, 2020; 9: 1686.
- 118) Akahori H, Masuyama T, Imanaka T, Nakao K, Ozaki Y, Kimura K, Ako J, Noguchi T, Yasuda S, Suwa S, Fujimoto K, Nakama Y, Morita T, Shimizu W, Saito Y, Hirohata A, Morita Y, Inoue T, Okamura A, Mano T, Hirata K, Tanabe K, Shibata Y, Owa M, Tsujita K, Funayama H, Kokubu N, Kozuma K, Uemura S, Toubaru T, Saku K, Oshima S, Nishimura K, Miyamoto Y, Ogawa H, Ishihara M: J-MINUET investigators. Impact of peripheral artery disease on prognosis after myocardial infarction: The J-MINUET study. J Cardiol, 2020; 76: 402-406.
- 119) Toyoda S, Sakuma M, Abe S, Inoue T, Nakao K, Ozaki Y, Kimura K, Ako J, Noguchi T, Yasuda S, Suwa S, Fujimoto K, Nakama Y, Morita T, Shimizu W, Saito Y, Hirohata A, Morita Y, Okamura A, Mano T, Hirata K, Tanabe K, Shibata Y, Owa M, Funayama H, Kokubu N, Kozuma K, Uemura S, Toubaru T, Saku K, Oshima S, Nishimura K, Miyamoto Y, Ogawa H, Ishihara M: J-MINUET investigators. Prediction of long-term outcomes in ST-elevation myocardial infarction and non-ST segment myocardial infarction with and without creatinine kinase elevation-post-hoc analysis of the J-MINUET study. J Clin Med, 2020; 9: 2667.

- 120) Soeda T, Okura H, Saito Y, Nakao K, Ozaki Y, Kimura K, Ako J, Noguchi T, Yasuda S, Suwa S, Fujimoto K, Nakama Y, Morita T, Shimizu W, Hirohata A, Morita Y, Inoue T, Okamura A, Mano T, Hirata K, Tanabe K, Shibata Y, Owa M, Tsujita K, Funayama H, Kokubu N, Kozuma K, Uemura S, Toubaru T, Saku K, Oshima S, Nishimura K, Miyamoto Y, Ogawa H, Ishihara M: J-MINUET investigators. Clinical characteristics and in-hospital outcomes in patients aged 80 years or over with cardiac troponin-positive acute myocardial infaction-J-MINUET study. J Cardiol, 2020; S0914-5087: 30291-4.
- 121) Yamamoto K, Natsuaki M, Yoshikawa Y, Morimoto T, Shiomi H, Watanabe H, Kato T, Saito N, Kadota K, Ando K, Furukawa Y, Tamura T, Sakamoto H, Toyofuku M, Inada T, Inoko M, Suwa S, Onodera T, Ishii K, Kanamori N, Kimura T: CREDO-Kyoto PCI/ CABG Registry Cohort-Investigators. Effect of body weight on bleeding and ischemic events in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention-from the CREDO-Kyoto Registry Cohort-2. Circ J, 2020; 84: 1734-1745.
- 122) Watanabe H, Morimoto T, Ogita M, Suwa S, Natsuaki M, Suematsu N, Koeda Y, Morino Y, Nikaido A, Hata Y, doi M, Hibi K, Kimura K, Yoda S, Kaneko T, Nishida K, Kazai K, Yamaguchi K, Wakatsuki T, Tonoike N, Yamamoto M, Shimizu S, Shimohama T, Ako J, Kimura T*, on behalf of STOPDAPT-2 investigators: Influence of CYP2C19 genotypes for the effect of 1-month dual antiplatelet therapy followed by clopidogrel monotherapy relative to 12-month dual antiplatelet therapy on clinical outcomes after percutaneous coronary intervention; A genetic substudy from the STOPDAPT-2. Cardiovasc Interv Ther, 2020. (Online ahead of print).
- 123) Horie K, Kuramitsu S, Matsuo H, Shinozaki T, Takashima H, Shiono Y, Terai H, Kikuta Y, Ishihara T, Saigusa T, Sakamoto T, Asano T, Tsujita K, Masamura K, Doijiri T, Ogita M, Kurita T, Matsuo A, Sonoda S, Yokoi H, Tanaka N, on behalf of J-CONFIRM investigators: Two-year outcomes of asymptomatic versus symptomatic patients after deferral of

revascularization based on fractional flow reserve: Insights from the J-CONFIRM registry. Circulation Reports. 2020. (Online ahead of print).

- 124) Kimura T, Akahori H, Asakura M, Nakano K, Nakao K, Ozaki Y, Kimura K, Ako J, Noguchi T, Suwa S, Fujimoto K, Nakama Y, Morita T, Shimizu W, Saito Y, Hirohata A, Morita Y, Inoue T, Okamura A, Mano T, Wake M, Tanabe K, Shibata Y, Owa M, Tsujita K, Funayama H, Kokubu N, Kozuma K, Uemura S, Toubaru T, Saku K, Oshima S, Nishimura K, Miyamoto Y, Ogawa H, Ishihara M: J-MINUET investigators. Impact of age on gender difference in long-term outcomes of patients with acute myocardial infaction (From J-MINUET) Am J Cardiol, 2020; S0002-9149: 31304-7.
- 125) Natsuaki M, Morimoto T, Shiomi H, Ehara N, Taniguchi R, Tamura T, Tada T, Suwa S, Kaneda K, Watanabe H, Tazaki J, Watanabe S, Yamamoto E, Saito N, Fuki M, Takeda T, Eizawa H, Shinoda E, Mabuchi H, Shirotani M, Uegaito T, Matsuda M, Takahashi M, Inoko M, Tamura T, Ishii K, Onodera T, Sakamoto H, Aoyama T, Sato Y, Ando K, Frukawa Y, Nakagawa Y, Kadota K, Kimura T*; CREDO-Kyoto PCI/CABG Registry Cohort-3 Investigators: Application of the modified high bleeding risk criteria for Japanese patients in an all-comers registry of percutaneous coronary intervention-from the CREDO-Kyoto Registry Cohort-3. Circ J, 2020.doi;10.1253/ circj.CJ-20-036. Online ahead of print.
- 126) Wada H, Ogita M, Suwa S, Nakao K, Ozaki Y, Kimura K, Ako J, Noguchi T, Yasuda S, Fujimoto K, Nakama Y, Morita T, Shimizu W, Saito Y, Hirohata A, Morita Y, Inoue T, Okamura A, Mano T, Hirata K, Tanabe K, Shibata Y, Owa M, Tsujita K, Funayama H, Kokubu N, Kozuma K, Uemura S, Toubaru T, Saku K, Oshima S, Nishimura K, Miyamoto Y, Ogawa H, Ishihara M: J-MINUET investigators. Prediction of long-term outcomes in ST-elevation myocardial infarction and non-ST segment myocardial infarction with and without creatinine kinase elevation-post-hoc analysis of the J-MINUET study. Int Heart J, 2020 (In Press).
- 127) Nishio R, Ogita M, Wada H, Nozaki Y, Taka-

hashi D, Yasuda K, Takeuchi M, Takahashi N, Sonoda T, Yatsu S, Shitara J, Tsuboi S, Dohi T, Suwa S, Miyauchi K, Daida H: Clinical characteristics and long-term outcomes of patients with acute coronary syndrome during the trip. Int Heart J, 2020 (In Press).

- 128) Yuji Nishizaki, Hiroyuki Daida: Optimal Dose of n-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids for Cardiovascular Event Prevention. Circ Rep, 2020; 2: 260–264.
- 129) Sato-Okabayashi Y, Isoda K, Heissig B, Kadoguchi T, Akita K, Kitamura K, Shimada K, Hattori K, Daida H: Low-dose oral cyclophosphamide therapy reduces atherosclerosis progression by decreasing inflammatory cells in a murine model of atherosclerosis.Int J Cardiol Heart Vasc, 2020; 28: 100529.
- 130) Al Shahi H, Kadoguchi T, Shimada K, Fukao K, Matsushita S, Aikawa T, Ouchi S, Shiozawa T, Takahashi S, Sato-Okabayashi Y, Akita K, Isoda K, Miyazaki T, Daida H: Voluntary exercise and cardiac remodeling in a myocardial infarction model. Open Medicine, 2020; 15: 545–555.
- $\langle Books \rangle$
 - Katsuumi G, Minamino T: Cellular Senescence in Disease. 7. Vascular diseases. ii. Atherosclerosis. 2020 (in press) (Elsevier Textbook).
 - 2) Suda M, Shimizu I, Yoshida Y, Katsuumi G, Minamino T: Arterial Stiffness and Pulsatile Hemodynamics in Health and Disease. Endothelial cell dysfunction and Senescence: Biologic mechanisms and Hemodynamic consequences, 2020 (in press) (Elsevier Textbook).

Gastroenterology

(Original Articles)

- Hojo M, Asaoka D, Takeda T, Shimada Y, Matsumoto K, Matsumoto K, Yatagai N, Akazawa Y, Ueda K, Ueyama H, Nagahara A: Randomized controlled study on the effects of triple therapy including vonoprazan or rabeprazole for the second-line treatment of Helicobacter pylori infection. Therap Adv Gastroenterol, 2020; 13: 1756284820966247.
- Yatagai N, Ueyama H, Ikemura M, Uchida R, Utsunomiya H, Abe D, Oki S, Suzuki N, Ikeda A, Akazawa Y, Komori H, Takeda T, Matsumoto K, Ueda K, Matsumoto K, Asaoka D,

Hojo M, Tsuyama S, Hayashi T, Yao T, Nagahara A: Clinicopathological and Endoscopic Features of Raspberry–Shaped Gastric Cancer in Helicobacter pylori–Uninfected Patients. Digestion, 2020: 1–8. PMID: 33321493 DOI: 10.1159/000511907

- 3) Matsumoto K, Ueyama H, Yao T, Abe D, Oki S, Suzuki N, Ikeda A, Yatagai N, Akazawa Y, Komori H, Takeda T, Matsumoto K, Hojo M, Nagahara A: Diagnostic limitations of magnifying endoscopy with narrow-band imaging in early gastric cancer. Endoscopy International Open. 2020; 8: E1233-E1242.
- 4) Matsumoto K, Konuma H, Ueyama H, Komori H, Akazawa Y, Ueyama M, Takeda T, Matsumoto K, Asaoka D, Hojo M, Yao T, Nagahara A: Multibending scope use for reduction of perforation risks in endoscopic submucosal dissection. Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol, 2020: 1–9. doi: 10.1080/13645706.2019. 1688352.
- 5) Hojo M, Nagahara A, Hahm KB, Iwakiri R, Watanabe T, Rani AA, Zhu Q, Chan FKL, Sollano JD, Kamiya T, Yamaguchi S, Motoya S, Fock KM, Fukudo S, Kachintorn U, Suzuki H, Murakami K: Management of Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease in Asian Countries: Results of a Questionnaire Survey. Digestion, 2020; 101: 66–79.
- 6) Noguchi K, Nakai Y, Mizuno S, Isayama H, Hirano K, Kanai S, Nakamura T, Uchino R, Takahara N, Kogure H, Tada M, Koike K: Insulin secretion improvement during steroid therapy for autoimmune pancreatitis according to the onset of diabetes mellitus. J Gastroenterol, 2020; 55: 198–204.
- 7) Hakuta R, Hamada T, Nakai Y, Oyama H, Kanai S, Suzuki T, Sato T, Ishigaki K, Saito K, Saito T, Takahara N, Mizuno S, Kogure H, Watadani T, Tsujino T, Tada M, Abe O, Isayama H, Koike K: Natural history of asymptomatic bile duct stones and association of endoscopic treatment with clinical outcomes. J Gastroenterol, 2020; 55: 78–85.
- 8) Fujisawa T, Isayama H, Ishii S: "ClipFlap" anchoring method for endoscopic ultrasonography-guided hepaticogastrostomy with a covered self-expandable metallic stent. Dig Endosc, 2020; 32: 628.

- 9) Ohtsuka T, Nakamura M, Hijioka S, Shimizu Y, Unno M, Tanabe M, Nagakawa Y, Takaori K, Hirono S, Gotohda N, Kimura W, Ito K, Katanuma A, Sano T, Urata T, Kita E, Hanada K, Tada M, Aoki T, Serikawa M, Okamoto K, Isayama H, Gotoh Y, Ishigami K, Yamaguchi H, Yamao K, Sugiyama M, Okazaki K: Prediction of the Probability of Malignancy in Mucinous Cystic Neoplasm of the Pancreas With Ovarian–Type Stroma: A Nationwide Multicenter Study in Japan. Pancreas, 2020; 49: 181–186.
- 10) Nakahodo J, Fukumura Y, Saito T, Mitomi H, Saiura A, Fujisawa T, Ishii S, Isayama H, Kurahayashi I, Yao T: Radiological and Pathological Assessment of the 2017 Revised International Association of Pancreatology Consensus Guidelines for Intraductal Papillary Mucinous Neoplasm, With an Emphasis on the Gastric Pyloric Gland Type. Pancreas, 2020; 49: 216–223.
- 11) Ohki T, Yoshida S, Yamamoto M, Isayama H, Yamada T, Matsuzawa T, Saito S, Kuwai T, Tomita M, Shiratori T, Shimada M, Hirakawa T, Koizumi K, Saida Y: Determining the difference in the efficacy and safety of self-expandable metallic stents as a bridge to surgery for obstructive colon cancer among patients in the CROSS 0 group and those in the CROSS 1 or 2 group: a pooled analysis of data from two Japanese prospective multicenter trials. Surg Today, 2020; 50: 984-994.
- 12) Sato T, Kogure H, Nakai Y, Ishigaki K, Hakuta R, Saito K, Saito T, Takahara N, Hamada T, Mizuno S, Tada M, Isayama H, Koike K: A prospective study of fully covered metal stents for different types of refractory benign biliary strictures.Endoscopy, 2020; 52: 368–376.
- 13) Ishigaki K, Hamada T, Nakai Y, Isayama H, Sato T, Hakuta R, Saito K, Saito T, Takahara N, Mizuno S, Kogure H, Ito Y, Yagioka H, Matsubara S, Akiyama D, Mohri D, Tada M, Koike K: Retrospective Comparative Study of Side-by-Side and Stent-in-Stent Metal Stent Placement for Hilar Malignant Biliary Obstruction. Dig Dis Sci, 2020; 65: 3710–3718.
- 14) Sasaki T, Ishibashi R, Yoshida S, Fujisawa T, Shinagawa H, Gon C, Nakai Y, Sasahira N, Saida Y, Isayama H: Comparing the mechanical properties of a self-expandable metallic

stent for colorectal obstruction: Proposed measurement method of axial force using a new measurement machine. Dig Endosc, 2020, Online ahead of print.

- 15) Matsubara S, Isayama H, Nakai Y, Kawakubo K, Yamamoto N, Saito K, Saito T, Takahara N, Mizuno S, Kogure H, Ishizawa T, Arita J, Hasegawa K, Koike K: Endoscopic ultrasound-guided gallbladder drainage with a combined internal and external drainage tubes for acute cholecystitis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2020; 35: 1821–1827.
- 16) Takahara N, Nakai Y, Saito K, Sasaki T, Suzuki Y, Inokuma A, Oyama H, Kanai S, Suzuki T, Sato T, Hakuta R, Ishigaki K, Saito T, Hamada T, Mizuno S, Kogure H, Tada M, Isayama H, Koike K: The impact of age and comorbidity in advanced or recurrent biliary tract cancer receiving palliative chemotherapy. J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2020; 35: 1828–1835.
- 17) Nakai Y, Sato T, Hakuta R, Ishigaki K, Saito K, Saito T, Takahara N, Hamada T, Mizuno S, Kogure H, Nogchi K, Ito Y, Isayama H, Koike K: Long-term outcomes of a long, partially covered metal stent for EUS-guided hepaticogastrostomy in patients with malignant biliary obstruction (with video). Gastrointest Endosc, 2020; S0016-5107: 34134-1.
- 18) Kogure H, Kawahata S, Mukai T, Doi S, Iwashita T, Ban T, Ito Y, Kawakami H, Hayashi T, Sasahira N, Kubota K, Togawa O, Kato H, Okabe Y, Matsubara S, Yagioka H, Saito T, Nakai Y, Isayama H: Multicenter randomized trial of endoscopic papillary large balloon dilation without sphincterotomy versus endoscopic sphincterotomy for removal of bile duct stones: MARVELOUS trial. Endoscopy, 2020; 52: 736-744.
- 19) Kogure H, Sato T, Nakai Y, Ishigaki K, Hakuta R, Saito K, Saito T, Takahara N, Hamada T, Mizuno S, Yamada A, Tada M, Isayama H, Koike K: Endoscopic management of pancreatic diseases in patients with surgically altered anatomy: clinical outcomes of combination of double-balloon endoscopy- and endoscopic ultrasound-guided interventions. Dig Endosc, 2020, Online ahead of print.
- 20) Nakai Y, Oyama H, Kanai S, Noguchi K, Sato T, Hakuta R, Ishigaki K, Saito K, Saito T,
Hamada T, Takahara N, Mizuno S, Kogure H, Isayama H, Koike K: Double Guidewire Technique Using an Uneven Double Lumen Catheter for Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Interventions. Dig Dis Sci, 2020, Online ahead of print.

- 21) Fujisawa T, Shimamura T, Goto K, Nakagawa R, Muroyama R, Ino Y, Horiuchi H, Endo I, Maeda S, Harihara Y, Nakajima A, Matsuhashi N, Kato N, Isayama H, Puri A, Suzuki A, Bellayr I, Leland P, Joshi BH, Puri RK: A Novel Role of Interleukin 13 Receptor alpha2 in Perineural Invasion and its Association with Poor Prognosis of Patients with Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma. Cancers (Basel), 2020; 12 (5): E1294.
- 22) Ishigaki K, Nakai Y, Oyama H, Kanai S, Suzuki T, Nakamura T, Sato T, Hakuta R, Saito K, Saito T, Takahara N, Hamada T, Mizuno S, Kogure H, Tada M, Isayama H, Koike K: Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Tissue Acquisition by 22-Gauge Franseen and Standard Needles for Solid Pancreatic Lesions. Gut Liver, 2020; 14: 817-825.
- 23) Sato T, Kogure H, Nakai Y, Kanai S, Ishigaki K, Hakuta R, Saito K, Saito T, Takahara N, Hamada T, Mizuno S, Yamada A, Isayama H, Koike K: Endoscopic treatment of hepaticoje-junostomy anastomotic strictures using fully-covered metal stents. Dig Endosc, 2020, Online ahead of print.
- 24) Ishii S, Fujisawa T, Ushio M, Takahashi S, Yamagata W, Takasaki Y, Suzuki A, Okawa Y, Ochiai K, Tomishima K, Kanazawa R, Saito H, Shiina S, Isayama H: Evaluation of the safety and efficacy of minimal endoscopic sphincterotomy followed by papillary balloon dilation for the removal of common bile duct stones. Saudi J Gastroenterol, 2020, Online ahead of print.
- 25) Takahara N, Nakai Y, Ishigami H, Saito K, Sato T, Hakuta R, Ishigaki K, Saito T, Hamada T, Mizuno S, Kogure H, Yamashita H, Isayama H, Seto Y, Koike K: A phase I study of intraperitoneal paclitaxel combined with gemcitabine plus nab-paclitaxel for pancreatic cancer with peritoneal metastasis. Invest New Drugs, 2020, Online ahead of print.
- 26) Kitano M, Gress TM, Garg PK, Itoi T, Irisawa

A, Isayama H, Kanno A, Takase K, Levy M, Yasuda I, Lévy P, Isaji S, Fernandez-Del Castillo C, Drewes AM, Sheel ARG, Neoptolemos JP, Shimosegawa T, Boermeester M, Wilcox CM, Whitcomb DC: International consensus guidelines on interventional endoscopy in chronic pancreatitis. Recommendations from the working group for the international consensus guidelines for chronic pancreatitis in collaboration with the International Association of Pancreatology, the American Pancreatic Association, the Japan Pancreas Society, and European Pancreatic Club. Pancreatology, 2020; 20: 1045–1055.

- 27) Okubo H, Akiyama J, Kobayakawa M, Kawazoe M, Mishima S, Takasaki Y, Nagata N, Shimada T, Yokoi C, Komori S, Kimura K, Hisada Y, Iwata E, Watanabe K, Yanagisawa N, Shiroma S, Shimomura A, Okahara K, Cho H, Uemura N: Vonoprazan-based triple therapy is effective for Helicobacter pylori eradication irrespective of clarithromycin susceptibility. J Gastroenterol, 2020; 55: 1054–1061.
- 28) Tomishima K, Fujisawa T, Fukumura Y, Ushio M, Sato S, Amano N, Murata A, Tsuzura H, Sato S, Matsumoto K, Shimada Y, Genda T, Isayama H: Mucinous Cystadenocarcinoma of the Pancreas with Cyst Infection in a Male Patient. Intern Med, 2020; 59: 2383–2389.
- 29) Sano M, Takahashi R, Ijichi H, Ishigaki K, Yamada T, Miyabayashi K, Kimura G, Mizuno S, Kato H, Fujiwara H, Nakatsuka T, Tanaka Y, Kim J, Masugi Y, Morishita Y, Tanaka M, Ushiku T, Nakai Y, Tateishi K, Ishii Y, Isayama H, Moses HL, Koike K: Blocking VCAM-1 inhibits pancreatic tumour progression and cancer-associated thrombosis/thromboembolism. Gut, 2020: gutjnl-2020-320608.
- 30) Noguchi K, Nakai Y, Mizuno S, Hirano K, Kanai S, Suzuki Y, Inokuma A, Sato T, Hakuta R, Ishigaki K, Saito K, Saito T, Hamada T, Takahara N, Kogure H, Isayama H, Koike K: Role of Endoscopic Ultrasonography-Guided Fine Needle Aspiration/Biopsy in the Diagnosis of Autoimmune Pancreatitis. Diagnostics (Basel), 2020; 10: 954.
- Nagino M, Hirano S, Yoshitomi H, Aoki T, Uesaka K, Unno M, Ebata T, Konishi M, Sano K, Shimada K, Shimizu H, Higuchi R, Wakai

T, Isayama H, Okusaka T, Tsuyuguchi T, Hirooka Y, Furuse J, Maguchi H, Suzuki K, Yamazaki H, Kijima H, Yanagisawa A, Yoshida M, Yokoyama Y, Mizuno T, Endo I: Clinical practice guidelines for the management of biliary tract cancers 2019: The 3rd English edition. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci, 2020, Online ahead of print.

- 32) Matsubara S, Nakagawa K, Suda K, Otsuka T, Isayama H, Nakai Y, Oka M, Nagoshi S: A Proposed Algorithm for Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Rendezvous Technique in Failed Biliary Cannulation. J Clin Med, 2020; 9: E3879.
- 33) Takahashi R, Ijichi H, Sano M, Miyabayashi K, Mohri D, Kim J, Kimura G, Nakatsuka T, Fujiwara H, Yamamoto K, Kudo Y, Tanaka Y, Tateishi K, Nakai Y, Morishita Y, Soma K, Takeda N, Moses HL, Isayama H, Koike K: Soluble VCAM-1 promotes gemcitabine resistance via macrophage infiltration and predicts therapeutic response in pancreatic cancer. Sci Rep, 2020; 10: 21194.
- 34) Kanno A, Yasuda I, Irisawa A, Hara K, Ashida R, Iwashita T, Takenaka M, Katanuma A, Takikawa T, Kubota K, Kato H, Nakai Y, Ryozawa S, Kitano M, Isayama H, Kamada H, Okabe Y, Hanada K, Ohtsubo K, Doi S, Hisai H, Shibukawa G, Imazu H, Masamune A: Adverse events of Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Fine-Needle Aspiration for Histologic Diagnosis in Japanese Tertiary Centers: A Multicenter Retrospective Study. Dig Endosc, 2020, Online ahead of print.
- 35) Ishii S, Fujisawa T, Isayama H, Asahara S, Ogiwara S, Okubo H, Yamagata H, Ushio M, Takahashi S, Okawa H, Yamagata W, Okawa Y, Suzuki A, Takasaki Y, Ochiai K, Tomishima K, Saito H, Shiina S, Ikari T: Clinical Evaluation of a Newly Developed Guidewire for Pancreatobiliary Endoscopy. J Clin Med, 2020; 9: E4059.
- 36) Nakai Y, Isayama H, Wang HP, Rerknimitr R, Khor C, Yasuda I, Kogure H, Moon JH, Lau J, Lakhtakia S, Ratanachu-Ek T, Seo DW, Lee DK, Makmun D, Dy F, Liao WC, Draganov PV, Almadi M, Irisawa A, Katanuma A, Kitano M, Ryozawa S, Fujisawa T, Wallace MB, Itoi T, Devereaux B: International consensus statements for endoscopic manage-

ment of distal biliary stricture. J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2020; 35: 967–979.

- 37) Ogiwara S, Furihata M, Inami Y, Okawa H, Nomoto Y, Kitamura T, Osada T,Nagahara A: Does Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography Carry Higher Risk for Patients 90 Years and Older? A Single-Institution Retrospective Study. Med Sci Monit, 2020; 26: e928033. doi: 10.12659/MSM.928033. PMID: 33281183;
- 38) Heissig B, Salama Y, Takahashi S, Osada T, Hattori K: The multifaceted role of plasminogen in inflammation: Cell Signal, 2020; 75: 109761. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2020.109761. Epub 2020 Aug 28. PMID: 32861744; PMCID: PMC7452830.
- 39) Genda T, Ichida T, Sakisaka S, Tanaka E, Mochida S, Ueno Y, Inui A, Egawa H, Umeshita K, Furukawa H, Kawasaki S, Inomata Y: Outcome of patients with acute liver failure awaiting liver transplantation in Japan. Hepatol Res, 2020; 50: 1186–1195.
- 40) Amano N, Ikeda Y, Hayashida S, Takahashi S, Sato S, Murata A, Tsuzura H, Sato S, Shimada Y, Iijima K, Wada R, Nagahara A, Genda T: Prognostic significance of serum tyrosine concentration in patients with primary biliary cholangitis under ursodeoxycholic acid therapy. Hepatol Res, 2020; 50: 214–223.
- 41) Nozaki A, Atsukawa M, Kondo C, Toyoda H, Chuma M, Nakamuta M, Uojima H, Takaguchi K, Ikeda H, Watanabe T, Ogawa S, Itokawa N, Arai T, Hiraoka A, Asano T, Fujioka S, Ikegami T, Shima T, Ogawa C, Akahane T, Shimada N, Fukunishi S, Abe H, Tsubota A, Genda T, Okubo H, Mikami S, Morishita A, Moriya A, Tani J, Tachi Y, Hotta N, Ishikawa T, Okanoue T, Tanaka Y, Kumada T, Iwakiri K, Maeda S; KTK49 Liver Study Group: The effectiveness and safety of glecaprevir/pibrentasvir in chronic hepatitis C patients with refractory factors in the real world: a comprehensive analysis of a prospective multicenter study. Hepatol Int, 2020; 14: 225–238.
- 42) Toyoda H, Atsukawa M, Watanabe T, Nakamuta M, Uojima H, Nozaki A, Takaguchi K, Fujioka S, Iio E, Shima T, Akahane T, Fukunishi S, Asano T, Michitaka K, Tsuji K, Abe H, Mikami S, Okubo H, Okubo T, Shimada N,

Ishikawa T, Moriya A, Tani J, Morishita A, Ogawa C, Tachi Y, Ikeda H, Yamashita N, Yasuda S, Chuma M, Tsutsui A, Hiraoka A, Ikegami T, Genda T, Tsubota A, Masaki T, Iwakiri K, Kumada T, Tanaka Y, Okanoue T: Marked heterogeneity in the diagnosis of compensated cirrhosis of patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection in a real-world setting: A large, multicenter study from Japan. J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2020; 35: 1420–1425.

- 43) Toyoda H, Atsukawa M, Watanabe T, Nakamuta M, Uojima H, Nozaki A, Takaguchi K, Fujioka S, Iio E, Shima T, Akahane T, Fukunishi S, Asano T, Michitaka K, Tsuji K, Abe H, Mikami S, Okubo H, Okubo T, Shimada N, Ishikawa T, Moriya A, Tani J, Morishita A, Ogawa C, Tachi Y, Ikeda H, Yamashita N, Yasuda S, Chuma M, Tsutsui A, Hiraoka A, Ikegami T, Genda T, Tsubota A, Masaki T, Tanaka Y, Iwakiri K, Kumada T: Real-world experience of 12-week direct-acting antiviral regimen of glecaprevir and pibrentasvir in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2020; 35: 855-861.
- 44) Takeda T, Asaoka D, Nojiri S, Nishiyama M, Ikeda A, Yatagai N, Ishizuka K, Hiromoto T, Okubo S, Suzuki M, Nakajima A, Nakatsu Y, Akazawa Y, Izumi K, Matsumoto K, Ueyama H, Sasaki H, Shimada Y, Matsumoto K, Osada T, Hojo M, Kato M, Nagahara A: Linked Color Imaging and the Kyoto Classification of Gastritis: Evaluation of Visibility and Inter-Rater Reliability. Digestion, 2020; 101: 598–607.
- 45) Sato S, Sato S, Tsuzura F, Ikeda Y, Hayashida S, Takahashi S, Amano N, Murata A, Shimada Y, Iijima K, Nagahara A, Genda T: Elevated serum procalcitonin levels and their association with the prognosis of patients with liver cirrhosis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2020; 32: 1222–1228.
- 46) Murata A, Amano N, Sato S, Tsuzura H, Tomishima K, Sato S, Matsumoto K, Shimada Y, Iijima K, Genda T: On-treatment Serum Mac-2 Binding Protein Glycosylation Lsomer (M2BPGi) Level and Risk of Hepatocellular Carcinoma Development in Patients with Chronic Hepatitis B during Nucleot(s)ide Analogue Therapy. Int J Mol Sci, 2020; 21:

2051.

- 47) Asaoka D, Takeda T, Inami Y, Abe D, Shimada Y, Matsumoto K, Ueyama H, Matsumoto K, Komori H, Akazawa Y, Osada T, Hojo M, Nagahara A: The Association between Frailty and Abdominal Symptoms: A Hospital-based Cross-sectional Study. Intern Med. 2020; 59: 1677-1685.
- 48) Takeda T, Asaoka D, Abe D, Suzuki M, Nakagawa Y, Sasaki H, Inami Y, Ikemura M, Utsunomiya H, Oki S, Suzuki N, Ikeda A, Yatagai N, Komori H, Akazawa Y, Matsumoto K, Ueda K, Ueyama H, Shimada Y, Matsumoto K, Hojo M, Osada T, Nojiri S, Nagahara A: Linked color imaging improves visibility of reflux esophagitis. BMC Gastroenterol, 2020; 20: 356.
- 49) Nakajima A, Habu S, Kasai M, Okumura K, Ishikawa D, Shibuya T, Kobayashi O, Osada T, Ohkusa T, Watanabe S, Nagahara A: Impact of maternal dietary gut microbial metabolites on an offspring's systemic 3 immune response in mouse models. Bioscience of Microbiota, Food and Health, 2020; 39: 33–38.
- 50) Okahara K, Ishikawa D, Nomura K, Lee SY, Itou S, Haga K, Takahashi M, Shibuya T, Osada T, Nagahara A: Matching between Donors and Ulcerative Colitis Patients Is Important for Long-Term Maintenance after Fecal Microbiota Transplantation. J Cli Med, 2020; 9: 1650.
- 51) Shibuya T, Haga K, Saeki M, Haraikawa M, Tsuchihashi H, Okahara K, Nomura O, Fukushima H, Murakami T, Ishikawa D, Ikeda S, Nagahara A: Pyoderma gangrenosum in an ulcerative colitis patient during treatment with vedolizumab responded favorably to adsorptive granulocyte and monocyte apheresis. J Clin Apher, 2020; 35: 488-492. doi: 10. 1002/jca.21821.
- 52) Murakami T, Yao T, Yatagai N, Yamashiro Y, Saito T, Sakamoto N, Nagahara A: Colorectal adenocarcinoma with enteroblastic differentiation: a clinicopathological study of five cases. Histopathology, 2020; 76: 325–332.
- 53) Yamashiro Y, Saito T, Hayashi T, Murakami T, Yanai Y, Tsuyama S, Suehara Y, Takamochi K, Yao T: Molecular and clinicopathological features of colorectal adenocarcinoma with enteroblastic differentiation. Histopa-

thology, 2020; 77: 492-502.

- 54) Murakami T, Sakamoto N, Fukushima H, Shibuya T, Yao T, Nagahara A: Usefulness of the Japan narrow-band imaging expert team classification system for the diagnosis of sessile serrated lesion with dysplasia/carcinoma. Surg Endosc, 2020. doi: 10.1007/s00464-020-07967-w. Online ahead of print.
- 55) Atsukawa M, Tsubota A, Takaguchi K, Toyoda H, Iwasa M, Ikegami T, Chuma M, Nozaki A, Uojima H, Hiraoka A, Fukunishi S, Yokohama K, Tada T, Kato K, Abe H, Tani J, Okubo H, Watanabe T, Hattori N, Tsutsui A, Senoh T, Yoshida Y, Okubo T, Itokawa N, Nakagawa-Iwashita A, Kondo C, Arai T, Michitaka K, Iio E, Kumada T, Tanaka Y, Takei Y, Katsuhiko, Iwakiri K: Analysis of Factors Associated With the Prognosis of Cirrhotic Patients Who Were Treated With Tolvaptan for Hepatic Edema. J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2020; 35: 1229–1237. doi: 10.1111/jgh.14965. Epub 2020 Jan 14.
- 56) Toyoda H, Atsukawa M, Watanabe T, Nakamuta M, Uojima H, Nozaki A, Takaguchi K, Fujioka S, Iio E, Shima T, Akahane T, Fukunishi S, Asano T, Michitaka K, Tsuji K, Abe H, Mikami S, Okubo H, Okubo T, Shimada N, Ishikawa T, Moriya A, Tani J, Morishita A, Ogawa C, Tachi Y, Ikeda H, Yamashita N, Yasuda S, Chuma M, Tsutsui A, Hiraoka A, Ikegami T, Genda T, Tsubota A, Masaki T, Iwakiri K, Kumada T, Tanaka Y, Okanoue T: Marked heterogeneity in the diagnosis of compensated cirrhosis of patients with chronic HCV infection in a real-word setting: a large, multicenter study from Japan. J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2020; 35: 1420-1425. doi: 10.1111/jgh. 14982. Epub 2020 Jan 31.
- 57) Okubo H, Ando H, Ishizuka K, Kitagawa R, Okubo S, Saito H, Kokubu S, Miyazaki A, Ikejima K, Shiina S, Nagahara A: Carnitine insufficiency is associated with fatigue during lenvatinib treatment in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. PLoS One, 2020; 15: e0229772. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0229772. eCollection 2020.
- 58) Ishii S, Fujisawa T, Isayama H, Asahara S, Ogiwara S, Okubo H, Yamagata H, Ushio M, Takahashi S, Okawa H, Yamagata W, Okawa

Y, Suzuki A, Takasaki Y, Ochiai K, Tomishima K, Saito H, Shiina S, Ikari T: Clinical Evaluation of a Newly Developed Guidewire for Pancreatobiliary Endoscopy. J. Clin. Med, 2020; 9: 4059, Published: 16 December 2020.

- 59) Takeda T, Asaoka D, Abe D, Suzuki M, Nakagawa Y, Sasaki H, Inami Y, Ikemura M, Utsunomiya H, Oki S, Suzuki N, Ikeda A, Yatagai N, Komori H, Akazawa Y, Matsumoto K, Ueda K, Ueyama H, Shimada Y, Matsumoto K, Hojo M, Osada T, Nojiri S, Nagahara A: Linked color imaging improves visibility of reflux esophagitis. BMC Gastroenterol, 2020; 20: 356.
- 60) Haga K, Shibuya T, Nomura K, Okahara K, Nomura O, Ishikawa D, Sakamoto N, Osada T and Nagahara A: Effectiveness and Nephrotoxicity of Long-Term Tacrolimus Administration in Patients with Ulcerative Colitis. J. Clin. Med, 2020; 9: 1771. doi:10.3390/jcm9061771.
- 61) Ishizuka K, Kon K, Lee-Okada HC, Arai K, Uchiyama A, Yamashina S, Yokomizo T, Ikejima K: Aging exacerbates high-fat dietinduced steatohepatitis through alteration in hepatic lipid metabolism in mice. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2020; 35: 1437-1448.
- 62) Sorin Y, Kon K, Sonoue H, Uchiyama A, Fukuhara K, Yamashina S, Arakawa A, Ikejima K: Decreased Expression of Phosphatase and Tensin Homolog Is Related with the Development of Non-B and Non-C Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Juntendo Medical Journal, 2020; 66: 346-353.
- 63) Ikejima K, Kon K, Yamashina S: Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and alcohol-related liver disease: From clinical aspects to pathophysiological insights. Clin Mol Hepatol. 2020; 26: 728-735.
- 64) Ueyama H, Kato Y, Akazawa Y, Yatagai N, Komori H, Takeda T, Matsumoto K, Ueda K, Matsumoto K, Hojo M, Yao T, Nagahara A, Tada T: Application of artificial intelligence using a convolutional neural network for diagnosis of early gastric cancer based on magnifying endoscopy with narrow-band imaging. J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2020. doi:10.1111/ jgh.15190.
- 65) Hatta W, Tsuji Y, Yoshio T, Kakushima N,

Hoteya S, Doyama H, Nagami Y, Hikichi T, Kobayashi M, Morita Y, Sumiyoshi T, Iguchi M, Tomida H, Inoue T, Koike T, Mikami T, Hasatani K, Nishikawa J, Matsumura T, Nebiki H, Nakamatsu D, Ohnita K, Suzuki H, Ueyama H, Hayashi Y, Sugimoto M, Yamaguchi S, Michida T, Yada T, Asahina Y, Narasaka T, Kuribasyashi S, Kiyotoki S, Mabe K, Nakamura T, Nakaya N, Fujishiro M, Masamune A: Prediction model of bleeding after endoscopic submucosal dissection for early gastric cancer: BEST-J score. Gut, 2020. DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-319926.

- 66) Akazawa Y, Ueyama H, Tsuyama S, Ikeda A, Yatagai N, Komori H, Takeda T, Matsumoto K, Matsumoto K, Hashimoto T, Tomita N, Kajiyama Y, Kato M, Yao T, Nagahara A: Endoscopic and Clinicopathological Features of Superficial Non-Ampullary Duodenal Tumor Based on the Mucin Phenotypes. Digestion, 2020. doi: 10.1159/000508040. Online ahead of print.
- 67) Takeda T, Asaoka D, Nojiri S, Nishiyama M, Ikeda A, Yatagai N, Ishizuka K, Hiromoto T, Okubo S, Suzuki M, Nakajima A, Nakatsu Y, Komori H, Akazawa Y, Nakagawa Y, Izumi K, Matsumoto K, Ueyama H, Sasaki H, Shimada Y, Matsumoto K, Osada T, Hojo M, Kato M, Nagahara A: Linked Color Imaging and the Kyoto Classification of Gastritis: Evaluation of Visibility and Inter-Rater Reliability. Digestion, 2020; 101: 598–607.
- 68) Takeda T, Asaoka D, Abe D, Suzuki M, Nakagawa Y, Sasaki H, Inami Y, Ikemura M, Utsunomiya H, Oki S, Suzuki N, Ikeda A, Yatagai N, Komori H, Akazawa Y, Matsumoto K, Ueda K, Ueyama H, Shimada Y, Matsumoto K, Hojo M, Osada T, Nojiri S, Nagahara A: Linked color imaging improves visibility of reflux esophagitis. BMC Gastroenterol, 2020; 20: 356.
- 69) Nakajima A, Sasaki T, Itoh K, Kitahara T, Takema Y, Hiramatsu K, Ishikawa D, Shibuya T, Kobayashi O, Osada T, Watanabe S, Nagahara A: A Soluble Fiber Diet Increases Bacteroides fragilis Group Abundance and Immunoglobulin A Production in the Gut. Appl Environ Microbiol, 2020; 86: e00405–20.
- 70) Corridoni D, Antanaviciute A, Gupta T,

Fawkner-Corbett D, Aulicino A, Jagielowicz M, Parikh K, Repapi E, Taylor S, Ishikawa D, Hatano R, Yamada T, Xin W, Slawinski H, Bowden R, Napolitani G, Brain O, Morimoto C, Koohy H, Simmons A: Single-cell atlas of colonic CD8+ T cells in ulcerative colitis. Nat Med, 2020; 26: 1480-1490.

- 71) Okahara K, Ishikawa D, Nomura K, Ito S, Haga K, Takahashi M, Shibuya T, Osada T, Nagahara A: Matching between Donors and Ulcerative Colitis Patients Is Important for Long-Term Maintenance after Fecal Microbiota Transplantation. J Clin Med, 2020; 9: 1650.
- 72) Kudo M, Morimoto M, Moriguchi M, Izumi N, Takayama T, Yoshiji H, Hino K, Oikawa T, Chiba T, Motomura K, Kato J, Yasuchika K, Ido A, Sato T, Nakashima D, Ueshima K, Ikeda M, Okusaka T, Tamura K, Furuse J: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 study of tivantinib in Japanese patients with MET-high hepatocellular carcinoma. Cancer Sci, 2020; 111: 3759–3769. doi: 10.1111/ cas.14582. Epub 2020. PMID: 32716114 Free PMC article. Clinical Trial.
- 73) Nakajima A, Sasaki T, Itoh K, Kitahara T, Takema Y, Hiramatsu K, Ishikawa D, Shibuya T, Kobayashi O, Osada T, Watanabe S, Nagahara A: A soluble fiber diet increases Bacteroides fragilis group and IgA production in the gut. Appl Environ Microbiol, 2020; 86: e00405-20. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00405-20.
- (Reviews)
 - Hamada T, Nakai Y, Isayama H, Koike K: Antireflux metal stent for biliary obstruction: Any benefits? Dig Endosc, 2020.[Epub ahead of print] Review.
 - Fujisawa T, Ushio M, Takahashi S, Yamagata W, Takasaki Y, Suzuki A, Okawa Y, Ochiai K, Tomishima K, Ishii S, Saito H, Isayama H: Role of Peroral Cholangioscopy in the Diagnosis of Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis. Diagnostics (Basel), 2020; 10: E268, Review.
 - Suzuki M, Minowa K, Isayama H, Shimizu T: Acute Recurrent and Chronic Pancreatitis in Children. Pediatr Int, 2020, Online ahead of print.
 - 4) Fujisawa T, Isayama H: Immunotherapy for Pancreatic Cancer. Juntendo Medical Journal,

2020; 66: 238-244.

- 5) Mizuno S, Nakai Y, Ishigaki K, Saito K, Oyama H, Hamada T, Suzuki Y, Inokuma A, Kanai S, Noguchi K, Sato T, Hakuta R, Saito T, Takahara N, Kogure H, Isayama H, Koike K: Screening Strategy of Pancreatic Cancer in Patients with Diabetes Mellitus. Diagnostics (Basel), 2020; 10: E572. Review.
- 6) Ishii S, Isayama H, Ushio M, Takahashi S, Yamagata W, Takasaki Y, Suzuki A, Ochiai K, Tomishima K, Kanazawa R, Saito H, Fujisawa T, Shiina S: Best Procedure for the Management of Common Bile Duct Stones via the Papilla: Literature Review and Analysis of Procedural Efficacy and Safety. J Clin Med, 2020; 9: E3808.
- 7) Takasaki Y, Ishii S, Fujisawa T, Ushio M, Takahashi S, Yamagata W, Ito K, Suzuki A, Ochiai K, Tomishima K, Saito H, Isayama H: Endoscopic Ultrasonography Findings of Early and Suspected Early Chronic Pancreatitis. Diagnostics (Basel), 2020; 10: 1018.
- 8) Nakanuma Y, Uesaka K, Kakuda Y, Sugino T, Kubota K, Furukawa T, Fukumura Y, Isayama H, Terada T: Intraductal Papillary Neoplasm of Bile Duct: Updated Clinicopathological Characteristics and Molecular and Genetic Alterations. J Clin Med, 2020; 9: E3991.
- Chantarojanasiri T, Ratanachu-Ek T, Isayama H: When Should We Perform Endoscopic Drainage and Necrosectomy for Walled-Off Necrosis? J Clin Med, 2020; 9: E4072.
- 10) Suzuki M, Minowa K, Nakano S, Isayama H, Shimizu T: Genetic Abnormalities in Pancreatitis: An Update on Diagnosis, Clinical Features, and Treatment. Diagnostics (Basel), 2020; 11: E31.

 $\langle Books \rangle$

 Isayama H, Fujisawa T, Isii S, Saito H, Suzuki A, Takasaki Y, Takahashi S, Kogure H, Nakai Y: Advanced ERCP for Complicated and Refractory Biliary and Pancreatic Diseases. Springer, 2020; 79–86.

Diagnostic Imaging and Interventional Oncology

(Original Articles)

 Watanabe Y, Matsuyama Y, Izumi N, Kubo S, Kokudo N, Sakamoto M, Shiina S, Takayama T, Nakashima O, Kudo M, Effect of surgical margin width after R0 resection for intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: A nationwide survey of the Liver Cancer Study Group of Japan, Surgery, 2020; 167: 793–802.

- 2) Okubo H, Ando H, Ishizuka K, Kitagawa R, Okubo S, Saito H, Kokubu S, Miyazaki A, Ikejima K, Shiina S, Nagahara A: Carnitine insufficiency is associated with fatigue during lenvatinib treatment in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma, PLoS One, 2020; 15: e0229772.
- 3) Asaoka Y, Tateishi R, Hayashi A, Ushiku T, Shibahara J, Kinoshita J, Ouchi Y, Koike M, Fukayama M, Shiina S, Koike K: Expression of c-Met in Primary and Recurrent Hepatocellular Carcinoma, Oncology, 2020; 98: 186– 194.
- 4) Kudo M, Izumi N, Kubo S, Kokudo N, Sakamoto M, Shiina S, Tateishi R, Nakashima O, Murakami T, Matsuyama Y, Takahashi A, Miyata H, Takayama T: Report of the 20th Nationwide follow-up survey of primary liver cancer in Japan, Hepatol Res, 2020; 50: 15-46.
- * 5) Ishii S, Fujisawa T, Ushio M, Takahashi S, Yamagata W, Takasaki Y, Suzuki A, Okawa Y, Ochiai K, Tomishima K, Kanazawa R, Saito H, Shiina S, Isayama H: Evaluation of the safety and efficacy of minimal endoscopic sphincterotomy followed by papillary balloon dilation for the removal of common bile duct stones, Saudi J Gastroenterol, 2020; 26: 344– 350. doi: 10.4103/sjg.SJG_162_20.
 - 6) Kobayashi K, Bolatkan A, Shiina S, Hamamoto R: Fully-Connected Neural Networks with Reduced Parameterization for Predicting Histological Types of Lung Cancer from Somatic Mutations, Hepatol Res, 2020; 10: 1249.
 - 7) Ishii S, Isayama H, Ushio M, Takahashi S, Yamagata W, Takasaki Y, Suzuki A, Ochiai K, Tomishima K, Kanazawa R, Saito H, Fujisawa T, Shiina S: Best Procedure for the Management of Common Bile Duct Stones via the Papilla: Literature Review and Analysis of Procedural Efficacy and Safety, J Clin Med, 2020; 9: 3808.
 - 8) Ishii S, Fujisawa T, Isayama H, Asahara S, Ogiwara S, Okubo H, Yamagata H, Ushio M, Takahashi S, Okawa H, Yamagata W, Okawa Y, Suzuki A, Takasaki Y, Ochiai K, Tomishima

K, Saito H, Shiina S, Ikari T: Clinical Evaluation of a Newly Developed Guidewire for Pancreatobiliary Endoscopy, J Clin Med, 2020; 9: 4059. doi: 10.3390/jcm9124059.

- 9) Maruyama H, Kobayashi K, Kiyono S, Chiba T, Kato N, Ohtsuka M, Ito K, Yamaguchi T, Shiina S: Free fatty acid-based low-impedance liver image: a characteristic appearance in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. Eur Radiol Exp. 2020; 4: 3
- 10) Ogasawara S, Ooka Y, Itokawa N, Inoue M, Okabe S, Seki A, Haga Y, Obu M, Atsukawa M, Itobayashi E, Mizumoto H, Sugiura N, Azemoto R, Kanayama K, Kanzaki H, Maruta S, Maeda T, Kusakabe Y, Yokoyama M, Kobayashi K, Kiyono S, Nakamura M, Saito T, Suzuki E, Nakamoto S, Yasui S, Tawada A, Chiba T, Arai M, Kanda T, Maruyama H, Kato N: Sequential therapy with sorafenib and regorafenib for advanced hepatocellular carcinoma: a multicenter retrospective study in Japan. Invest New Drugs, 2020; 38: 172–180.
- * 11) Kanayama K, Chiba T, Kobayashi K, Koroki K, Maruta S, Kanzaki H, Kusakabe Y, Saito T, Kiyono S, Nakamura M, Ogasawara S, Suzuki E, Ooka Y, Nakamoto S, Yasui S, Kanda T, Maruyama H, Kato J, Kato N: Long-term administration of Tolvaptan to patients with decompensated cirrhosis. Int J Med Sci, 2020; 17: 874–880. doi: 10.7150/ijms.41454. eCollection 2020
 - 12) Qi X, Wang J, Li X, Wang Z, Liu Y, Yang H, Li X, Shi J, Xiang H, Liu T, Kawada N, Maruyama H, Jiang Z, Wang F, Takehara T, Rockey DC, Sarin SK, COVID-Cirrhosis-CHESS Group: Clinical Course of COVID-19 in Patients With Pre-Existing Decompensated Cirrhosis: Initial Report From China. Hepatol Int, 2020; 14: 478-482.
 - 13) Lee JY, Minami Y, Choi BI, Lee WJ, Chou YH, Jeong WK, Park MS, Kudo N, Lee MW, Kamata K, Iijima H, Kim SY, Numata K, Sugimoto K, Maruyama H, Sumino Y, Ogawa C, Kitano M, Joo I, Arita J, Liang JD, Lin HM, Nolsoe C, Gilja OH, Kudo M: The AFSUMB Consensus Statements and Recommendations for the Clinical Practice of Contrast-Enhanced Ultrasound using Sonazoid. Ultrasonography, 2020; 39: 191–220.

- * 14) Maruta S, Ogasawara S, Ooka Y, Obu M, Inoue M, Itokawa N, Haga Y, Seki A, Okabe S, Azemoto R, Itobayashi E, Atsukawa M, Sugiura N, Mizumoto H, Koroki K, Kanayama K, Kanzaki H, Kobayashi K, Kiyono S, Nakamura M, Kanogawa N, Saito T, Kondo T, Suzuki E, Nakamoto S, Tawada A, Chiba T, Arai M, Kanda T, Maruyama H, Kato N: Potential of Lenvatinib for an Expanded Indication from the REFLECT Trial in Patients with Advanced Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Liver Cancer, 2020; 9: 382–396.
 - 15) Fang C, An J, Bruno A, Cai X, Fan J, Fujimoto J, Golfieri R, Hao X, Jiang H, Jiao LR, Kulkarni AV, Lang H, Lesmana CRA, Li Q, Liu L, Liu Y, Lau W, Lu Q, Man K, Maruyama H, Mosconi C, Örmeci N, Pavlides M, Rezende G, Sohn JH, Treeprasertsuk S, Vilgrain V, Wen H, Wen S, Quan X, Ximenes R, Yang Y, Zhang B, Zhang W, Zhang P, Zhang S, Qi X: Consensus recommendations of three-dimensional visualization for diagnosis and management of liver diseases. Hepatol Int, 2020; 14: 437-453.
 - 16) Lee JY, Minami Y, Choi BI, Lee WJ, Chou YH, Jeong WK, Park MS, Kudo N, Lee MW, Kamata K, Iijima H, Kim SY, Numata K, Sugimoto K, Maruyama H, Sumino Y, Ogawa C, Kitano M, Joo I, Arita J, Liang JD, Lin HM, Nolsoe C, Gilja OH, Kudo M: The AFSUMB Consensus Statements and Recommendations for the Clinical Practice of Contrast-Enhanced Ultrasound using Sonazoid. J Med Ultrasound, 2020; 28: 59–82.
- * 17) Koroki K, Ogasawara S, Ooka Y, Kanzaki H, Kanayama K, Maruta S, Maeda T, Yokoyama M, Wakamatsu T, Inoue M, Kobayashi K, Kiyono S, Nakamura M, Kanogawa N, Saito T, Kondo T, Suzuki E, Nakamoto S, Yasui S, Tawada A, Chiba T, Arai M, Kanda T, Maruyama H, Kato J, Kuboki S, Ohtsuka M, Miyazaki M, Yokosuka O, Kato N: Analyses of Intermediate–Stage Hepatocellular Carcinoma Patients Receiving Transarterial Chemoembolization prior to Designing Clinical Trials. Liver Cancer, 2020; 9: 596–612.
 - 18) Kanogawa N, Ogasawara S, Ooka Y, Inoue M, Wakamatsu T, Yokoyama M, Maruta S, Unozawa H, Iwanaga T, Sakuma T, Fujita N,

Koroki K, Kanzaki H, Maeda T, Kobayashi K, Kiyono S, Nakamura M, Kondo T, Saito T, Motoyama T, Suzuki E, Nakamoto S, Tawada A, Chiba T, Arai M, Kanda T, Maruyama H, Kato J, Takemura R, Nozaki-Taguchi N, Shiroh I, Yokosuka O, Kato N: Propofol versus midazolam for sedation during radiofrequency ablation in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. JGH Open, 2020; 5: 273–279.

$\langle \text{Reviews} \rangle$

1) Maruyama H, Shiina S: Antioxidant therapy

on ischemic hepatitis: Here we are and where do we go? Hepatol Int, 2020; 14: 456–459.

2) Shiina S, Gani RA, Yokosuka O, Maruyama H, Nagamatsu H, Payawal DA, Dokmeci AK, Lesmana LA, Tanwandee T, Lau G, Sarin SK, Omata M: APASL practical recommendations for the management of hepatocellular carcinoma in the era of COVID-19. Hepatol Int, 2020: 1-10.

Instructions to Authors

Aims and Scope Manuscript Types Journal & Ethics Policies Peer Review Process Copyright, Open Access and Fees Manuscript Submission Manuscript Preparation Accepted Manuscripts Contact

Aims and Scope

Juntendo Medical Journal (JMJ) is the official peerreviewed journal of the Juntendo Medical Society. JMJ aims to introduce achievements in the fields of basic and clinical medicine, sportology (a novel scientific field integrating sports and medicine), nursing, preventive medicine, and public health. JMJ is dedicated to the international exchange of knowledge to understand, treat and control diseases. The journal provides a platform for researchers to introduce, discuss and exchange novel achievements in biomedical science. JMJ invites original articles, review articles, case reports and other articles containing new insights into any aspect of biomedical sciences and health sciences that are not published or being considered for publication elsewhere. The journal, which is freely available online at J-STAGE, publishes articles continuously online and collates them into issues six times per year.

Manuscript Types

The journal welcomes six manuscript types, all of which are subject to peer review.

Authors should ensure that their manuscripts, including figures and tables, do not exceed the maximum number of printed pages:

- Original articles should not exceed 10 printed pages
- Review articles should not exceed 12 printed pages
- Case reports should not exceed 4 printed pages

• Study protocols should not exceed 10 printed pages

• Perspectives should not exceed 4 printed pages The total number of pages can be estimated as: text, 600 words per page; References, 20 per page; Figures, four 7×5 cm figures per page.

Original Articles

Articles describing original research presented in the standard format of Abstract, Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results, Discussion and References.

Reviews

Reviews cover recent discoveries or topics of current interest. Reviews are occasionally commissioned by the Editor-in-Chief, and the journal welcomes proposals from interested authors.

Case Reports

Articles reporting on the following topics: previously unreported or unusual side effects or adverse interactions involving medications, unexpected or unusual presentations of a disease, new associations or variations in disease processes, presentations, diagnoses and/or management of new and emerging diseases, an unexpected association between diseases or symptoms, or an unexpected event in the course of observing or treating a patient.

Study Protocols

Articles describing study objectives, design, methods, assessment types, collection schedules, or statistical considerations for analyzing data that help to improve the standard of medical research.

Perspectives

Perspective articles are opinion pieces. They must present objective facts and include references, but are not entirely bound to the scientific rigor demanded of original articles and review articles. Examples would include advocacy for medical- or sports-related policies, reflections on the practice of medicine, and comparisons of medical systems or medical education regimes between Japan and other countries.

Journal & Ethics Policies

JMJ upholds the highest standards in scholarly publishing.

Before submitting a manuscript to the journal, authors must ensure that they have read and complied with the journal's policies. The journal reserves the right to reject without review, or retract, any manuscript that the Editor believes may not comply with these policies.

The responsibilities of the journal's authors, editors, reviewers and publisher regarding research and publication ethics are described in full below.

Corresponding authors must ensure attest that the submitted experimental results are unpublished and not under consideration for publication elsewhere.

Corresponding authors must inform the editors if any related manuscripts are under consideration, in press or published elsewhere. The availability of a manuscript on a publicly accessible preprint server does not constitute prior publication (see 'Preprints').

If authors choose to submit their manuscript elsewhere before a final decision has been made on its suitability for publication in JMJ, the corresponding author should first withdraw it from the journal.

Submission

JMJ welcomes manuscript submissions from authors based anywhere in the world.

Submission of a manuscript to the journal implies that all authors: have approved it, warrant it is factual, have agreed to its submission, and have the right to publish it.

Originality

Submission to the journal implies that the manuscript is original work. The journal may use Crossref's Similarity Check (https://www.crossref. org/services/similarity-check/) plagiarism software to screen manuscripts for unoriginal content. By submitting a manuscript to the journal, authors agree to this screening. Any manuscript with an unacceptable level of unoriginal material may be rejected or retracted at the Editors' discretion.

Preprints

To support the wide dissemination of research, the journal encourages authors to post their research manuscripts on community-recognized preprint servers, either before or alongside submission to the journal. This policy applies only to the original version of a manuscript that describes primary research. Any version of a manuscript that has been revised in response to reviewers' comments, accepted for publication or published in the journal should not be posted on a preprint server. Instead, forward links to the published manuscript may be posted on the preprint server.

Authors should retain copyright in their work when posting to a preprint server.

Scooping

When assessing the novelty of a manuscript submitted to the journal, the editors will not be influenced by other manuscripts that are posted on community-recognized preprint servers after the date of submission to JMJ (or after the date of posting on a preprint server, if the manuscript is submitted to the journal within 4 months).

Authorship

Submission to the journal implies that all authors have seen and approved the author list. Changes to the author list after manuscript submission – such as the insertion or removal of author names, or a rearrangement of author order – must be approved by all authors and the editor.

Authors are encouraged to consider the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) Recommendations on 'Defining the Role of Authors and Contributors (http://www.icmje. org/recommendations/browse/roles-and-responsibilities/defining-the-role-of-authors-and-contributors.html)'. The ICMJE recommends that authorship is based on four criteria: making a substantial contribution to the conception or design of the work, or the acquisition, analysis or interpretation of data for the work; drafting the manuscript or revising it critically for important intellectual content; approving the final version of the manuscript for publication; and agreeing to be held accountable for all aspects of the work. Any contributor who has met all four criteria should be an author on the manuscript. Contributors who do not meet all four criteria should not be authors of the manuscript but may be included in the Acknowledgements section instead.

Image integrity

Authors may digitally manipulate or process images, but only if the adjustments are kept to a minimum, are applied to the entire image, meet community standards, and are clearly described in the manuscript. All images in a manuscript must accurately reflect the original data on which they are based. Authors must not move, remove, add or enhance individual parts of an image. The editors reserve the right to request original, unprocessed images from the authors. Failure to provide requested images may result in a manuscript being rejected or retracted.

Reproducing copyrighted material

If a manuscript includes material that is not under the authors' own copyright, the authors must obtain permission from the copyright holder (s) to reproduce it.

If a manuscript includes previously published material, the authors must obtain permission from the copyright owners and the publisher of the original work to reproduce it. The authors must cite the original work in their manuscript.

Copies of all reproduction permissions must be included with the manuscript when it is first submitted.

Availability of data and materials

Authors must disclose the source of publicly available data and materials, such as public repositories or commercial manufacturers, by including accession numbers or company details in their manuscript, as appropriate.

Authors may make their own data and materials available by linking from their manuscript to relevant community-recognized public databases or digital repositories. All data sets must be made available in full to the editors and reviewers during the peer review process, and must be made publicly available by the date of publication. Authors commit to preserving their data sets for at least three years from the date of publication in the journal.

The journal encourages authors to grant reasonable requests from colleagues to share any data, materials and experimental protocols described in their manuscript.

Animal/human experimentation

Authors of manuscripts describing experiments involving humans or materials derived from humans must demonstrate that the work was carried out in accordance with the principles embodied in the World Medical Association's (WMA) Declaration of Helsinki (https://www.wma. net/policies-post/wma-declaration-of-helsinki-eth ical-principles-for-medical-research-involving-hu man-subjects/), its revisions, and any guidelines approved by the authors' institutions. For Japanese research institutions, the applicable statute is the Ministry of the Environment's notification 'Criteria for the Care and Keeping of Laboratory Animals and Alleviation of their Suffering'. Where relevant, the authors must include a statement in their manuscript that describes the procedures for obtaining informed consent from participants regarding participation in the research and publication of the research.

Authors should respect the privacy of patients and their families. Identifying details should be omitted if they are not essential, but patient data should never be altered or falsified in an attempt to attain anonymity. Complete anonymity is difficult to achieve, and informed consent should be obtained if there is any doubt.

Authors of manuscripts describing experiments involving animals or materials derived from animals must demonstrate that the work was carried out in accordance with the guidelines approved by the authors' institution(s), and this must be stated within the manuscript.

Clinical trial registration

A clinical trial is defined as any research project that prospectively assigns human participants to intervention or comparison groups to study the cause-and-effect relationship between an intervention and a health outcome. The journal adheres to the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE) policy on Clinical Trials Registration (http://www.icmje.org/about-icmje/faqs/clini cal-trials-registration/), which recommends that all clinical trials are registered in a public trials registry at or before the time of first patient enrollment as a condition of consideration for publication. Manuscripts describing clinical trials must include the registration number of the trial and the name of the trial registry.

The following items are to be stated in the Methods section: how informed consent was obtained from the study participants (i.e., oral or written), the approval number from the institutional review board or ethics committee, a registration ID for the trial, and the trial's start and end dates.

Reporting guidelines

The journal requires authors to follow the EQUATOR Network's Reporting Guidelines (https:// www.equator-network.org/reporting-guidelines/) for health research. Study types include, but are not limited to, randomized trials, observational studies, systematic reviews, case reports, qualitative research, diagnostic and prognostic studies, economic evaluations, animal pre-clinical studies and study protocols. Author competing interests and conflicts of interest In the interests of transparency, the journal requires all authors to declare any competing or conflicts of interest in relation to their submitted manuscript. A conflict of interest exists when there are actual, perceived or potential circumstances that could influence an author's ability to conduct or report research impartially. Potential conflicts include (but are not limited to) competing commercial or financial interests, commercial affiliations, consulting roles, or ownership of stock or equity. A Conflicts of Interest statement must be includes in the manuscript (see the 'Manuscript Preparation' section below for more details).

Authors should list all funding sources for their work in the Funding section of their manuscript.

Confidentiality

The journal maintains the confidentiality of all unpublished manuscripts. By submitting their manuscript to the journal, the authors warrant that they will keep all correspondence about their manuscript (from the Editorial Office, editors and reviewers) strictly confidential.

Self-archiving (Green Open Access) policy

Self-archiving, also known as Green Open Access, enables authors to deposit a copy of their manuscript in an online repository. JMJ encourages authors of original research manuscripts to upload their article to an institutional or public repository immediately after publication in the journal.

Long-term digital archiving

J-STAGE preserves its full digital library, including JMJ, with Portico in a dark archive (see https:// www.portico.org/publishers/jstage/). In the event that the material becomes unavailable at J-STAGE, it will be released and made available by Portico.

Peer Review Process

Editorial and peer review process

JMJ undertakes single-blind peer review. When a manuscript is submitted to the journal, it is assigned

to the Editor-in-Chief, who performs initial screening. Manuscripts that do not fit the journal's scope or are not deemed suitable for publication are rejected without review. For peer reviewing, the manuscripts that pass through the initial screening are assigned to two reviewers by the Editor-in- Chief. Reviewers are selected based on their expertise, reputation and previous experience as peer reviewers. The deadline for submission of the reviewers' reports is basically 3 weeks.

Upon receipt of the two reviewers' reports, the Editor-in-Chief makes the first decision on the manuscript. If the decision is to request revision of the manuscript, authors are requested to re-submit their revised manuscript within one to six months, depending on the comments of the reviewers. Revised manuscripts submitted after this deadline may be treated as new submissions. The Editor-in-Chief may send the revised manuscripts to peer reviewers for their feedback or may use his or her own judgment to assess how closely the authors have followed the Editor-in-Chief's and the reviewers' comments on the original manuscript. The Editor-in-Chief is responsible for making the final decision on each manuscript.

If a manuscript satisfies the journal's requirements and represents a significant contribution to the published literature, the Editor-in-Chief may recommend acceptance for publication in JMJ. If a manuscript does not meet the journal's requirements for acceptance, but it has a high probability of acceptance after minor or major revision, the Editor-in-Chief may ask the authors to revise it accordingly. Revised manuscripts must be submitted within one to six months, depending on the comments of the reviewers; otherwise they will be treated as new submissions. If a manuscript does not meet the journal's requirements for acceptance or revision, the Editor-in-Chief may recommend rejection.

Reviewer selection, timing and suggestions

Reviewers are selected without regard to geography and need not belong to the journal's Editorial Board. Reviewers are selected based on their expertise in the field, reputation, recommendation by others, and/or previous experience as peer reviewers for the journal.

Reviewers are invited within 2 weeks of an article being submitted. Reviewers are asked to submit their first review within 3 weeks of accepting the invitation to review. Reviewers who anticipate any delays should inform the Editorial Office as soon as possible.

When submitting a manuscript to the journal, authors may suggest reviewers that they would like included in the peer review process. The Editor may consider these suggestions but is under no obligation to follow them. The selection, invitation and assignment of peer reviewers is at the Editor's sole discretion.

Reviewer reports

It is the journal's policy to transmit reviewers' comments to the authors in their original form. However, the journal reserves the right to edit reviewers' comments, without consulting the reviewers, if they contain offensive language, confidential information or recommendations for publication.

Acceptance criteria

If a manuscript satisfies the journal's requirements and represents a valuable contribution to the published literature, the Editor-in-Chief may recommend the acceptance for publication in JMJ. The questions addressed when considering a manuscript for publication in JMJ are as follows: Relevance:

• Is the work within the journal's Aims and Scope? Reproducibility:

• Do authors show sufficient information to reproduce their experiments or data?

Written quality:

• Is the manuscript clearly presented? Title:

• Does the Title accurately reflect the contents of the manuscript?

Abstract:

• Does the Abstract adequately describe the background or context of the work, the objectives of the research project and the methods used?

Introduction:

• Does the Introduction provide adequate background and context for the work?

Materials and Methods:

- Have the authors described the methods in enough detail to allow others to replicate them?
- Have the authors adhered to established codes of practice and ethics if human/animal experimentation has been undertaken?

• Did the authors use appropriate methods? Results:

• Have the authors explained their results clearly and adequately?

Discussion:

- Is the Discussion supported by the results?
- Have the authors considered any alternative explanations for their results?
- Have the authors made unsupported claims or inappropriate speculations?

General:

- Are all cited references relevant and necessary?
- Has any relevant literature been omitted?
- Have the authors cited the data described in the manuscript adequately?
- Is each table and figure necessary?
- Are any potentially useful figures or tables missing?
- Are the tables and figures complete and interpretable?
- Is the manuscript clearly written in English?
- Have the authors adhered to established codes of publication ethics?
- Are there any errors in fact, methodology, or analyses?
- Has the manuscript been published previously, in part or in whole, in any language?

If a manuscript does not meet the journal's requirements for acceptance or revision, the Editor-inChief may recommend rejection.

Editorial independence

As the journal owner, the Juntendo Medical Society (JMS) has granted the journal's Editorial Board complete and sole responsibility for all editorial decisions. The JMS will not become involved in editorial decisions, except in cases of a fundamental breakdown of process.

Editorial decisions are based only on a manuscript's scientific merit and are kept completely separate from the journal's other interests. The authors' ability to pay any publication charges has no bearing on whether a manuscript is accepted for publication in the journal.

Appeals

Authors who believe that an editorial decision has been made in error may lodge an appeal with the Editorial Office. Appeals are only considered if the authors provide detailed evidence of a misunderstanding or mistake by a reviewer or editor. Appeals are considered carefully by the Editor-in-Chief, whose decision is final. The guidelines of the Committee on Publication Ethics (https://publicati onethics.org/) (COPE) are followed where and when relevant.

Confidentiality in peer review

The journal maintains the confidentiality of all unpublished manuscripts. Editors will not:

- 1. disclose a reviewer's identity unless the reviewer makes a reasonable request for such disclosure
- 2. discuss the manuscript or its contents with anyone not directly involved with the manuscript or its peer review
- 3. use any data or information from the manuscript in their own work or publications
- 4. use information obtained from the peer review process to provide an advantage to themselves or anyone else, or to disadvantage any individual or organization.

Conflicts of interest in peer review

A conflict of interest exists when there are actual, perceived or potential circumstances that could influence an editor's ability to act impartially when assessing a manuscript. Such circumstances might include having a personal or professional relationship with an author, working on the same topic or in direct competition with an author, having a financial stake in the work or its publication, or having seen previous versions of the manuscript.

Members of the journal's Editorial Board undertake to declare any conflicts of interest when handling manuscripts. An editor who declares a conflict of interest is unassigned from the manuscript in question and is replaced by a new editor. Editors try to avoid conflicts of interest when inviting reviewers, but it is not always possible to identify potential bias. Reviewers are asked to declare any conflicts of interest to the Editor, who will determine the best course of action.

Errata and retractions

The journal recognizes the importance of maintaining the integrity of published literature.

A published article that contains an error may be corrected through the publication of an Erratum. Errata describe errors that significantly affect the scientific integrity of a publication, the reputation of the authors, or the journal itself. Authors who wish to correct a published article should contact the editor who handled their manuscript or the Editorial Office with full details of the error(s) and their requested changes. In cases where co-authors disagree over a correction, the Editor-in-Chief may consult the Editorial Board or external peer reviewers for advice. If a Correction is published, any dissenting authors will be noted in the text.

A published article that contains invalid or unreliable results or conclusions, has been published elsewhere, or has infringed codes of conduct (covering research or publication ethics) may be retracted. Individuals who believe that a published article should be retracted are encouraged to contact the journal's Editorial Office with full details of their concerns. The Editor-in-Chief will investigate further and contact the authors of the published article for their response. In cases where co-authors disagree over a retraction, the Editorin-Chief may consult the Editorial Board or external peer reviewers for advice. If a Retraction is published, any dissenting authors will be noted in the text.

The decision to publish Errata or Retractions is made at the sole discretion of the Editor-in-Chief.

Editors as authors in the journal

Any member of the journal's Editorial Board, including the Editor-in-Chief, who is an author on a submitted manuscript is excluded from the peer review process and from viewing details about their manuscript.

A manuscript authored by an editor of JMJ is subject to the same high standards of peer review and editorial decision making as any manuscript considered by the journal.

Responding to potential ethical breaches

The journal will respond to allegations of ethical breaches by following its own policies and, where possible, the guidelines of COPE.

Reviewer Confidentiality

As part of their responsibilities, reviewers agree to maintain the confidentiality of unpublished manuscripts at all times. By accepting the invitation to review a manuscript, reviewers agree not to:

- 1. disclose their role in reviewing the manuscript
- 2. reveal their identity to any of the authors of the manuscript
- 3. discuss the manuscript or its contents with anyone not directly involved in the review process
- 4. involve anyone else in the review (for example, a post-doc or PhD student) without first requesting permission from the Editor
- 5. use any data or information from the manuscript in their own work or publications
- 6. use information obtained from the peer review

process to provide an advantage to themselves or anyone else, or to disadvantage any individual or organization.

Copyright, Open Access and Fees

Copyright and licensing

JMJ is fully Open Access and uses the Creative Commons CC BY 4.0 (Attribution 4.0 International) (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). This license allows users to share and adapt an article, even commercially, as long as appropriate credit is given.

Authors are required to assign all copyrights in the work to the Society, who then publish the work under the CC BY 4.0 International license.

Some funding bodies require articles funded by them to be published under a specific Creative Commons license. Before submitting your work to the journal, check with the relevant funding bodies to ensure that you comply with any mandates.

Article Processing Charge

There are many costs associated with publishing scholarly journals, such as those of managing peer review, copy editing, typesetting and online hosting. To cover these costs in the absence of journal subscriptions, authors (or their representatives) are asked to pay article processing charges (APCs). There is no submission fee.

All articles, with the exception of those requested by the Editorial Board, attract publication expenses which must be borne by the authors. Authors will be notified of the exact sum.

The APC depends on the article type and the total number of typeset pages. The table below indicates how many pages are free of charge for each article type. Each page over this limit attracts a fee of 24,000 JPY/printed page.

	JMS Members	All others
Original articles	The first 5 pages	The first 3 pages
Review articles	The first 5 pages	The first 3 pages
Case reports	The first 2 pages	The first 1 page

Color printing charges: 30,000 JPY per page

Reprint charges: All reprints will be charged according to the actual printing costs.

Waiver policy

Waivers for APCs are provided automatically when the corresponding author is from a "Group A" Research4Life country (https://www.research4life. org/access/eligibility/). In cases of demonstrated financial hardship, the journal will consider a presubmission application for a waiver from any corresponding author to [provide email address of person to contact]. Applications cannot be made after the peer review process has begun.

The ability of an author to pay the APC does not influence editorial decisions. To avoid any possibility of undue influence, editors involved with the decision-making process on submitted manuscripts are not involved in any deliberations on waivers.

Manuscript Submission

Manuscripts should be submitted online via the Juntendo Medical Journal online submission and peer review page on S cholarOne Manuscripts (https://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/jmj).

S imply log on to S cholarOne Manuscripts and follow the onscreen instructions for all submissions. You will need to register before your first submission to Juntendo Medical Journal. If you have any technical problems or questions related to the electronic submission process, please contact our Editorial Office:

Juntendo Medical Journal Editorial Office c/o International Medical Information Center 2F Shinanomachi Rengakan, 35 Shinanomachi, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 160-0016, JAPAN Phone: +81-3-5361-7089 E-mail: jmj@imic.or.jp

Manuscript Preparation

Style

Manuscripts should be prepared in Microsoft Word or other appropriate software using double line spacing throughout, page numbers on the lower right, and with margins of at least 2.5 cm.

English standards

Manuscripts should be written in clear, grammatically correct English. Authors whose native language is not English are strongly encouraged to have their manuscript checked by a native English speaker or by an editing service prior to submission; a certificate of English editing that accompanies submissions can be useful in many circumstances. If a manuscript is not clear due to poor English, it may be rejected without undergoing peer review.

Format

The first page of each manuscript should contain: Title, Authors' full names, Affiliations, Key words, Running Title, and the name and full address (including telephone number, facsimile number, and e-mail address) of the corresponding author. Manuscripts should be divided into the following sections and presented in this order: Introduction; Materials and Methods; Results; Discussion; Acknowledgements; Funding; Authors' contributions; Conflicting interest statement; and References.

Manuscripts should be arranged in the following order: 1. Title page; 2. Abstract and keywords; 3. main text; 4. Acknowledgements, Funding, Author Contributions, Conflict of interest statements; 5. tables together with any accompanying legends; 6. figure legends; 7. other as required. Each of the numbered items should begin on a separate page.

Title page

The first page should include:

1. The title of the manuscript in sentence case. No abbreviations other than gene names or in common use

- 2. Full names of all authors and ORCID ID (https: //orcid.org) if desired
- 3. Affiliations of the authors; use numbers not symbols
- 4. If authors make an equal contribution, indicated with an asterisk (up to 2 authors, including the first author) and a note indicating this under the author names
- 5. Name, full postal address, including street number and name, and e-mail address of the corresponding author(s)
- 6. Key words (no more than five key words). Refer to Medical Subject Headings in MeSH or Index Medicus
- Running title preceded by the first author's name (maximum 120 characters with spaces, including the author's name).

Title

The title should describe the content of the article briefly but clearly and is important for search purposes by third-party services. Do not use the same main title with numbered minor titles, even for a series of papers by the same authors. Do not use abbreviations in the title, except those used generally in related fields.

Footnotes

Footnotes, if any, should be typed in a separate sheet (the second page of the manuscript). Abbreviations should also be listed on this page.

Abbreviations

Each abbreviation should be defined in parentheses together with its non-abbreviated term when it first appears in the text (except in the Title and Abstract).

Units

SI or SI-derived units should be used. More information on SI units is available at the Bureau International des Poids et Mesures (BIPM) website (https://www.bipm.org/en/about-us/).

Abstract

The second (and, if necessary, the third) page of the manuscript should contain only the abstract (maximum 250 words). The abstract must be fully comprehensible without reference to the text. Abstracts should be divided into sections as follows:

- 1. Objectives
- 2. Materials (or "Design")
- 3. Methods (or "Interventions")
- 4. Results
- 5. Conclusions

Introduction

The Introduction should provide sufficient background information to allow the reader to understand the purpose of the investigation and its relationship with other research in related fields, although it should not include an extensive review of the literature.

Materials and Methods

The description of the methods should be brief, but it must include sufficient details to allow the experiments to be repeated. The sources of unusual chemicals, animals, microbial strains or equipment should be described, and the location (city, country) of the company should be provided in parentheses. If hazardous materials or dangerous procedures are used in the experiments and the precautions related to their handling are not widely recognized, it is recommended that the authors provide the necessary details.

Results

This section includes the results of the experiments. The Results and Discussion sections may be combined if this helps readers to understand and evaluate the study. Tables and figures, including photographs, can be used to present the experimental results (see below). Excessive explanations of the data presented in tables and figures should be avoided.

Discussion

The Conclusion or Discussion should be concise and should deal with the interpretation of the results. Novel models or hypotheses may be proposed in this section only if they are suggested by the results obtained in the experiments. Do not repeat the description of the experimental results in this section.

Acknowledgments

Contributors who do not meet the criteria for authorship should be listed in the Acknowledgements section. Examples of those who might be acknowledged include a person who provided purely technical help, or a department chair who provided only general support. If you do not have anyone to acknowledge, please write "Not applicable" in this section.

Funding

All articles should have a funding acknowledgement statement included in the manuscript in the form of a sentence under a separate heading entitled "Funding" directly after Acknowledgements section, if applicable. The funding agency should be written out in full, followed by the grant number in brackets. Multiple grant numbers should be separated by commas and spaces. Where the research was supported by more than one agency, the different agencies should be separated by semicolon, with "and" before the final funder. If the research is not funded by a specific project grant, please state in the manuscript as follows: "The author(s) received no financial support for the research" or "No funding was received".

Author contributions

The individual contributions of authors to the manuscript should be specified in this section after Funding section. Please use initials to refer to each author's contribution in this section, for example: "AU analyzed and interpreted the patient data regarding the hematological disease. KT performed the histological examination of the liver, and was a major contributor in writing the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript."

Conflicts of interest statement

All manuscripts must include a "Conflicts of Interest statement" in line with the 'Author competing interests and conflicts of interest' section above. If no conflicts exist, please state that "The Author(s) declare(s) that there are no conflicts of interest".

References

References, including those given in tables and figure legends, should be numbered sequentially in the order they appear in the text and listed in numerical order at the end of the manuscript under the heading "References". In the text, citations should be indicated as superscript numbers with an end parenthesis character following each citation number. Three or more consecutive citations should be indicated as a range using a hyphen, e.g. "3)-5)". Journal titles should be abbreviated as shown in Index Medicus and List of Journals Indexed. When there are six or fewer authors, all should be listed; when there are seven or more, include only the first three and add "et al." Please note the following examples.

Example citation list entries:

Journal article

 You WC, Blot WJ, Li JY, et al: Precancerous gastric lesions in a population at high risk of stomach cancer. Cancer Res, 1993; 53: 1317– 1321.

Book

 Matsumoto A, Arai Y: Hypothalamus. In: Matsumoto A, Ishii S, eds. Atlas of Endocrine Organs. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1992: 25–38.

Tables

Tables with suitable titles and numbered with Arabic numerals should be placed at the end of the text on separate sheets (one table per page). They should be understandable without referring to the text. Column headings should be kept as brief as possible, with units for numerical information included in parentheses. Footnotes should be labeled a), b), c), etc. and typed on the same page as the table they refer to.

Figures

Figures should also be submitted online as separate files. They should be numbered in order of appearance with Arabic numerals (e. g. Fig. 1, Fig. 2). Author(s) must pay printing costs for color photographs. Electron micrographs should contain a scale. Individual figures may not exceed the size of a Journal page. Graphs or drawings containing typewritten characters are unacceptable. Numbers. letters and symbols must be large enough to be legible after reduction. In principle, figures should be suitable for publication, and jpg digital files preferred. Each figure must have an accompanying legend, which should be understandable without reference to the text. All figure legends are to be double spaced, and should be collected together as text page(s), rather than being attached to their respective figures.

Cover letter

Summarize briefly the important points of the submitted work including a brief description of the study to be submitted, that it is an original study presenting novel work, that it has not been previously submitted to or accepted by any other journal, that is has been approved by all authors, and explain whether any author has a conflict of interest.

Accepted Manuscripts

Manuscripts that are accepted for publication are copyedited and typeset by the journal's production team before publication. The journal is published 6 times per year / continuously online. All communication regarding accepted manuscripts is with the corresponding author.

Proofs

Page proofs are sent to the corresponding author, who should check and return them within 48 hours. Only essential corrections to typesetting errors or omissions are accepted; excessive changes are not permitted at the proofing stage.

Reprints

Order forms for reprints are sent with the proofs to the corresponding author and should be returned with the proofs. The corresponding author will be sent a PDF of the paper on publication.

Contact

To contact the Editorial Office or the Editor-in-Chief, please write to: Juntendo Medical Journal Editorial Office c/o International Medical Information Center 2F Shinanomachi Rengakan, 35 Shinanomachi, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 160-0016, JAPAN Phone: +81-3-5361-7089 E-mail: jmj@imic.or.jp

Copyright © The Juntendo Medical Society

Juntendo Medical Journal Editorial Board

Editor-in-Chief:		Isao Nagaoka		
Editorial Board:		Yuko Fujio Toshiaki Iba Yasuhiko Kiyama Shuichi Machida Takashi Miida Sachiko Miyake Yasue Ohta Shinobu Sakurai Yoshifumi Tamura Hidefumi Waki Tomofumi Yamaguchi	Masami Goto Kazuo Kaneko Seiki Konishi Akira Matsumoto Toshihiro Mita Takumi Ochiai Naoko Ono Kazuhisa Takahashi Takeshi Tanigawa Robert F Whittier	
International Editor	ial Board:	Masanori Aikawa (Harvard Medical School) Michael Andreeff (The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center) Robert S. Bresalier (The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center) Yang Ke (Peking University) Joel Moss (National Institute of Health)		
Advisory Board:		Machiko Hatsuda Shunsuke Kato Ryohei Kuwatsuru Masanori Nagaoka	Eri Hirasawa Hiroyuki Kobayashi Akira Murakami	
Illustration:		Akiko Miyamichi		
	JUNTENDO MEDICAL JOURNAL			
Vol. 68 No. 4 (939th issue) Published on August 31, 2022		ssue)		
		31, 2022		
		First published in 1	.875	

©The Juntendo Medical Society 2022 Tokyo, Japan	
Published by The Juntendo Medical Society	

2–1–1 Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113–8421, Japan

TEL: 03-5802-1586 E-mail: j-igaku@juntendo.ac.jp Printed by Koryosha Co. Ltd. 4F, 2-31-25 Yushima, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-0034, Japan TEL: 03-3868-3352 E-mail: jmj@koryo-co.com Juntendo Medical Journal Editorial Office (International Medical Information Center) TEL: 03-5361-7089 E-mail: jmj@imic.or.jp

Call for feature article proposals

To introduce the latest medical findings, Juntendo Medical Journal features a specific focus area for each issue. We would like to request all our readers to address any suggestions or proposals for suitable focus areas to our editorial office.

編集後記

68巻4号をお届けいたします。早いもので2022年も下半期に入りました。上半期を振り返ると、世間 一般では大きな話題が3つありました。残念ながら暗いニュースばかりです。

まず、本年2月からのロシアのウクライナ侵攻。順天堂大学ではいち早く募金活動を開始し、医学部 ではウクライナの医学生や研究者の受け入れも行いました。しかし、本稿を執筆している8月上旬現在、 紛争の終結はまだ遠いように思われます。2つめは、7月8日の安倍元首相の銃撃事件。3つめは、 COVID-19の第7波。ゴールデンウィーク頃には下火になったかにみえたのですが、7月初旬からの第7 波は第6波の約2倍のスピードで感染拡大し、日本全国での一日あたりの新規感染者数は20万人を超え てさらに拡大しつつあります。7月中旬~下旬には本学の医学部生にも感染 / 濃厚接触による自宅待機者 が急増しましたが、第7波はお盆過ぎにはピークアウトとの予測もあるようです。本誌が公開される頃 には収束に向かっていることを祈るばかりです。

一方、順天堂大学での明るい話題として、4 月から医療科学部がスタートしました。臨床検査技師や臨 床工学技士を養成する、第7番目の学部です。

なお、医療科学部のある日の出キャンパスには、再来年度にむけて「薬学部」設置申請の準備が進ん でいるようです。

これら医療系の新学部の開設に伴い、順天堂大学の健康総合大学としての存在感はますます大きくな ると思われます。この際に重要になるのが、「多職種連携」への教育体制作りです。6 附属病院も含めて 一層緊密な学部間の協力体制が望まれます。

本誌を通して、先生方の御研究内容の情報共有が学部間で促進され、多職種連携にも貢献できれば幸 いです。積極的な投稿をお待ちいたします。

松本 顕

医学部一般教育生物学研究室

NOROBACOO

4

イラスト作者より

7月の半ば、実に 30 年ぶりに奄美大島に行って来ました。久し振りに見るエメラルドグリーンの海や、真 白な砂浜、打ち寄せる波の音、そしてアダンの実・・・田中一村(島に移り住んだ日本画家)の絵そのものの 世界に浸り、大満足の旅でした。(宮道明子) Jeg.

順天堂醫事雑誌の記事については既に明治8年の創刊号から電子化されており、J-STAGE(科学技術情報発信・流通 総合システム)の電子ジャーナル公開システムにおいて閲覧することができます.順天堂医学会のホームページからも ご覧いただけますので、ご活用頂ければ幸いです(https://www.juntendo.ac.jp/journal/).

特集の企画募集

「順天堂醫事雑誌」では, 医学界の最新知識を紹介するために, 特集として総説を毎号に掲載しています. 読者の皆様には、特集として相応しい企画等がございましたら、編集室宛にご提案下さいますようお願い申し上げます.

子

編集顧問

編集委員長 長 功 出

編集委員

相	Л	眞	範	藤尾祐子	加声	斄 俊	介
射	場	敏	明	町田修一	<u></u>	自良	亚
大	田	康	江	松本顕			
大	野	直	子	三井田 孝	小木	木 弘	幸
落	合		匠	美田敏宏	長同	引 正	範
金	子	和	夫	三宅幸子	初田	真知	子
城	山	泰	彦	山口智史			
後	藤	政	実	和氣秀文	半 >	▶ 思	埋
小	西	清	貴	Michael Andreeff	村	上	瞐
櫻	井し	、の	ぶ	Robert S. Bresalier			
髙	橋	和	久	Yang Ke			
谷	Л		武	Joel Moss	(-	イラスト)	
⊞	村	好	ф	Robert F Whittier	宮	首明	子

順天堂醫事雜誌
JUNTENDO MEDICAL JOURNAL
第68卷 第4号(通刊939) 令和4年(2022年)8月31日発行 明治8年(1875年)創刊
発行人 順天堂医学会
発行責任者 长 岡 功
〒113-8421 東京都文京区本郷2-1-1 順天堂大学内 順天堂医学会事務局:電話 03-5802-1586
E-mail: j-igaku@juntendo.ac.jp
編集・印刷 株式会社 広 稜 社 〒113-0034 東京都文京区湯島2-31-25-4F 電話 03-3868-3352 E-mail: jmj@koryo-co.com
順天堂醫事雑誌編集室
(一財)国際医学情報センター内
電話 03-5361-7089 E-mail: jmj@imic.or.jp
© The Juntendo Medical Society 2022 Tokyo Japan 20220831

抄 録

順天堂醫事雑誌 2022.68(4),451



不断前進、救命救急 今、ふたたび「仁」

田 中 裕

順天堂大学医学部附属浦安病院救急災害医学

この度, 2022年3月末日をもって定年退職を迎えます。小川秀興理事長をはじめ、これまでご 指導,ご支援くださいました多くの方々に心より感謝申し上げます.私は1982年大阪大学を卒業し, 特殊救急部に入りました.当時重症外傷や熱傷、中毒、敗血症などの重症患者が連日運ばれてきま した. スタッフは現場でスキルを磨き,教え合い,研究に切磋琢磨しました. 救命出来ずに多くの 悔しい思いもしました. その後, 救急医療のニーズも変化し, 救急医の診療領域は, 病院前救急医 療から初期診療,集中治療,災害医療など多岐に及んでいます。2007年9月に順天堂大学浦安病 院へ赴任しました.赴任間もなくサッカー全日本監督の緊急入院や,中国冷凍ギョーザ事件で浦安 病院が注目を浴びました.救急医療は社会を映す鏡と言われています.私自身、多くの災害や事件 などを経験してきました. 現在も COVID-19 パンデミックと闘っています. 赴任して 15 年が経ち ますが浦安病院の仲間は62名になります。皆救急科専門医など多種の専門医を取得しています。 18名が学位を取得し, ハーバード大学やNYフェインスタイン研究所などに多くが留学しています. 2019年,第47回日本救急医学会総会を主催しました.本学会のテーマは、「不断前進,救命救急, 今ふたたび 仁」です. 救急医療は「医」の原点であり、すべての国民が生命保持の最終的な拠り 所としています.これからも我々救急医は消えようとしている命の灯を照らし続けるために、最後 まで諦めずに患者に寄り添い救命医療を行ってまいります. 最後に今まで私を支えてくれた教室員 一同、家族に感謝します。順天堂のますますのご発展とお世話になりました全ての方々のご健勝を 祈念しまして、 定年退職の挨拶とさせて頂きます.

キーワード: 救急医療, 病院前救急医療, プライマリケア, 集中治療, 災害医療

この抄録は、順天堂醫事雑誌 68 巻 4 号、p324-331、2022 掲載の『Fudan Zenshin, Kyumeikyukyu; ~Now JIN again~』の和文抄録です.

抄 録

順天堂醫事雑誌 2022.68(4),452

(i) (cc)

放射線治療の42年間の発展と放射線治療学講座

笹井 啓 資1,2)

¹⁾順天堂大学医学部放射線治療学講座(放射線腫瘍学・医学物理学) ²⁾美杉会佐藤病院 放射線治療センター

1981年からの放射線治療の歴史と順天堂大学放射線治療学講座について述べる.1981年当時, 治療計画はX線透視装置により骨などのランドマークを用いて行っていた.治療も低エネルギー 光子を用い,照射範囲のトリミングも鉛ブロックを用いた簡単なものであった.このため,病変部 に必要十分な線量を照射できないことがしばしばであった.80年代後半から2000年にかけて放射 線治療は革命的に進歩した.コンピュータ技術,精密機械技術,画像診断技術の飛躍的進歩に伴い, コンピュータ制御可能な多分割絞りを装備した超高エネルギーリニアックと CT 画像などを用いた 3次元治療計画装置が導入された.この成果として,治療標的に一致した線量分布で放射線を照射 することができる強度変調放射線治療や,小さな病変に大線量を集中できる定位照射などが行われ るようになった.また,陽子線や炭素線を用いた治療も普及しだした.

2000年以降は、上述の技術はさらに発展し一般診療として施行できるようになった. また、治療毎に画像を撮影し、病変の位置や他臓器との関連を見ながら治療する画像誘導放射線治療、さら に照射中の動きを把握できるシステムも開発され、正確に標的に照射可能となっている. また、画 像診断の進歩により代謝画像を用いた治療計画も導入されている. 放射線治療は、現在、がんの根 治治療や緩和治療として標準治療となっている.

2000 年当時, 放射線医学講座内の小さなグループだった放射線治療は, 現在, 法人全体で放射 線治療医師 11 名, 医学物理士 5 名, 治療装置 7 台 + RALS 1 台, 順天堂医院での治療症例数約 1000 例となり, 最先端の治療を提供できるようになった. 代表的な治療成績は, 症例数の多い前 立腺癌で低, 中, 高リスクの 7 年 PSA 非再発率はそれぞれ 100%, 92.0%, 93.2%, 乳房温存療法 での 10 年乳房内非再発率 95.3 ~ 95.7%, 子宮頸癌 5 年全生存は I, II, III, IVA 期 100, 84, 78, 40% である. 研究面は長らく低迷していたが, 21 年には英文論文数 14 編を達成した.

約40年間で放射線治療は革命的な発展をした.これからも,装置の進歩に伴い長足の発展が期 待できる.放射線治療学講座は教育,研究,診療面で講座としてようやく形が整ってきた.

キーワード:放射線治療、放射線腫瘍学、画像誘導放射線治療、強度変調放射線治療

この抄録は, 順天堂醫事雑誌 68 巻 4 号, p332-338, 2022 掲載の『My 42-year Experience in Radiation Oncology』の和文抄録です.

順天堂医学会 会長 服部 信孝

順天堂医学会短期海外留学時助成金給付制度

順天堂医学会では短期海外留学時助成金給付制度を開始いたしました。

1. 要件

下記すべての要件を満たす者

- (1) 順天堂大学(大学院を含む)の学生で1か月以上12か月未満の海外留学をする者
- (2) 留学先の研究機関または財団などからの援助がない者
- (3) 医学会の正会員として1年以上の経歴を有し、医学会費を完納している者
- 2. 申請書類
 - (1) 順天堂医学会短期海外留学時助成金申込書
 - (2) 所属長の推薦書
 - (3) 申請者の主な研究テーマ・研究業績
 - (4) 留学受け入れ機関の指導者からの推薦状
- 3. 助成金の給付金額

留学期間	助成金額
1か月以上4か月未満	10万円
4か月以上7か月未満	20 万円
7 か月以上 12 か月未満	30万円

4. 申請スケジュール(年2回)

申請期限	助成決定時期
6月末	8月
12月末	2 月

- 5. 選考機関:順天堂医学会短期海外留学時助成金選考委員会
- 6. 助成後の義務
 - (1) 帰国後直近の順天堂医学会学術集会において研究成果の発表および、その内容を「順天 堂醫事雑誌」に報告する。
 - (2) 帰国後は、順天堂大学またはその関連機関に原則として3年以上勤務する。
- 7. 本件の照会先

HP:https://www.juntendo.ac.jp/journal/membership/benefit_plan.html 順天堂医学会事務局(順天堂大学総務部総務課内)

TEL: 03-5802-1586 E-Mail: j-igaku@juntendo.ac.jp







The Juntendo Medical Society

2-1-1 Hongo Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo, 113-8421 JAPAN Tel:+81-3-5802-1586 E-mail:j-igaku@juntendo.ac.jp